

FACULTY OF MATHEMATICS AND PHYSICS Charles University

BACHELOR THESIS

Jaroslav Scheinpflug

On relevant deformations in Open String Field Theory

Institute of Particle and Nuclear Physics

Supervisor of the bachelor thesis: Mgr. Martin Schnabl, PhD. Study programme: Physics Study branch: FP Physics

Prague 2023

I declare that I carried out this bachelor thesis independently, and only with the cited sources, literature and other professional sources. It has not been used to obtain another or the same degree.

I understand that my work relates to the rights and obligations under the Act No. 121/2000 Sb., the Copyright Act, as amended, in particular the fact that the Charles University has the right to conclude a license agreement on the use of this work as a school work pursuant to Section 60 subsection 1 of the Copyright Act.

In date

Author's signature

I wish to thank my advisor, Martin Schnabl, for his academic guidance, countless inspiring discussions and for giving me the opportunity to work with him. This thesis is dedicated to my family for their unwavering support, especially to my kind inspiring parents and to my beloved Léňa.

Title: On relevant deformations in Open String Field Theory

Author: Jaroslav Scheinpflug

Department: Institute of Particle and Nuclear Physics

Supervisor: Mgr. Martin Schnabl, PhD., Institute of physics AS CR

Abstract: String field theory takes string perturbation theory off-shell and since the different vacua of string theory are described by conformal field theories, it is tempting to use string field theory to describe conformal perturbation theory. We use open string field theory to reproduce the known leading order results of boundary conformal perturbation theory and we also perform the next-to-leading order calculation of the boundary degeneracy g for a generic theory. This is achieved by finding perturbative solutions to the classical equations of motion of open string field theory corresponding to weakly relevant deformations. The observables of conformal perturbation theory are then given by calculating the on-shell action or by invoking the Kudrna-Maccaferri-Schnabl correspondence. We also lay the groundwork for the investigation of the shift in the boundary spectrum. This work is largely based on the collaboration with Martin Schnabl [1].

Keywords: Conformal field theory, string field theory, relevant deformations, conformal perturbation theory

Název práce: Relevantní deformace v teorii pole otevřených strun

Autor: Jaroslav Scheinpflug

Katedra: Ústav jaderné a částicové fyziky

Vedoucí bakalářské práce: Mgr. Martin Schnabl, PhD., Fyzikální ústav AV ČR

Abstrakt: Strunová teorie pole umožňuje rozšířit strunovou poruchovou teorii off-shell a díky tomu, že různá vakua v teorii strun jsou popsaná konformními teoriemi pole, tak je lákavé použít strunovou teorii pole k popisu konformní poruchové teorie. Skrze teorii pole otevřených strun reprodukujeme známé výsledky z konformní poruchové teorie s hranicí v prvním netriviálním řádu a dále počítáme degeneraci hranice g do druhého netriviálního řádu pro generickou teorii. Tyto výpočty provádíme skrze hledání poruchových řešení klasických pohybových rovnic teorie pole otevřených strun odpovídajících relevantním deformacím. Pozorovatelné konformní poruchové teorie jsou poté vypočteny z hodnoty on-shell akce či skrze Kudrna-Maccaferri-Schnabl korespondenci. Také pokládáme základy pro zkoumání změn ve spektru operátorů na hranici. Tato práce je z velké části založena na kolaboraci s Martinem Schnablem [1].

Klíčová slova: Konformní teorie pole, strunová teorie pole, relevantní deformace, konformní poruchová teorie

Contents

Introduction 5									
1	An	introduction to Quantum Field Theory	9						
	1.1	Motivation	9						
	1.2	Multiparticle states	11						
	1.3	The scalar field	13						
	1.4	Observables and perturbation theory	15						
	1.5	Euclidean field theory	21						
	1.6	Unstable vacua and instantons	24						
	1.7	The renormalisation group	28						
2	Cor	nformal field theory	33						
	2.1	Conformal transformations	33						
		2.1.1 Arbitrary dimension	33						
		2.1.2 Two dimensions	37						
	2.2	Polyakov's conjecture	39						
	2.3	Operator spectrum and correlators	40						
	2.4	Radial quantisation	43						
	2.5	Virasoro algebra	47						
	2.6	Representation theory	51						
	2.7	Bulk conformal perturbation theory	56						
	2.8	Examples	62						
		2.8.1 Unitary minimal models \mathcal{M}_m	63						
		2.8.2 Perturbations $\mathcal{M}_m \to \mathcal{M}_{m-1}$	65						
		2.8.3 Free boson	68						
		2.8.4 bc -ghost system $\ldots \ldots $	76						
3	Βοι	indary conformal field theory	79						
	3.1	Gluing conditions and Ishibashi states	79						
	3.2	Boundary fields	83						
	3.3	Cardy conditions and Cardy states	85						

	3.4	Boundary entropy
	3.5	Boundary conformal perturbation theory
4	Ope	en string field theory 95
	4.1	Hilbert space
	4.2	Interactions
	4.3	Observables
		4.3.1 The action $\ldots \ldots 105$
		4.3.2 Linearised fluctuations around a solution 106
		4.3.3 Scattering amplitudes
		4.3.4 The boundary state
	4.4	Wedge states with insertions
	4.5	Operators in sliver frame
	4.6	KBc subalgebra
	4.7	Examples of analytic solutions
		4.7.1 Tachyon vacuum
		4.7.2 Exactly marginal deformations
5	Rel	evant deformations in open string field theory 123
	5.1	The general framework
	5.2	No gauge fixing
		5.2.1 The equations of motion $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
		5.2.2 The g-function $\dots \dots \dots$
		5.2.3 The general boundary state coefficient
		5.2.4 The spectrum of linearised fluctuations
	5.3	Siegel gauge
	5.4	Schnabl gauge
		5.4.1 Oblique projectors
		5.4.2 Second order string field $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 141$
		5.4.3 Third order string field $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 144$
		5.4.4 Ellwood invariant $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 146$
	5.5	Pseudo-Schnabl gauge
		5.5.1 Second order string field $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 152$
		5.5.2 Third order string field $\ldots \ldots 153$
		5.5.3 Ellwood invariant $\ldots \ldots 154$
Co	onclu	usion 157
Bi	bliog	graphy 159

A	A A list of useful correlators in OSFT														171		
	A.1	Upper half-plane \ldots .											•			•	. 171
	A.2	Disc frame \ldots \ldots \ldots															. 172
	A.3	Cylinder frame															. 172
В	Kal	uza-Klein reduction on	S^1														175
	B.1	The spectrum \ldots .															. 175
	B.2	The Ricci scalar															. 176
	B.3	The instanton															. 178

Introduction

Field theories have been at the heart of the development of physical theories for more than a hundred years. Their natural course of development included lifting the classical field theories to quantum field theories (QFTs). A very special class of QFTs are conformal field theories (CFTs), which possess conformal invariance, that is invariance under local rescalings. CFTs naturally arise as signposts in the landscape of QFTs, which are present at the ends of RG flows since the theories at RG flow endpoints have scaling symmetry and thanks to Polyakov's conjecture it is enhanced to the full conformal symmetry under very general conditions. In two dimensions the study of CFTs is particularly rich since the symmetry algebra becomes infinite-dimensional. A natural question is whether one can understand the off-critical theories using CFT data or whether one can use the CFT data of one CFT to characterise new CFTs. It is conformal perturbation theory that aims at answering this question in a perturbative setting.

It is natural to ask whether there are any extended objects that can be added to the bulk CFTs, such objects could embody for example certain defects and impurities. An example of such extended objects are conformal boundaries, which break the least amount of conformal symmetry, and the study of CFTs with their presence is called boundary conformal field theory (BCFT). The classification of all conformal boundary conditions that can be added to a fixed CFT is an outstanding problem. The boundary states and the spectra of boundary fields that live on the conformal boundaries have to satisfy stringent consistency conditions, which thankfully can sometimes lead to the classifications of all BCFTs with a fixed CFT in the bulk. One could again try to find new conformal boundary conditions by having a BCFT that one understands and perturb it along the boundary. Analogously to the bulk case, it is boundary conformal perturbation theory that sheds light on this problem.

Just as the classification of conformal boundary conditions is difficult, so is conformal perturbation theory both in the bulk and on the boundary. Very often only leading order results are available, which is in part due to the not so practical point-splitting regularisation that is used. This is where string theory comes in. The different CFTs act as different vacua of string theory and one might hope that conformal perturbation theory can be rephrased as a problem in string perturbation theory. We run into a problem with the conventional string perturbation theory in that it only describes the scattering of on-shell states, which would correspond only to conformal perturbation theory of marginal deformations. Clearly a framework that can take string theory off-shell is of interest.

Now the problems of classifying boundary conditions and taking string theory off-shell beautifully come together in a very particular framework called open string field theory (OSFT). It is a field theory formulated on a fixed boundary condition, but can describe all other boundary conditions as solutions to its classical equations of motion. Such solutions are string fields and the KMS correspondence enables one to find the corresponding boundary states. What is less clear is how the boundary spectrum of the BCFT described by a given string field looks like. OSFT also consistently takes the theory of open strings off-shell and so one can hope that it can take boundary conformal perturbation theory beyond the leading order. This is indeed the case since for example one does not need to use point-splitting regularisation but can interpret the divergences as arising from the propagation of tachyons and zero modes, something which one knows how to handle in OSFT.

In this thesis we construct perturbative solutions to the OSFT equations of motion corresponding to relevant deformations. These solutions are investigated in the near-marginal limit where contact with boundary conformal perturbation theory is made. We reproduce the leading order results and even extend the computation of the entropy associated with a given boundary condition to the next-to-leading order. The first step towards understanding the boundary spectrum of the BCFT described by the perturbative solution is made. In particular we find that the perturbing operator disappears from the spectrum in line with RG intuition. This work is based on the collaboration with Martin Schnabl and will be submitted to PRL [1].

The thesis is organised as follows. First we present four introductory chapters. In chapter (1), we introduce the basics of scalar QFT and investigate some consequences of formulating perturbation theory around an unstable vacuum. Then some RG ideas are sketched. After this in (2) we provide a sufficiently detailed introduction to bulk CFTs, including bulk conformal perturbation theory. At the end of this chapter, we introduce the unitary minimal models and their perturbations together with CFTs that are key for string theory, namely the free boson and the *bc*-ghost system. Then in (3), we briefly introduce the basic objects of study in BCFT, the various consistency conditions and properties and then finish with boundary conformal perturbation theory. The chapter (4) presents the general framework of Witten's OSFT and the standard analytic techniques used to solve the classical equations of motion. It ends with a discussion of two classes of classical solutions, namely the tachyon vacuum class of solutions and the exactly marginal perturbations, on which we build the intuition for more general perturbative solutions. The last chapter (5) presents the original research. We begin by sketching the general setup for investigating perturbative solutions and through the OSFT classical action elegantly compute the shift in the boundary degeneracy q to the next-to-leading order. Going beyond the leading order requires fixing a gauge and we fix Siegel gauge. The KMS correspondence also enables us to find the leading order shift in the general boundary state coefficient. Then we investigate the perturbed boundary spectrum. Lastly we explore two alternative gauge conditions, namely Schnabl gauge and pseudo-Schnabl gauge to third order in string perturbation theory. To do so, we have to learn how to manipulate oblique projectors and handle a zero-mode present in the Schnabl gauge calculation. We reproduce the leading order shift in q through the Kudrna-Maccaferri-Schnabl (KMS) correspondence, giving a nontrivial check on the Schabl gauge solution. We also reproduce this using pseudo-Schnabl gauge but we think this is a fluke since the presented pseudo-Schnabl gauge string field violates the equations of motion. We include two appendices, in (A) we present correlators useful in OSFT and in (B) we investigate the original Kaluza-Klein theory to gain a little practice with extra dimensions that show up in string theory and present an interesting instanton.

Chapter 1

An introduction to Quantum Field Theory

In this chapter we provide a brief introduction to quantum field theory (QFT) as necessary for providing the wider context into which later chapters belong. It goes without saying that to gain proper exposure, one should consult monographies on the subject and luckily today many are available. The monographies we find most exhaustive are Weinberg's three volumes [2, 3, 4]for the particle physics setting and Zinn-Justin [5] for applications outside of particle physics. In this chapter we draw most inspiration from the brief book of Banks [6] and the lectures of Coleman [7]. As a great first book on the subject we recommend Zee [8]. Other widely used books include [9, 10, 10]11, 12]. We follow the path integral approach which is nicely summarized in the appendix of [13]. As for the more specialised sections, the section on Euclidean field theory is essentially taken out of [14] and the topic is also nicely covered in [15]. The section on large order behavior of perturbation series and instantons is inspired by [16]. Renormalisation group ideas are mainly inherited from the reviews [17, 18] and the already mentioned book of Banks, see also [19] for further reading. We note that the mostly plus signature is used in contrast to most QFT literature. We set units to $\hbar = c = 1$.

1.1 Motivation

We begin by outlining the motivation for QFT. Following the historic route we wish to show that QFT naturally emerges when one considers physical situations in which both quantum mechanical (QM) and relativistic effects have to be taken into account. Naively one might expect such a theory to be rather simple since adding Lorentz invariance might simplify matters in analogy to how spherical symmetry does. To show why this is not the case, we first consider a thought experiment by Bohr. Suppose we have a box with a piston and a particle inside. We then try to locate the particle by squeezing it with the piston and eventually we locate it within its Compton wavelength λ . By the defining relation of λ

$$m = \frac{2\pi}{\lambda},\tag{1.1}$$

where m is the particle's mass, we see that the uncertainty in momentum implied by Heisenberg's uncertainty principle is roughly of the order where pair production is energetically allowed. The uncertainty in momentum thus becomes uncertainty in particle number and so our theory must make creation and annihilation of particles possible. This requirement can also be seen in the theory of scattering. There what looks like off-shell propagation leading to scattering on an external potential (turned on only for a brief moment) in one frame can look like pair production in a boosted frame, see figure (1.1).



(a) Scattering before boost

(b) Pair production after boost

Figure 1.1 Scattering boosts into pair production

This situation can happen because in QFT propagators may be nonzero for spacelike propagation but one shouldn't confuse it with on-shell propagation.

Having an uncertainty in particle number is not the only complication that combining QM with relativity enforces. From relativity we know that information cannot travel faster than light and this is in conflict with the fact that in QM an observer can measure any observable of choice. The conflict arises because the noncommutative nature of observables implies that observation itself may have a physical effect. So having access to an observable in a distant experiment, one may affect the physics there superluminally. There is a way out, however. We can associate observables to regions of spacetime so that for any two spacelike separated regions R_1 and R_2 we have $[\mathcal{O}_1, \mathcal{O}_2] = 0$ where \mathcal{O}_1 can be measured in the region R_1 and \mathcal{O}_2 in R_2 . Having encountered Maxwell's theory we know that there this is realized on a classical level by introducing local fields $A_{\mu}(x)$ with proper equations of motion. So we attempt to build our observables out of operator valued quantum fields $\phi(x)$, which satisfy $[\phi(x), \phi(y)] = 0$ for $(x - y)^2 > 0$ ensuring the analogous condition on observables. We do not a priori give these fields direct physical meaning, for us they serve the role of auxiliary objects out of which physical observables are built.

1.2 Multiparticle states

In the last section we showed a need to build a state spaces which can accommodate a variable number of particles. This state space was introduced by Fock and is called the Fock space. It is defined as the direct sum $\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}_k$, where \mathcal{H}_k is a k-particle Hilbert space containing three-momentum eigenstates $|\mathbf{p}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{p}_k\rangle$. In Fock space we introduce an inner product

$$\langle \boldsymbol{p}_1, \dots, \boldsymbol{p}_k | \boldsymbol{q}_1, \dots, \boldsymbol{q}_l \rangle = \delta_{kl} \sum_{\sigma} \delta^3(\boldsymbol{p}_1 - \boldsymbol{q}_{\sigma(1)}) \dots \delta^3(\boldsymbol{p}_k - \boldsymbol{q}_{\sigma(k)}), \quad (1.2)$$

where we specialised to bosonic statistics. The zero particle space \mathcal{H}_0 contains the unique normalised state $|0\rangle$ such that $\langle 0|0\rangle = 1$. By the definition (1.2) we realise that $|\mathbf{p}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{p}_k\rangle$ and $|\mathbf{p}_{\sigma}(1), \ldots, \mathbf{p}_{\sigma}(k)\rangle$ are equivalent. Making this manifest, we simplify a lot of our computations and it is done so by introducing creation operators $a^{\dagger}(\mathbf{p})$ such that

$$|\boldsymbol{p}_1,\ldots,\boldsymbol{p}_k\rangle = a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{p}_1)\ldots a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{p}_k)|0\rangle,$$
 (1.3)

where $[a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{p}), a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{q})] = 0$. One can check that (1.2) is correctly reproduced if for the hermitian conjugates $a(\boldsymbol{p})$ one has

$$\left[a(\boldsymbol{p}), a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{q})\right] = \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{p} - \boldsymbol{q}), \qquad (1.4)$$

with $a(\mathbf{p}) |0\rangle = 0$. The operators $a(\mathbf{p})$ are then called annihilation operators and they commute $[a(\mathbf{p}), a(\mathbf{q})] = 0$. To see that the definition (1.3) is correct, we make an explicit computation of $\langle \mathbf{p}_1, \mathbf{p}_2 | \mathbf{q}_1, \mathbf{q}_2 \rangle$

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \boldsymbol{p}_{1}, \boldsymbol{p}_{2} | \boldsymbol{q}_{1}, \boldsymbol{q}_{2} \rangle &= \langle 0 | a(\boldsymbol{p}_{1})a(\boldsymbol{p}_{2})a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{q}_{1})a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{q}_{2}) | 0 \rangle \\ &= \langle 0 | a(\boldsymbol{p}_{1})a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{q}_{1})a(\boldsymbol{p}_{2})a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{q}_{2}) | 0 \rangle + \\ & \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{p}_{2} - \boldsymbol{q}_{1}) \langle 0 | a(\boldsymbol{p}_{1})a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{q}_{2}) | 0 \rangle \\ &= \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{p}_{2} - \boldsymbol{q}_{2}) \langle 0 | a(\boldsymbol{p}_{1})a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{q}_{1}) | 0 \rangle + \\ & \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{p}_{1} - \boldsymbol{q}_{2})\delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{p}_{2} - \boldsymbol{q}_{1}) \\ &= \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{p}_{1} - \boldsymbol{q}_{1})\delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{p}_{2} - \boldsymbol{q}_{2}) + \\ & \delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{p}_{1} - \boldsymbol{q}_{2})\delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{p}_{2} - \boldsymbol{q}_{1}) \end{aligned}$$

Since $a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{p})a(\boldsymbol{p})$ acts as particle number density in momentum space, we may equip \mathcal{H} with generators of the Lorentz group. For example we have for the four-momentum

$$P^{\mu} = \int d^{3}\boldsymbol{p} \, p^{\mu} a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{p}) a(\boldsymbol{p})$$
(1.5)

The states we have created so far do not have simple transformation properties under the action of the Lorentz group, which is represented on \mathcal{H} by unitary operators $U(\Lambda)$, where Λ belongs to the Lorentz group. It is convenient to work with states $|p_1 \dots p_k\rangle$, where the momenta are now four-momenta. Up to a conventional factor of 2π , the correct normalisation is provided by taking

$$|p\rangle = \sqrt{(2\pi)^3} \sqrt{2\omega_p} |\mathbf{p}\rangle , \qquad (1.6)$$

where $\omega_p = \sqrt{p^2 + m^2}$ and m is the mass of the particles our momentum eigenstates represent. To see this we start by building a Lorentz invariant measure on the mass-shell hyperbola $p^2 + m^2 = 0$, $p^0 > 0$. Since the sign of the time component of a timelike vector is Lorentz invariant and p^2 is also Lorentz invariant, the product $\delta(p^2 + m^2)\theta(p^0)$ is Lorentz invariant and restricts p to lie on the future mass-shell hyperbola. The Lorentz invariant measure is then $d^4p \,\delta(p^2 + m^2)\theta(p^0)$ and with the definition (1.6) we have the completeness relation

$$1 = \int d^3 \boldsymbol{p} \left| \boldsymbol{p} \right\rangle \left\langle \boldsymbol{p} \right| = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int d^4 p \,\delta(p^2 + m^2) \theta(p^0) \left| \boldsymbol{p} \right\rangle \left\langle \boldsymbol{p} \right| \tag{1.7}$$

This is so by

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}p^0 \left(\mathrm{d}^3 \boldsymbol{p} \,\delta(p^2 + m^2) \theta(p^0) \right) = \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \boldsymbol{p}}{2\omega_{\boldsymbol{p}}} \tag{1.8}$$

and writing

$$\begin{split} \delta(p^2 + m^2) &= \delta(-(p^0)^2 + \omega_p^2) \\ &= \delta\left[(\omega_p - p^0)(\omega_p + p^0)\right] \\ &= \frac{\delta(\omega_p - p^0)}{2\omega_p} + \frac{\delta(\omega_p + p^0)}{2\omega_p}, \end{split}$$

which follows from standard delta function identities and only one sign is chosen by the step function $\theta(p^0)$. Since the measure on the mass-shell hyperbola transforms as

$$\mathrm{d}^4 p \,\delta(p^2 + m^2)\theta(p^0) \to \mathrm{d}^4 \Lambda p \,\delta(p^2 + m^2)\theta(p^0) \tag{1.9}$$

under Lorentz transformations, one has from (1.7)

$$U(\Lambda) |p_1, \dots, p_k\rangle = |\Lambda p_1, \dots, \Lambda p_k\rangle$$
(1.10)

The kets $|p_1, \ldots, p_k\rangle$ also transform very simply under translations since they are momentum eigenstates

$$U(T_x) |p_1, \dots, p_k\rangle = e^{-i\sum_j p_j \cdot x} |p_1, \dots, p_k\rangle, \qquad (1.11)$$

where x is a four-vector. Taking (1.10) and (1.11) we know how $|p_1, \ldots, p_k\rangle$ transform under the action of the Poincaré group. From the definition (1.6) it is clear that the creation and annihilation operators in the relativistic normalisation should be

$$\alpha^{\dagger}(p) = \sqrt{2\pi^3} \sqrt{2\omega_p} a^{\dagger}(p) \qquad (1.12)$$

$$\alpha(p) = \sqrt{2\pi^3} \sqrt{2\omega_p} a(p) \qquad (1.13)$$

These inherit transformation properties from (1.10) and (1.11)

$$\alpha^{\dagger}(\Lambda p) = U(\Lambda)\alpha^{\dagger}(p)U^{\dagger}(\Lambda)$$
 (1.14)

$$\alpha(\Lambda p) = U(\Lambda)\alpha(p)U^{\dagger}(\Lambda)$$
 (1.15)

$$e^{-ip \cdot x} \alpha^{\dagger}(p) = e^{-iP \cdot x} \alpha^{\dagger}(p) e^{iP \cdot x}$$
(1.16)

$$e^{ip \cdot x} \alpha(p) = e^{-iP \cdot x} \alpha(p) e^{iP \cdot x} \tag{1.17}$$

One may derive these identities by noting that $U(\Lambda) |0\rangle = |0\rangle$, $P |0\rangle = |0\rangle$ and inserting a clever unit operator $U^{\dagger}(\Lambda)U(\Lambda)$ or $e^{iP\cdot x}e^{-iP\cdot x}$ before $|0\rangle$. Also taking P^{μ} to have only one non-zero component, namely the Hamiltonian, we see that we are working in the Heisenberg picture. Now that we have a multiparticle state space \mathcal{H} and a basis in which Lorentz transformations act nicely, we may use it to build a quantum field $\phi(x)$ with the desired Lorentz transformation properties.

1.3 The scalar field

For simplicity, we are interested in the simplest possible transformation properties of $\phi(x)$ under the action of the Poincaré group. That is

$$\phi(x-y) = e^{-iP \cdot y} \phi(x) e^{iP \cdot y}$$
(1.18)

$$\phi(\Lambda^{-1}x) = U(\Lambda)^{\dagger}\phi(x)U(\Lambda)$$
(1.19)

as appropriate for a scalar field. These transformation properties resemble those of creation and annihilation operators and suggest that ϕ could be a linear combination of them. This linearity is also supported by the fact that eventually we would like to couple fields to sources of particles as $\int d^4x \,\phi(x) J(x)$ and do perturbation theory in the small amplitudes for creation of particles J (multiple actions of J creating multiple particles). The translation property (1.18) is also guaranteed if we write ϕ as a Fourier integral. The measure in this integral should be Lorentz invariant to inherit the transformation properties of creation and annihilation operators. To build observables it is convenient to make ϕ Hermitean and putting all of these requirements together naturally leads to

$$\phi(x) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi^3)(2\omega_{\boldsymbol{p}})} \bigg(e^{-i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} \alpha(\boldsymbol{p}) + e^{i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} \alpha^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{p}) \bigg).$$
(1.20)

In the motivation section we mentioned that $[\phi(x), \phi(y)] = 0$ for $(x - y)^2 > 0$ by causality. This now needs to be verified for (1.20) and it is convenient to bring back the original creation and annihilation operators with simple commutation relations

$$\phi(x) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\boldsymbol{p}}{\sqrt{2\pi^{3}}\sqrt{2\omega_{\boldsymbol{p}}}} \left(e^{-i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}}a(\boldsymbol{p}) + e^{i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}}a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{p}) \right)$$
(1.21)

so that modulo terms that are trivially zero we get using (1.4)

$$[\phi(x),\phi(y)] = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi^3)(2\omega_{\boldsymbol{p}})} \left(e^{-i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot(x-y)} - e^{-i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot(y-x)} \right).$$
(1.22)

Because we are integrating two Lorentz scalars and since spacelike vectors move outside the light cone, one can for $(x - y)^2 > 0$ turn x - y into y - xwith a Lorentz transformation, we have

$$[\phi(x),\phi(y)] = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi^{3})(2\omega_{\boldsymbol{p}})} \left(e^{-i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot(x-y)} - e^{-i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot(x-y)}\right) = 0$$
(1.23)

as it should. As a consequence of the vanishing of $[\phi(x), \phi(y)]$ for $(x-y)^2 > 0$, choosing a time direction, we have the vanishing of any equal-time commutator

$$[\phi(t, \boldsymbol{x}), \phi(t, \boldsymbol{y})] = 0 \tag{1.24}$$

It is also easy to see from (1.22) and the integral representation of the delta function $\delta^3(\boldsymbol{x}) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}}$ the equal-time commutator

$$\left[\phi(t,\boldsymbol{x}),\dot{\phi}(t,\boldsymbol{y})\right] = i\delta^{3}(\boldsymbol{x}-\boldsymbol{y})$$
(1.25)

It is worth a remark that (1.20) satisfies the Klein-Gordon equation

$$(-\partial^2 + m^2)\phi(x) = 0$$
 (1.26)

by virtue of the mass-shell condition so that one can essentially revert the entire process, that is postulate an equation of motion (EOM) and derive (1.20) as a classical solution and from the Fourier modes build \mathcal{H} . In the light of (1.26) the causality condition on the quantum level can be seen as a sort of preservation of the classical causality, which is almost self-evident since $-\partial^2$ is a wave operator. The Klein-Gordon equation can be derived from the Lagrangian density

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2}(\partial\phi)^2 - \frac{1}{2}m^2\phi^2$$
 (1.27)

by the usual formula $\partial^{\mu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial(\partial^{\mu}\phi)} - \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial\phi} = 0$. In the next sections we shall work with more general, interacting Lagrangian densities

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2}(\partial\phi)^2 - V(\phi), \qquad (1.28)$$

where V is taken to be polynomial in ϕ . The reason why we do not call the previous theory interacting is the fact that the oscillators, from which \mathcal{H} was built, were uncoupled, leading to for example the additivity of energy.

1.4 Observables and perturbation theory

The quantities we would like to compute are correlation functions of the form

$$\langle \phi(x_1) \dots \phi(x_n) \rangle = \langle 0 | T \phi(x_1) \dots \phi(x_n) | 0 \rangle, \qquad (1.29)$$

where T denotes time ordering for some chosen time direction, which places the operators from left to right according to an ordering by largest to smallest times, so that for example

$$T\phi(x_1)\phi(x_2) = \theta(x_1^0 - x_2^0)\phi(x_1)\phi(x_2) + \theta(x_2^0 - x_1^0)\phi(x_2)\phi(x_1)$$
(1.30)

These correlation functions are of interest even in ordinary QM as we now demonstrate by attempting an exercise from [6]. Suppose that we have a one-dimensional QM problem with a ground state $|0\rangle$ such that $H |0\rangle = 0$ and as a complete set of commuting observables we take x. Picking a time ordering we consider correlation functions of the form

$$\langle 0 | x(t_1) \dots x(t_n) | 0 \rangle \tag{1.31}$$

we write these out for n = 1, 2, 3.

$$\langle 0 | x(t) | 0 \rangle = \langle 0 | e^{-itH} x e^{itH} | 0 \rangle = \langle 0 | x | 0 \rangle$$
(1.32)

$$\langle 0 | x(t_1) x(t_2) | 0 \rangle = \langle 0 | e^{-it_1 H} x e^{it_1 H} e^{-it_2 H} x e^{it_2 H} | 0 \rangle$$

= $\sum_n |\langle 0 | x | n \rangle|^2 e^{it_1 2 E_n}$ (1.33)

$$\langle 0 | x(t_1)x(t_2)x(t_3) | 0 \rangle = \langle 0 | e^{-it_1H} x e^{it_1H} e^{-it_2H} x e^{it_2H} x e^{-it_3H} x e^{it_3H} | 0 \rangle$$

= $\sum_{n,m} \langle 0 | x | n \rangle \langle n | x | m \rangle \langle m | x | 0 \rangle e^{it_{12}E_n} e^{it_{23}E_m}, (1.34)$

where we inserted a complete set of energy eigenstates $|n\rangle$ and $t_{ij} \equiv t_i - t_j$. We see for example from (1.33) that the Fourier transformation of correlation functions encodes the energy levels E_n . We have shown that eigenvalues of H can be obtained from correlation functions, but what about H itself? For this we show that (1.31) contains vacuum expectation values (VEVs) of the form $\langle 0 | x^m p^n | 0 \rangle$. To do this, we pick the usual nonrelativistic ansatz for H

$$H = \frac{p^2}{2m} + V(x), \qquad (1.35)$$

and with the formula $[f(A), B] = [A, B] \frac{\partial f}{\partial A}$ valid for the commutator $[p^n, x]$ and the canonical commutation relation [x, p] = i we then have

$$\langle 0 | x(t_1)x(t_2) | 0 \rangle = \langle 0 | e^{-it_1H} x e^{it_1H} e^{-it_2H} x e^{it_2H} | 0 \rangle = \langle 0 | x e^{it_{12}H} x | 0 \rangle = \langle 0 | x^2 | 0 \rangle + \langle 0 | x [e^{it_{12}H}, x] | 0 \rangle = \langle 0 | x^2 | 0 \rangle + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(it_{12})^n}{n!} \langle 0 | x [H^n, x] | 0 \rangle$$
(1.36)

where we expanded the exponential. We now simply match the coefficients of t_{12}^n on the right hand side with the same coefficients in the Taylor expansion of the left hand side to obtain constraints on various VEVs. Higher point correlators give further restrictions on the VEVs and enable us to solve for them. Such VEVs with xs only give moments of the ground state wave function modulus squared $\Psi_0^2(x)$, which by a version of the moment problem determine $\Psi_0(x)$ up to a position dependent phase, which can be fixed by considering the VEVs with ps. Now that we have the ground state wave function $\Psi_0(x)$, we can calculate the potential V(x) by the time-independent Schrödinger equation

$$V(x) = \frac{1}{2m\Psi_0} \frac{d^2\Psi_0}{dx^2}$$
(1.37)

determining the functional form of H. So in the end we have obtained the eigenvalues and functional form of H from the correlation functions (1.31).

In QFT the correlation functions (A) directly lead to the computation of particle masses by the Källén–Lehmann spectral representation of $\langle 0|T\phi(x_1)\phi(x_2)|0\rangle$ and their scattering amplitudes by the LSZ formula. When we compute correlation functions, it is usually very convenient to define a generating functional

$$Z[J] \equiv \langle 0 | T e^{i \int d^4 x J(x)\phi(x)} | 0 \rangle, \qquad (1.38)$$

so that the correlation functions are easily computed once Z is known

$$\langle 0|T\phi(x_1)\dots\phi(x_n)|0\rangle = (-i)^n \frac{\delta}{\delta J(x_1)}\dots\frac{\delta}{\delta J(x_n)} Z[J]\Big|_{J=0}, \qquad (1.39)$$

where for the functional derivative, we have $\frac{\delta J(x)}{\delta J(y)} = \delta^4(x-y)$. Our task thus reduces to the computation of Z and we begin by formulating the equations of motion for it. First we consider the two-point correlator, where we differentiate by the time x^0 twice

$$\partial_0^2 \langle 0 | T\phi(x)\phi(y) | 0 \rangle = \partial_0^2 \left(\theta(x^0 - y^0) \langle 0 | \phi(x)\phi(y) | 0 \rangle + \\ \theta(y^0 - x^0) \langle 0 | \phi(y)\phi(x) | 0 \rangle \right)$$

By the identity $\theta'(x) = \delta(x)$ this simplifies to

$$\partial_0 \left(\left\langle 0 \left| T \partial_0 \phi(x) \phi(y) + \delta(x^0 - y^0) \left\langle 0 \right| \left[\phi(x), \phi(y) \right] \left| 0 \right\rangle \right) \right\rangle$$

The delta function forces the commutator to be equal-time so it vanishes by (1.24). Applying the derivative a second time, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_0^2 \left\langle 0 \right| T\phi(x)\phi(y) \left| 0 \right\rangle &= \left\langle 0 \right| T\partial_0^2\phi(x)\phi(y) \left| 0 \right\rangle - \delta(x^0 - y^0) [\phi(y), \partial_0\phi(x)] \\ &= \left\langle 0 \right| T\partial_0^2\phi(x)\phi(y) \left| 0 \right\rangle - i\delta^4(x - y), \end{aligned}$$

where the delta function again made the commutator equal-time and so we used (1.25). For the higher point correlators the pattern is

$$\partial_0^2 \langle 0 | T\phi(x)\phi(y_1)\dots\phi(y_n) | 0 \rangle = \langle 0 | T\partial_0^2\phi(x)\phi(y_1)\dots\phi(y_n) | 0 \rangle$$

$$-i\sum_j \delta^4(x-y_j) \langle 0 | T\phi(y_1)\dots\phi(y_{j+1})\dots\phi(y_n) | 0 \rangle$$
(1.40)

Expanding the generating function in sources J will make the following more transparent

$$Z[J] = \sum_{n} \frac{1}{n!} \int Z_n(x_1, \dots, x_n) J(x_1) \dots J(x_n)$$
(1.41)

First we notice that when multiplying the higher point correlators and integrating over y_1, \ldots, y_n , one source always survives the integration. By the fact that we can bring down a $\phi(x)$ by functional differentiation of Z[J] by iJ(x) and that EOMs for ϕ read $\partial^2 \phi = \frac{\partial V}{\partial \phi}$, we then have

$$\partial^2 \frac{\delta Z}{\delta(iJ(x))} = \left(\frac{\partial V}{\partial \phi} \left[\frac{\delta}{\delta(iJ(x))}\right] + J(x)\right) Z[J]$$
(1.42)

This equation is called the Schwinger-Dyson (SD) equation and we would like to find a formal solution. We see that we have two derivatives with respect to J and one explicit factor of J in (1.42). Knowing elementary Fourier analysis one gets the idea that a simplification will occur when Fourier transforming. The two functional derivatives turn into multiplication and the explicit factor of J turns into a derivative creating a first-order PDE for the Fourier transform. Writing the Fourier ansatz

$$Z[J] = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \, e^{iS[\phi] + iJ\phi},\tag{1.43}$$

where $\mathcal{D}\phi$ is a formal measure on field space, the SD equation (1.42) yields

$$\int \mathcal{D}\phi \left(\partial^2 \phi - \frac{\partial V}{\partial \phi} - \frac{\delta S}{\delta \phi}\right) e^{iS[\phi] + iJ\phi} = 0, \qquad (1.44)$$

where integration by parts was used to obtain a functional derivative of S. This is satisfied for

$$S[\phi] = \int d^4x \left(\frac{1}{2}\phi\partial^2\phi - V(\phi)\right) = \int d^4x \left(-\frac{1}{2}(\partial\phi)^2 - V(\phi)\right) = \int d^4x \mathcal{L},$$
(1.45)

where the correctness of the factor $\frac{1}{2}$ is seen a posteriori after doing a per partes to obtain $-\frac{1}{2}(\partial\phi)^2$. It can also be understood by discretizing spacetime and interpreting ∂^2 as a symmetric matrix, which replaces $\partial^2 \phi$ by $K_{AB}\phi^B$. The integral S of the Lagrangian density is nothing but the classical action. Integration with the measure $\mathcal{D}\phi$ in (1.43) is then called functional integration and it has the interpretation of integrating over classical configurations of the field ϕ weighed by the exponential of the classical action. The resulting integral is called a path integral.

We will evaluate the generating functional Z[J] for the case of free (also called Gaussian for reasons that soon become clear) field theory with

$$S[\phi] = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \left(-\frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^2 - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \phi^2 \right)$$

The integral (1.43) is oscillating for real m and so we make the Feynman $i\epsilon$ prescription $m^2 \rightarrow m^2 - i\epsilon$ to make it convergent. Apart from this issue it is a simple Gaussian and we evaluate it as a continuum limit of

$$I(J) = \int d^{n}y \, e^{-\frac{1}{2}K_{ij}y^{i}y^{j} + iy^{i}J^{i}} = e^{-\frac{1}{2}J^{i}(K^{-1})_{ij}J^{j}}I(0)$$
(1.46)

The proper generalisation of a matrix inverse K^{-1} to the continuum case is the Green function satisfying

$$i(\partial^2 - m^2 + i\epsilon)D(x - y) = -\delta^4(x - y),$$
 (1.47)

where D is called the Feynman propagator and it can be expressed in momentum space

$$D(x-y) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} e^{-ip(x-y)} \frac{-i}{p^2 + m^2 - i\epsilon}$$
(1.48)

The Feynman propagator is evaluated by integration along the standard Jordan semicircle chosen by the imaginary part of p^0 needed to make the integral converge and the $i\epsilon$ chooses the appropriate signs of p^0 based on the sign of $x^0 - y^0$. By the virtue of choosing these appropriate signs, the equation

$$D(x-y) = \langle 0 | T\phi(x)\phi(y) | 0 \rangle, \qquad (1.49)$$

holds. This can be understood by the fact that the right hand side is also a Green function for the Klein-Gordon equation by (1.40) and the $i\epsilon$ prescription chooses the appropriate time ordering on the left hand side. Combining (1.46) and (1.47), we have

$$Z[J] = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\int d^4x \int d^4y J(x)D(x-y)J(y)},$$
(1.50)

where we used the fact that Z[0] = 1 by (1.38). The Gaussian theory is solved.

The correlators (1.29) of the Gaussian theory can be computed using an important theorem called Wick's theorem. To formulate the theorem, we need to define normal ordering of an expression constructed from creation and annihilation operators. The definition is very simple, we simply move all annihilation operators to the right of all creation operators. Denoting normal ordering with a ::, we have for example

$$:a(\boldsymbol{p})a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{q}):=a^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{q})a(\boldsymbol{p}).$$
(1.51)

Now we define the contraction of two fields as

$$\overline{\phi(x)\phi(y)} = D(x-y) \tag{1.52}$$

Abbreviating $\phi(x_i) \equiv \phi_i$, we have Wick's theorem

$$T(\phi_1\phi_2\dots\phi_n) = :\exp\left\{\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i,j=1}^n \phi_1\phi_2\frac{\partial}{\partial\phi_1}\frac{\partial}{\partial\phi_2}\right\}\phi_1\phi_2\dots\phi_n:$$
(1.53)

from which the following formula for correlation functions of the Gaussian theory follows

$$\langle 0 | T(\phi_1 \dots \phi_n) | 0 \rangle = \sum_{pairings} \prod_{\{i,j\}} \phi_i \phi_j \qquad (1.54)$$

This can be proven from the form of (1.50) and differentiating to get correlation functions. As an example we have for n = 2

$$\langle 0|T(\phi_1\phi_2)|0\rangle = \phi_1\phi_2 = D(x_1 - x_2)$$
 (1.55)

which is just (1.49) and for n = 3 we get zero, since the VEV of a normal ordered expression is zero. For n = 4, we find the result

$$\langle 0 | T(\phi_1 \phi_2 \phi_3 \phi_4) | 0 \rangle = \phi_1 \phi_2 \phi_3 \phi_4 + \phi_1 \phi_2 \phi_3 \phi_4 + \phi_1 \phi_2 \phi_3 \phi_4$$
(1.56)
= $D(x_1 - x_2) D(x_3 - x_4) + D(x_1 - x_3) D(x_2 - x_4)$
+ $D(x_1 - x_4) D(x_2 - x_3)$

The importance of Wick's theorem is for perturbation theory. Suppose we have $S = S_0 - g \int d^4x V_{int}(\phi)$, where S_0 is the free action (1.46) and V_{int} is an interaction potential. When we write the generating functional Z by the path integral

$$Z[J] = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \, e^{iS_0[\phi] + iJ\phi} e^{-ig\int \mathrm{d}^4x \, V_{int}(\phi)} \tag{1.57}$$

and expand the exponential with V_{int} , we get

$$Z[J] = \frac{I[J]}{I[0]},$$
(1.58)

where

$$I[J] = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{g^n}{n!} \int \mathcal{D}\phi \, e^{iS_0[\phi] + iJ\phi} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x_1 \, \dots \, \mathrm{d}^4 x_n \, V_{int}(x_1) \dots V_{int}(x_n) \quad (1.59)$$

If V_{int} is polynomial in ϕ , then the only expressions we need to calculate in order to find the perturbative generating functional (1.58) are the correlators

$$\int \mathcal{D}\phi \, e^{iS_0[\phi] + iJ\phi} \phi(x_1) \dots \phi(x_m) \tag{1.60}$$

These we know how to do by Wick's theorem and so formally the problem is solved. In practice one usually develops a diagrammatic calculus of Wick diagrams, which help organise the perturbative expression (1.58) and give precise quantitative results by the virtue of Wick's theorem.

1.5 Euclidean field theory

Suppose we take the path integral

$$Z[J] = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \, e^{iS[\phi] + iJ\phi} \tag{1.61}$$

for general S of the form (4.41) and we analytically continue to imaginary times $t \to i\tau$. For the metric this has the effect of going from a Minkowskian to a Euclidean metric and so the resulting theory with the partition function

$$Z_E[J] = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \, e^{-S_E[\phi] + iJ\phi} \tag{1.62}$$

and with $S_E[\phi] = \int d^4x \left(\frac{1}{2}(\partial\phi)^2 + V(\phi)\right)$ is called Euclidean. We again stress that $(\partial\phi)^2$ is evaluated with a Euclidean metric.

Such field theories naturally arise in the continuum limit of lattice models of statistical physics. To demonstrate this, we consider the Ising model with a partition function

$$Z = \sum_{\{\sigma_i\}} \exp\left\{\sum_{i,j} J_{ij}\sigma_i\sigma_j + \sum_i h_i\sigma_i\right\}$$
(1.63)

with $\sigma_i \in \{-1, 1\}$ and the external field h_i providing a source. The identity

$$\int \prod_{i} d\varphi_{i} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{4} \sum_{i,j} \varphi_{i} J_{ij}^{-1} \varphi_{j} + \sum_{i} \varphi_{i} \sigma_{i}\right\} \sim \exp\left\{\sum_{i,j} J_{ij} \sigma_{i} \sigma_{j}\right\}$$
(1.64)

for multiple Gaussian integrals lets us rewrite (1.63) as

$$Z = \int \prod_{i} d\varphi_{i} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{4} \sum_{i,j} (\varphi_{i} - h_{i}) J_{ij}^{-1}(\varphi_{j} - h_{j})\right\} \sum_{\sigma_{i}} \exp\left\{\sum_{i} \varphi_{i} \sigma_{i}\right\} \quad (1.65)$$

modulo a constant. The spins are now decoupled and we can explicitly perform the sum over spins

$$\sum_{\sigma_i} \exp\left\{\sum_i \varphi_i \sigma_i\right\} = \prod_i (2\cosh\varphi_i) \sim \exp\left\{\sum_i \ln\cosh\varphi_i\right\}$$
(1.66)

For the partition function we have after $\phi_i \rightarrow \frac{1}{2} J_{ij}^{-1} \phi_j$ the result

$$Z = \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{4}\sum_{ij}h_i J_{ij}^{-1}h_j\right\} \int \prod_i d\varphi_i \exp\left\{-\sum_{ij}J_{ij}\varphi_i\varphi_j + \sum_i \ln\cosh 2J_{ij}\varphi_j\right\}$$
(1.67)

up to a constant. This means that after taking the continuum limit we will replace the spins σ_i by a scalar field ϕ . We continue by Fourier expanding

$$\varphi_i = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{k}} \varphi(\boldsymbol{k}) e^{i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r_i}}$$
(1.68)

$$J_{ij} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{\boldsymbol{k}} J(\boldsymbol{k}) e^{i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot(\boldsymbol{r_i}-\boldsymbol{r_j})}, \qquad (1.69)$$

where N is the number of sites of our lattice. We then have

$$\sum_{ij} J_{ij} \varphi_i \varphi_j = \sum_{\boldsymbol{k}} J(\boldsymbol{k}) |\varphi(\boldsymbol{k})|^2$$
(1.70)

and expanding the logarithm

$$\ln\cosh 2x \sim 2x^2 - \frac{4}{3}x^4, \tag{1.71}$$

the second quadratic term is

$$2\sum_{i} (J_{ij}\varphi_j)^2 = 2\sum_{\boldsymbol{k}} |J(\boldsymbol{k})|^2 |\varphi(\boldsymbol{k})|^2, \qquad (1.72)$$

so that the quadratic term in (1.67) becomes

$$\int \mathrm{d}^{D} x \, \mathcal{L}_{0} = \sum_{\boldsymbol{k}} \left[J(\boldsymbol{k}) - 2|J(\boldsymbol{k})|^{2} \right] |\varphi(\boldsymbol{k})|^{2}, \qquad (1.73)$$

where \mathcal{L}_0 is the free Lagrangian density. Doing an expansion

$$J(\mathbf{k}) \sim J_0(1 - \rho^2 k^2),$$
 (1.74)

and defining ρ by

$$J_0 \rho^2 k^2 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\boldsymbol{r}} J(\boldsymbol{r}) (\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r})^2, \qquad (1.75)$$

one then gets for the quadratic term of (1.73)

$$\int d^D x \, \mathcal{L}_0 = J_0 \sum_{k} \left[(1 - 2J_0) + (4J_0 - 1)\rho^2 k^2 \right] |\varphi(\mathbf{k})|^2 \qquad (1.76)$$

From elementary statistical mechanics we have for a nearest neighbor interaction

$$J_0 = \sum_{\boldsymbol{r}} J(\boldsymbol{r}) = \frac{1}{2} z \beta \widetilde{J}, \qquad (1.77)$$

where z is the number of neighbors, \tilde{J} the coupling between neighbors and β the inverse temperature. We expect that the ks in (1.76) turn into derivatives, so the $(1 - 2J_0)$ term is a mass term so that critical temperature T_c can be identified by the condition that the mass term vanishes (more on this in the section (1.7) on the renormalisation group). This gives

$$T_c = z\tilde{J} \tag{1.78}$$

Writing $1 - 2J_0 = \frac{T - T_c}{T_c}$, we have

$$\int \mathrm{d}^D x \mathcal{L}_0 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\boldsymbol{k}} \left(\frac{T - T_c}{T_c} + \rho^2 k^2 \right) |\varphi(\boldsymbol{k})|^2 \tag{1.79}$$

so that by defining $\phi(x) = \rho \varphi(x)$ and $m^2 = \frac{1}{\rho^2} \frac{T - T_c}{T_c}$ in the continuum limit $N \to \infty$, the result for the free Euclidean action is

$$\int \mathrm{d}^D x \mathcal{L}_0 = \int \mathrm{d}^D x \left[\frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^2 + \frac{1}{2} m^2 \phi^2 \right]$$
(1.80)

Computing higher order terms would reveal that the Ising model is equivalent to the ϕ^4 theory with

$$S_E = \int d^D x \left[\frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^2 + \frac{1}{2} m^2 \phi^2 + \frac{g}{4} \phi^4 \right]$$
(1.81)

It is curious that $m^2 < 0$ for $T < T_c$, but this is the physics one would expect since the potential in (1.81) then has two degenerate minima reflecting the two ferromagnetic phases of the Ising, see figure (1.2). If we want to continue along this line of thought, we should interpret ϕ as an order parameter, which gets nontrivial VEVs when the Z_2 symmetry of the Ising model is broken below T_c . This indicates that we can proceed backwards by postulating an action for the order parameter with the desired symmetry properties reflecting the symmetry of the lattice model. We may then calculate correlators in the lattice theory by performing a path integral.



Figure 1.2 Plot of $V(\phi) = -\frac{1}{2}\phi^2 \pm \frac{1}{4}\phi^4$ for two signs of the ϕ^4 term

1.6 Unstable vacua and instantons

Let us now consider ϕ^4 theory in the high-temperature regime with $m^2 > 0$.



Figure 1.3 Plot of $V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}\phi^2 \pm \frac{1}{4}\phi^4$ for two signs of the ϕ^4 term

From figure (1.3), we see that the physics of (1.81) is dramatically altered when one passes from the stable regime g > 0 to the unstable regime g < 0(assuming $m^2 > 0$) since for g < 0 the perturbative vacuum $\phi = 0$ is unstable in the sense that it can decay by tunneling effects. One might expect to be able to see this change in regimes in perturbation theory. Indeed this is the case and to illustrate this, we consider the zero-dimensional path integral

$$I(g) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}x \, e^{-\frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{g}{4}x^4},\tag{1.82}$$

which converges for g > 0 and diverges for g < 0. To see the perturbation theory manifestation of this, we expand $e^{-\frac{g}{4}x^4} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n \frac{g^n}{4^n n!} x^{4n}$ and obtain

$$I(g) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n \frac{g^n}{4^n n!} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}x \, e^{\frac{1}{2}x^2} x^{4n} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n \frac{(4n-1)!!}{4^n n!} g^n \qquad (1.83)$$

which clearly has zero radius of convergence. This is seen either by using elementary calculus or using Stirling's formula to get the asymptotics $(-1)^n 4^n n!$ of the power series coefficients. We want to emphasize that the zero radius of convergence of the zero-dimensional perturbation series is physical since if the perturbation series had nonzero radius of convergence, it would describe both the stable and unstable theories for g sufficiently small, see [20]. Although it diverges, the series (1.83) can still be very useful since it is asymptotic in the following sense.

Consider a function f(g) and a formal power series $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n g^n$, we say that the series is asymptotic to f(g) if

$$\lim_{g \to 0} \frac{1}{g^N} \left[f(g) - \sum_{n=0}^N a_n g^n \right] = 0, \tag{1.84}$$

which means that the remainder after summing N+1 terms is smaller than the last retained term for g very small. This usually means that the asymptotic series gives a good approximation for f(g) when we truncate it for the right N since eventually its terms become large and the sum deviates from f(g). A truncation scheme in which we truncate for N such that $|a_n|$ is at its smallest for n = N is called the optimal truncation scheme. We estimate how close this scheme gets us to f(g) for the asymptotic behavior $a_n \sim \frac{1}{A^n} n!$, which we have already seen for $A = -\frac{1}{4}$ in the zero-dimensional path integral. We thus want to minimise $\left|\frac{g}{A}\right|^n n!$ and by using Stirling's approximation, we estimate

$$\left|\frac{g}{A}\right|^{n} n! = \exp\left\{n\left(\ln n - 1 + \ln\left|\frac{A}{g}\right|\right)\right\}$$
(1.85)

and this implies that for g small the optimal n is $N = \left|\frac{A}{g}\right|$ displaying the expected behavior $N \sim \left|\frac{1}{g}\right|$. Evaluating (1.85) at the stationary point n = N, we get the estimate for the magnitude of near N terms of $e^{-\left|\frac{A}{g}\right|}$, meaning that the deviation of the optimally truncated small g asymptotic series is of the magnitude $e^{-\left|\frac{A}{g}\right|}$.

Since the perturbation series obtained by summing Wick diagrams usually scales factorially as hinted at in the zero-dimensional example, this means that we might encounter corrections that go like $e^{-\left|\frac{A}{g}\right|}$ in addition to the usual perturbative corrections. These corrections are the symptoms of the presence of an instability and are nonperturbative in the sense that $e^{-\left|\frac{A}{g}\right|}$ has an essential singularity at q = 0. It is curious that these corrections are exponentially damped for q small, but nevertheless nonperturbative. Such corrections arise when one solves the Euclidean EOMs with appropriate boundary conditions, thus finding a saddle point of the path integral since the classical EOMs are given by the stationary points of the action. When having finite action, these solutions are called instantons. We note that in string theory the analysis of large order behavior leads to nonperturbative corrections, which don't have a point particle origin. They can be explained by the inclusion of D-branes [21]. Investigating to what extend and how the usual perturbation series contains nonperturbative data is a research program onto itself [22, 23, 24]. In particular one may see that the asymptotic series around instantons resurge from the asymptotic series around the perturbative background.

Let us now find some instantons, which nicely illustrate the process of tunneling from false to true vacua. To do this, we choose to work with the family of potentials

$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}\phi^2 - \frac{1}{2}\phi^3 + \frac{\alpha}{8}\phi^4, \qquad 0 < \alpha < 1$$
(1.86)

which are plotted in figure (1.4). These potentials have a false vacuum $\phi_+ = 0$ and a true vacuum $\phi_- = \frac{3}{2\alpha} + \frac{\sqrt{9-8\alpha}}{2\alpha}$



Figure 1.4 The potential (1.86) for $\alpha = 0.8, 0.9$ and 1 from bottom to top

Separating the Euclidean time τ , so that $\phi = \phi(\tau, \boldsymbol{x})$, we want to solve the Euclidean EOM

$$-\left(\partial^2 + \frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\tau^2}\right)\phi + V'(\phi) = 0, \qquad (1.87)$$

where ∂^2 is a d-1 dimensional Laplacian. Since we integrate over the entire Euclidean space in the action S and this action has to be finite, we need to impose the following boundary conditions at infinity

$$\begin{aligned}
\phi(\pm\infty, \boldsymbol{x}) &= \phi_+ \\
\phi(\tau, \boldsymbol{x}) &= \phi_+, \qquad |\boldsymbol{x}| \to \infty
\end{aligned}$$
(1.88)

When we write $\phi = \phi_+ + \delta$ we understand why these solutions are called instantons. Their deviations δ from ϕ_+ are localised in space explaining the particle suffix -on and localised in time explaining the instant. One can unify the boundary conditions and simplify the EOM by the virtue of V being rotationally symmetric by picking a rotationally invariant ansatz

$$\phi = \phi\left(\sqrt{\tau^2 + |\boldsymbol{x}|^2}\right) \equiv \phi(r) \tag{1.89}$$

so that $\lim_{r\to\infty} \phi(r) = \phi_+$. This leads to the EOM

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2\phi}{\mathrm{d}r^2} + \frac{d-1}{r}\frac{\mathrm{d}\phi}{\mathrm{d}r} = V'(\phi) \tag{1.90}$$

We will be interested in studying the limit $\alpha \sim 1$ corresponding to the socalled thin-wall approximation, in which the separation between the two minima of (1.86) is small since a simple calculation gives $V(\phi_+) - V(\phi_-) =$ $2(1-\alpha) + O((1-\alpha)^2)$. It turns out that in this limit neglecting the first derivative term in (1.90) gives sensible results so that the thin-wall EOM is

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2\phi}{\mathrm{d}r^2} = V_0'(\phi),\tag{1.91}$$

where V_0 is V evaluated at $\alpha = 1$. The EOM (1.91) can be solved using integral of motion techniques from elementary classical mechanics, where r plays the role of time. Recalling these techniques, one obtains

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\phi}{\mathrm{d}r}\right)^2 - V_0(\phi) = 0, \qquad (1.92)$$

where the integral of motion was fixed by the fact that $V_0(\phi_{\pm}) = 0$ and that ϕ approaches a constant at large r. The differential equation (1.92) with boundary conditions $\phi(r \to \pm \infty) = \phi_{\pm}$ is now easy to solve remembering that in (1.92) r can be negative since it formally plays the role of time, but for us the physical region is r > 0. One obtains the exact solution

$$\phi(r) = \frac{2}{1 + e^{r - \bar{r}}},\tag{1.93}$$

where \bar{r} is defined so that $\phi(\bar{r}) = \frac{1}{2}(\phi_+ + \phi_-)$ and it turns out that $\bar{r} \sim \frac{1}{1-\alpha}$. In particular one easily checks that $\phi(r \to \infty) = \phi_+ = 0$ and that $\phi(r \to -\infty) = \phi_- = 2$, where we used ϕ_{\pm} with $\alpha = 1$. The solution (1.93) with \bar{r} large enough to have $\alpha \sim 1$ is plotted for three values of \bar{r} in figure (1.5).



Figure 1.5 The solution (1.93) for $\bar{r} = 100, 125$ and 150 from left to right

One may interpret the solution (1.93) as a bubble of true vacuum ϕ_{-} centered at the origin of radius approximately \bar{r} separated by a thin wall from the false vacuum ϕ_{+} . We would now also like to interpret the solution in spacetime. To do this, we rotate back to Minkowski spacetime and introduce a field in spacetime

$$\Phi(t, \boldsymbol{x}) = \phi\left(r = \sqrt{-t^2 + |\boldsymbol{x}|^2}\right)$$
(1.94)

This field satisfies the wave equation

$$\left(-\partial^2 + \frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}t^2}\right)\Phi + V'(\Phi) = 0, \qquad (1.95)$$

by the virtue of (1.87) with the boundary conditions $\Phi(0, \boldsymbol{x}) = \phi(|\boldsymbol{x}|)$ and $\frac{d}{dt}\Phi(t, \boldsymbol{x})\Big|_{t=0} = 0$, the latter being obtained by simple differentiation of (1.94). So from the instanton ϕ , we have a new solution (1.94) to the wave equation (1.95). Its interpretation is actually quite clear, it describes the spherically symmetric expansion of the bubble of true vacuum ϕ_{-} starting at time t = 0. At later times, when the bubble has expanded to be much larger than its initial radius R at t = 0 it expands almost at the speed of light as can be seen from

$$|\boldsymbol{x}|^2 = t^2 + R^2, \tag{1.96}$$

as satisfied by the boundary of the bubble from the standard wave ansatz. We conclude by mentioning that in (B.3) we analyse a famous instanton of Kaluza-Klein theory as discovered by Witten [25] admitting a similar bubble picture. See also the essay [26] on bubbles.

1.7 The renormalisation group

An essential physicist's know-how is to select a description that is precisely fit to the problem under study. One uses hydrodynamics to describe fluid dynamics and not quantum mechanics of water molecules, even though these are more fundamental. We say that one uses an effective description whose validity is usually demarcated by length scales. In order for the reductionist program in physics to be justified, we need a way of obtaining the effective macroscopic theories from the microscopic. We have no final theory of everything, so these microscopic theories are actually effective, too. So in reality we need to find the same macroscopic behavior from classes of microscopic theories that differ by one another by deformations affecting physics in the unknown and to have any hope in doing so, we need universality.
Universality is the phenomenon of different microscopic theories having the same macroscopic limit.

The key feature we want to have when passing from the microscopic to the macroscopic is the reduction in the number of degrees of freedom (DOFs) needed. One can also imagine reducing the number of DOFs in the opposite way. For example if we consider a large amount of gas, we may ask what is the smallest pocket of gas having the same properties? This question makes sense, because the gas is roughly translationally symmetric. The characteristic size of such a small pocket is the correlation length ξ , which depends on the state of the system. For ξ very small, we need to consider only a very limited number of DOFs and by symmetry extend their dynamics to the entirety of the gas. So in the end in this very specific limit, we might have simplified the system by going from the macroscopic to the microscopic.

The lesson is that with ξ very small, the physics can be described in the microscopic and possibly extrapolated, while for ξ in the other regimes, we need to integrate out the many microscopic DOFs to obtain an effective macroscopic theory. Examples with many microscopic DOFs are plentiful, for instance we can think of describing the dynamics of a field, then in any pocket of characteristic size ξ we have an infinite continuum of DOFs. We can also consider critical phenomena, in which the characteristic length ξ grows without bounds. In any case, we want to generate a sequence of theories that gives the same physics we're interested in, only with progressively more efficient DOFs.

To give an example on producing an effective description, we consider the iconic block spins. Consider the lattice partition function

$$Z = \sum_{\{c\}} \exp\{-\beta H_{\{g\}}\{c\}\}$$
(1.97)

with $\{c\}$ the different DOFs, for example the spin variables of (1.63), $\{g\}$ a collection of couplings in the Hamiltonian H. We now consider transforming the DOFs $\{c\} \rightarrow \{C\}$ so that

$$\exp\left\{-\beta H'_{\{g\}}\{C\}\right\} = \sum_{\{c\}} f(\{c\}, \{C\}) \exp\left\{-\beta H_{\{g\}}\{c\}\right\}$$
(1.98)

with the function f satisfying

$$\sum_{\{C\}} f(\{c\}, \{C\}) = 1 \tag{1.99}$$

which guarantees that the partition function doesn't change under the transformation, preserving the physics. An example of such a transformation occurs in the case where the $\{c\}$ are spins and we uniformly separate the lattice into blocks of spin. To each such block we assign a block spin C that is given by the average of spins in that block. In this way we effectively increase the magnitude of the lattice spacing

$$a' = \lambda a, \tag{1.100}$$

moving into the macroscopic. It is clear that the transformed Hamiltonian $H'_{\{g\}}$ can have additional interactions not present in $H_{\{g\}}$. When the Hamiltonian $H_{\{g\}}$ contains all the interactions allowed by the symmetry of the lattice, then no additional interactions get generated and we can describe the transformation as a change in the couplings $\{g\} \rightarrow \{g'\}$ such that $H'_{\{g\}} = H_{\{g'\}}$. We write

$$\{g'\} = \mathcal{R}\{g\} \tag{1.101}$$

where our aim is to find the transformation \mathcal{R} acting in the space of couplings. The equations (1.98), (1.99), (1.100) and (1.101) specify the structure of the renormalisation (semi)group (RG). Now the RG transformations may be iterated until the lattice spacing reaches approximately the correlation length ξ and when the correlation length is infinite, as it happens to be in critical phenomena, we may do an infinity of iterations. The most common behavior is that under this infinity of iterations, we end up with a fixed point $\{g_*\}$ in the space of interactions such that

$$\{g_*\} = \mathcal{R}\{g_*\} \tag{1.102}$$

meaning that we end up with the fixed point Hamiltonian H_* which doesn't change under the RG transform $H'_{\{g_*\}} = H_{\{g_*\}} \equiv H_*$. The fixed point theory is invariant under scaling and in the next chapter we show that under reasonable conditions this scale invariance becomes conformal invariance so that the fixed point theory is described by a conformal field theory (CFT).

In the end, we expect the description to get simpler so only a few couplings should be relevant. To make this idea more precise, we consider the deviation δ from the fixed point coupling

$$\delta = g - g_*, \tag{1.103}$$

which under the RG changes to

$$\delta' = g' - g_* \tag{1.104}$$

Remembering that we have all allowed interactions turned on, it should be possible to choose a convenient basis in the space of couplings such that these basis elements are eigenvalues of the RG, meaning

$$\delta' = \lambda^y \delta \tag{1.105}$$

One then classifies all these eigenvectors by their eigenvalues. In particular those with y > 0 are called relevant, since from (1.105), we see that they are relevant in the infrared (IR) limit $\lambda >> 1$. Analogously we call the couplings y < 0 irrelevant, since they are important in the ultraviolet (UV) limit $\lambda << 1$. The couplings with y = 0 are called marginal, such couplings parametrise lines of fixed points. When we study deformations of fixed point theories, then turning on new relevant couplings drives us away from the fixed points, whereas turning on new irrelevant couplings simply moves us on a so-called critical surface and under the RG the theory flows into the same fixed point.

To illustrate these ideas, we demonstrate how one can estimate the relevancy of couplings based on dimensional analysis (we neglect interactions in this analysis, its just a free field dimensional analysis). The action is dimensionless and since $S = \int d^D x \mathcal{L}$, then \mathcal{L} has mass dimension D. Now we specialise to scalar field theory. Every derivative gives a mass dimension 1 and every scalar gives a $\frac{D-2}{2}$. This is so because the kinetic term has two derivatives and two fields. The coupling $\lambda_{m,n}$ of a term with m derivatives and n fields then has mass dimension $D - m - \frac{D-2}{2}n$. From (1.105) one sees that for example in D = 4, we have two marginal couplings to $(\partial \phi)^2, \phi^4$ and two relevant couplings to ϕ^2, ϕ^3 . The reason why the mass and not length dimension of couplings is relevant for our discussion is that we understand RG scalings in a passive sense.

Chapter 2

Conformal field theory

Having gained some introductory knowledge of QFTs in chapter (1), we study a particular class of QTFs called conformal field theories (CFTs), whose study is absolutely essential for all of our later developments. There are countless sources on CFTs, the ones which inspired us most are [27, 28, 29]. Since CFTs are foundational for string theory, they are discussed in many string theory books [13, 30, 31, 15, 32, 33]. Useful review articles are among others [34, 35, 36, 37, 38. Detailed accounts of the applications of CFTs to statistical physics include [14, 39]. Some historically key papers are Polyakov's [40], which conjectured the enhancement of scale to conformal symmetry in critical phenomena and the BPZ paper [41] realising that two-dimensional CFTs are exceptional, enabling the exact solution of the so-called minimal models. To make a connection to our own work, we introduce conformal perturbation theory (CPT) in the bulk before moving the more relevant boundary case in the next chapter. A foundational paper in this area is [42], where the *c*-theorem was first proved. Another discussion on bulk CPT can be found in [14, 39].

2.1 Conformal transformations

2.1.1 Arbitrary dimension

We begin by studying the mathematics of conformal transformations. Conformal transformations are coordinate transformations $x^{\mu} \to x'^{\mu}$ which preserve angles, meaning

$$g'_{\mu\nu}(x') = \Omega(x)g_{\mu\nu}(x) \tag{2.1}$$

On an infinitesimal level this means that for a transformation generated by a vector field ϵ^{μ} , the conformal Killing equation

$$\mathcal{L}_{\epsilon}g_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\mu}\epsilon_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu}\epsilon_{\mu} = c(x)g_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.2}$$

holds, where for simplicity the connection ∇ is Levi-Civita and the solution ϵ^{μ} is called a *conformal Killing vector* (CKV) field. Contracting both sides of (2.2) with $g_{\mu\nu}$, we easily obtain that $c(x) = \frac{2}{D}(\nabla \cdot \epsilon)$. Specialising to the flat case $g = \eta$ with arbitrary signature (p, q) and using the fact that the coordinate derivative provides a Levi-Civita connection for the flat metric, we have the equation

$$\epsilon_{\mu,\nu} + \epsilon_{\nu,\mu} = \frac{2}{D} (\partial \cdot \epsilon) \eta_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.3}$$

Acting with a ∂^{μ} on both sides of (2.3), we find

$$\Box \epsilon_{\nu} + \left(1 - \frac{2}{D}\right) \partial_{\nu} (\partial \cdot \epsilon) = 0$$
(2.4)

Another useful equation is obtained by acting with a \Box on (2.3)

$$\partial_{\nu}\Box\epsilon_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\Box\epsilon_{\nu} = \frac{2}{D}\eta_{\mu\nu}\Box(\partial\cdot\epsilon)$$
(2.5)

Plugging (2.4) into (2.5) gives

$$\left(\eta_{\mu\nu}\Box + (D-2)\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\right)\partial \cdot \epsilon = 0$$
(2.6)

which indicates that the case D = 2 might be special, which we will confirm shortly. In the meantime, we want to find the CKVs present in any dimension $D \ge 2$. Contracting (2.6) with $\eta^{\mu\nu}$, we get

$$(D-1)\Box(\partial \cdot \epsilon) = 0 \tag{2.7}$$

which shows that ϵ^{μ} is at most quadratic in the coordinates x^{μ} . We proceed with the ansatz

$$\epsilon_{\mu} = a_{\mu} + b_{\mu\nu}x^{\nu} + c_{\mu\nu\rho}x^{\nu}x^{\rho} \tag{2.8}$$

with $c_{\mu\nu\rho} = c_{\mu(\nu\rho)}$. Since ϵ appears in the Killing equation only when differentiated, then a^{μ} is arbitrary and the associated transformation is a translation with the generator being the familiar momentum $P_{\mu} = -i\partial_{\mu}$. To constrain $b_{\mu\nu}$, we need to plug ϵ_{μ} into the linear equation (2.3) and set $c_{\mu\nu\rho} = 0$, obtaining

$$b_{\mu\nu} + b_{\nu\mu} = \frac{2}{D} \left(\eta^{\lambda\rho} b_{\rho\lambda} \right) \eta_{\mu\nu}$$
(2.9)

from which we see, that $b_{\mu\nu}$ can be split into its symmetric and antisymmetric part

$$b_{\mu\nu} = \lambda \,\eta_{\mu\nu} + \omega_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.10}$$

with $\omega_{\mu\nu} = \omega_{[\mu\nu]}$. It is easy to see that the term $\lambda \eta_{\mu\nu}$ corresponds to dilatations $x'^{\mu} = (1 + \lambda)x^{\mu}$ with the generator $D = -i(x \cdot \partial)$ (simple not to confuse with the dimension D from the context) and the term $\omega_{\mu\nu}$ to rotations $x'^{\mu} = x^{\mu} + \omega^{\mu}{}_{\nu} x^{\nu}$ with the rotation generators $J_{\mu\nu} = i(x_{\mu}\partial_{\nu} - x^{\nu}\partial_{\mu})$. To fix $c_{\mu\nu\rho}$, we differentiate (2.3) a permute indices

$$\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\mu}\epsilon_{\nu} + \partial_{\rho}\partial_{\nu}\epsilon_{\mu} = \frac{2}{D}\eta_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\rho}(\partial \cdot \epsilon)$$
(2.11)

$$\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\rho}\epsilon_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\rho}\epsilon_{\nu} = \frac{2}{D}\eta_{\rho\mu}\partial_{\nu}(\partial \cdot \epsilon)$$
(2.12)

$$\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\epsilon_{\rho} + \partial_{\nu}\partial_{\mu}\epsilon_{\rho} = \frac{2}{D}\eta_{\nu\rho}\partial_{\mu}(\partial \cdot \epsilon)$$
(2.13)

Adding (2.11) to (2.12) and subtracting (2.13), we obtain

$$2\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\epsilon_{\rho} = \frac{2}{D}(-\eta_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\rho} + \eta_{\rho\mu}\partial_{\nu} + \eta_{\nu\rho}\partial_{\mu})(\partial \cdot \epsilon)$$
(2.14)

and plugging in (2.8), the equation for $c_{\mu\nu\rho}$ becomes

$$\partial \cdot \epsilon = b^{\mu}{}_{\mu} + 2c^{\mu}{}_{\mu\rho}x^{\rho} \tag{2.15}$$

and differentiating by ∂_{ν} , the resulting equation is

$$\partial_{\nu}(\partial \cdot \epsilon) = 2c^{\mu}_{\ \mu\nu} \tag{2.16}$$

and is solved by

$$c_{\mu\nu\rho} = \eta_{\mu\nu}b_{\rho} + \eta_{\mu\rho}b_{\nu} - \eta_{\nu\rho}b_{\mu} \tag{2.17}$$

with $b_{\mu} \equiv \frac{1}{D} c^{\nu}{}_{\nu\mu}$. And as in the previous cases we easily identify the infinitesimal form of the transformation $x'^{\mu} = x^{\mu} + 2(x \cdot b)x^{\mu} - x^2b^{\mu}$ called the *special* conformal transformation (SCT) with the generator $K_{\mu} = -i(2x_{\mu}(x \cdot \partial) - x^2\partial_{\mu})$. The finite conformal transformations found for general $D \geq 2$ and their generators are found in table (2.1).

The generators in (2.1) satisfy the commutation relations

$$[J_{\mu\nu}, P_{\rho}] = -i(\eta_{\mu\rho}P_{\nu} - \eta_{\nu\rho}P_{\mu})$$
(2.18)

$$[P_{\mu}, K_{\nu}] = 2i(J_{\mu\nu} + \eta_{\mu\nu}D)$$
(2.19)

$$J_{\mu\nu}, J_{\rho\sigma}] = -i(\eta_{\mu\rho}J_{\nu\sigma} + \eta_{\nu\sigma}J_{\mu\rho} - \eta_{\mu\sigma}J_{\nu\rho} - \eta_{\nu\rho}J_{\mu\sigma}) \qquad (2.20)$$

$$[J_{\mu\nu}, K_{\rho}] = -i(\eta_{\mu\rho}K_{\nu} - \eta_{\nu\rho}K_{\mu})$$
(2.21)

$$[D, K_{\mu}] = -iK_{\mu}$$
(2.22)
$$[D, B] = -iB$$
(2.22)

$$[D, P_{\mu}] = iP_{\mu} \tag{2.23}$$

$$[J_{\mu\nu}, D] = 0 (2.24)$$

Name	Transformation	Generator
Translation	$x^{\mu} \rightarrow x^{\mu} + a^{\mu}$	$P_{\mu} = -i\partial_{\mu}$
Dilatations	$x^{\mu} \to \lambda x^{\mu}$	$D = -i(x \cdot \partial)$
Rotations	$x^{\mu} \to R^{\mu}{}_{\nu}x^{\nu}, R_{\mu\nu} = R_{[\mu\nu]}$	$J_{\mu\nu} = i(x_{\mu}\partial_{\nu} - x^{\nu}\partial_{\mu})$
SCT	$x^{\mu} \to \frac{x^{\mu} - x^2 b^{\mu}}{1 - 2(b \cdot x) + b^2 x^2}$	$K_{\mu} = -i(2x_{\mu}(x \cdot \partial) - x^2 \partial_{\mu})$

Table 2.1 Finite conformal transformations with generators

For $D \geq 3$, these generate all conformal transformations, while for D = 2we have an infinite number of generators, see (2.1.2). Let us now count the number of generators in table (2.1). We have 1 dilatation generator, $\frac{D(D-1)}{2}$ rotation generators, D SCT generators and D translation generators. Adding these up numbers up, we have a total of $\frac{D(D+1)}{2}$ generators. This is exactly the number of generators of SO(p+1, q+1) with p+q=D so we have a suspicion that the conformal group of $\mathbb{R}^{p,q}$ is SO(p+1, q+1), for D=2 this group gets further augmented. To confirm this, we construct the generators

$$M_{\mu\nu} = J_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.25}$$

$$M_{-1,\mu} = \frac{1}{2}(P_{\mu} - K_{\mu}) \qquad (2.26)$$

$$M_{0,\mu} = \frac{1}{2}(P_{\mu} + K_{\mu}) \tag{2.27}$$

$$M_{-1,0} = D (2.28)$$

from which together with the commutation relations (2.18)-(2.24)

$$[M_{mn}, M_{rs}] = i(\eta_{ms}M_{nr} + \eta_{nr}M_{ms} - \eta_{mr}M_{ns} - \eta_{ns}M_{mr})$$
(2.29)

holds (here $m, n = -1, 0, 1, \ldots, D$ and η_{mn} has signature (p + 1, q + 1)) and these are exactly the required Lie algebra commutation relations for the group SO(p + 1, q + 1) with p + q = D. Observing this, we realise that embedding $\mathbb{R}^{p,q}$ into $\mathbb{R}^{p+1,q+1}$ simplifies the action of conformal transformations. For our further purposes it is enough to specialise to (p,q) = (D,0), meaning that we embed Euclidean space $\mathbb{R}^{D,0} \equiv \mathbb{R}^D$ into Minkowski space $\mathbb{R}^{D+1,1}$. The conformal transformations in \mathbb{R}^D can then be realised using Lorentz transformations in $\mathbb{R}^{D+1,1}$. To choose an embedding, we need to get rid of the two extra coordinates and denoting the embedding space coordinates as $X^{-1}, X^0, X^1, \ldots, X^D$ with $X^{\mu} = x^{\mu}$, we first restrict to the lightcone

$$X^2 = 0 (2.30)$$

which is preserved by the action of the Lorentz group. Next we do a section

$$X^{+} = f(X^{\mu}) \tag{2.31}$$

of the lightcone, where we defined the lightcone coordinate $X^+ = X^{-1} + X^0$ accompanied by $X^- = X^{-1} - X^0$. The Lorentz transformations reduce to conformal transformations as follows: a point x^{μ} on the section (2.31) defines a light ray that gets moved by the Lorentz transform to another ray, which we identify with x'^{μ} . With (2.30) and (2.31), we get the section metric

$$\eta_{sec} = \mathrm{d}x^2 - \mathrm{d}X^+ \mathrm{d}X^-|_{X^+ = f(X^\mu), X^- = \frac{x^2}{X^+}}$$
(2.32)

and the condition of having conformal transformations that preserve a flat metric in \mathbb{R}^D gets translated into the flatness condition on the section metric. It is certainly flat for $f(X^{\mu}) = 1$ and we finally obtain that our Euclidean section is $(X^+, X^-, X^{\mu}) = (1, x^2, x^{\mu})$. This projective null cone formalism will prove very useful in investigating conformal kinematics since then we just perform relativistic kinematics in the embedding space and then perform a lightcone section. To do so, we must convert Lorentz invariants into expressions involving only x^{μ} . One such example is

$$X \cdot Y = X^{\mu}Y_{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}\left(X^{+}Y^{-} + X^{-}Y^{+}\right)$$
(2.33)
$$= x^{\mu}y_{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}\left(Y^{-} + X^{-}\right)$$

$$= x^{\mu}y_{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}\left(y^{2} + x^{2}\right)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}(x - y)^{2}$$

2.1.2 Two dimensions

Looking back at the equation (2.3) and setting D = 2, we get

$$\epsilon_{\mu,\nu} + \epsilon_{\nu,\mu} = (\partial \cdot \epsilon) \delta_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.34)$$

where $\mu, \nu = 1, 2$ and we are starting to write $\eta \to \delta$, since as already mentioned, we specialise to Euclidean space. The equation (2.34) decomposes into two independent equations $\partial_1 \epsilon_1 = \partial_2 \epsilon_2$ and $\partial_1 \epsilon_2 = -\partial_2 \epsilon_1$ which we recognise as the Cauchy-Riemann equations. We complexify $\mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}^2$ by introducing the coordinates z, \bar{z} which become conjugate under a real section $\bar{z} = z^*$, so that after performing this section, we write $z = x^1 + ix^2$ and $\bar{z} = x^1 - ix^2$, recovering $\mathbb{C} \simeq \mathbb{R}^2$. Often one performs calculations in the independent complex coordinates z, \bar{z} and only at the end returns to \mathbb{R}^2 . We also write $\epsilon = \epsilon^1 + i\epsilon^2$ and $\bar{\epsilon} = \epsilon^1 - i\epsilon^2$ so that in the complex coordinates, the Cauchy-Riemann equations become $\partial \bar{\epsilon} = \bar{\partial} \epsilon = 0$ where we abbreviated $\partial_z =$ $\frac{1}{2}(\partial_1 - i\partial_2) \equiv \partial$ and $\partial_{\bar{z}} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_1 + i\partial_2) \equiv \overline{\partial}$, meaning that ϵ is holomorphic and $\bar{\epsilon}$ is antiholomorphic. The mathematics is the same for the holomorphic and antiholomorphic sectors, so we sometimes write equations in the holomorphic sector only to avoid repetition.

In the complex coordinates the infinitesimal conformal transformation becomes $z \to z + \epsilon$ with ϵ holomorphic, since $z + \epsilon$ is then also holomorphic, we have that a transformation $z \to f(z)$ is conformal for f holomorphic. The metric in complex coordinates is

$$\delta = \mathrm{d}z\mathrm{d}\bar{z} \tag{2.35}$$

and so the associated scale factor is $\Omega = |\partial f|^2$. Laurent expanding ϵ

$$\epsilon = -\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \epsilon_n z^{n+1}, \qquad (2.36)$$

we have for infinitesimal transformations

$$z' = z + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (-\epsilon_n z^{n+1}), \qquad (2.37)$$

meaning that for a particular n we identify a generator $l_n \equiv -z^{n+1}\partial$. Together with $\bar{l}_n \equiv -\bar{z}^{n+1}\bar{\partial}$, we have the Lie algebra

$$[l_n, l_m] = (m-n)l_{m+n} (2.38)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{l}_n, \bar{l}_m \end{bmatrix} = (m-n)\bar{l}_{m+n}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} l_n, \bar{l}_m \end{bmatrix} = 0$$
(2.39)
(2.40)

$$\left[l_n, \bar{l}_m\right] = 0 \tag{2.40}$$

as can be trivially verified. This Lie algebra is infinite-dimensional and is called the Witt algebra. It is easy to see that the l_n are well defined at the origin z = 0 only for $n \ge -1$. To study its regularity at ∞ , we write $z = -\frac{1}{w}$ and then

$$l_n = -\left(-\frac{1}{w}\right)^{n-1} \partial_w \tag{2.41}$$

The point $z = \infty$ corresponds to w = 0 and from (2.41) we have that for l_n to be well-defined at infinity, we need $n \leq 1$. This means that the globally well-defined and invertible conformal transformations of the Riemann sphere are generated by $l_{-1} = -\partial$, $l_0 = -z\partial$, $l_1 = -z^2\partial$. It is easy to see that l_{-1} corresponds to translations and since l_0 generates $z \to az, a \in \mathbb{C}$ and multiplication by a complex number corresponds to a rotation and a dilatation, we expect to be able to construct dilatation and rotation generators from l_0 and \bar{l}_0 . To see this, write $z = re^{i\phi}$, then $l_0 + \bar{l}_0 = -r\partial_r$ and $i(l_0 - \bar{l}_0) = -\partial_{\phi}$ so

that $l_0 + \bar{l}_0$ is a generator of dilatations and $i(l_0 - \bar{l}_0)$ a generator of rotations. As for l_1 , we simply notice that it sends $z \to -\epsilon z^2$, which is an infinitesimal form of the SCT $z \to \frac{z}{\epsilon z+1}$, meaning that l_1 generates SCTs. In summary, we have found that the group of conformal transformations of the Riemann sphere that are everywhere well-defined and invertible is the *Möbius group* $PSL(2, \mathbb{C}) = SL(2, \mathbb{C})/\mathbb{Z}_2$ of transformations

$$z \to \frac{az+b}{cz+d} \tag{2.42}$$

with $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfying ad - bc = 1 as per the invertibility condition (by scaling the determinant is brought to 1) and there is a \mathbb{Z}_2 equivalence $(a, b, c, d) \sim (-a, -b, -c, -d)$. These transformations are distinguished by the fact that they transform circles to circles and that it can map any three points to 0, 1 and ∞ . It is not a surprise that the Möbius group is isomorphic to SO(3, 1), which appears in our previous analysis of arbitrary dimension.

2.2 Polyakov's conjecture

Polyakov conjectured in [40] that a local theory invariant under translations, rotations and dilatations is also invariant under the larger conformal group. We have already encountered scale invariance in our discussion of fixed point theories in (1.7). Most RG flows end in such fixed points so the enhancement of their symmetry is of great significance for the study of the space of QFTs. Suppose we have a local theory with an action S and a stress tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$ (that is, our charges come from integrals of the stress tensor), which is defined as the susceptibility of the action with respect to an infinitesimal change in the metric, meaning that using (2.2), we have

$$\delta S = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{D-1}} \int \mathrm{d}x^D T_{\mu\nu} \nabla^\mu \epsilon^\nu \qquad (2.43)$$

Choosing $\epsilon^{\mu} = a^{\mu}$ for translations, we get by integrating by parts the conservation law $\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$. The rotations $\epsilon^{\mu} = R^{\mu}_{\ \nu}x^{\nu}$ with R antisymmetric imply that $T_{\mu\nu} = T_{\nu\mu}$. Finally scaling $\epsilon^{\mu} = \lambda x^{\mu}$ implies that $T^{\mu}_{\ \mu}$ meaning that T is traceless. From this (classical) conformal invariance follows since we can do a

sequence of steps

$$\delta S = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{D-1}} \int dx^D T_{\mu\nu} \nabla^{\mu} \epsilon^{\nu} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{D-1}} \frac{1}{2} \int dx^D (T_{\mu\nu} + T_{\nu\mu}) \nabla^{\mu} \epsilon^{\nu} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{D-1}} \frac{1}{2} \int dx^D T_{\mu\nu} (\nabla^{\mu} \epsilon^{\nu} + \nabla^{\nu} \epsilon^{\mu}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{D-1}} \frac{1}{D} \int dx^D T^{\mu}_{\ \mu} (\nabla \cdot \epsilon) = 0$$

where (2.3) was used together with the tracelessness of T.

2.3 Operator spectrum and correlators

In the following we shall concern ourselves with scalar fields only. Such fields ϕ are characterised by their *conformal dimension* (*weight*) Δ , which encodes their response to global scaling $x \to \lambda x$

$$\phi'(\lambda x) = \lambda^{-\Delta} \phi(x) \tag{2.44}$$

Since conformal transformations are local rescalings, inspired by (2.44), we define the so-called *primary* fields V by the property that they transform under an arbitrary conformal transformations $x \to x'$ as

$$V'(x') = b(x)^{-\Delta}V(x)$$
(2.45)

for $b(x) = \sqrt{\Omega(x)}$ with $\Omega(x)$ the familiar scale factor of (2.2). In D = 2 there is a peculiarity that formally the field may be taken to depend on both z and \overline{z} , so that for $z \to f(z)$, (2.45) lifts to

$$V'(z,\bar{z}) = \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}f}{\mathrm{d}z}\right)^h \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{f}}{\mathrm{d}\bar{z}}\right)^{\bar{h}} V(f(z),\bar{f}(\bar{z})) \tag{2.46}$$

while we used the before derived relation between Ω and f. Such a primary is said to have a conformal dimension (h, \bar{h}) . Another specialty of two dimensions is that there are infinitely many conformal transformations, but only finitely many that form the conformal group. If a field transforms like (2.46) for f in the conformal group, it is called *quasiprimary* (primaries are always quasiprimaries). Other fields are called *secondary*. The correlation functions of primaries are heavily kinematically constrained. To begin, they have to be covariant with respect to conformal transformations, meaning

$$\langle V(x')\dots V(y')\rangle = b(x)^{-\Delta}\dots b(y)^{-\Delta}\langle V(x)\dots V(y)\rangle$$
 (2.47)

Luckily, we have developed the projective null cone, which enables us to build correlators that are automatically covariant in the sense (2.47). Consider two scalar fields V(X) and V(Y) of weight Δ living in the embedding space, then by $X^2 = 0$ and $Y^2 = 0$ and the right behavior under scaling, we must have

$$\langle V(X_1)V(X_2)\rangle \sim \frac{1}{(X_1 \cdot X_2)^{\Delta}},$$
 (2.48)

where the covariance is ensured by $X \cdot Y$ being a Lorentz invariant. By (2.34), we then have

$$\langle V(x_1)V(x_2)\rangle = \frac{1}{|x_{12}|^{2\Delta}},$$
(2.49)

where we normalised the fields so that 1 appears in the numerator and defined $x_{ij} \equiv x_i - x_j$. It can be shown that for different fields V_i , V_j , we can rotate the field basis so that

$$\langle V_i(x_1)V_j(x_2)\rangle = \frac{\delta_{ij}}{|x_{12}|^{2\Delta}}$$
(2.50)

Analogously, the three-point function for three ϕ_i with weight Δ_i must be

$$\langle V_1(X_1)V_2(X_2)V_3(X_3)\rangle \sim \frac{1}{(X_1 \cdot X_2)^{\alpha_{123}}(X_1 \cdot X_3)^{\alpha_{132}}(X_2 \cdot X_3)^{\alpha_{231}}},$$
 (2.51)

where from covariance under scaling, we must have

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{123} + \alpha_{132} &= \Delta_1 \\ \alpha_{123} + \alpha_{231} &= \Delta_2 \\ \alpha_{132} + \alpha_{231} &= \Delta_3 \end{aligned}$$

which is solved by

$$\alpha_{ijk} = \frac{\Delta_i + \Delta_j - \Delta_k}{2} \tag{2.52}$$

so that from (2.34)

$$\langle V_1(x_1)V_2(x_2)V_3(x_3)\rangle = \frac{C_{123}}{|x_{12}|^{\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 - \Delta_3}|x_{13}|^{\Delta_1 + \Delta_3 - \Delta_2}|x_{23}|^{\Delta_2 + \Delta_3 - \Delta_1}}, \quad (2.53)$$

where the C_{123} is called a *structure constant* of the CFT. For a scalar CFT, these together with conformal weights specify the CFT data. The formula (2.53) essentially gave birth to the study of CFTs since Polyakov [40] used it to compute the $\epsilon\sigma\sigma$ correlator in the critical Ising and got a match with Onsager's solution. In this work, the only four-point function of interest will be for identical fields, and using the same techniques as before, it is easy to see that

$$\langle V(x_1)V(x_2)V(x_3)V(x_4)\rangle = G(\xi)\prod_{i< j}^4 |x_{ij}|^{-\frac{2}{3}\Delta}$$
 (2.54)

is indeed correct by having the proper scaling behavior and it is built from projected Lorentz invariants. We call G the invariant part of the four-point function and ξ is called the *cross-ratio* and is given by

$$\xi = \frac{x_{12}x_{34}}{x_{13}x_{24}} \tag{2.55}$$

The cross-ratio itself is also invariant in the sense that it is an $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ invariant. The just derived forms of correlators hint at the fact that CFTs are very different from the usual QFTs. For example, their power-like behavior implies that their Fourier transforms have no isolated poles in the p^2 plane (contrast this with the mass-shell pole in (1.48) resulting from the exponential damping of the Feynman propagator) and so when one tries to compute scattering amplitudes by the LSZ formula, which gets contributions from poles of momentum space correlators, one gets zero. In D = 2 the exact same formulae as (2.50), (2.53) and (2.54) hold for quasiprimaries with potentially being lifted when the field has dependence on both z and \bar{z} , for example

$$\langle V_i(z_1, \bar{z}_1) V_j(z_2, \bar{z}_2) \rangle = \frac{\delta_{ij}}{|z_{12}|^{2h} |\bar{z}_{12}|^{2\bar{h}}},$$
 (2.56)

otherwise, we just replace $\Delta \to h$ and $x \to z$ for purely holomorphic (*chiral*) fields V(z) and analogously for purely antiholomorphic (*antichiral*) fields. Having exploited the general D connection to the Lorentz group, we will restrict ourselves to D = 2 and complex coordinates only from now on. This does not mean, however, that many of our formulae do not have a general D analog. We also work with chiral fields to avoid repetition.

First we would like to know how primaries respond to infinitesimal conformal transformations. To do so, we expand

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}f}{\mathrm{d}z}\right)^h = 1 + h\epsilon + O(\epsilon^2),\tag{2.57}$$

so that using $V(z + \epsilon) = V(z) + \epsilon \partial V(z) + O(\epsilon^2)$, we have

$$\delta_{\epsilon} V(z) = (h\partial\epsilon + \epsilon\partial)V(z), \qquad (2.58)$$

where $\delta_{\epsilon}V(z)$ is the change in V. From the energy-momentum $T_{\mu\nu}$ tensor, we can construct the conserved currents $j_{\mu} = T_{\mu\nu}\epsilon^{\nu}$ and from the proof of Polyakov's conjecture (2.2), we see that these correspond to conformal transformations. By this, we would expect $\delta_{\epsilon}V(z)$ to be computable from $T(z)\epsilon(z)$. We show this later after quantising, but first need to see how the T(z) arises. From a simple change of coordinates, we have from the tensorial properties of T

$$T_{zz} = \frac{1}{4}(T_{00} - T_{11} - 2iT_{10})$$

$$T_{\bar{z}\bar{z}} = \frac{1}{4}(T_{00} - T_{11} + 2iT_{10})$$

$$T_{\bar{z}z} = T_{z\bar{z}} = \frac{1}{4}(T_{00} + T_{11})$$

and from the tracelessness condition $T_{00} + T_{11} = 0$, we see that in the complex coordinates the stress-energy tensor is diagonal. Rewriting the conservation law $\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu}$ for T to complex coordinates, we get $\overline{\partial}T_{zz} = \partial T_{\bar{z}\bar{z}} = 0$ meaning that T_{zz} is holomorphic and $T_{\bar{z}\bar{z}}$ is antiholomorphic justifying the notation $T(z) \equiv T_{zz}, \bar{T}(\bar{z}) \equiv T_{\bar{z}\bar{z}}$.

2.4 Radial quantisation

In equation (A), we computed correlation functions as time ordered VEVs. For this we had to pick a Lorentz frame (time direction) and then we had access to a canonical structure (see (1.24), (1.25)) on the Hilbert spaces defined at constant times. Such Hilbert spaces can be connected by an evolution operator given by exponentiating the Hamiltonian. In other words, we found it advantageous to choose a foliation of spacetime by constant time surfaces that respected Poincaré invariance and define Hilbert spaces on such surfaces.

In CFT, we have scale invariance so it is tempting to foliate the Euclidean space by spheres of constant radius. Our evolution operator should then be constructed by exponentiating the generator of dilatations $D = -z\partial$. Then on each sphere a Hilbert space of states lives and an ordering by time becomes an ordering by the radius of such spheres. We will build up our Hilbert space by acting with modes of conformal fields. To do this, we consider the conformal map $z = e^w$ from the cylinder to the plane, with $w = \tau + i\sigma$, $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\sigma \sim \sigma + 2\pi$. Here τ has an interpretation of Euclidean time and a Fourier expansion of a primary V_{cyl} living on the cylinder

$$V_{cyl} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} V_n e^{-n(\tau + i\sigma)} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} V_n z^{-n}$$
(2.59)

becomes an expansion

$$V = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} V_n z^{-n-h} \tag{2.60}$$

on the plane. We see that the limit $\tau \to -\infty$ corresponds to $z \to 0$ so we define the so-called *asymptotic in-states*

$$|V\rangle = \lim_{z \to 0} V(z) |0\rangle \tag{2.61}$$

with $|0\rangle$ being the $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ invariant vacuum. For the definition (2.61) to make sense, we need $V_n |0\rangle = 0$ for n > -h. This means that

$$|V\rangle = V_{-h} |0\rangle \tag{2.62}$$

The correspondence between Euclidean time τ and Minkowskian time t is $\tau = it$ so that Hermitean conjugation changes $\tau \to -\tau$, meaning that in the plane coordinates, it has the effect $z \to \frac{1}{\overline{z}}$. This means that the Hermitean conjugate of a conformal field on the plane should be defined as

$$V^{\dagger}(\bar{z}) = \bar{z}^{-2h} V\left(\frac{1}{\bar{z}}\right) \tag{2.63}$$

so that

$$V^{\dagger}(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} z^{n-h} V_n \tag{2.64}$$

corresponding to $V_n^{\dagger} = V_{-n}$. The asymptotic out-states are then defined as

$$\langle V| = \lim_{z \to 0} \langle 0| V^{\dagger}(z) = \lim_{w \to \infty} w^{2h} \langle 0| V(w)$$
(2.65)

meaning that $\langle 0 | V_n = 0$ for n < h so we have

$$\langle V| = \langle 0| V_h \tag{2.66}$$

as expected by the Hermitean conjugation properties of modes.

We should be able to act with conformal symmetry generators on our Hilbert space so that $\delta_{\epsilon}V(z) = [Q, V]$ for some charge Q. As usual, such a charge is built from an integral over a constant radius (time) slice. This means that

$$Q = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_C \mathrm{d}z \, T(z)\epsilon(z) \tag{2.67}$$

where C is a circle and by the holomorphicity of the integrand, we don't need to specify its radius. Since ϵ is any holomorphic function, we have an infinity of conserved charges, this is what makes two-dimensional CFT so powerful. For the change in V, we have

$$\delta_{\epsilon} V(w) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_C \mathrm{d}z \left[T(z)\epsilon(z), V(w) \right]$$
(2.68)

To make sense of the commutator, we need to define radial ordering

$$R(\phi(z)\chi(w)) = \begin{cases} \phi(z)\chi(w) & \text{if } |z| > |w|, \\ \chi(w)\phi(z) & \text{if } |w| > |z| \end{cases}$$
(2.69)

so that

$$\oint_C dz [T(z)\epsilon(z), V(w)] = \oint_{|z| > |w|} dz \,\epsilon(z) \Big[T(z)V(w) \Big] \qquad (2.70)$$
$$- \oint_{|z| < |w|} dz \,\epsilon(z) \Big[V(w)T(z) \Big]$$

Using the fact that the difference of two contour integrals as in (2.71) can be deformed into a countour integral over the contour C_w encircling the intermediate point w, see figure (2.1), we get

$$\delta_{\epsilon} V(w) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{C_w} \mathrm{d}z \,\epsilon(z) R(T(z)V(w)) \tag{2.71}$$



Figure 2.1 The difference of two contours turns into one contour

We observe that (2.71) can be satisfied if we make the expansion around the point w

$$R(T(z)V(w)) \sim \frac{h}{(z-w)^2}V(w) + \frac{1}{z-w}\partial V(w)$$
 (2.72)

This is an example of an operator product expansion (OPE) of the stressenergy tensor T with a primary V. Such expansions appear in ordinary QFTs as well, encoding the UV behavior as operators approach one another. But since ordinary QFTs have a mass scale, the OPEs are merely asymptotic meaning that they cannot be easily extended beyond the UV region. Such an extension is provided by performing RG transforms and is nontrivial. In CFTs the OPEs have a finite radius of convergence enabling us to extend the short-distance behavior of the theory to larger distances. In general OPEs have the form

$$\phi_i(z)\phi_j(w) = \sum_k C_{ijk}(z-w,\partial_w)\phi_k(w)$$
(2.73)

where we wrote an equality emphasizing the finite radius of convergence. By dimensional analysis (∂ adds to the conformal dimension, see (2.23)), we conclude that

$$V_i(z)V_j(w) \sim \sum_k C_{ijk} \frac{V_k(w)}{|z-w|^{h_i+h_j-h_k}}$$
 (2.74)

holds for primaries with |z - w| small, with the C_{ijk} being the structure constants that appear in (2.53). The OPEs can be iteratively inserted into correlation functions enabling one to reduce any correlator to one-point functions. The order in which one performs the OPEs shouldn't matter. This is called the associativity of the OPE and it leads to stringent consistency conditions on the correlators often enabling one to bootstrap the theory.

We conclude this section by stating the state-operator correspondence. As we've already shown, one can build a Hilbert space from states of the form $|V\rangle$ created by an operator located at the origin z = 0 acting on the vacuum $|0\rangle$. This is the operator \rightarrow state mapping and it is essentially automatic. What is nontrivial is the state \rightarrow operator mapping. Suppose we have some dilatation eigenstates

$$D\left|V_{i}\right\rangle = h_{i}\left|V_{i}\right\rangle \tag{2.75}$$

corresponding to operators of definite weight. Now we want to compute the correlators of the corresponding operators $V_i(z_i)$ using the path integral. We cut out holes B_i centered at z_i and glue the states $|V_i\rangle$ to their boundaries. This means that the fields ϕ in path integral measure now have support only outside of these holes, giving us

$$\langle V_1(z_1)\dots V_n(z_n)\rangle = \int \prod_{i=1}^n \mathcal{D}\phi_{S_i} \langle \phi_{S_i} | V_i \rangle \int_{\phi_{\partial B_i} = \phi_{S_i}} \mathcal{D}\phi(z \notin B_i) e^{-S} \quad (2.76)$$

where we still have to integrate over the boundary values at ∂B_i . The scale invariance comes into play in that the $V_i(z_i)$ have to be far enough apart for the B_i not to overlap, which would lead to overcounting. We haven't specified the radii of the holes so this is a real problem, in a sense the construction shouldn't depend on the radii. This is achieved only if we can always move the z_i away from one another and this is precisely achieved by the covariance

$$\langle V_1(z_1)\dots V_n(z_n)\rangle = \lambda^{\sum_i h_i} \langle V_1(\lambda z_1)\dots V_n(\lambda z_n)\rangle$$
 (2.77)

Taking the radii very small, we essentially do not change the support of ϕ and thus specify an insertion of a local operator at the center of a ball. We have thus shown that states of definite conformal weight correspond to local operators.

2.5 Virasoro algebra

To further investigate the character of the stress-energy tensor T, we do a Laurent expansion

$$T(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} z^{-n-2} L_n, \qquad (2.78)$$

where by the tensorial nature of T, we anticipate $h_T = 2$. Let us now look at the family of charges Q_n with $\epsilon = -z^{n+1}\epsilon_n$. These can be easily evaluated by the residue theorem

$$Q_n = -\epsilon_n \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_C \mathrm{d}z \, L_m z^{n-m-1} = -\epsilon_n L_n \tag{2.79}$$

Does this mean that $L_n = l_n$ for l_n in the Witt algebra (see (2.37))? In a classical theory this would be the case, but in the quantum theory the symmetry develops an anomaly. In a sense this is a good thing, since the resulting representation theory is richer. The resulting algebra is then called the *Virasoro algebra* and it can be motivated in several ways. For example, we could restrict the form of the *TT* OPE and from a contour argument get the commutation relations, since

$$L_n = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint \mathrm{d}z \, z^{n+1} T(z) \tag{2.80}$$

We motivate it by the fact that the Witt algebra doesn't possess unitary irreducible representations, so that in a quantum theory a central extension is needed, see [43]. Luckily such a central extension is unique and closely following [28] we may write the ansatz

$$[L_m, L_n] = (m-n)L_{m+n} + p(m, n) c$$
(2.81)

with c an element of the Lie algebra center called the *central charge*. An initial trivial consistency condition is p(m, n) = -p(n, m). We then define

the modified Virasoro generators

$$\hat{L}_{n} = L_{n} + \frac{p(n,0)}{n}c, \ n \neq 0$$

$$\hat{L}_{0} = L_{0} + \frac{p(1,-1)}{2}c \qquad (2.82)$$

It is rather simple to compute

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_n, \hat{L}_0 \end{bmatrix} = nL_n + p(n,0) c = n\hat{L}_n \\ \begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_1, \hat{L}_{-1} \end{bmatrix} = 2L_0 + p(1,-1) c = 2\hat{L}_0$$

implying that we can always redefine the generators so that p(1,-1) = p(n,0) = 0. We do this redefinition and drop the hats from now on. We continue by computing the Jacobi identity

$$0 = [[L_m, L_n], L_0] + [[L_n, L_0], L_m] + [[L_0, L_m], L_n] = (m-n)p(m+n, 0) c + np(n, m) c - mp(m, n) c = (m+n)p(n, m) c$$
(2.83)

from which we see that p(n,m) = 0 for $n \neq m$. Another interesting Jacobi identity is

$$0 = [[L_{1-n}, L_n], L_{-1}] + [[L_n, L_{-1}], L_{1-n}] + [[L_{-1}, L_{1-n}], L_n] = 0 + (n+1)p(n-1, 1-n)c + (n-2)p(-n, n)c$$

from which we get the recursion identity

$$p(n,-n) = \frac{n+1}{n-2} p(n-1,1-n) = \frac{1}{12} (n^3 - n)$$
(2.84)

which we solved in the normalisation $p(2, -2) = \frac{1}{2}$ which will give c = 1 for a theory of a single free boson (2.8.3). In summary, we found that the unique central extension of the Witt algebra is

$$[L_m, L_n] = (m-n)L_{m+n} + \frac{c}{12}(m^3 - m)\delta_{m+n,0}$$
(2.85)

There is an antiholomorphic copy of the Virasoro algebra, where we simply perform $L_m \to \bar{L}_m$ with $[L_m, \bar{L}_n] = 0$. For this second copy there is in general a different central charge \bar{c} . It is interesting to see that the conformal group did not get an anomaly since the L_{-1}, L_0 and L_1 still have the same commutation relations. To prove that no nontrivial representations exist for c = 0, we compute the norm of $L_{-m} |0\rangle$ for m > -2 (in a Hermitean product sense)

$$||L_{-m}|0\rangle||^{2} = \langle 0|L_{m}L_{-m}|0\rangle = \frac{c}{12}(m^{3}-m)$$
(2.86)

where we used the algebra (2.85) and that $L_m |0\rangle = 0$ since T has weight 2. So for c = 0, all states created from the vacuum by the action of the conformal generators L_m with $m \leq 1$ have zero norm leading to trivial representation theory (these Virasoro generators act as raising operators as we'll see later). It is trivial to reverse-engineer the TT OPE from the Virasoro algebra (2.85) by using

$$[L_m, L_n] = \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2\pi i} z^{m+1} w^{n+1}[T(z), T(w)]$$
(2.87)

and going through similar steps that led to (2.72) with an ansatz reflecting that T is bosonic, meaning T(z)T(w) = T(w)T(z). This leads to

$$T(z)T(w) \sim \frac{c}{2(z-w)^4} + \frac{2T(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial T(w)}{z-w}$$
 (2.88)

where we dropped the radial ordering and we see consistency with the expansion (2.78) since (2.88) tells us that T has weight 2. It is interesting to investigate the transformation properties of T. From (2.67) and writing the Laurent expansion

$$\epsilon(z) = \epsilon(w) + \partial \epsilon(w)(z-w) + \frac{1}{2}\partial^2 \epsilon(w)(z-w)^2 + \frac{1}{3!}\partial^3 \epsilon(w)(z-w)^3 + \dots, (2.89)$$

we get for the change in T

$$\delta_{\epsilon}T(z) = \frac{c}{12}\partial^{3}\epsilon(z) + 2T(z)\partial\epsilon(z) + \epsilon(z)\partial T(z)$$
(2.90)

where we renamed $w \to z$. This can be exponentiated to the full conformal transformation $z \to f(z)$ under which $T \to T'$ as

$$T'(z) = \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial z}\right)^2 T(f(z)) + \frac{c}{12}S(f)(z)$$
(2.91)

with S(f) being the Schwarzian derivative

$$S(f) = \frac{\partial^3 f}{\partial f} - \frac{3}{2} \left(\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial f} \right)^2$$
(2.92)

The textbook procedure is now to expand the Schwarzian for an infinitesimal transformation

$$S(z+\epsilon) = \frac{\partial^3 \epsilon}{1+\partial \epsilon} - \frac{3}{2} \left(\frac{\partial^2 \epsilon}{1+\partial \epsilon}\right)^2 \sim \partial^3 \epsilon$$
(2.93)

to recover (2.90) and then verify that the conformal transforms compose correctly

$$T''(u) = \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial w}\right)^2 T'(w) + \frac{c}{12}S(u)(w)$$

= $\left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial w}\right)^2 \left[\left(\frac{\partial w}{\partial z}\right)^2 T(z) + \frac{c}{12}S(w)(z)\right] + \frac{c}{12}S(u)(w)$
= $\left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial z}\right)^2 T(z) + \frac{c}{12}S(u)(z)$

where we used a composition property of the Schwarzian

$$S(g \circ f) = (\partial f)^2 S(g) \circ f + S(f)$$
(2.94)

this means that S(f) doesn't transform like a function, but rather like a quadratic differential. We show that the Schwarzian of a Möbius transformation is zero

$$S\left(\frac{az+b}{cz+d}\right)(z) = \frac{6c^2}{(cz+d)^2} - \frac{3}{2}\frac{4c^2}{(cz+d)^2} = 0$$
(2.95)

meaning that T is a quasiprimary operator. The interpretation is that the Schwarzian S(f) measures how much a map f doesn't preserve circles. We could ask why is the Schwarzian derivative called a derivative? To see this, we define a cross-ratio in a slightly different convention suited for this computation

$$[x_1, x_2; x_3, x_4] \equiv \frac{x_{13}x_{24}}{x_{12}x_{34}} \tag{2.96}$$

We then want to see how much f changes the cross-ratio meaning that we compare $[f(z), f(z + \epsilon); f(z + 2\epsilon), f(z + 3\epsilon)]$ with $[z, z + \epsilon; z + 2\epsilon, z + 3\epsilon] = 4$. Expanding the $f(z + n\epsilon)$ to third order, we get

$$[f(z), f(z+\epsilon); f(z+2\epsilon), f(z+3\epsilon)] - 4 = -2S(f)(z)\epsilon^2 + O(\epsilon^3)$$
(2.97)

We note that the choice of points $z, z+\epsilon, z+2\epsilon, z+3\epsilon$ was purely for simplicity, the result (2.97) is general but the prefactor of the Schwarzian may change. Another way of seeing why the Schwarzian must appear is that the CFT consistency conditions (2.94) and (2.95) determine it uniquely [44]. We are not too satisfied with simply verifying that the Schwarzian works, in particular we will explicitly make it appear in the free boson (2.8.3) following [45], where many other properties of the Schwarzian can be found.

One can compute how T changes by going from the plane to the cylinder, corresponding to $f(z) = \ln z$. Equation (2.91) then gives

$$T_{cylinder}(w) = z^2 T_{plane}(z) + \frac{c}{24}$$

$$(2.98)$$

with $w = \ln z$. This means that there is a shift in the zero mode of T so that $L_0 \to L_0 - \frac{c}{24}$ and since the plane Hamiltonian is just the dilatation operator $D = L_0$ (see the discussion under (2.41) to see the form of D), we must have for the cylinder frame Hamiltonian

$$H = L_0 - \frac{c}{24} \tag{2.99}$$

We see a Casimir energy appear and this is so because we introduced a length scale by giving a finite circumference 2π to our cylinder.

The nontrivial transformation properties of T give rise to a conformal anomaly in the trace

$$T^{\mu}_{\ \mu} = -\frac{c}{12}\mathcal{R}$$
 (2.100)

with \mathcal{R} being the Ricci scalar of the complex two-manifold on which we define our CFT. This formula can be understood by noting that for c = 0, we expect the anomaly to vanish and by dimensional analysis we conclude that the RHS of (2.100) has to contain a scalar with no more than two derivatives.

2.6 Representation theory

By the usual procedure, we need to identify ladder operators and a Cartan subalgebra. We take this subalgebra to consist of L_0 , this is so because it essentially plays the role of energy by $D = L_0$. The ladder operators will be given by appropriate Laurent modes, which we recall to satisfy $V_n |0\rangle = 0$ for n > -h. Our first step is to derive a commutation relation between the Virasoro generators and V_n . To do so, we compute

$$\begin{bmatrix} L_m, V_n \end{bmatrix} = \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} z^{m+1} w^{n+h-1} T(z) V(w) \\ = \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} z^{m+1} w^{n+h-1} \left[\frac{h}{(z-w)^2} V(w) + \frac{1}{z-w} \partial V(w) \right] \\ = \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \left[(m+1) w^{n+m+h-1} h V(w) + w^{n+m+h} \partial V(w) \right] \\ = \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \left[(m+1)h - (n+m+h) \right] w^{n+m+h-1} V(w) \\ = ((h-1)m - n) V_{m+n}$$
(2.101)

where we used the expansion (2.60) with (2.80) and the OPE (2.72). From (2.101), we see that

$$[L_0, V_n] = -nV_n (2.102)$$

leading to

$$L_0 V_n \left| 0 \right\rangle = -n V_n \left| 0 \right\rangle \tag{2.103}$$

where we used $L_0 |0\rangle = 0$. We thus have that V_n for n > -h are the annihilation operators since they annihilate $|0\rangle$ and V_n for $n \leq -h$ are the creation operators. Now we can define a normal ordering analogously to our previous definition in chapter (1), that is to move annihilation operators to the right of the creation operators. On the level of fields we write

$$\phi(z)\chi(w) - \text{sing.} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(z-w)^n}{n!} : \chi \partial^n \phi : (w)$$
 (2.104)

where sing. are the singular terms as $z \to w$. One can then show that

$$(:\chi\phi:)_n = \sum_{k>-h_\phi} \chi_{n-k}\phi_k + \sum_{k\leq -h_\phi} \phi_k\chi_{n-k}$$
(2.105)

for the modes of $:\chi\phi:$ and these are normal ordered in the usual sense. By differentiation

$$\partial \phi(z) = \partial \sum_{n} z^{-n-h} \phi_n = \sum_{n} (-n-h) z^{-n-(h+1)} \phi_n$$
 (2.106)

another useful relation

$$(:\chi\partial\phi:)_n = \sum_{k>-h_{\phi}-1} (-h_{\phi}-k)\chi_{n-k}\phi_k + \sum_{k\leq -h_{\phi}-1} (-h_{\phi}-k)\phi_k\chi_{n-k} \quad (2.107)$$

easily follows.

We now build the highest weight representations (HWRs) of the Virasoro algebra, also called Verma modules corresponding to a primary V. The state $V_{-h} |0\rangle \equiv h$ satisfies

$$L_n |h\rangle = [L_n, V_{-h}] |0\rangle = (h(n+1) - n)V_{-h+n} |0\rangle = 0$$
(2.108)

where n > 0 and we used (2.101) and the fact that V_{-h+n} acted as an annihilation operator. This means that new nontrivial states are obtained from $|h\rangle$ only when we act with the negatively moded Virasoros, obtaining the so-called *descendant* states. Minus the sum of labels of the acting Virasoros is then called the *level*, for example $L_{-1}L_{-1}|0\rangle$ and $L_{-2}|0\rangle$ both correspond to level 2. The number of states P(N) at each level N is then given by the number of partitions of N for which the generating function is

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{1-q^n} = \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} P(N)q^N = 1 + q + 2q^2 + 3q^3 + \dots,$$
(2.109)

which can be checked by expanding the individual terms $\frac{1}{1-q^n}$ into a geometric series. The Hardy-Ramanujan formula gives the large N asymptotics

$$P(N) \sim \frac{\exp\left\{\pi\sqrt{\frac{2N}{3}}\right\}}{4\sqrt{3}N}$$
 (2.110)

which indicates a rapid growth of the number of states at each level. Because of this, we will only work out the first few levels explicitly. We start by computing the action of L_{-1} on V

$$(L_{-1}V)(z) = \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2\pi i} T(w)V(z)$$
$$= \partial V(z)$$

where we used (2.80) and the OPE (2.72), meaning that L_{-1} acts as a derivative on fields. From this we find at level 1 the state $L_{-1} |h\rangle$ corresponding to the operator ∂V . At level 2, we can act with L_{-1} twice, finding a state $L_{-1}L_{-1} |h\rangle$ corresponding to the operator $\partial^2 V$. We can also act with L_{-2} and to see the corresponding operator, we consider the normal ordered product

$$:VT: = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} z^{-n-2-h} (:VT:)_n,$$
(2.111)

meaning that to obtain a state, we act on the vacuum only with the n = -2-h mode. From equation (2.105), we have

$$(:VT:)_{-2-h} = \sum_{k>-2} V_{-2-h-k} L_k + \sum_{k\leq -2} L_k V_{-2-h-k}$$
(2.112)

and when acting on $|0\rangle$, only the term $L_{-2}V_{-h}|0\rangle$ survives, meaning that $L_{-2}|h\rangle$ corresponds to the operator :VT:. At level 3, we again have $L_{-1}L_{-1}L_{-1}|h\rangle$ corresponding to $\partial^3 V$, from the previous level, we have that $L_{-2}L_{-1}|h\rangle$ corresponds to : ∂VT :. There is one more state $L_{-3}|h\rangle$, which we investigate with the help of the formula (2.107). Consider

$$:V\partial T:=\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}z^{-n-3-h}(:V\partial T:)_n,$$
(2.113)

so that only the n = -3 - h mode contributes when acting on $|0\rangle$. The modes are now expressed by (2.107) as

$$(:V\partial T:)_{-3-h} = \sum_{k>-3} (-2-k)V_{-3-h-k}L_k + \sum_{k\leq -3} (-2-k)L_kV_{-3-h-k} \quad (2.114)$$

meaning that only $L_{-3}\phi_{-h}|0\rangle$ survives when acting on the vacuum. We summarise our findings below in table (2.2). In general our results seem to

Level	State	Operator
0	$ h\rangle$	V
1	$L_{-1}\left h\right\rangle$	∂V
2	$L_{-1}L_{-1}\left h\right\rangle$	$\partial^2 V$
2	$L_{-2} \left h \right\rangle$:VT:
3	$L_{-1}L_{-1}L_{-1} h\rangle$	$\partial^3 V$
3	$L_{-2}L_{-1}\left h\right\rangle$	$:\partial VT:$
3	$L_{-3} \left h \right\rangle$	$:V\partial T:$

Table 2.2Verma module up to level 3

indicate that the Verma module is reflected on the operator side by using derivatives and normal ordering with T on the primary V, building an entire conformal family of descendants having a common ancestor V in the process. It would be great if the correlators of descendants were obtainable from the correlators of primaries that we worked out before. That this should be the case can be seen by thinking about the corresponding problem on the Verma module side, there one can get rid of all L_{-n} in VEVs by using the commutation relations (2.85) and (2.101), leaving only a VEV with the modes ϕ_m behind. The computation is rather simple, involving only the OPE (2.72) and some contour pulling with the result

$$\langle L_{-n}V(w)V_1(w_1)\dots V_N(w_N)\rangle = \mathcal{L}_{-n}\langle V(w)V_1(w_1)\dots V_N(w_N)\rangle, \quad (2.115)$$

where the differential operator \mathcal{L}_{-n} is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{-n} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left[\frac{(n-1)h_i}{(w_i - w)^n} - \frac{1}{(w_i - w)^{n-1}} \partial_{w_i} \right]$$
(2.116)

An immediate consequence is that if two primaries are orthogonal, then the conformal families that they generate are also orthogonal. This hints at the fact that the OPE should also stay within a conformal family, indeed the equation

$$V_i(z)V_j(w) = \sum_k \sum_{\{m\}} C_{ijk} \frac{\beta_{ijk}^{\{m\}} V_k^{\{m\}}(w)}{(z-w)^{h_i+h_j-h_p-M}},$$
(2.117)

where the multi-index $\{m\}$ on the field V labels all descendant fields

$$\{L_{-m_1}\ldots L_{-m_n}\}V_k(w)$$

with $M = \sum_{i} m_{i}$ and the $\beta^{\{m\}}_{ijk}$ numbers holds. This notation means for example that $L_{-2}V = :VT$: by table (2.2).

We may ask whether the Hermitean inner product is positive definite in the HWR. We first try to eliminate some negative norm states by extending the computation of (2.86) to obtain

$$\|L_{-m}|h\rangle\|^2 = 2mh + \frac{c}{12}(m^3 - m)$$
(2.118)

giving us the constraint c > 0 for nontrivial unitary theories (simply consider m large enough) and also $h \ge 0$ (simply consider m small enough). After obtaining these basic constraints, we proceed by eliminating the zero-norm states, which also indicate the reducibility of a HWR since they are orthogonal to the physical states in a HWR. The presence of a zero-norm state at level N is indicated by the root of the Kač determinant det $M_N(h, c)$ of a level N Gram matrix $M_N(h, c)$ with entries

$$\left\langle h\right|\prod_{i}L_{k_{i}}\prod_{j}L_{-m_{j}}\left|h\right\rangle$$

with $\sum_i k_i = \sum_j m_j = N$. This is so, because such roots indicate zero eigenvalues of the Gram matrix. The reason why we can separate the total Gram matrix into the blocks $M_N(h, c)$ by level is that states with different levels have vanishing overlaps since only annihilation or only creation operators survive the commuting in the expectation value (2.119). We continue by computing the Gram matrices for level 1 and level 2 with the level 1 being trivial

$$M_1(h,c) = \langle h | L_1 L_{-1} | h \rangle = 2h = \det M_1(h,c)$$
(2.119)

where we used the formula (2.118) and we see that the level 1 root $h_{1,1}(c)$ is zero. The same formula also gives for a diagonal term at level 2 $\langle h | L_2 L_{-2} | h \rangle =$ $4h + \frac{c}{2}$. For the second diagonal term we get by the use of the Virasoro algebra (2.85)

$$\langle h | L_1 L_1 L_{-1} L_{-1} | h \rangle = 4h(2h+1)$$

The offdiagonal terms at level 2 are

$$\langle h | L_1 L_1 L_{-2} | h \rangle = \langle h | L_2 L_{-1} L_{-1} | h \rangle = 3 \langle h | L_1 L_{-1} | h \rangle = 6h$$

where we commuted L_1 and L_{-2} and used $L_1 |h\rangle = 0$. Putting this together, we have

$$M_2(h,c) = \begin{pmatrix} 4h + \frac{c}{2} & 6h\\ 6h & 4h(2h+1) \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.120)

so that

$$\det M_2(h,c) = 32h \left(h^2 + \frac{c-5}{8}h + \frac{c}{16} \right)$$
(2.121)

where the two new roots defined by

$$\det M_2(h,c) = 32 \Big(h - h_{1,1}(c) \Big) \Big(h - h_{1,2}(c) \Big) \Big(h - h_{2,1}(c) \Big)$$
(2.122)

are given by

$$h_{1,2}(c) = \frac{5-c}{16} - \frac{1}{16}\sqrt{(1-c)(25-c)}$$

$$h_{2,1}(c) = \frac{5-c}{16} + \frac{1}{16}\sqrt{(1-c)(25-c)}$$

so that given c, we can expect null vectors at level 2 for Verma modules generated by $|h_{1,2}(c)\rangle$ and $|h_{2,1}(c)\rangle$ and we project these out. We see that the root $h_{1,1}$ is still present at level 2 and this turns out to be a general feature as embodied by the general formula for the Kač determinant guessed by Kač [46]

det
$$M_N(h,c) = \alpha_N \prod_{0 < p,q \le N} \left(h - h_{r,s}(c) \right)^{P(N-rs)}$$
, (2.123)

where the roots are given by

$$h_{r,s}(m) = \frac{\left((m+1)r - ms\right)^2 - 1}{4m(m+1)}$$
(2.124)

with $m(c) = -\frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{25-c}{1-c}}$, where the sign is chosen (for c < 1, our case of interest) so that m is positive by convention. Apart from removing the null states, we then also have to allow only for the regions in the (h, c) plane, where the Kač determinant is nonnegative (remember that $M_N(h, c)$ is a Gram matrix). Doing this it can be shown that in theories with c > 1 all HWRs with $h \ge 0$ are unitary with no need to remove null states. For the degenerate case c = 1, we have zeros at $h_n = \frac{n^2}{4}$ with the Kač determinant remaining positive in between, meaning that we only have to remove the null states and our theory becomes unitary for $h \ge 0$. The case 0 < c < 1 is more involved and is analysed as an example (2.8.1).

2.7 Bulk conformal perturbation theory

In general, the fixed point described by a CFT may have unstable directions, which enable us to trigger an RG flow by a deformation by a relevant operator with y = D - h > 0 (see the end of section (1.7)). We may then follow the RG flow perturbatively and obtain information about the off-critical theory, enabling us to see where the RG flow ends. Ideally, we would then like to be

able to describe the off-critical theory using the CFT data. It may be the case that the flow ends in a new CFT or perhaps that the theory acquires mass, which should be seen by the IR limit of the off-critical correlators (they will either obey a power law or be exponentially damped). Below we analyse general RG flows in D = 2 and then prove the *c*-theorem, which elucidates the meaning of the central charge *c*.

Let us begin by studying the response of a correlator

$$\langle A_1(x_1)\dots A_n(x_n)\rangle = \int \mathcal{D}\phi A_1(x_1)\dots A_n(x_n)e^{-S[\phi]} \qquad (2.125)$$

to an infinitesimal conformal transformation $x \to x + \epsilon$. By the exact same steps that lead to the proof of Polyakov's conjecture (2.2), we then have the Ward identity

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle A_1(x_1) \dots A_i(x_i) \dots A_n(x_n) \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \int d^2 x \langle \Theta(x)(\partial \cdot \epsilon)(x) A_1(x_1) \dots A_n(x_n) \rangle$$
(2.126)

where $\Theta(x) \equiv T^{\mu}_{\ \mu}(x)$ is the trace of T. Specialising to the case of a global dilatation and writing $\delta A(x) = \epsilon \left(\frac{1}{2}x \cdot \partial + D\right) A(x)$, where \hat{D} is an operator encoding the possible dependence on internal indices. Substituting the change in A under the global dilatations to (2.126), we get the special case

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle A_1(x_1) \dots \left(\frac{1}{2} x \cdot \partial + \hat{D}\right) A_i(x_i) \dots A_n(x_n) \rangle = \int d^2 x \langle \Theta(x) A_1(x_1) \dots A_n(x_n) \rangle$$
(2.127)

Second, we analyse the dependence of correlators on various couplings g_i present in our action. Writing $S = \int d^2 x \mathcal{L}$ and restricting only to the interaction of scalars, we have a local scalar field belonging to the tangent space of couplings

$$\phi_a(x) = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial g_a} \tag{2.128}$$

If the fields $A_i(x)$ respond to the change in couplings as $\frac{\partial A_i(x)}{\partial g_a} = \hat{B}_a A_i(x)$, we then have from (2.125)

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial g_a} \langle A_1(x_1) \dots A_n(x_n) \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^n \langle A_1(x_1) \dots \hat{B}_a A_i(x_i) \dots A_n(x_n) \rangle (2.129) - \int d^2 x \langle \phi_a(x) A_1(x_1) \dots A_n(x_n) \rangle$$

Since the trace $\Theta(x)$ is also a scalar, it should be possible to expand it as

$$\Theta(x) = \sum_{a} \beta^a(\{g\})\phi_a(x), \qquad (2.130)$$

where the coefficients $\beta^{a}(g)$ are called the *beta-functions*. This can be realised by considering the transformation $x \to (1 + dt)x$, under which $\Theta(x) = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial t}$ and using chain rule, we have

$$\Theta(x) = \sum_{k} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial g_a} \frac{\partial g_a}{\partial t} = \sum_{k} \frac{\partial g_a}{\partial t} \phi_a(x), \qquad (2.131)$$

meaning that the beta-functions encode the dependence of couplings on the length scale $\beta^a(\{g\}) = \frac{\partial g_a}{\partial t}$. Plugging the expansion (2.130) into the Ward identity (2.127) and using (2.130), we obtain the Callan-Symanzik equation

$$\left\langle \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{1}{2} x_i \cdot \partial_i + \hat{\gamma}^{(i)}(g) \right) A_1(x_1) \dots A_n(x_n) \right\rangle = \sum_{a} \beta^a(g) \frac{\partial}{\partial g_a} \left\langle A_1(x_1) \dots A_n(x_n) \right\rangle,$$
(2.132)

where we defined the matrix of analomalous dimensions

$$\hat{\gamma}(g) = \hat{D} + \beta^a(g)\hat{B}_a \tag{2.133}$$

whose diagonalisation tells us about operator mixing (the eigenvalues corresponding to anomalous dimensions). What we know for certain is that the trace $\Omega(x)$ does not mix with other operators under RG since T is a conserved current, this leads to

$$\hat{\gamma}(g)\Theta = 2\Theta \tag{2.134}$$

since T has dimension 2. Using the expansion (2.130), we then have

$$\hat{\gamma}\phi_a \equiv \gamma^b_{\ a}\phi_b = \left(2\delta^b_{\ a} - \frac{\partial\beta^b}{\partial g^a}\right)\phi_b,\tag{2.135}$$

meaning that if we know the derivatives of beta-functions, we can read off $\hat{\gamma}$ acting on scalars.

We would now like to compute the beta-function of an RG flow triggered by deforming S_0 to S

$$S = S_0 + \sum_i \lambda_i \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \, V_i \tag{2.136}$$

using only CFT data. Note that we use an opposite sign convention for λ to that used in CPT, such a sign convention is used in string field theory (SFT). We write $\lambda_i = g_i a^{-2(1-\Delta_i)}$, where g_i is dimensionless and a acts as a UV cutoff. We then expand the partition function

$$Z = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left\{-S_0 - \sum_i g_i \int \frac{d^2 x}{a^{2(1-\Delta_i)}} V_i(x)\right\} =$$

$$Z_0 \left[1 - g_i \int \frac{d^2 x}{a^{2(1-\Delta_i)}} \langle V_i(x) \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j} g_i g_j \int_{x_{12} > a} \langle V_i(x_1) V_j(x_2) \rangle \frac{d^2 x_1}{a^{2(1-\Delta_i)}} \frac{d^2 x_2}{a^{2(1-\Delta_j)}} + \dots \right]$$
(2.137)

We now move into the IR without changing the physics (see (1.7), this is analogous with the block spins). This is done by rescaling $a \rightarrow (1 + dt)a$ and compensating by the corresponding change in couplings. The rescaling has an effect in two places since a appears both in the integration bounds and in integrands. The change in a in the integrands is trivially compensated by

$$g_i \to (1 + dt)^{2(1-\Delta_i)} g_i \sim g_i + 2(1 - \Delta_i) g_i dt$$
 (2.138)

To see the effect of the rescaling on the integral bounds, we schematically have

$$\int_{x_{12} > a(1+dt)} = \int_{x_{12} > a} - \int_{a < x_{12} < a(1+dt)},$$
(2.139)

where the first RHS contribution just gives the original integral. Since x_{12} is now roughly *a* in the second term on the RHS of (2.139), we perform an OPE, obtaining the contribution

$$\sum_{k} C_{ijk} a^{2(\Delta_k - \Delta_i - \Delta_j)} \int_{a < x_{12} < a(1 + dt)} \langle V_k(x_2) \rangle \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 x_1}{a^{2(1 - \Delta_i)}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 x_2}{a^{2(1 - \Delta_j)}}, \qquad (2.140)$$

with the minus coming from (2.139). We see that we can explicitly perform the x_1 integration to get $2\pi a^2 dt$, which is an area of an infinitesimal annulus. After performing this integration, x_2 can be any point in \mathbb{R}^2 . We thus get the change in the partition function

$$-\pi \mathrm{d}t \sum_{ijk} C_{ijk} g_i g_j \int \langle V_k(x) \rangle \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 x}{a^{2(1-\Delta_k)}}, \qquad (2.141)$$

where the various powers of a combined. Looking at the linear term in (2.137), we see that this change can be compensated by

$$g_k \to g_k - \pi \sum_{i,j} C_{ijk} g_i g_j \mathrm{d}t$$
 (2.142)

Taking the two scale dependences (2.138) and (2.142) together, we have

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}g_k}{\mathrm{d}t} = \beta_k(g) = 2(1 - \Delta_k)g_k - \pi \sum_{ij} C_{ijk}g_ig_j + \dots \qquad (2.143)$$

The first term in (2.143) corresponds to repulsion from a fixed point since we consider $\Delta_k < 1$, while the second term gives nonzero curvature to the flow meaning that we can again end up in a situation with $g_k = 0$ at the end of an RG flow. To this order, the flow in the space of couplings is a gradient flow, since

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}g_k}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial g_k} \tilde{C}(g) \tag{2.144}$$

with

$$\tilde{C} = \sum_{i} (1 - \Delta_i) g_i^2 - \frac{\pi}{3} \sum_{ijk} C_{ijk} g_i g_j g_k$$
(2.145)

These expressions can be trusted only for deformations with weakly relevant operators with $y_i = 2(1-\Delta_i)$ much smaller than 1 since then the corresponding couplings are of the same order and it is plausible to neglect the next-toleading corrections to (2.143). In this case, we might see a new fixed point in a very close proximity. The computation of the next-to-leading corrections is in general very involved and we haven't found a computation for a generic setup in the literature, however some next-to-leading results for particular theories are available, for example for the perturbations $\mathcal{M}_m \to \mathcal{M}_{m-1}$ considered in (2.8.2).

We now prove the Zamolodchikov's *c*-theorem, which states that for a unitary two-dimensional field theory with a stress tensor, there exists a function $C(\{g\})$, which decreases along the RG flows, being stationary only at fixed points $g = g_*$, where it coincides with the central charge *c* of the fixed point CFT. The first step it to define the functions *F*, *G* and *H* so that

$$\langle T(z,\bar{z})T(0,0)\rangle = \frac{F(\tau)}{z^4}$$
(2.146)

$$\langle T(z,\bar{z})\Theta(0,0)\rangle = \frac{G(\tau)}{z^3\bar{z}}$$

$$(2.147)$$

$$\langle \Theta(z,\bar{z})\Theta(0,0)\rangle = \frac{H(\tau)}{z^2\bar{z}^2}, \qquad (2.148)$$

where $\tau \equiv \ln(z\bar{z})$ and T is no longer holomorphic since

$$\overline{\partial}T + \frac{1}{4}\partial\Theta = 0 \tag{2.149}$$

$$\partial \bar{T} + \frac{1}{4} \overline{\partial} \Theta = 0 \tag{2.150}$$

Overlapping these two equations with T and Θ gives two equations

$$\dot{F} + \frac{1}{4}(\dot{G} - 3G) = 0$$
 (2.151)

$$\dot{G} - G + \frac{1}{4} (\dot{H} - 2H) = 0$$
 (2.152)

where the dot means a τ derivative. If we define

$$C = 2F - G - \frac{3}{8}H, (2.153)$$

then (2.151) and (2.152) give

$$\dot{C} = -\frac{3}{4}H\tag{2.154}$$

which is nonpositive in a unitary theory so that C is decreasing and at the critical point, we have $\Theta = 0$, meaning that C = 2F there. Looking at the OPE (2.88) and the definition (2.146), we see that at the critical point C = 2F = c, which completes the proof. The interpretation is that c measures the degree of instability of a fixed point, which has to decrease along RG flows thanks to the reduction in DOFs. One can then picture the theory space as having a height function C with relevant flows going downhill. Integrating equation (2.154) and realising that $z\bar{z} = r^2$ in polar coordinates, we obtain the sum rule

$$\Delta c = -\frac{3}{4} \int d(r^2) r^2 \langle \Theta(r) \Theta(0) \rangle$$

= $-\frac{3}{4\pi} \int d^2 r r^2 \langle \Theta(r) \Theta(0) \rangle$
= $-\frac{3}{2} \int dr r^3 \langle \Theta(r) \Theta(0) \rangle,$ (2.155)

where Δc is the difference between central charges of the UV and IR fixed points (a massive theory corresponds to $c_{IR} = 0$). For perturbative purposes, it is useful to rewrite (2.155). To do this, we consider a perturbation $S_0 \rightarrow$ $S = S_0 + \lambda \int d^2 x V$, where V has weight Δ and we are dropping the distinction between g and λ from now on. Then we have for the expectation value of the holomorphic stress tensor

$$\langle T(z) \dots \rangle_{\lambda} = \langle T(z) \dots \rangle_0 - \lambda \int d^2 z_1 \langle T(z) V(z_1) \dots \rangle + \dots,$$
 (2.156)

where the subscript λ means evaluation with the perturbed action and the subscript 0 means evaluation with the unperturbed action. We expand the OPE $T(z)V(z_1, \bar{z}_1)$ around z instead of around z_1 to obtain

$$T(z)V(z_1) = \frac{\Delta}{(z-z_1)^2}V(z,\bar{z}) + \frac{1-\Delta}{z-z_1}\partial V(z,\bar{z}) + \dots, \qquad (2.157)$$

which gives that the integral (2.156) is divergent and we regularise by pointsplitting, meaning that we insert the step function $\theta(|z - z_1|^2 - a^2)$ into it. Since in the critical theory, we have $\overline{\partial}T = 0$, differentiating (2.156) by $\overline{\partial}$ gives

$$\overline{\partial}T = -\lambda \int d^2 z_1 \frac{1-\Delta}{z-z_1} (z-z_1) \delta(|z-z_1|^2 - a^2) \partial V(z,\bar{z})$$

$$= -\pi \lambda (1-\Delta) \partial V \qquad (2.158)$$

where the $\overline{\partial}$ hit the step function θ turning it into δ and the most singular term in the OPE (2.157) gave zero upon integration. Additionally a factor $\frac{1}{2}$ came from the delta function $\delta(r^2 - a^2) = \frac{\delta(r-a)}{2a}$ which effectively holds for a, r > 0. From the off-critical conservation law for T, we then have

$$\Theta = 4\pi\lambda(1-\Delta)V + \ldots = 2\pi\lambda yV + \ldots$$
(2.159)

so that

$$\Delta c = -6\pi^2 \lambda^2 y^2 \int_0^1 \mathrm{d}r \, r^3 \langle V(r)V(0) \rangle + \dots$$

= $-\frac{3}{2}\pi^2 \lambda^2 y + \dots,$ (2.160)

where we used the generic two-point function (2.50). Remember that we are still in the off-critical theory, where λ is not a fixed point coupling so that $\Delta c = C(\lambda) - c$ in (2.160). Now we observe that $C(\lambda) - c$ and \tilde{C} from (2.145) should be proportional to one another to at least the first order since they have the same stationary points, leading to

$$C(\lambda) - c = \alpha \tilde{C} \tag{2.161}$$

and comparing (2.145) for one perturbing operator with (2.160), we have $\alpha = -6\pi^2$. In the case of one perturbing operator V, the vanishing of (2.143) for the coupling λ as required at a fixed point gives the fixed-point coupling

$$\lambda_* = \frac{y}{\pi C_{VVV}} + O(y^2) \tag{2.162}$$

Plugging (2.162) into (2.145), we have $\tilde{C} = \frac{y^3}{6\pi^2 C_{VVV}^2} + O(y^4)$ so that

$$\Delta c = -\frac{y^3}{C_{VVV}^2} + O(y^4) \tag{2.163}$$

is the difference between the UV central charge and the IR charge charge. In this generic setup, the result (2.163) was first written down by Cardy and Ludwig [47], but for minimal models was also derived in the independent work of Zamolodchikov [42]. The derivation here was in the spirit of [39]. From (2.163), we can see the *c*-theorem perturbatively since for relevant deformations with y > 0 gives that $\Delta c < 0$ to first order.

2.8 Examples

Below we study concrete examples of CFTs, starting with unitary minimal models and their perturbations. After this we move into CFTs that are very important for string theory, namely the free boson and the *bc*-ghost system.

2.8.1 Unitary minimal models \mathcal{M}_m

The Kač determinant (2.123) for 0 < c < 1 was studied in [48] and the results can be summarised by saying that there is only a discrete series of unitary theories (called the *unitary minimal models* \mathcal{M}_m) with the central charges

$$c(m) = 1 - \frac{6}{m(m+1)} \tag{2.164}$$

with $m \geq 3$. Moreover in these theories only a discrete class of conformal families exists with ancestors of weight

$$h_{r,s}(m) = \frac{\left((m+1)r - ms\right)^2 - 1}{4m(m+1)},$$
(2.165)

with $(1 \le r \le m, 1 \le s \le m+1)$ with the symmetry $(r, s) \sim (m-r, m+1-s)$. The simplest unitary minimal model \mathcal{M}_2 corresponds to the critical point of the 2D Ising. In this theory, there are three primaries $1, \sigma$ and ϵ of weights

$$\begin{aligned} h_{\mathbb{1}} &= h_{1,1} = h_{2,3} = 0 \\ h_{\sigma} &= h_{1,2} = h_{2,2} = \frac{1}{16} \\ h_{\epsilon} &= h_{1,3} = h_{2,1} = \frac{1}{2}, \end{aligned}$$

which immediately imply the correct two-point a three-point correlators of Onsager's solution, here simply obtained from (2.50) and (2.53).

We now need to remove null states, since (2.165) coincides with (2.124), this will force correlators to obey various identities thanks to (2.115). Starting at level 2, we have the general ansatz for a null state $L_{-2} |h\rangle + aL_{-1}L_{-1} |h\rangle = 0$. By acting with L_1 on it and using the Virasoro algebra (2.85) with $L_1 |h\rangle = 0$, we get

$$0 = [L_1, L_{-2}] |h\rangle + a[L_1, L_{-1}L_{-1}] |h\rangle = (3 + 2a(2h+1))L_{-1} |h\rangle, \quad (2.166)$$

leading to $a = -\frac{3}{2(2h+1)}$. By applying L_2 to the null state, we obtain similarly

$$0 = [L_2, L_{-2}] |h\rangle + a[L_2, L_{-1}L_{-1}] |h\rangle = \left(4h + \frac{c}{2} + 6ah\right) |h\rangle, \qquad (2.167)$$

leading to

$$c = \frac{2h(5-8h)}{2h+1} \tag{2.168}$$

This will help us identify to which Verma module the resulting null state

$$\left(L_{-2} - \frac{3}{2(2h+1)}L_{-1}L_{-1}\right)|h\rangle \tag{2.169}$$

belongs. It belongs to the Verma module generated by $V_{2,1}$ because by looking at $h_{2,1}$, we find that

$$m = \frac{3}{4h_{2,1} - 1}$$

and plugging it into (2.164) gives (2.168). The fact that (2.169) is a null state, gives the following differential equation coming from (2.115) for a generic three-point correlator with $V_{2,1}$

$$0 = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\frac{h_i}{(w_i - w)^2} - \frac{1}{w_i - w}\right) - \frac{3}{2(2h_{2,1} + 1)}\partial_w^2\right) \langle V_{2,1}(w)V_1(w_1)V_2(w_2)\rangle$$
(2.170)

Plugging in the generic form of the three-point correlator (2.53) gives the nontrivial constraint

$$2(2h_{2,1}+1)(h_{2,1}+2h_2+1) = 3(h_{2,1}+h_2-h_1)(h_{2,1}+h_2-h_1+1) \quad (2.171)$$

which has the solutions

$$h_2 = \frac{1}{6} + \frac{h_{2,1}}{3} - h_1 \pm \frac{2}{3} \sqrt{h_{2,1}^2 + 3h_{2,1}h_1 - \frac{h_{2,1}}{2} + \frac{3h_1}{2} + \frac{1}{16}}$$
(2.172)

It is a miracle that for $h_1 = h_{r,s}$, the plus branch gives $h_2 = h_{r+1,s}$ and the minus branch $h_2 = h_{r-1,s}$. This means that for the OPE of $V_{2,1}$ and $V_{r,s}$, we have schematically

$$\begin{bmatrix} V_{2,1} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} V_{r,s} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} V_{r+1,s} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} V_{r-1,s} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.173)

This is an example of a *fusion rule* and working our the consequences of having null vectors at higher levels, one has the general fusion rule

$$\begin{bmatrix} V_{r_1,s_1} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} V_{r_2,s_2} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{\substack{k=1+|r_1-r_2|\\k+r_1+r_2 \text{ even } l+s_1+s_2 \text{ odd}}}^{r_1+r_2-1} \begin{bmatrix} V_{k,l} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.174)

As an example, we work out the fusion of two sigmas in the Ising. Since $\sigma = V_{1,2} = V_{2,2}$, we have from (2.174)

$$\left[V_{2,2}\right] \times \left[V_{2,2}\right] = \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k+4 \text{ even } l+4 \text{ odd}}}^{3} \sum_{\substack{l=1\\k+4 \text{ even } l+4 \text{ odd}}}^{3} \left[V_{k,l}\right] = \left[V_{2,1}\right] + \left[V_{2,3}\right]$$
(2.175)
We have that $1 = V_{2,1}$ and $\epsilon = V_{2,3}$, from which we can then write

$$[\sigma] \times [\sigma] = [\mathbb{1}] + [\epsilon]$$

The other fusion rules of the Ising are

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \sigma \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sigma \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \epsilon \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \epsilon \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{bmatrix} \epsilon \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \epsilon \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \epsilon \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1} \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{bmatrix} \epsilon \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \sigma \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sigma \end{bmatrix}$$

The fusion rules are often written in the form of a *fusion algebra*

$$\left[V_{i}\right] \times \left[V_{j}\right] = \sum_{k} N^{k}_{\ ij} \left[V_{k}\right]$$
(2.176)

with the numbers N_{ij}^k representing how many times a given conformal family appears (if we have degeneracies in h, a given conformal family may appear multiple times). In unitary minimal models, we have $N_{ij}^k \in \{0, 1\}$. By the requirement of OPE associativity, one has

$$\sum_{l} N^{l}_{kj} N^{m}_{\ \ il} = \sum_{l} N^{l}_{\ \ ij} N^{m}_{\ \ lk}$$
(2.177)

We have seen that the unitary minimal models are highly constrained. Furthermore, the differential equations for correlation functions can often be solved (notably for the four-point case), see the work of Dotsenko and Fateev [49]. When one has the four-point correlators, one can compute the structure constants since one already knows the general OPE structure from (2.174). These structure constants will be important in the next subsection, when we study weakly relevant perturbations of \mathcal{M}_m .

2.8.2 Perturbations $\mathcal{M}_m \to \mathcal{M}_{m-1}$

We will consider the Zamolodchikov's perturbations (see [42]) of \mathcal{M}_m in the large m limit since then there are two series of near-marginal operators. The first is given by

$$h_{n,n+2} = 1 - \frac{n+1}{m} + O\left(\frac{1}{m^2}\right) \tag{2.178}$$

and the second by

$$h_{n+2,n} = 1 + \frac{n+1}{m} + O\left(\frac{1}{m^2}\right) \tag{2.179}$$

We see that the series $h_{n,n+2}$ corresponds to weakly relevant operators and $h_{n+2,n}$ to weakly irrelevant operators. We deform by the least relevant operator

 $V_{1,3}$ with weight $h_{1,3} = 1 - \frac{2}{m} + O\left(\frac{1}{m^2}\right)$. The operator $V_{1,3}$ has a second crucial property and that is its fusion rule

$$[V_{1,3}] \times [V_{1,3}] = [V_{1,1}] + [V_{1,3}] + [V_{1,5}]$$
 (2.180)

with $V_{1,5}$ being irrelevant since $h_{1,5} = 4 - \frac{6}{m} + O\left(\frac{1}{m^2}\right)$. This means that the (1,3) deformation doesn't turn on any other near-marginal operators and so we can reliably use the part of results of (2.7) obtained for a single operator deformation. Thanks to the weak relevance of $V_{1,3}$, for m large enough, we should be within the validity of the previously obtained results from (2.7). In particular, we would like to begin by computing the shift Δc in the central charge between \mathcal{M}_m and the IR theory to which it flows. To do so, we need the structure constant $C_{(1,3)(1,3)(1,3)}$ obtainable by the methods of [49]. We simply quote the large m result from Zamolodchikov's paper

$$C_{(1,3)(1,3)(1,3)} = \frac{4}{\sqrt{3}} \left(1 - \frac{3}{4}y \right) + O(y^2)$$
(2.181)

with $y = 2(1 - h_{1,3}) = \frac{4}{m+1}$, so that from (2.163), we immediately have

$$\Delta c = -\frac{3}{16}y^3 + O(y^4) = -\frac{12}{m^3} + O\left(\frac{1}{m^4}\right)$$
(2.182)

Expanding the difference between central charges (2.164) of \mathcal{M}_m and $\mathcal{M}_{m+\delta}$, we have

$$c_{m+\delta} - c_m = \delta \frac{12}{m^3} + O\left(\frac{1}{m^4}\right)$$
 (2.183)

meaning that, we observe the flow $\mathcal{M}_m \to \mathcal{M}_{m-1}$ corresponding to $\delta = -1$. We may now ask questions about operator mixing leading to the analysis of the matrix of anomalous dimensions. As shown by (2.135), in order to learn about which operator $V_{1,3}$ turns into, we need to compute the derivative of the beta function (2.143) of the coupling λ to $V_{1,3}$ at the critical point. The result is easily computed to be

$$\left. \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial \lambda} \right|_{\lambda_*} = -y + O(y^2) \tag{2.184}$$

where we plugged in the fixed point coupling (2.162). From (2.180), we see that $V_{1,3}$ doesn't mix with other operators so that the matrix of anomalous dimensions (2.135) is simply a number

$$\hat{\gamma}V_{1,3} = \left(2+y\right)V_{1,3} + O(y^2) = 2\left(1+\frac{2}{m}\right)V_{1,3} + O\left(\frac{1}{m^2}\right)$$
(2.185)

From (2.179), we have that $V_{1,3} \to V_{3,1}$, where the $V_{3,1}$ lives in \mathcal{M}_{m-1} . Next, we investigate the renormalisation of the diagonal fields $V_{n,n}$, which satisfy the fusion rule with $V_{1,3}$

$$\begin{bmatrix} V_{n,k} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} V_{1,3} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} V_{n,k} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} V_{n,k+2} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} V_{n,k-2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.186)

with k = n and for the k = n case, the relevant structure constant is given by

$$C_{(n,n)(1,3)(n,n)} = \frac{n^2 - 1}{32\sqrt{3}}y^2 + O(y^3)$$
(2.187)

Moreover, we have

$$h_{n,n} = \frac{n^2 - 1}{4m(m+1)} = \frac{n^2 - 1}{64}y^2 \left(1 + \frac{y}{4}\right) + O(y^4)$$
(2.188)

meaning that they are strongly relevant. Since only operators of comparable conformal dimensions mix at leading order, we have from (2.186) that to this order the $V_{n,n}$ do not mix. Then using the formula (2.135) and easily computing the beta-function for the coupling to $V_{n,n}$, we have

$$\hat{\gamma}V_{n,n} = \left(2h_{n,n} + 2\pi C_{(n,n)(1,3)(n,n)}\lambda_*\right)V_{n,n} + \dots$$

$$= 2\frac{n^2 - 1}{64}y^2\left(1 + \frac{3}{4}y\right)V_{n,n} + O(y^4) = \frac{n^2 - 1}{4m(m-1)}V_{n,n} + O(y^4),$$
(2.189)

where we expanded

$$\frac{C_{(1,3)(1,3)(1,3)}}{C_{(n,n)(1,3)(n,n)}} = \frac{n^2 - 1}{128}y^2 + O(y^3)$$
(2.190)

In conclusion, we see that $V_{n,n} \to V_{n,n}$ from the formula (2.188) with $m \to m-1$. As an example with a nontrivial matrix of anomalous dimensions, we consider the mixing of $V_{n,n-1}$ and $V_{n,n+1}$. The mixing is obvious from (2.186) and the fact that they have dimensions close to one another since

$$h_{n,n+1} = \frac{1}{4} - \frac{2n+1}{16}y + O(y^2)$$
(2.191)

and

$$h_{n,n-1} = \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2n-1}{16}y + O(y^2)$$
(2.192)

The relevant structure constants are

$$C_{(n,n-1)(1,3)(n,n+1)} = \frac{\sqrt{n^2 - 1}}{\sqrt{3n}} + O(y)$$
(2.193)

$$C_{(n,n-1)(1,3)(n,n-1)} = \frac{n-2}{2\sqrt{3}n} + O(y)$$
(2.194)

$$C_{(n,n+1)(1,3)(n,n+1)} = \frac{n+2}{2\sqrt{3}n} + O(y)$$
(2.195)

From which we simply obtain

$$\hat{\gamma} = \begin{pmatrix} h_{n,n+1} & 0\\ 0 & h_{n,n-1} \end{pmatrix} + \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{3}} \lambda_* \left(\frac{\frac{n+2}{2n}}{\frac{\sqrt{n^2-1}}{n}} \frac{\sqrt{n^2-1}}{\frac{n-2}{2n}} \right) + \dots \quad (2.196)$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} h_{n,n+1} & 0\\ 0 & h_{n,n-1} \end{pmatrix} + \frac{y}{2} \left(\frac{\frac{n+2}{2n}}{\frac{\sqrt{n^2-1}}{n}} \frac{\sqrt{n^2-1}}{\frac{n-2}{2n}} \right) + O(y^2) \quad (2.197)$$

where we used (2.135) and (2.143). The eigenvalues of this matrix are

$$\lambda_1 = \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2n+1}{16}y + O(y^2)$$

$$\lambda_2 = \frac{1}{4} - \frac{2n-1}{16}y + O(y^2)$$

and by comparison with

$$h_{n+1,n} = \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2n+1}{4}\frac{1}{m} + O\left(\frac{1}{m^2}\right)$$
(2.198)

and

$$h_{n-1,n} = \frac{1}{4} - \frac{2n-1}{4}\frac{1}{m} + O\left(\frac{1}{m^2}\right), \qquad (2.199)$$

we see that schematically

$$\{V_{n,n+1}, V_{n,n-1}\} \rightarrow \{V_{n+1,n}, V_{n-1,n}\}$$

Other mixings are investigated in [42]. The next-to-leading order corrections to Δc and the mixings of [42] were obtained by R. Poghossian [50]. Poghossian found a match with the all-order mixing proposed by Gaiotto [51], who got the mixing by constructing an RG domain wall linking DOFs between the UV and IR. These mixings are dependent on the regularisation scheme, see [52], which clarifies the specifics of Zamolodchikov's scheme. See also [53] for additional leading order mixings.

2.8.3 Free boson

The free boson is a CFT with an action

$$S = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int dz \, d\bar{z} \, \partial X \overline{\partial} X, \qquad (2.200)$$

where the integration is over a complex two-manifold on which the free boson lives. For now, we consider the free boson on a plane. From (2.200), it is very easy to see that the EOM for X reads

$$\partial \overline{\partial} X(z, \overline{z}) = 0 \tag{2.201}$$

The two-point function $\langle X(z, \bar{z})X(w, \bar{w})\rangle$ is obtained as a Green's function of the EOM (2.201), meaning that

$$\partial \overline{\partial} \langle X(z,\bar{z})X(w,\bar{w})\rangle = -\pi \delta^{(2)}(z-w), \qquad (2.202)$$

where

$$\int dz \, d\bar{z} \, \delta^{(2)}(z, \bar{z}) = 1 \tag{2.203}$$

The solution to (2.202) is known from two-dimensional electrostatics and is

$$\langle X(z,\bar{z})X(w,\bar{w})\rangle = -\frac{1}{2}\ln|z-w|^2$$
 (2.204)

Comparing (2.204) to (2.50), it is clear that X is not a primary and to identify primaries, we look at the EOM (2.201). It tells us that there is a holomorphic current $j(z) \equiv i\sqrt{2}\partial X$ and an antiholomorphic current $\overline{j}(\overline{z}) \equiv i\sqrt{2}\overline{\partial}X$. These currents correspond to a global U(1) translation symmetry of (2.200). From the requirement of classical scaling symmetry of (2.200), these have weights 1 since X has weight 0. By differentiation of (2.204), we easily infer that

$$\langle j(z)j(w)\rangle = \frac{1}{(z-w)^2}$$
 (2.205)

as corresponds to a holomorphic weight 1 primary from (2.50). With j having weight 1, the corresponding Laurent expansion has the form

$$j(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{j_n}{z^{n+1}},$$
 (2.206)

where the j_n are often written as α_n in string theory, where they play the role of unconventionally normalised oscillators, since

$$[j_n, j_m] = m\delta_{m+n,0} \tag{2.207}$$

as follows from the fact that the jj OPE contains only the identity from symmetry and a standard contour argument. We would now like to find the stress-energy tensor of the free boson, which is essentially the simplest theory of abelian currents. In theories of currents, the stress-energy tensor is given as a current bilinear via the so-called *Sugawara construction*, which enables one to intertwine the current symmetry with a conformal symmetry. The ansatz for a such a bilinear is

$$T(z) = \gamma : jj: (z), \qquad (2.208)$$

where we normal ordered with respect to the z coordinate system

$$:jj:(z) = \lim_{w \to z} \left(j(z)j(w) - \frac{1}{(z-w)^2} \right)$$
(2.209)

to make the jj product well-defined. To find out γ , we simply compute an OPE via Wick's theorem (remember that this theory is free)

$$T(z)j(w) \sim 2\gamma j(z)j(z)j(w) = 2\gamma \frac{j(z)}{(z-w)^2} \sim 2\gamma \frac{j(w)}{(z-w)^2},$$
 (2.210)

from which $\gamma = \frac{1}{2}$ follows from (2.72) and the fact that j has weight 1. In section (2.5), we promised that we would make the Schwarzian appear explicitly (inspired by [45]). To do so, imagine that we normal order (2.209) with respect to another coordinate system with $z \to f(z)$, then the factor $-\frac{1}{(z-w)^2} = \partial_z \partial_w \ln |z-w|^2$ turns into $\partial_z \partial_w \ln |f(z) - f(w)|^2$. We now calculate the $w \to z$ limit

$$\lim_{w \to z} \partial_z \partial_w \ln |f(z) - f(w)|^2 = \lim_{w \to z} \partial_z \partial_w \ln \left(f(z) - f(w) \right)$$
(2.211)

by explicitly writing the ∂_z and ∂_w via their definitions

$$\lim_{w \to z} \partial_z \partial_w \ln\left(f(z) - f(w)\right) = \lim_{w \to z} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\epsilon^2} \left[\ln\left(\frac{\left(f(z+\epsilon) - f(w+\epsilon)\right)\left(f(z) - f(w)\right)}{\left(f(z) - f(w+\epsilon)\right)\left(f(z+\epsilon) - f(w)\right)}\right) \right]$$
$$= \lim_{w \to z} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\epsilon^2} \ln\left[f(z), f(z+\epsilon); f(w), f(w+\epsilon)\right],$$

where we used the cross-ratio definition (2.96). Since a cross-ratio appears, it doesn't surprise us that similarly to the computation of (2.97), we have after performing the limits

$$\lim_{w \to z} \partial_z \partial_w \ln \left(f(z) - f(w) \right) = \lim_{w \to z} \frac{1}{(z - w)^2} + \frac{1}{6} S(f)(z)$$
(2.212)

We see that physically the Schwarzian appears thanks to the presence of normal ordering in the sense that a coordinate transformation changes the coordinate system with respect to which we normal order. The next calculation in line is to find out the central charge of the free boson. To do so, we simply compute the TT OPE via Wick's theorem

$$T(z)T(w) \sim \frac{2}{4} \left(j(z)j(w) \right)^2 + \frac{4}{4} : j(z)j(w) : j(z)j(w)$$
 (2.213)

$$\sim \frac{1}{2(z-w)^4} + \frac{2T(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial T(w)}{z-w},$$
 (2.214)

where we used (2.205) and the derivative term came from Taylor expanding around w and we divided it by 2 since there are two terms in T, on which the derivative acts. By comparison with (2.88), we find that c = 1 (remember, this why we normalised the Virasoro algebra (2.85) the way we did) and that T constructed as a current bilinear really is a stress-tensor.

Aside from the U(1) currents, there is a very important continuum of primaries of the form $V_k \equiv :e^{ikX}$: with $k \in \mathbb{R}$. To show that they are primaries, we need to compute their OPE with T and match it to the general form (2.72). We start by expanding

$$:e^{ikX}:(z) = 1 + ikX(z) - \frac{k^2}{2}:XX:(z) + \dots$$
 (2.215)

and by Wick's theorem, we have

$$T(z)V_k(w) = -:\partial X\partial X: (z)(1+ikX(w) - \frac{k^2}{2}:XX:(w) + \ldots)$$

= $\frac{2}{8(z-w)^2}k^2 + ik\frac{2}{2(z-w)}\partial X(z) - \frac{4}{4(z-w)}k^2:(\partial X)X:(z) + \ldots$

from which we guess the general pattern

$$T(z)V_{k}(w) \sim \frac{k^{2}}{4(z-w)^{2}}V_{k}(w) + \frac{ik}{z-w}:\partial Xe^{ikX}:(w)$$
$$= \frac{k^{2}}{4(z-w)^{2}}V_{k}(w) + \frac{\partial V_{k}(w)}{z-w}$$

meaning that from (2.72) V_k has weight $\frac{k^2}{4}$. The operators V_k are called *vertex* operators and correspond to momentum eigenstates in string theory. To see this, we realise that they are charged under the U(1) translation current j

$$j(z)V_k(w) = j(z)(1 + ikX(w) + \dots) \sim \frac{k}{\sqrt{2}(z-w)} + \dots \sim \frac{k}{\sqrt{2}(z-w)}V_k(w)$$
(2.216)

Thanks to this, they enable us to create physical states in string theory, that is states that satisfy appropriate mass-shell conditions (we essentially tune the conformal weight of our state to 1 by tensoring with a V_k).

Despite its simplicity, the free boson contains some very interesting physics. To illustrate, we consider the free boson compactified on a circle of radius R

$$X \sim X + 2\pi mR \tag{2.217}$$

with $m \in \mathbb{Z}$. To make most out of this symmetry, we no longer work on the complex plane, but on a torus with complex coordinates $w = \sigma_1 + \tau \sigma_2$ and

 $\bar{w} = \sigma_1 + \bar{\tau}\sigma_2$, where $\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in [0, 1]$ such that $\sigma_1 \sim \sigma_1 + 1$ and $\sigma_2 \sim \sigma_2 + 1$ and τ is a leftover parameter of the complex torus metric known as the *modulus*

$$g = \frac{1}{\tau_2} |\mathrm{d}\sigma_1 + \tau \mathrm{d}\sigma_2|^2 = \frac{\mathrm{d}w \,\mathrm{d}\bar{w}}{\tau_2} \tag{2.218}$$

with $\tau = \tau_1 + i\tau_2$, $\tau_2 \ge 0$. It is trivial to see that the torus is invariant under $\tau \to \tau + 1$ and with a little bit more work, one can show that it is invariant under the *modular group* $PSl(2,\mathbb{Z})$ generated by $\tau \to \tau + 1$ and $\tau \to -\frac{1}{\tau}$.

Our objective is to compute the torus partition function Z and read off the spectrum from it. To do this, we first realise that the torus can be thought of as a cylinder with its ends joined. From (2.4), we know that the coordinate along the cylinder can be thought of as a Euclidean time and thus to get a torus with modulus $\tau = \tau_1 + i\tau_2$, we need to twist the ends of a cylinder propagator $e^{-2\pi\tau_2 H}$, where H is the cylinder Hamiltonian (2.99). The twist is obtained by exponentiating the momentum $P = (L_0 - \frac{c}{24}) - (\bar{L}_0 - \frac{\bar{c}}{24})$. The joining of ends turns into a Hilbert space trace and thus

$$Z = \text{Tr}\left\{e^{-2\pi\tau_2 H}e^{2\pi i\tau_1 P}\right\} = \text{Tr}\left\{q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}}\bar{q}^{\bar{L}_0 - \frac{\bar{c}}{24}}\right\}$$
(2.219)

with $q = e^{2\pi i \tau}$. Evaluating this trace (a Virasoro *character*) in a Verma module generated by an ancestor of weight h gives an enormous amount of overcounting since

$$\chi_h \equiv \text{Tr}\left\{q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}}\right\} = \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} \#_{h+N} q^{N+h - \frac{c}{24}}, \qquad (2.220)$$

where $\#_{h+N}$ is the number of independent states at level N and we denote the characters by χ_h . Using the generating function (2.109), we can write

$$\chi_h = \frac{q^{h + \frac{1-c}{24}}}{\eta(q)},\tag{2.221}$$

where η defined by

$$\frac{1}{\eta(q)} = q^{-\frac{1}{24}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{1-q^n}$$
(2.222)

is the Dedekind eta function.

The strategy is to compute the partition function using the path integral and then match it to (2.219) to obtain the spectrum. To compute the path integral, we first want to find some instantons to expand the path integral around. Recall that earlier, we had the EOM (2.201), which was the Laplace equation on the plane (a Euclidean wave equation). Now we solve the Laplace equation $\Delta X = 0$ on the torus with $\Delta = \frac{1}{\tau_2} |\tau \partial_1 - \partial_2|^2$ as derivable by per partes from the free boson action on the torus

$$S = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int d^2 \sigma \sqrt{g} g^{ij} \partial_i X \partial_j X = \frac{1}{4\pi} d^2 \sigma \frac{1}{\tau_2} |\tau \partial_1 X - \partial_2 X|^2$$
(2.223)

where g^{ij} are the σ -coordinate components of the metric (2.218). The instantons we find have to be compatible with (2.217) and with the periodicity of the torus itself. Thus they are maps from $S^1 \times S^1$ to S^1 and such maps depend on two integers n, m that tell us how many times X winds around each torus cycle. From this and the quadratic nature of Δ it is not too difficult to guess the family of instantons

$$X_{m,n}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) = 2\pi R(n\sigma_1 + m\sigma_2), \qquad (2.224)$$

which are trivially compatible with the torus periodicity conditions, which read $X_{m,n}(\sigma_1 + 1, \sigma_2) \sim X_{m,n}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)$, $X_{m,n}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2 + 1) \sim X_{m,n}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)$ due to (2.217). The action (2.223) evaluated on the instanton (2.224) trivially gives

$$S_{m,n} = \frac{\pi R^2}{\tau_2} |m - n\tau|^2, \qquad (2.225)$$

which is finite and thus we really found instantons, see (1.6). Expanding the action around instantons, we have

$$Z = \sum_{m,n\in\mathbb{Z}} \int \mathcal{D}\chi \, e^{-S_{m,n} - S(\chi)} = \sum_{m,n\in\mathbb{Z}} e^{-S_{m,n}} \int \mathcal{D}\chi \, e^{-S(\chi)}, \qquad (2.226)$$

where we introduced the fluctuation field χ . Since the Laplacian is quadratic operator, we use the usual Gaussian methods to evaluate the path integral over χ . We write $\chi = \chi_0 + \delta \chi$, where $\chi_0 \in [0, 2\pi R]$ is a constant zero-mode and then as usual $\delta \chi$ is expanded into the torus Laplacian eigenfunctions ψ such that

$$\Delta \psi = -\lambda \psi \tag{2.227}$$

It is trivial to see that we have an entire family of such eigenfunctions labeled by integers m_1, m_2

$$\psi_{m_1,m_2} = e^{2\pi i (m_1 \sigma_1 + m_2 \sigma_2)} \tag{2.228}$$

with eigenvalues

$$\lambda_{m_1,m_2} = \frac{4\pi^2}{\tau_2} |m_1 \tau - m_2|^2 \tag{2.229}$$

By writing $\delta \chi = \sum_{(m_1,m_2)\neq(0,0)} A_{m_1,m_2} \psi_{m_1,m_2}$ (we omit $m_1 = m_2 = 0$ since from (2.228) this is the constant mode) and using the fact that $S(\chi_0) = 0$, we have

$$S(\chi) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{(m_1, m_2) \neq (0, 0)} \lambda_{m_1, m_2} |A_{m_1, m_2}|^2$$
(2.230)

Using the fact that the ψ_{m_1,m_2} give an orthonormal basis (as one can see from elementary Fourier analysis) on field space, we have by standard Gaussian integration

$$\int \mathcal{D}\chi \, e^{-S(\chi)} = \frac{2\pi R}{\sqrt{\prod_{(m_1, m_2) \neq (0, 0)} \frac{\lambda_{m_1, m_2}}{(2\pi)^2}},}$$
(2.231)

where the factor $2\pi R$ comes from the integration over χ_0 and we recognise the usual square root of an operator determinant. Note that the factor of $\frac{1}{2\pi}$ in (2.230) that is different from the conventional Gaussian exponent normalisation contributes to the divison by $(2\pi)^2$. The determinant in (2.231) can be beautifully evaluated using ζ -function regularisation, where the zeta function is defined as $\zeta(s) \equiv \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{-s}$ and we have $\zeta'(s) = -\sum_{n=1} n^{-s} \ln n$. By assigning $\zeta(-1) = -\frac{1}{12}$, $\zeta(0) = -\frac{1}{2}$ and $\zeta'(0) = -\frac{1}{2}\ln(2\pi)$, the formulae

$$\prod_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} a = a^{2\zeta(0)+1} = 1$$
(2.232)

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{\alpha} = e^{-\alpha \zeta'(0)} = (2\pi)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}$$
(2.233)

$$\prod_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} (n+a) = a \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (-n^2) \left(1 - \frac{a^2}{n^2} \right) = 2i \sin(\pi a), \qquad (2.234)$$

easily follow, where in the last equality we also used the famous Euler product formula for the sine

$$\sin x = x \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \frac{x^2}{n^2 \pi^2} \right), \tag{2.235}$$

which is easily seen by recalling the roots of the sine. The following computation is then possible

$$\prod_{(m_1,m_2)\neq(0,0)} \frac{\lambda_{m_1,m_2}}{(2\pi)^2} = \prod_{(m_1,m_2)\neq(0,0)} \frac{4\pi^2}{\tau_2(2\pi)^2} |m_1\tau - m_2|^2$$

$$= \tau_2 \left(\prod_{m_2\neq0}^{\infty} m_2^2\right) \prod_{m_1\neq0,m_2} (m_1\tau - m_2)(m_1\bar{\tau} - m_2)$$

$$= 4\pi^2 \tau_2 \prod_{m_1>0,m_2} (m_2 + \tau m_1)(m_2 - \tau m_1)(m_2 + \bar{\tau} m_1)(m_2 - \bar{\tau} m_1)$$

$$= 4\pi^2 \tau_2 \prod_{m_1>0} 4\sin^2(\pi\tau m_1)\sin^2(\pi\bar{\tau} m_1)$$

$$= 4\pi^2 \tau_2 \prod_{m_1>0} (q\bar{q})^{-m}(1 - q^m)^2(1 - \bar{q}^m)^2$$

$$= 4\pi^2 \tau_2 (q\bar{q})^{\frac{1}{12}} \prod_{m_1>0} (1 - q^m)^2(1 - \bar{q}^m)^2$$

$$= 4\pi^2 \tau_2 \eta^2 \bar{\eta}^2$$
(2.236)

so that taking into account the sum over instantons

$$Z = \frac{R}{\sqrt{\tau_2} |\eta|^2} \sum_{m,n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-\frac{\pi R^2}{\tau_2} |m - n\tau|^2}$$
(2.237)

Finally using the special case of a Poisson resummation formula

$$a^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-\frac{\pi(m-b)^2}{a}} = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-\pi am^2 + 2\pi i bm}$$
(2.238)

in m, we find

$$Z = \frac{1}{|\eta|^2} \sum_{m,n\in\mathbb{Z}} e^{-\pi\tau_2 \left(\frac{m^2}{R^2} + n^2 R^2\right) + 2\pi i \tau_1 m n} = \frac{1}{|\eta|^2} \sum_{m,n\in\mathbb{Z}} q^{h_{m,n}} \bar{q}^{\bar{h}_{m,n}}, \qquad (2.239)$$

where by comparison with (2.221) and the fact that c = 1, we identified the numbers $h_{m,n}$, $\bar{h}_{m,n}$ as conformal weights

$$h_{m,n} = \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{m}{R} + nR \right)^2$$
 (2.240)

$$\bar{h}_{m,n} = \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{m}{R} - nR \right)^2 \tag{2.241}$$

It can be checked that the partition function (2.239) is invariant under the modular group thanks to the transformation properties $\eta(\tau+1) = e^{i\frac{\pi}{12}}\eta(\tau)$ and $\eta(-\frac{1}{\tau}) = (-i\tau)^{\frac{1}{2}}\eta(\tau)$ of the weight $\frac{1}{2}$ modular form η . As a note, we have just also solved the non-compact free boson on a torus since in the limit $R \to \infty$, only the m = n = 0 contribution survives and one has $Z \sim \frac{R}{\sqrt{\tau_2}|\eta|^2} \to \frac{V}{2\pi\sqrt{\tau_2}|\eta^2|}$, where V is the non-compact volume.

The formula (2.240) can be interpreted with the help of the Kaluza-Klein point-particle spectrum (B.5). The $\frac{1}{R}$ term can be interpreted as being present due to quantisation of momentum in the compact direction. When dealing with string theory, it is present due to the fact that the center of mass (COM) of a string has point-like behavior. But the string as a whole is extended, so a term proportional to R arises. This term has the interpretation of coming from the elastic energy of a string winding around the compact direction (the larger the direction, the bigger the energy). Thus n is called the *winding number*.

From (2.240), we see that the weights are symmetric under $R \to \frac{1}{R}$ provided that $m \to n, n \to m$. This tells us that the spectra of two theories, one compactified on a circle of radius R and the second of radius $\frac{1}{R}$ are equivalent provided that winding in one theory becomes COM momentum

in the other and vice versa. This extends to a full duality of theories called T-duality. We immediately see that there exists a self-dual theory having radius R = 1, this theory is very interesting, because there is an enhancement of the U(1) current algebra to an SU(2) current algebra. To see this, we write $h_{m,n} = \frac{1}{4}(m+n)^2$ and $\bar{h}_{m,n} = \frac{1}{4}(m-n)^2$ and thus there are two states with $h_{1,1} = h_{-1,-1} = 1$ in the holomorphic sector and two states with $\bar{h}_{1,-1} = \bar{h}_{-1,1} = 1$ in the antiholomorphic sector. In the holomorphic sector, these can be written as the vertex operators

$$j^1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}V_2 \tag{2.242}$$

$$j^2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}V_{-2}, \qquad (2.243)$$

which can be understood by the fact that the weight of V_k is $\frac{k^2}{4}$. Defining $j^3 \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}j$ with j the U(1) current, we have the SU(2) current algebra satisfying for example from (2.216)

$$j^{3}(z)j^{1}(w) \sim \frac{j^{1}(w)}{z-w}$$
 (2.244)

$$j^{3}(z)j^{1}(w) \sim -\frac{j^{2}(w)}{z-w}$$
 (2.245)

The products $j^1 j^1$ and $j^2 j^2$ are regular and

$$j^{1}(z)j^{2}(w) \sim \frac{1}{2(z-w)^{2}} + \frac{j^{3}(w)}{z-w}$$
 (2.246)

Thus we see an enhancement of the abelian U(1) symmetry to a non-abelian SU(2) symmetry. Moving away from R = 1, the symmetry is broken to U(1) and the massless currents acquire a mass. This is the Brout-Englert-Higgs-Migdal-Polyakov effect. T-duality can be seen as a discrete remnant of the R = 1 enhanced gauge symmetry since at R = 1 it's a discrete symmetry of the antiholomorphic current algebra that acts by swapping two currents.

2.8.4 *bc*-ghost system

The *bc*-ghost system is a CFT of two anticommuting fields b and c with the action

$$S = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int \mathrm{d}^2 z b \overline{\partial} c \qquad (2.247)$$

In order to have classical scale invariance, we need b to have weight λ and c weight $1 - \lambda$. We may proceed for general λ , but for our purposes only the

 $\lambda = 2$ case is of interest (such a CFT arises from gauge fixing the bosonic string). Thus we have $h_b = 2$ and $h_c = -1$, which is a little surprising since these weights look appropriate for a boson rather than a fermion. The action (2.247) has the classical U(1) symmetry $b \rightarrow b - i\epsilon b, c \rightarrow c + i\epsilon c$, which says there is a conservation of *ghost number*. The *b* and *c* ghosts are assigned ghost numbers -1 and 1, respectively. The U(1) symmetry develops (apart from the case $\lambda = \frac{1}{2}$) an anomaly, which turns into the fact that ghost correlation functions are nonvanishing only when [31]

total ghost number =
$$\frac{2\lambda - 1}{2}\chi$$
, (2.248)

where χ is the Euler number of the surface on which we put the ghost CFT. For us the relevant case will be the sphere with $\chi = 2$ and also $\lambda = 2$, so that correlators will be nonzero only at ghost number 3.

The EOMs from (2.247) read

$$\overline{\partial}b = \overline{\partial}c = 0, \qquad (2.249)$$

so that b = b(z) and c = c(z). From antisymmetry and proper scaling behavior, we then have

$$\langle b(z)c(w)\rangle = \frac{1}{z-w},\tag{2.250}$$

so that $b(z)c(w) \sim \frac{1}{z-w}$. One also has the regularity of bb and cc OPEs b(z)b(w) = O(z-w) = c(z)c(w). Even though the so-called *free fermion* case $\lambda = \frac{1}{2}$ is not directly relevant for our purposes, in this theory one trivially finds U(1) currents (which develop an anomaly for $\lambda \neq \frac{1}{2}$ by creating two distinct fields b and c) $j^{mn} = i : \psi^m \psi^n$. Since in this case one has regular currents, one constructs a stress-tensor proportional to $: \psi^m \partial \psi^m$: via the Sugawara construction. This inspires us to make an ansatz

$$T = \alpha : b\partial c : +\beta : c\partial b : \tag{2.251}$$

Then we fix α and β analogously as in the free boson, that is by requiring the proper weights of b and c with the result

$$T = -2: b\partial c: -: c\partial b: \tag{2.252}$$

Computing the TT OPE then gives the central charge c = -26, which shows us that this theory is not unitary. Expanding into modes

$$b(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{b_n}{z^{n+2}} \tag{2.253}$$

$$c(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{c_n}{z^{n-1}},$$
 (2.254)

we can compute the anticommutation relation

$$\{b_m, c_n\} = \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2\pi i} z^{m+1} w^{n-2} b(z) c(w)$$
$$= \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2\pi i} z^{m+1} w^{n-2} \frac{1}{z-w}$$
$$= \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} z^{m+n-1}$$
$$= \delta_{m+n,0} \qquad (2.255)$$

The b_0, c_0 algebra generates two ground states $|\downarrow\rangle$ and $|\uparrow\rangle$ such that $b_0 |\downarrow\rangle = 0$, $b_0 |\uparrow\rangle = |\downarrow\rangle$ and $c_0 |\downarrow\rangle = |\uparrow\rangle$, $c_0 |\uparrow\rangle = |\downarrow\rangle$ and they are annihilated by b_n and c_n for n > 0. But we know that in every CFT there is a unit operator, which gives us the vacuum $|0\rangle$. Is there a relation linking these two ground states to the vacuum? From the weights of b and c, we have that $b_n |0\rangle = 0$ for $n \ge -1$ and $c_n |0\rangle = 0$ for $n \ge 2$ and so the algebraically unique expression is $|0\rangle = b_{-1} |\downarrow\rangle$ since one has $b_{-1} |0\rangle = 0$ from $b_{-1}^2 = 0$ and the vanishing of $c_n |0\rangle$ for $n \ge 2$ follows from the anticommutation of such c modes with b_{-1} and $c_n |\downarrow\rangle = 0$ for $n \ge 2$. The ghost Hilbert space is thus obtained by acting with b_m and c_n on the vacuum, where m < -1 and n < 2. Finally, we can use the state-operator mapping to obtain

$$b_{-n} |0\rangle \rightarrow \frac{1}{(n-2)!} \partial^{n-2} b(0), n \ge 2$$
 (2.256)

$$c_{-n} |0\rangle \rightarrow \frac{1}{(n+1)!} \partial^{n+1} c(0), n \ge -1$$
 (2.257)

This is very simply obtained from the behavior of modes when acting on the vacuum state and realising that the state-operator mapping maps $|0\rangle$ to the unit operator, which has trivial OPEs with the ghosts. For example

$$b_{-n} = \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} z^{-n+1} b(z) = \frac{1}{(n-2)!} \partial^{n-2} b(0), \ n \ge 2$$
 (2.258)

so that

$$b_{-n}|0\rangle \to \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} z^{-n+1} b(z) 1 = \frac{1}{(n-2)!} \partial^{n-2} b(0), \ n \ge 2$$
 (2.259)

and

$$b_{-n} |0\rangle \to \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} z^{-n+1} b(z) 1 = 0, \, n < 2$$
 (2.260)

from the holomorphicity of b.

Chapter 3

Boundary conformal field theory

In this chapter we study boundary conformal field theories (BCFTs), that is CFTs with an addition of a boundary. We mostly follow the concise reviews [54, 55] and the textbook [56]. Some attention to BCFTs is also given in the textbooks [27, 28]. In its early stages the theory was largely developed by Cardy [57, 58, 59, 60]. The thesis [61] provides an accessible introduction to boundary CPT. In boundary CPT we are often interested in the change of the *g*-function first defined in [62]. The *g*-function obeys a theorem analogous to the *c*-theorem, which was conjectured in [63] after a perturbative argument and proved nonperturbatively in [64]. Boundary perturbations of Cardy boundary conditions in unitary minimal models by the least relevant operator are investigated to leading order in [65]. For these a crucial input is given by the structure constants worked out by Runkel in the thesis [66]. These developments of boundary CPT are reviewed in [67].

3.1 Gluing conditions and Ishibashi states

In BCFT, we are interested in boundary conditions whose presence breaks the least amount of the bulk CFT symmetry. In particular this always means that they break only half of the conformal symmetry. It is clear that this places stringent conditions on the BCFT and the more symmetry we have in the bulk, the less conformal boundaries can exist for a given CFT. After finding such a boundary condition, the local properties embodied by the OPE are still the same away from the boundary and this gives us a chance of using our bulk CFT knowledge to understand BCFTs. However, globally the bulk theory is modified and this results in a change of bulk correlators

$$\langle \phi_1 \phi_2 \dots \rangle_a = \langle 0 | \phi_1 \phi_2 \dots | B_a \rangle \rangle,$$
 (3.1)

where $||B_a\rangle\rangle$ is called the *boundary state* of the boundary condition *a*. We now derive the restrictions on the boundary state called the *gluing conditions* coming the conditions that it preserves some symmetry. For simplicity let us assume that the boundary lies along the real axis, meaning we work on the upper half-plane (UHP) and suppose we have a symmetry algebra in the bulk with quasiprimary generators W and \overline{W} with $h = \overline{h}$ including T and \overline{T} . The condition that we break the least amount of symmetry possible translates into a condition on the real axis $z \in \mathbb{R}$

$$W(z) = \Omega_a \left(\overline{W}(\overline{z}) \right), \tag{3.2}$$

which relates W and \overline{W} . The Ω_a is an ultralocal (commutes with mode expansions) symmetry algebra automorphism, which always leaves T invariant (acts trivially on T). This is motivated by the fact that the only Möbius transformations leaving the real axis (boundary) fixed are the $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ transformation, which satisfy $f(\overline{z}) = \overline{f}(z)$, which turns into

$$T(z) = \bar{T}(\bar{z}) \tag{3.3}$$

on the boundary. Nontrivial automorphisms Ω_a are present for example in the free boson (2.8.3) that has U(1) symmetry. On the U(1) current, we can have the nontrivial condition

$$j(z) = -\bar{j}(\bar{z}) \tag{3.4}$$

corresponding to a Neumann boundary condition for X. The trivial automorphism in this case turns out to be the Dirichlet boundary condition for X, both being compatible with the trivial automorphism acting on T via the Sugawara construction.

From radial quantisation, we know that states naturally live on circles and so in order to restrict $||B_a\rangle\rangle$, we make an invertible transformation from the UHP to the unit disc

$$\xi(z) = \frac{i-z}{i+z},\tag{3.5}$$

satisfying $\xi'(z) = \frac{i}{2}(\xi - 1)^2$ and $\overline{\xi}'(\overline{z}) = -\frac{i}{2}(\overline{\xi} - 1)^2$. For our generators, the condition (3.2) then translates to

$$\left(\frac{1}{2}(\xi-1)^2\right)^h W(\xi) = \left(-\frac{1}{2}(\bar{\xi}-1)^2\right)^h \Omega_a(\overline{W}(\bar{\xi}))$$
(3.6)

since they are quasiprimaries of $h = \bar{h}$ and the real axis is mapped to $|\xi| = 1$. Since for $|\xi| = 1$ one has $\bar{\xi} = \xi^{-1}$, then

$$(\xi - 1)^{2h} = (\xi - \xi \bar{\xi})^{2h} = \xi^{2h} (1 - \bar{\xi})^{2h}, \qquad (3.7)$$

so that (3.6) turns into

$$\xi^{2h}W(\xi) - (-1)^h \Omega_a \left(\overline{W}(\overline{\xi})\right) = 0 \tag{3.8}$$

After expanding in modes

$$W(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{W_n}{z^{n+h}},\tag{3.9}$$

this becomes

$$\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\xi^{h-n}\left(W_n-(-1)^h\Omega_a\left(\overline{W}_{-n}\right)\right)=0,$$
(3.10)

where we again used that for $|\xi| = 1$ one has $\overline{\xi} = \xi^{-1}$. Since (3.10) holds for every ξ with $|\xi| = 1$, we must have when acting on the boundary state the gluing conditions

$$\left(W_n - (-1)^h \Omega_a \left(\overline{W}_{-n}\right)\right) \|B_a\| = 0$$
(3.11)

For these gluing conditions to be nontrivial (remember, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$), clearly $||B_a\rangle\rangle$ must be a *coherent state*, that is it isn't a local finite energy *Fock state*. An example of the gluing condition is $(j_n + \overline{j}_{-n}) ||B_a\rangle\rangle = 0$ for the Neumann condition in the U(1) theory and $(j_n - \overline{j}_{-n}) ||B_a\rangle\rangle = 0$ for the Dirichlet condition. The resulting boundary state is then called a *D-brane*, in particular we often consider tensor copies of the free boson so that when having p + 1Neumann boundary conditions and the rest Dirichlet, we call it a *Dp-brane*. Another example is that for the always present trivially glued T, we get

$$\left(L_n - \bar{L}_{-n}\right) \|B_a\rangle = 0 \tag{3.12}$$

so that only one half of the Virasoro algebra survives.

In diagonal CFTs, that is CFTs in which the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{i,j} N_{ij} H_i \otimes \overline{H}_j$ decomposed into irreps of the symmetry algebra H_i satisfies $N_{ij} \neq 0$ only for i = j with the chiral and antichiral symmetry algebras being equal, one can find explicit solutions to the gluing conditions. These are given by the *Ishibashi states* [68], which have for the case of Ω_a trivial (we thus specialise $W \to T$) the form

$$\|i\rangle\rangle = \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} |i,N\rangle \otimes U |i,N\rangle, \qquad (3.13)$$

where is U is an antiunitary operator on the chiral hilbert space $H_{ch} = \bigoplus_i H_i$ satisfying

$$U\overline{L}_n = (-1)^h \overline{L}_n U \tag{3.14}$$

The $\{|i, N\rangle\}$ is an orthonormal basis of the chiral representation at level N corresponding to a spinless (that is with $h = \bar{h}$) primary $|i\rangle$. The Ishibashi state can be generalised to the nontrivial Ω_a case as well, see [56], but we will present the proof that the gluing conditions hold only for the trivial case. The proof is carried out by realising that for (3.11) to be satisfied, it suffices if it is satisfied when projected onto the orthonormal basis and one also uses the antiunitarity of U and its commutation property (3.14)

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{N=0}^{\infty} \langle k, M | \langle k, M | U^{\star} \left(L_{n} - (-1)^{h} \overline{L}_{-n} \right) | i, N \rangle \otimes U | i, N \rangle = \\ &\sum_{N=0}^{\infty} \left[\langle k, M | L_{n} | i, N \rangle \langle k, M | U^{*} U | i, N \rangle \right. \\ &\left. - (-1)^{h} \langle k, M | i, N \rangle \langle k, M | U^{*} \overline{L}_{-n} U | i, N \rangle \right] = \\ &\sum_{N=0}^{\infty} \left[\delta_{k,i} \delta_{M,N} \langle k, M | L_{n} | i, N \rangle \right. \\ &\left. - (-1)^{h} \delta_{k,i} \delta_{M,N} (-1)^{-h} \langle k, M | U^{*} U \overline{L}_{-n} | i, N \rangle \right] = \\ &\left. \langle i, M | L_{n} | i, M \rangle - \langle i, M | \overline{L}_{n} | i, M \rangle = 0, \end{split}$$

where in the last line we used the fact that L_n acting on the chiral sector the same as \overline{L}_n acting on the antichiral sector and we used the star notation for a BPZ conjugate operator to differentiate from Hermitean conjugation. Our considerations are still a little formal since we haven't specified the operator U, but it can be shown by acting with the Virasoros as in (3.12) that one can write an Ishibashi state

$$\|i\rangle\rangle = \sum_{IJ} M^{IJ}(h) L_{-I} \bar{L}_{-J} |i\rangle , \qquad (3.15)$$

where $M^{IJ}(h)$ is an inverse of the Gram matrix $M_{IJ}(h) = \langle i | L_I L_{-J} | i \rangle$ with I, J multiindices. This allows us to write a trivial Ishibashi state level by level

$$\|i\rangle\rangle = \left(1 + \frac{1}{2h}L_{-1}\bar{L}_{-1} + \frac{1}{c(2h+1) + 2h(8h-5)}\right]$$

$$2(2h+1)L_{-2}\bar{L}_{-2} - 3(L_{-2}\bar{L}_{-1}^{2} + L_{-1}^{2}\bar{L}_{-2}) + \frac{c+8h}{4h}L_{-1}^{2}\bar{L}_{-1}^{2}\right] + \dots \left|i\rangle,$$
(3.16)

by simply inverting (2.119) and (2.120).

The gluing conditions (3.11) solved by the Ishibashi states are not enough to uniquely specify the boundary state $||B_a\rangle$. This is so because additional selections among the irreps of the symmetry algebra are made by considering various consistency conditions like the Cardy conditions [60] (analogue of modular invariance, see (2.8.3) for the discussion of modular invariance) or sewing relations [69, 70]. Nevertheless, it is true that after appropriate selections, we can write the boundary state as a superposition of Ishibashi states

$$||B_a\rangle\rangle = \sum_i B_a^i ||i\rangle\rangle \tag{3.17}$$

The Ishibashi state (3.13) satisfies the important property

$$\langle j \| i \rangle = \langle j | i \rangle = \delta_{i,j} \tag{3.18}$$

since $|i\rangle$ is the unique state at level 0 in the conformal family generated by $|i\rangle$. This means that we can read off the *boundary state coefficients* B_a^i as one-point functions with spinless bulk primaries

$$B_a^i = \langle i \, \| B_a \rangle \!\! \rangle \tag{3.19}$$

Before we try to find some boundary states, we investigate the boundary spectrum.

3.2 Boundary fields

Looking at (3.3), we realise that an UHP correlator with \overline{T} at a point specified as (z, \bar{z}) can be rewritten as a correlator on the entire plane using the so-called doubling trick, where by analytic continuation the boundary acts as a mirror that transports T at (z, \bar{z}) to a T at the mirror point (\bar{z}, z) , which is no longer on the UHP. This means in particular that as T approaches the boundary from the UHP, it finds a singularity since there is another T moving towards it, which near the boundary, where $T = \overline{T}$ this is like a \overline{T} moving towards it and then we have a nontrivial OPE. From purely UHP point of view, this looks like an interaction with the boundary itself, that is with boundary fields. These boundary fields can be organised into irreps of the reduced symmetry algebra on the boundary, for example we have only chiral fields living at the boundary since only one half of the Virasoro algebra remains. In general because of the reduced symmetry, the boundary operator content can look quite different from the bulk. We write the state space of the boundary theory as $\mathcal{H}_a = \bigoplus_i n_a^i \mathcal{H}_i$, where the leftover symmetry algebra irreps \mathcal{H}_i in general occur with nontrivial multiplicities n_a^i .

The interaction of bulk with boundary fields can be locally summarised by the *bulk-boundary OPE*

$$\phi_i(z,\bar{z}) \sim \sum_j B^a_{ij}(2y)^{h_j - \Delta_i} V_j(x)$$
 (3.20)

where B_{ij}^a is a bulk-boundary structure constant and z = x + iy. From now on we also deploy the convention that we write bulk fields as ϕ and boundary fields as V. This is so because the machinery built in (2), where we usually write V, often purely chiral for simplicity, translates to purely chiral fields on the boundary that we'll encounter more than bulk fields from now on.

Since the boundary theory is also a CFT, a fundamental role is played by the *boundary* OPE

$$V_i(x_1)V_j(x_2) \sim \sum_k C^a_{ijk} |x_{12}|^{h_k - h_i - h_j} V_k(x_2),$$
 (3.21)

with C^a_{ijk} being a *boundary structure constant*. On the UHP we have the correlators of a chiral field

$$\langle V_i(x_1)V_j(x_2)\rangle_{UHP} = \frac{\langle 1\rangle_a \delta_{ij}}{x_{12}^{2h}}$$
(3.22)

and

$$\langle V_i(x_1)V_j(x_2)V_k(x_3)\rangle_{UHP} = \frac{\langle 1\rangle_a C^a_{ijk}}{x_{12}^{h_k - h_i - h_j} x_{13}^{h_j - h_i - h_k} x_{23}^{h_i - h_j - h_k}}$$
(3.23)

From (3.20) and (3.22), we can very simply derive by approaching the boundary the form of the UHP bulk-boundary two-point function on the UHP

$$\langle \phi_i(z,\bar{z})V_j(r)\rangle_{UHP} = \frac{\langle 1\rangle_a B^a_{ij}}{(2y)^{\Delta_i - h_j}((x-r)^2 + y^2)^{h_j}}$$
 (3.24)

for z = x + iy.

Boundary fields living on a given boundary can be generalised to the so-called *boundary condition changing operators* (BCCOs). The motivation to consider this generalisation comes from studying BCFT on an infinite strip, which we position parallel to the real axis and give it height π . On this strip, nothing prevents us from having different boundary conditions on its two sides. Mapping this strip with coordinate w back to the UHP via $z = e^w$, we find that its two ends get mapped to the negative and positive real semi-lines respectively. After the mapping, we see two boundary conditions meet at the origin z = 0 and this produces a singularity. This singularity is a signal of the presence of a BCCO V^{ab} , which can be thought of as changing the boundary condition a to b. The generalised boundary Hilbert space is then $\mathcal{H}_{ab} = \bigoplus_i n_{ab}^i \mathcal{H}_i$ with the a = b diagonal terms corresponding to the original \mathcal{H}_a and the most singular $|i\rangle$ for which $n_{ab}^i \neq 0$ is the BCCO. We note that in \mathcal{H}_{ab} for $a \neq b$ we don't have the vacuum $|0\rangle$ since this would correspond to

a smooth transition between a and b. The generalised OPEs of BCCOs have the form

$$V_i^{ab}(x_1)V_j^{cd}(x_2) \sim \sum_k \delta_{b,c} C_{ijk}^{abc} x_{12}^{h_k - h_i - h_j} V_k^{ad}$$
(3.25)

with the $\delta_{b,c}$ being there for consistency since BCCOs have to fit together. The boundary condition index structure is similar to matrix multiplication and plays an important role in string theory, where it enables one to associate *Chan-Paton factors* to open string endpoints and in result produce gauge symmetries in the effective theory of open strings.

3.3 Cardy conditions and Cardy states

Let us begin by considering the cylinder partition function of the boundary theory

$$Z_{ab}(\tilde{q}) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{ab}} e^{-\frac{2\pi T}{L}H_{ab}} = \sum_{i} n^{i}_{ab} \chi_{i}(\tilde{q}), \qquad (3.26)$$

where we write $\tilde{q} \equiv e^{-\frac{2\pi T}{L}}$ with L being the length of the cylinder and T measuring its circumference. The χ_i is a character of \mathcal{H}_i , which occurs with multiplicity n_{ab}^i due to definition of \mathcal{H}_{ab} . The same partition function can be calculated by putting the boundary states $||B_a\rangle\rangle$ and $||B_b\rangle\rangle$ on the cylinder ends and evolving for a time L via a bulk hamiltonian H. This amount to swapping the space and time directions and after writing $\tau \equiv i\frac{L}{T}$ corresponds to the modular transformation $\tau \to -\frac{1}{\tau}$. One can then write $\tilde{q} = e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{\tau}}$ and $q = e^{2\pi i \tau}$, after which

$$Z_{ab}(\tilde{q}) = \langle\!\langle B_a \| e^{-\frac{2\pi L}{T}H} \| B_b \rangle\!\rangle = \sum_i B_a^{i*} B_b^i \chi_i(q), \qquad (3.27)$$

where we expanded the boundary state into Ishibashi states and used a normalisation of the highly non-normalisable Ishibashi states of the form

$$\langle\!\langle i \| e^{-\frac{2\pi L}{T}} \| j \rangle\!\rangle = \delta_{ij} \chi_i(q) \tag{3.28}$$

This normalisation is possible thanks to the damping factor inserted in between. In CFTs with a finite number of conformal families (*rational* CFTs), the characters transform linearly under the modular transform $\tau \to -\frac{1}{\tau}$, that is they get multiplied by a symmetric and unitary *S*-matrix

$$\chi_i(q) = \sum_j S_{ij}\chi_j(\tilde{q}) \tag{3.29}$$

Inserting this into (3.27) and equating (3.26) with (3.27), one easily finds the Cardy conditions

$$n_{ab}^{i} = \sum_{j} B_{a}^{j*} B_{b}^{j} S_{ij}, \qquad (3.30)$$

which gives the boundary field operator content after knowing the boundary state and the S-matrix. Multiplying (3.30) with an S from the right gives

$$B_a^{i*}B_b^i = \sum_j n_{ab}^j S_{ij} \tag{3.31}$$

thanks to the unitarity of S. Since $n_{ab}^i \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we see from both (3.30) and (3.31) that the boundary state is highly restricted by the Cardy conditions. The Cardy conditions implies that one cannot just scale the boundary state at will, one can only scale it by an integer. The boundary states solving (3.30) thus form a positive cone of a lattice, meaning that one can take positive integer combinations of the solutions of (3.30) to obtain another solution. One can ask whether there is a sort of basis in this lattice, which generates all other solutions by the positive integer combinations and indeed such a basis is believed to be characterised by

$$\sum_{a} B_a^{i*} B_a^j = \frac{\delta_{ij}}{S_{0i}} \tag{3.32}$$

where the S_{0i} is unique by the uniqueness of $|0\rangle$. Using this relation, one can find an algebra that the multiplicities n_{ab}^i obey thanks to the Verlinde formula [71]

$$N_{ij}^{k} = \sum_{m} \frac{S_{km}^{*} S_{im} S_{jm}}{S_{0m}},$$
(3.33)

where the $N^k_{\ ij}$ are the fusion rules (2.176). It enables us to carry out the computation

$$\sum_{b} n_{ab}^{i} n_{bc}^{j} = \sum_{b} \sum_{lm} B_{a}^{l*} B_{b}^{l} S_{il} B_{b}^{m*} B_{c}^{m} S_{jm}$$

$$= \sum_{lm} \delta_{lm} B_{a}^{l*} B_{c}^{m} \frac{S_{il} S_{jm}}{S_{0l}}$$

$$= \sum_{l} B_{a}^{l*} B_{c}^{l} \frac{S_{il} S_{jl}}{S_{0l}}$$

$$= \sum_{lkm} B_{a}^{l*} B_{c}^{l} S_{kl} \frac{S_{km}^{*} S_{im} S_{jm}}{S_{0m}}$$

$$= \sum_{km} n_{ac}^{k} S_{km}^{*} S_{0m} S_{im} S_{jm}$$

$$= \sum_{k} n_{ac}^{k} N_{ij}^{k},$$

meaning that the multiplicities n_{ab}^i form a representation of a fusion algebra, called the *non-negative integer matrix representation* (NIM-rep). It is suggestive that there should be theories with the n_{ab}^i being the fusion coefficients. Using (3.33) in (3.30), one sees that such a choice of a NIM-rep indicates the form of the boundary state

$$\|B_i\rangle\rangle = \sum_j \frac{S_{ij}}{\sqrt{S_{0j}}} \|j\rangle\rangle, \qquad (3.34)$$

meaning that there would be as many boundary conditions as there are irreps in the CFT. It indeed turns out [60] that (3.34) provides the lattice basis for diagonal rational CFTs and the states (3.34) are called *Cardy states*. A special case occurs in the minimal models \mathcal{M}_m , see (2.8.1), where boundary conditions are given by Kac labels (a_1, a_2) such that $1 \leq a_1 \leq m$ and $1 \leq a_2 \leq m + 1$, labelling the chiral representations. The resulting states are given by the formula

$$||a_1, a_2\rangle\rangle = \sum_{(r,s)} \frac{S_{(a_1, a_2)(r,s)}}{\sqrt{S_{(1,1)(r,s)}}} ||r, s\rangle\rangle,$$
 (3.35)

where in the minimal models, the S-matrix has the explicit form

$$S_{(r,s)(r',s')} = \sqrt{\frac{8}{m(m+1)}} (-1)^{1+rs'+sr'} \sin\left(\pi \frac{m+1}{m} rr'\right) \sin\left(\pi \frac{m+1}{m} ss'\right)$$
(3.36)

For example, this allows us to write all boundary states of the critical two-dimensional Ising with m = 3

$$\left\|B_{(1,1)}\right\rangle \equiv \left\|+\right\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left\|1\right\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left\|\epsilon\right\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left\|\sigma\right\rangle$$
(3.37)

$$\left| B_{(1,3)} \right\rangle \equiv \left| \left| - \right\rangle \right\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left| \left| 1 \right\rangle \right\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left| \left| \epsilon \right\rangle \right\rangle - \frac{1}{\sqrt[4]{2}} \left| \left| \sigma \right\rangle \right\rangle$$
(3.38)

$$||B_{(2,2)}\rangle\rangle \equiv ||f\rangle\rangle = ||1\rangle\rangle - ||\epsilon\rangle\rangle$$
(3.39)

The boundary states (3.37) and (3.38) are identified as the boundary conditions with all spins up or down since they differ only by a sign in front of an $\|\sigma\rangle$. The third boundary state (3.39) is then interpreted as a free boundary condition since it doesn't contain a $\|\sigma\rangle$. From the primary OPEs, one can read off the fusion coefficients and thus the boundary operator content. It can be summarised by stating that on all three boundary conditions a 1 can live and in fact it is the only operator on $\|+\rangle$ and $\|-\rangle$. On $\|f\rangle$ we also have an ϵ .

3.4 Boundary entropy

The partition function (3.27) can be thought of as a partition function of a one-dimensional quantum system on an interval of length $2\pi L$ at inverse temperature $T \equiv \beta$ (remember, T here is time, not temperature). In the thermodynamic limit of $\frac{2\pi L}{\beta}$ large, the ground state $|0\rangle$ gives a dominant contribution, so that

$$Z_{ab} \sim \langle\!\langle B_a \| 0 \rangle \langle 0 \| B_b \rangle\!\rangle e^{\frac{\pi c L}{12\beta}}, \qquad (3.40)$$

where we assumed that the ground state energy is zero and used the form of the cylinder Hamiltonian (2.99). The free energy is then given by

$$F_{ab} = -\beta^{-1} \ln Z_{ab} \sim -\beta^{-1} \left(\frac{\pi cL}{12\beta} + \ln \left\langle \! \left\langle B_a \right\| 0 \right\rangle + \ln \left\langle 0 \left\| B_b \right\rangle \! \right\rangle \right), \tag{3.41}$$

so that the entropy is

$$S_{ab} = \beta^2 \frac{\partial F_{ab}}{\partial \beta} \sim \frac{\pi c L}{6\beta} + \ln \left\langle \! \left\langle B_a \right\| 0 \right\rangle + \ln \left\langle 0 \left\| B_b \right\rangle \! \right\rangle, \qquad (3.42)$$

where apart from the extensive contribution $\frac{\pi cL}{6\beta}$, one finds a universal contribution of the zero-temperature *boundary entropies* $\ln\langle 0 || B_a \rangle\rangle$ and $\ln\langle 0 || B_b \rangle\rangle$ (the phase of $|0\rangle$ is chosen so that $\langle 0 || B_a \rangle\rangle \in \mathbb{R}_+$). These boundary entropies can be interpreted as logarithms of the ground state degeneracy

$$g_a \equiv \langle 0 \| B_a \rangle \rangle, \qquad (3.43)$$

called the g-function, so that the boundary entropy associated with a given boundary condition is $S_a = \ln g_a$. We note that these ground state degeneracies do not have to be integers a priori. The equation (3.43) means that the g-functions are disc (the cylinder has a disc on each end) one-point functions of the identity operator in the presence of a or equivalently the coefficients of the identity in B_a . In diagonal rational CFTs, we have

$$g_i = \frac{S_{i0}}{\sqrt{S_{00}}},\tag{3.44}$$

which becomes explicit for the minimal models

$$g_{(a_1,a_2)} = \left(\frac{8}{m(m+1)}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \frac{\sin\left(\frac{\pi a_1}{m}\right)\sin\left(\frac{\pi a_2}{m+1}\right)}{\left(\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{m}\right)\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{m+1}\right)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$
(3.45)

For the Ising this gives $g_{(1,1)} = g_+ = g_{(1,3)} = g_- = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ and $g_{(2,2)} = g_f = 1$ as can be read off from (3.37)-(3.39). From (3.31) and (3.44), one reads off

$$g_i g_j = \sum_k n_{ij}^k S_{0k} = \sqrt{S_{00}} \sum_k n_{ij}^k g_k \tag{3.46}$$

This means that for example in the Ising we have

$$g_{+}g_{-} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}g_{-}$$

$$g_{+}g_{f} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}g_{f}$$

$$g_{-}g_{f} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}g_{f}$$

$$g_{+}g_{+} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}g_{+}$$

$$g_{-}g_{-} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}g_{+}$$

$$g_{f}g_{f} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(g_{+} + g_{-})$$

as can be verified from the values of the Ising *g*-functions (see the Ising fusion rules in (2.8.1) to read off the fusion coefficients and we also note that $S_{00} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ for the Ising).

3.5 Boundary conformal perturbation theory

Let us consider a setup, where we deform the boundary theory by boundary operators inserted along the unit disc boundary, that is $S_{boundary} \rightarrow S_{boundary} + \sum_i \lambda_i \int d\theta V_i$ and observe an RG flow of the boundary condition. Immediately we see that the beta-function can be obtained for free from the bulk result by replacing (for dimensional reasons) $a^2 \rightarrow a$ and the annulus area $2\pi a^2 dt \rightarrow 2adt$ in the procedure that lead to (2.143). After adding an appropriate boundary index a, it is easy to see that this results in the leading order beta-function

$$\beta_k^a(\lambda) = (1 - h_k)\lambda_k - \sum_{ij} C^a_{ijk}\lambda_i\lambda_j + \ldots = y_k\lambda_k - \sum_{ij} C^a_{ijk}\lambda_i\lambda_j, \qquad (3.47)$$

so that for a deformation by a single operator V, we have the fixed point coupling

$$\lambda_* = \frac{y}{C_{VVV}^a} + O(y^2) \tag{3.48}$$

Now we try to reproduce the leading order shift in the g-function after perturbing with a single V, first calculated by Affleck and Ludwig [63]. To do so, we compute the leading order shift in the one-point function of the identity on a disc and for this purpose, we reintroduce the cutoff ainto the coupling, so that we write the deformation as $a^{h-1}\lambda \int d\theta V$. Since $g_{a'} = \langle \mathbb{1} \rangle_{a'} = \langle \mathbb{1} e^{-S_{boundary} - a^{h-1}\lambda \int d\theta V} \rangle_a$, we have for the shift Δg_a in the g-function when flowing from the boundary condition a to a' the equation

$$\Delta g_a = -a^{h-1} \lambda \int \mathrm{d}\theta \, \langle V(\theta) \rangle_a \tag{3.49}$$

$$+\frac{1}{2!}a^{2(h-1)}\lambda^2 \int \mathrm{d}\theta_1 \mathrm{d}\theta_2 \langle V(\theta_1)V(\theta_2)\rangle_a \tag{3.50}$$

$$-\frac{1}{3!}a^{3(h-1)}\lambda^3 \int d\theta_1 d\theta_2 d\theta_3 \langle V(\theta_1)V(\theta_2)V(\theta_3)\rangle_a + \dots \quad (3.51)$$

The contribution (3.49) vanishes since in the boundary theory, one has $\langle V \rangle_a = 0$ for all $V \neq 1$. The other correlators on the disc are given by transforming (3.22) and (3.23) to the disc by $f(w) = i \frac{1-w}{1+w}$

$$\langle V(\theta_1)V(\theta_2)\rangle_a = g_a \left| 2\sin\frac{\theta_{12}}{2} \right|^{-2h}$$
 (3.52)

$$\langle V(\theta_1)V(\theta_2)V(\theta_3)\rangle_a = g_a C^a_{VVV} \left| 8\sin\frac{\theta_{12}}{2}\sin\frac{\theta_{13}}{2}\sin\frac{\theta_{23}}{2} \right|^{-h}$$
(3.53)

Expanding the correlator (3.52) in y, we have

$$\langle V(\theta_1)V(\theta_2)\rangle_a \sim g_a \left| 2\sin\frac{\theta_{12}}{2} \right|^{-2} + g_a \frac{\ln\left|2\sin\frac{\theta_{12}}{2}\right|}{2\left|\sin\frac{\theta_{12}}{2}\right|} y + O(y^2)$$
(3.54)

and similarly (3.53) gives

$$\langle V(\theta_1)V(\theta_2)V(\theta_3)\rangle_a = g_a C^a_{VVV} \left| 8\sin\frac{\theta_{12}}{2}\sin\frac{\theta_{13}}{2}\sin\frac{\theta_{23}}{2} \right|^{-1} + O(y), \quad (3.55)$$

where we only needed to expand to zeroth order. To evaluate (3.50), we need to calculate an integral by substituting $\theta_1 \rightarrow \theta_1, \theta_1 - \theta_2 \rightarrow \theta$ and using the fact that θ_1 and θ_2 are separated by at least the cutoff a, we have

$$\int d\theta_1 d\theta_2 \left| 2\sin\frac{\theta_{12}}{2} \right|^{-2h} = \frac{\pi}{2} \int_a^{2\pi-a} d\theta \left(\sin^{-2}\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) + 2\frac{\ln\left(2\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)}{\sin\frac{\theta}{2}}y \right) + O(y^2)$$
$$= \frac{4\pi}{a} + \left(\frac{32\pi(1+\ln a)}{a} - 2\pi^2\right)y + O(a,y^2) \quad (3.56)$$

For the contribution (3.51), we need to evaluate the integral

$$\int d\theta_1 d\theta_2 d\theta_3 \left| 8 \sin \frac{\theta_{12}}{2} \sin \frac{\theta_{13}}{2} \sin \frac{\theta_{23}}{2} \right|^{-h} = \int d\theta_1 d\theta_2 d\theta_3 \left| 8 \sin \frac{\theta_{12}}{2} \sin \frac{\theta_{13}}{2} \sin \frac{\theta_{23}}{2} \right|^{-1} + O(y)$$
(3.57)

by substitution $\theta_{13} \to \theta_1, \theta_{23} \to \theta_2, \theta_3 \to \theta_3$ and trivially integrating over θ_3 to get 2π . After doing so, we observe a residual permutation symmetry on θ_1 and θ_2 giving an extra factor of 2, after which

$$\int d\theta_1 d\theta_2 d\theta_3 \left| 8 \sin \frac{\theta_{12}}{2} \sin \frac{\theta_{13}}{2} \sin \frac{\theta_{23}}{2} \right|^{-1} = 4\pi \int_0^{2\pi} d\theta_1 \int_0^{\theta_1} d\theta_2 \left| 8 \sin \frac{\theta_{12}}{2} \sin \frac{\theta_1}{2} \sin \frac{\theta_2}{2} \right|^{-1} = \pi \int_0^{2\pi} d\theta_1 \left[\frac{\ln \sin \frac{\theta_2}{2} - \ln \sin \frac{\theta_{12}}{2}}{\sin^2 \frac{\theta_1}{2}} \right]_{\theta_2 \to 0}^{\theta_2 \to \theta_1}$$
(3.58)

We choose to apply the cut-off on both bounds, this somewhat arbitrary choice (we could impose a cut-off only on the divergent terms) changes only cut-off dependent terms

$$\pi \int_{0}^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\theta_{1} \left[\frac{\ln \sin \frac{\theta_{2}}{2} - \ln \sin \frac{\theta_{12}}{2}}{\sin^{2} \frac{\theta_{1}}{2}} \right]_{\theta_{2} \to a}^{\theta_{2} \to a} =$$

$$\pi \int_{a}^{2\pi - a} \mathrm{d}\theta_{1} \csc^{2} \left(\frac{\theta_{1}}{2} \right) \left(\ln \left(-\sin \left(\frac{a - \theta_{1}}{2} \right) \right) + \ln \left(\sin \left(\frac{a - \theta_{1}}{2} \right) \right) - \ln \left(-\sin \frac{a}{2} \right) - \ln \left(\sin \frac{a}{2} \right) \right) =$$

$$\frac{4\pi \left(\ln(-a) - \ln \left(-\frac{a}{2} \right) + 3\ln(2) \right)}{a} - 4\pi^{2} + O(a) \qquad (3.59)$$

Adding (3.58) with (3.59) together with appropriate prefactors as in (3.52) and (3.53) gives the universal cut-off independent contribution to the shift Δg_a at the leading order

$$\Delta g_a = g_a \left(1 - \pi^2 \lambda^2 y - \frac{2\pi^2}{3} \lambda^3 C^a_{VVV} \right) + O(y^4), \qquad (3.60)$$

since no poles in y in structure constants occur, there are not further contributions at the leading order and thus (3.60) is exact. After plugging in the

fixed point coupling (3.48), we have the wanted result of Affleck and Ludwig

$$\frac{\Delta g_a}{g_a} = -\frac{\pi^2}{3} \frac{y^3}{\left(C_{VVV}^a\right)^2} + O(y^4) \tag{3.61}$$

An alternative form can be obtained from $e^x = 1 + x + \dots$

$$\Delta \ln g_a = -\frac{\pi^2}{3} \frac{y^3}{\left(C_{VVV}^a\right)^2} + O(y^4)$$
(3.62)

From the form of (3.61), we see that an analogue of the *c*-theorem holds perturbatively for *g* (compare with (2.163)) as well. This is known as the perturbative *g*-theorem. Affleck and Ludwig conjectured that it also holds nonperturbatively [63], which was proved by Friedan and Konechny [64], see also [72]. Physically this can be interpreted as saying that when going to IR, we see more and more gaps in the spectrum since they appear larger and larger compared to our scale and these gaps remove degeneracies.

One can also obtain the leading order correction ΔB_a^{ϕ} to an arbitrary boundary state coefficient of $\|\phi\rangle \neq \|1\rangle$. To do so, we compute the perturbed one-point function of a bulk insertion at the center of a disc r = 0. The generic form of the one-point function of a bulk insertion on a unit disc is easily read off from the bulk-boundary OPE (3.20) and going to disc coordinates via the previously used f

$$\langle \phi(r,\theta) \rangle_a = \frac{g_a B^a_{\phi \mathbb{1}}}{(1-r^2)^{\Delta}},\tag{3.63}$$

so that

$$\langle \phi(0) \rangle_a = g_a B^a_{\phi \mathbb{1}} = B^\phi_a, \qquad (3.64)$$

where we used [56]

$$B^a_{\phi \mathbb{1}} = \frac{B^{\phi}_a}{g_a} \tag{3.65}$$

Now we just need to compute

$$B_{a'}^{\phi} = B_a^{\phi} - a^{h-1}\lambda \int \mathrm{d}\theta \,\langle\phi(0)V(\theta)\rangle_a + \dots$$
(3.66)

Transforming (3.24) to the unit disc, we have [61]

$$\langle \phi(r,\theta_1)V(\theta_2) \rangle_a = B^a_{\phi V} g_a (1-r^2)^{-\Delta} \left(\frac{1-r^2}{1-2r\cos\theta_{12}+r^2}\right)^h$$
 (3.67)

so that

$$\langle \phi(0)V(\theta)\rangle_a = B^a_{\phi V}g_a \tag{3.68}$$

This makes the angular integration trivial so it simply gives 2π , leading to (the term depending on the cut-off gets absorbed into the higher order contributions)

$$B_{a'}^{\phi} = B_a^{\phi} - 2\pi\lambda B_{\phi V}^a g_a + \dots$$
(3.69)

so that we have

$$\frac{\Delta B_a^{\phi}}{g_a} = -2\pi\lambda B_{\phi V}^a + \dots \tag{3.70}$$

After plugging in the fixed point coupling (3.48), we obtain the final result

$$\frac{\Delta B_a^{\phi}}{g_a} = -2\pi \frac{B_{\phi V}^a}{C_{VVV}^a} y + O(y^2)$$
(3.71)

consistent with the absence of a O(y) correction to g_a since $B^a_{1V} = 0$. We haven't found the result (3.71) in the CFT literature, but we shall confirm it using open string field theory (5.2.3).

To give an example of boundary RG flows, we investigate perturbations of pure Cardy boundary conditions $a = (a_1, a_2), a_2 > 1$ in the unitary minimal models \mathcal{M}_m for m large by the least relevant operator $V_{(1,3)} \equiv V$, see [65] and also [73] for a more general setup, where superpositions of Cardy boundary conditions are deformed. Following [65], we work with non-normalised twopoint functions in which there is an extra C^a_{VV1} in (3.62). Recall from (2.8.2) that for this deformation, we have $y = \frac{2}{m}$, so that from (3.62)

$$\Delta \ln g_a = -\frac{\pi^2}{3} \frac{C_{VV1}^a}{\left(C_{VVV}^a\right)^2} \frac{8}{m^3} + O\left(\frac{1}{m^4}\right)$$
(3.72)

The needed Runkel's structure constants [66] are given in [65] so that the authors obtain after expanding in $\frac{1}{m}$

$$\frac{C_{VV1}^a}{\left(C_{VVV}^a\right)^2} = \frac{1}{8}(a_2^2 - 1) + O\left(\frac{1}{m}\right)$$
(3.73)

for $a = (a_1, a_2)$. This gives

$$\Delta \ln g_a = -\frac{\pi^2}{3} (a_2^2 - 1) \frac{1}{m^3} + O\left(\frac{1}{m^4}\right)$$
(3.74)

Expanding the ratio of two g-functions g_a and g_b with $a = (a_1, a_2)$ and $b = (b_1, b_2)$ given by (3.45), one has

$$\ln \frac{g_b}{g_a} = \ln \frac{b_1 b_2}{a_1 a_2} + \frac{\pi^2}{6} (a_1^2 + a_2^2 - b_1^2 - b_2^2) \frac{1}{m^2} + \frac{\pi^2}{3} (a_1^2 - b_1^2) \frac{1}{m^3} + O\left(\frac{1}{m^4}\right), \quad (3.75)$$

so that comparing with (3.74), we must have

$$a_1 a_2 = b_1 b_2 \tag{3.76}$$

$$a_1^2 + a_2^2 = b_1^2 + b_2^2 (3.77)$$

$$b_1^2 - a_1^2 = a_2^2 - 1 (3.78)$$

This has a pure Cardy state solution for $a_1 = 1$ given by a flow $a = (1, r) \rightarrow b = (r, 1)$. To obtain flows from more general boundary conditions, one needs to consider superposition $\sum_k b^k = \sum_k (b_1^k, b_2^k)$ of Cardy states in the IR. Then one has for the superposition g-function g_{sup}

$$\ln \frac{g_{sup}}{g_a} = \ln \sigma + \frac{\pi^2}{6} \Big(a_1^2 + a_2^2 - \sum_k \frac{s_k}{\sigma} ((b_1^k)^2 + (b_2^k)^2) \Big) \frac{1}{m^2} + \frac{\pi^2}{3} \Big(a_1^2 - \sum_k \frac{s_k}{\sigma} (b_1^k)^2 \Big) \frac{1}{m^3} + O\Big(\frac{1}{m^4}\Big),$$
(3.79)

where $s_k \equiv \frac{b_1^l b_2^l}{a_1 a_2}$ and $\sigma \equiv \sum_k s_k$. Again comparing with (3.74), we have

$$\sigma = 1 \tag{3.80}$$

$$\sum_{k} s_k \Big((b_1^k)^2 + (b_2^k)^2 \Big) = a_1^2 + a_2^2$$
(3.81)

$$\sum_{k} s_k (b_2^k)^2 = 1 \tag{3.82}$$

From these one reads off that necessarily $b_2^k = 1$ so the final boundary state is a superposition of Cardy states $b^k = (b_1^k, 1)$. One can confirm that the superposition of the form $b^k = (b_1^k, 1)$ with $b_1^k = a_1 + a_2 + 1 - 2k$ for $k = 1, \ldots, \min(a_1, a_2)$ is a generic solution. There exist other non-generic solutions, but their number gets reduced by studying shifts of other boundary state coefficients or possibly going to higher order. In summary, we have identified the perturbative flow

$$a = (a_1, a_2) \to b = \bigoplus_{k=1}^{\min(a_1, a_2)} (a_1 + a_2 + 1 - 2k, 1)$$
 (3.83)

from a pure Cardy state in the UV to a superposition of Cardy states in the IR.

Chapter 4

Open string field theory

Open string field theory (OSFT) [74] is a theory of conformal boundary conditions. A major impetus for the development of OSFT was to obtain an understanding of nonperturbative phenomena in string theory, such as tachyon condensation [75, 76]. There has been a lot of numerical progress in this direction [77, 78, 79, 80], see also the thesis [81] for the state of the art. An analytic solution to OSFT EOMs describing tachyon condensation was found by Schnabl [82] by observing that the star product behaves supraadditively in a basis of wedge states [78, 83] with local operator insertions. This solution initiated a flurry of analytic work [84, 85, 86, 87, 88, 89, 90], see the reviews [91, 92, 93] (we draw mostly from [91]) and the textbook [33] for a broader exposition. In this thesis we are mostly interested in applications of perturbative analytic methods [85, 86, 94, 95] to BCFT. For applications of OSFT to BCFT a major milestone is the KMS correspondence [96] building on the work of [97, 98, 99]. It enables one to search for new boundary states using OSFT [100, 101, 81, 95, 102], sometimes this may even inspire one to find the exact boundary state [103, 104].

4.1 Hilbert space

OSFT is formulated in the BCFT Hilbert space $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_m \otimes \mathcal{H}_{gh}$, where \mathcal{H}_m is a matter Hilbert space of a $c_m = 26$ BCFT and \mathcal{H}_{gh} is a ghost Hilbert space of a BCFT corresponding to the *bc*-ghost system (2.8.4) of central charge $c_{gh} = -26$ in the bulk. Since one is not always interested in the $c_m = 26$ BCFT itself a further decomposition of $\mathcal{H}_m = \mathcal{H}_{m_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{m_2}$ so that $c_{m_1} + c_{m_2} = 26$ is often done. The boundary condition on ghosts is the trivial one

$$b(x) = b(x) \tag{4.1}$$

$$c(x) = \bar{c}(x), \qquad (4.2)$$

for $x \in \mathbb{R}$, so that the doubling trick can be used in exactly the same way as for T, see (3.2). The ghost Hilbert space naturally provides a gradation to \mathcal{H} because b and c are anticommuting. In bosonic theories, we then have for elements of \mathcal{H}

Grassmann parity = ghost number mod 2,

with Grassmann parity 1 and 0 meaning anticommuting and commuting respectively. The Grassmann parity of A being denoted as |A|. The total product BCFT has central charge 0 as required for the vanishing of the conformal anomaly (2.100). This means that the total stress tensor $T = T^m + T^{gh}$ is a primary of weight 2. Such a product structure arises in bosonic string theory after fixing reparametrisation invariance playing the role of a gauge symmetry. After this gauge fixing, a residual symmetry remains and that is *BRST symmetry*, which is generated by a ghost number 1 holomorphic current

$$j_B(z) = cT^m(z) + :bc\partial c: (z) + \frac{3}{2}\partial^2 c(z)$$
(4.3)

with its antiholomorphic counterpart and on the real axis we again have trivial gluing so that using the doubling trick, we may write a *BRST charge*

$$Q = \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} j_B(z) \tag{4.4}$$

It is a very rewarding exercise to show that Q is nilpotent, meaning $Q^2 = 0$, if and only if $c_m = 26$. One may compute BRST variations of local operators by surrounding them with the contour from (4.4)

$$QV(x) = \oint_x \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} j_B(z) V(x) \tag{4.5}$$

By employing the appropriate OPEs, one can show that

$$Qb(z) = T(z) \tag{4.6}$$

$$QT(z) = 0 \tag{4.7}$$

$$Qc(z) = c\partial c(z) \tag{4.8}$$

$$QV(z) = c\partial V(z) + h\partial cV(z), \qquad (4.9)$$

where V is a weight h matter primary. We note that (4.6) readily implies the very important anticommutator

$$\{Q, b_n\} = L_n \tag{4.10}$$

We see that the action of Q doesn't change the conformal dimension, but shifts the ghost number by a +1. The BRST charge obeys the graded Leibniz rule $Q(AB) = (QA)B + (-1)^{|A|}A(QB)$, so that

$$Q(cV)(z) = c\partial cV(z) - c^2 \partial V(z) - hc \partial cV(z) = (1-h)c \partial cV(z), \quad (4.11)$$

where we used $c^2 = 0$.

The total Hilbert space \mathcal{H} naturally comes endowed with a physical structure so that we call a ghost number 1 state $|\Psi\rangle$ such that $Q |\Psi\rangle = 0$ a physical state. We say that this state is *BRST closed*. We observe that since $Q^2 = 0$, BRST closed states are defined only up to a *BRST exact* state $Q |\Lambda\rangle$, such that we have the physical equivalence

$$|\Psi\rangle \sim |\Psi\rangle + Q |\Lambda\rangle \tag{4.12}$$

This BRST exact state is trivially closed and so the space of physically distinct nontrivially closed physical states is the *cohomology* of Q at ghost number 1, that is the space

$$H^1(Q) = \{|\Psi\rangle : Q |\Psi\rangle = 0\} / \sim \tag{4.13}$$

where we mod by the physical equivalence (4.12). After using the stateoperator correspondence, an example of a physical state would be $|\Psi\rangle = cV |0\rangle$ for V marginal since (4.11) holds. The state-operator correspondence also justifies calling the $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$ as *string fields* since they correspond to fluctuation fields of the conformal boundary condition (for example fluctuations fields of a D-brane when \mathcal{H}_m is the free boson, see (3.1) for the definition of D-branes). To emphasize the fluctuation nature of $|\Psi\rangle$, we often drop the ket.

To justify the nomenclature for physical fields, we Fourier expand the string field on a Dp-brane up to level k^2 (see [91, 92, 33] for details on the following computations)

$$\Psi = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{p+1}k}{(2\pi)^{p+1}} \left[T(k)c_1 + A_{\mu}(k)\alpha_{-1}^{\mu}c_1 + \phi_a(k)\alpha_{-1}^a c_1 + \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}}\beta(k)c_0 + \dots \right] |k_{\mu}\rangle,$$
(4.14)

where the $|k_{\mu}\rangle$ is a tensor product of the vertex operators V_k acting on $b_{-1} |0, \downarrow\rangle$ with $\mu = 1, \ldots, p, a = 1, \ldots, 25 - p$. Then we want to extract EOMs for the fluctuation fields in momentum space by imposing $Q\Psi = 0$. To do so, one expands Q in modes

$$Q = c_0 L_0 - b_0 M + \hat{Q} \tag{4.15}$$

with

$$\hat{Q} = \sum_{m \neq 0} c_{-m} L_m^m - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{m,n \neq 0 \\ m+n \neq 0}} (m-n) : c_{-m} c_{-n} b_{m+n} :$$
(4.16)

$$M = \sum_{m \neq 0} mc_{-m}c_m \tag{4.17}$$

Up to higher level contributions, one can truncate $M \to 2c_{-1}c_1$, $\hat{Q} \to c_1L_{-1}^m + c_{-1}L_1^m$ and $L_1^m \to \alpha_0\alpha_1$, $L_{-1}^m \to \alpha_0\alpha_{-1}$. The result are the position space EOMs

$$(\partial^2 + 1)T = 0 (4.18)$$

$$\partial^2 A_\mu - \partial_\mu \beta = 0 \tag{4.19}$$

$$\partial^2 \phi_a = 0 \tag{4.20}$$

$$\beta - \partial \cdot A = 0, \qquad (4.21)$$

from which we see for example Maxwell's equations

$$\partial^2 A_{\mu} - \partial_{\mu} \Big(\partial \cdot A \Big) = 0 \tag{4.22}$$

for the gauge potential A or the tachyonic massive Klein-Gordon equation with $m^2 = -1$ for the tachyon T and the massless Klein-Gordon equation for the fields ϕ_a , which get interpreted as giving the position of the D-brane. The tachyon T indicates an unstable direction of the *perturbative D-brane* $\Psi = 0$ with all fluctuation fields turned off (see the analogy with figure (1.2)). To see where the theory ends up after turning on such a tachyon is the problem of tachyon condensation in OSFT. The equivalence $\Psi \sim \Psi + Q\Lambda$ gets interpreted as gauge invariance since after expanding

$$\Lambda = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{p+1}k}{(2\pi)^{p+1}} \left[i\lambda(k) + \dots \right] |k_{\mu}\rangle \tag{4.23}$$

we can read off from the change of Ψ the equivalence relation of the momentum space fluctuation fields $T \sim T$, $A_{\mu} \sim A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\lambda$, $\phi_a \sim \phi_a$, $\beta \sim \beta + \partial^2 \lambda$, which gives the expected gauge transformation properties.

By having chosen the BCFT on which we formulate OSFT, we have lost manifest background independence. However, we can see that Ψ contains an infinite tower of fields, which often have nontrivial gauge transformation properties despite being massive (for example β). This means that we expect a massive redundance in our description, which gives us hope that with so many DOFs, we can make them rearrange themselves to DOFs of any other BCFT consistent with a given CFT by an appropriate dynamical principle. It is akin to being given Einstein's equations evaluated on $g \equiv \eta + h$, being told that h = 0 is a solution and wanting to prove that the resulting theory actually describes much more than linearised fluctuations around a Minkowski background. Miraculously, such a proof for OSFT is given by the Erler-Maccaferri solution [89, 90], which given two BCFTs with the same bulk CFT, establishes a connection within OSFT formulated on one of them. In particular it implies that OSFT can go against the RG flow and find boundary conditions of higher g-functions.

Apart from \mathbb{Z}_2 gradatation and the physical structure, the OSFT Hilbert space carries a real structure. To show this, we first define the *BPZ product*

$$\langle V_1, V_2 \rangle \equiv \langle I(V_1(0))V_2(0) \rangle_{UHP}, \qquad (4.24)$$

where $I(z) = -\frac{1}{z}$ is an inversion, which moves a unit half-disc into its UHP complement. In this sense the BPZ product corresponds to the gluing of a unit half-disc to its complement, which gives a number. Since I^2 is the identity and I leaves the correlator invariant (it is a real Möbius transformation), one can show that

$$\langle V_1, V_2 \rangle = \langle I [I(V_1(0)) V_2(0)] \rangle_{UHP} = \langle V_1(0) I(V_2(0)) \rangle_{UHP} = (-1)^{|V_1||V_2|} \langle V_2, V_1 \rangle$$
 (4.25)

so that the BPZ product is graded symmetric. One can then define the BPZ conjugate V^* of an operator V by

$$\langle V_1, VV_2 \rangle = (-1)^{|V||V_1|} \langle V^* V_1, V_2 \rangle$$
 (4.26)

Extending BPZ conjugation from operators to states, we have $|V\rangle^* \equiv \langle V^*|$, so that

$$\langle V_1, V_2 \rangle = \langle V_1^* | V_2 \rangle \tag{4.27}$$

We will often suppress the star and simply write $\langle V_1 | V_2 \rangle$ by which we from now on mean the BPZ product and not the Hermitean product (unless stated otherwise). One should be careful about thinking of the BPZ product or of the Hermitean product as if they were inner products since in \mathcal{H} negative norm states exist (for \mathcal{H}_{gh} this is obvious since the theory is not unitary). Despite not being an inner product, the BPZ product is nondegenerate in the sense that if $\langle V_1, V_2 \rangle = 0$ for all V_2 , then $V_1 = 0$. BPZ conjugation can be shown to have the following properties

$$V^{\star\star} = V \tag{4.28}$$

$$(a_1V_1 + a_2V_2)^{\star} = a_1V_1^{\star} + a_2V_2^{\star}$$
(4.29)

$$(V_1 V_2)^{\star} = (-1)^{|V_1||V_2|} V_2^{\star} V_1^{\star}, \qquad (4.30)$$

with $a_1, a_2 \in \mathbb{C}$ so that $a^* = a, a \in \mathbb{C}$. Expanding V in modes, one can easily verify by performing an inversion that

$$V_n^{\star} = (-1)^{n+h} V_{-n}, \qquad (4.31)$$

which one can compare to $V_n^{\dagger} = V_{-n}$, see (2.4). After having defined BPZ conjugation, we can define the *reality conjugation* as

$$V^{\ddagger} = V^{\dagger \star}, \tag{4.32}$$

which has the properties

$$V^{\ddagger \ddagger} = V \tag{4.33}$$

$$(a_1V_1 + a_2V_2)^{\ddagger} = a_1^*V_1^{\ddagger} + a_2^*V_2^{\ddagger}$$
(4.34)

$$(V_1 V_2)^{\ddagger} = (-1)^{|V_1||V_2|} V_2^{\ddagger} V_1^{\ddagger}, \qquad (4.35)$$

as can be verified from the standard Hermitean conjugation properties

$$V^{\dagger\dagger} = V \tag{4.36}$$

$$(a_1V_1 + a_2V_2)^{\dagger} = a_1^*V_1^{\dagger} + a_2^*V_2^{\dagger}$$
(4.37)

$$(V_1 V_2)^{\dagger} = V_2^{\dagger} V_1^{\dagger}, \qquad (4.38)$$

together with the ones for BPZ conjugates. BPZ conjugation and Hermitean conjugation map \mathcal{H} into their respective dual spaces, but the reality conjugation maps $\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ so that it enables us to say which elements of \mathcal{H} we call real.

4.2 Interactions

One can see that the physical state condition $Q\Psi = 0$ arises from an action

$$S_0[\Psi] = -\frac{1}{2} \langle \Psi, Q\Psi \rangle, \qquad (4.39)$$

where Ψ is at ghost number 1 (as required for the nonvanishing BPZ product), by employing the usual variational techniques

$$\delta S_0 = -\frac{1}{2} \Big[\langle \delta \Psi, Q \Psi \rangle + \langle \Psi, Q \delta \Psi \rangle \Big] = -\frac{1}{2} \Big[\langle \delta \Psi, Q \Psi \rangle + \langle Q \Psi, \delta \Psi \rangle \Big] = -\langle \delta \Psi, Q \Psi \rangle, \qquad (4.40)$$

where by the nondegeneracy of the BPZ product, we conclude that $Q\Psi = 0$ and we also used $Q^* = -Q$ since its given by a zero mode of a h = 1 field, see (4.31) together with the gradation of the BPZ product. One also easily sees that the action (4.39) has a gauge invariance $\Psi \to \Psi + Q\Lambda$.
Now we would like to extend the action (4.39) off-shell in the sense that we also want to describe for example relevant deformations of boundary conditions, for which $h \neq 1$. This extension also has to follow the stringent condition of being able to consistently take string theory off-shell, see [105, 106]. Such an extension was found by Witten [74]

$$S[\Psi] = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}\{\Psi Q \Psi\} - \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{Tr}\{\Psi^3\}, \qquad (4.41)$$

where we have the following consistency conditions on the trace, $\Psi \in \mathcal{H}$ and Q, see [91],

1. Grading:

(a)
$$\operatorname{gh}(QV) = \operatorname{gh}(V) + 1$$

- (b) $gh(V_1V_2) = gh(V_1) + gh(V_2)$
- (c) $\operatorname{Tr}\{V\} = 0$ if $\operatorname{gh}(V) \neq 3$
- 2. Ghost number: $gh\Psi = 1$
- 3. Reality: $\Psi = \Psi^{\ddagger}$ with $\operatorname{Tr} \{\Psi^{\ddagger}\} = \operatorname{Tr} \{\Psi\}^*$
- 4. Nilpotency: $Q^2 = 0$
- 5. Derivation property: $Q(V_1V_2) = (QV_1)V_2 + (-1)^{|V_1|}V_1(QV_2)$
- 6. Associativity: $V_1(V_2V_3) = (V_1V_2)V_3$
- 7. Integration by parts: $Tr{QV} = 0$
- 8. Cyclicity: $\operatorname{Tr}\{V_1V_2\} = (-1)^{|V_1||V_2|} \operatorname{Tr}\{V_2V_1\}$
- 9. Nondegeneracy: If $Tr\{V_1V_2\} = 0$ for all V_2 , then $V_1 = 0$

With these conditions, the EOMs

$$Q\Psi + \Psi^2 = 0 \tag{4.42}$$

follow by doing the same procedure as for (4.39)

$$\delta S = -\langle \delta \Psi, Q\Psi \rangle - \frac{1}{3} \left(\langle \delta \Psi, \Psi^2 \rangle + \langle \Psi, \delta \Psi \Psi \rangle + \langle \Psi^2, \delta \Psi \rangle \right)$$

$$= -\langle \delta \Psi, Q\Psi \rangle - \langle \delta \Psi, \Psi^2 \rangle$$

$$= -\langle \delta \Psi, Q\Psi + \Psi^2 \rangle$$
(4.43)

The solutions to (4.42) represent other BCFTs with $\Psi = 0$ representing the perturbative vacuum, that is the BCFT on which our OSFT is formulated. One can show that

$$\delta \Psi = Q\Lambda + [\Psi, \Lambda] \tag{4.44}$$

is a gauge invariance for Λ at ghost number 0. We do so at the level of EOMs

$$\begin{split} \delta(Q\Psi + \Psi^2) &= Q(Q\Lambda + [\Psi, \Lambda]) + \Psi(Q\Lambda + [\Psi, \Lambda]) + (Q\Lambda + [\Psi, \Lambda])\Psi \\ &= Q(\Psi\Lambda - \Lambda\Psi) + \Psi(Q\Lambda + \Psi\Lambda - \Lambda\Psi) + (Q\Lambda + \Psi\Lambda - \Lambda\Psi)\Psi \\ &= Q(\Psi\Lambda - \Lambda\Psi) + \Psi(Q\Lambda + \Psi\Lambda - \Lambda\Psi) + (Q\Lambda + \Psi\Lambda - \Lambda\Psi)\Psi \\ &= Q(\Psi)\Lambda - \Psi Q(\Lambda) - Q(\Lambda)\Psi - \Lambda Q(\Psi) \\ &+ \Psi(Q\Lambda + \Psi\Lambda - \Lambda\Psi) + (Q\Lambda + \Psi\Lambda - \Lambda\Psi)\Psi \\ &= Q(\Psi)\Lambda - \Lambda Q(\Psi) + \Psi(\Psi\Lambda - \Lambda\Psi) + (\Psi\Lambda - \Lambda\Psi)\Psi \\ &= -\Psi^2\Lambda + \Lambda\Psi^2 + \Psi^2\Lambda - \Psi\Lambda\Psi + \Psi\Lambda\Psi - \Lambda\Psi^2 \\ &= 0 \end{split}$$
(4.45)

The reality condition on Ψ is imposed so that the action is real

$$S^{*} = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ (\Psi Q \Psi)^{\dagger} \right\} - \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ (\Psi^{3})^{\dagger} \right\}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ (Q \Psi)^{\dagger} \Psi^{\dagger} \right\} - \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ (\Psi^{\dagger})^{3} \right\}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ Q(\Psi^{\dagger}) \Psi \right\} - \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \Psi^{3} \right\}$$

$$= S \qquad (4.46)$$

One immediately sees that the two-vertex should be given by the BPZ product $\operatorname{Tr}\{\Psi Q\Psi\} = \langle \Psi, Q\Psi \rangle$ as in (4.39), but what about the three-vertex ? In order to define the three-vertex, we need to understand what state Ψ^2 is, since $\operatorname{Tr}\{\Psi^3\} = \langle \Psi^2, \Psi \rangle$. That is, we need to understand the *star product* of string fields (one sometimes writes $\Psi^2 = \Psi * \Psi$). These products can be given a not so practical functional integral definition, for which we represent the string field as a wave functional in the *Schrödinger representation* (we assume the matter sector to be a free boson) $\Psi[x(\sigma)]$ in which the string field is a function of the curve representing a string. Splitting the string into two halves $l(\sigma), r(\sigma)$ at the midpoint, we have $\Psi[x(\sigma)] = \Psi[l(\sigma), r(\sigma)]$. It is then easy to define the star product

$$V_1 V_2[l(\sigma), r(\sigma)] = \int \mathcal{D}w(\sigma) V_1[l(\sigma), w(\sigma)] V_2[w(\sigma), r(\sigma)], \qquad (4.47)$$

which represents the gluing of two strings along their halves. The trace is then

$$\operatorname{Ir}\{V\} = \int \mathcal{D}w(\sigma)V[w(\sigma), w(\sigma)], \qquad (4.48)$$

so that we glue the string onto itself by folding it at the midpoint.

This definition provides the right intuition but is too formal, we need a definition that uses the CFT data of \mathcal{H} . To do so, recall that when we represent a string field as an UHP BPZ in-state, we think of it as a half-disc with an insertion of an operator at the origin. This half-disc is easily split into left and right halves so that the midpoint is at *i*. Now we make a coordinate transformation from the half-disc with the coordinate ξ to the *sliver coordinate frame* with the coordinate

$$z = f_S(\xi) = \frac{2}{\pi} \arctan \xi \tag{4.49}$$

The image is then a semi-infinite vertical strip $\operatorname{Im} z \geq 0$ and $\operatorname{Re} z \in [-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}]$ with the origin getting mapped to z = 0 and the midpoint $\xi = i$ getting mapped to $i\infty$. Under this transformation we have the origin insertion mapped as $V(0) \to f_S \circ V(0)$. Since the left half gets mapped to $\operatorname{Re} z = \frac{1}{2}$ and the right half to $\operatorname{Re} z = -\frac{1}{2}$, we have that the star product V_1V_2 creates a strip of width 2 with the operator insertions $T_1 \circ f_S \circ V_1(0)$ and $f_S \circ V_2(0)$, where $T_a(z) = z + a$ is just a translation by a. This means that we have put the operator V_2 in the origin so that the total strip spans $\operatorname{Re} z \in [-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}]$. If we want to map this star product back to the half-disc, it would no longer be described by a half-disc with an insertion of a local operator at the origin, in fact the star product produces a nonlocal state (we have a strip of length 1 inserted between the two insertions). To compute $\operatorname{Tr}\{V_1V_2\}$, we simply realise that the self-gluing operation that a trace is, simply calculates a cylinder correlator (glue the ends of a vertical strip together to produce a cylinder)

$$\operatorname{Tr}\{V_{1}V_{2}\} = \langle \left(T_{1} \circ f_{S} \circ V_{1}(0)\right) \left(f_{S} \circ V_{2}(0)\right) \rangle_{C_{2}} \\ = \langle \left(C_{2}^{-1} \circ T_{1} \circ f_{S} \circ V_{1}(0)\right) \left(C_{2}^{-1} \circ f_{S} \circ V_{2}(0)\right) \rangle_{UHP}, (4.50)$$

where C_L^{-1} maps a cylinder of length L to the UHP

$$C_L^{-1} = \frac{L}{\pi} \tan \frac{\pi z}{L} \tag{4.51}$$

We now evaluate the composition

$$g_{L,a}(\xi) = C_L^{-1} \circ T_a \circ f_S(\xi) = C_L^{-1} \left(\frac{2}{\pi} \arctan \xi + a\right)$$
$$= \frac{L}{\pi} \tan \left(\frac{2}{L} \arctan \xi + \frac{\pi a}{L}\right)$$
(4.52)

It is very simple to compute

$$g_{L,a}(0) = \frac{L}{\pi} \tan \frac{a\pi}{L}$$
(4.53)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}g_{L,a}}{\mathrm{d}\xi}(0) = \frac{2}{\pi} \frac{1}{\cos^2 \frac{a\pi}{L}}$$
(4.54)

so that

$$\operatorname{Tr}\{V_{1}V_{2}\} = \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\frac{1}{\cos^{2}\frac{\pi}{2}}\right)^{h_{1}}\left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right)^{h_{2}}\langle V_{1}\left(\frac{2}{\pi}\tan\frac{\pi}{2}\right)V_{2}(0)\rangle_{UHP}$$
$$= \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\frac{1}{\cos^{2}\frac{\pi}{2}}\right)^{h_{1}}\left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right)^{h_{2}}g_{0}\delta_{1,2}\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{2h_{1}}\frac{1}{\tan^{2h_{1}}\frac{\pi}{2}}$$
$$= g_{0}\delta_{1,2}$$
$$= \langle V_{1}, V_{2}\rangle$$
(4.55)

meaning that we indeed reproduce the expected BPZ product of two primaries (note the cavalier cancellation of infinities). Our next next task is to compute the three-vertex

,

$$\operatorname{Tr}\{V_{1}V_{2}V_{3}\} = \langle \left(g_{3,2} \circ V_{1}(0)\right) \left(g_{3,1} \circ V_{2}(0)\right) \left(g_{3,0} \circ V_{3}(0)\right) \rangle_{UHP} \\ = \left(\frac{2}{\pi} \frac{1}{\cos^{2} \frac{2\pi}{3}}\right)^{h_{1}} \left(\frac{2}{\pi} \frac{1}{\cos^{2} \frac{\pi}{3}}\right)^{h_{2}} \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right)^{h_{3}} \langle V_{1}\left(-\frac{3\sqrt{3}}{\pi}\right) V_{2}\left(\frac{3\sqrt{3}}{\pi}\right) V_{3}(0) \rangle_{UHP} \\ = \left(\frac{8}{\pi}\right)^{h_{1}} \left(\frac{8}{\pi}\right)^{h_{2}} \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right)^{h_{3}} g_{0} C_{123} \left(2\frac{3\sqrt{3}}{\pi}\right)^{h_{3}-h_{1}-h_{2}} \left(\frac{3\sqrt{3}}{\pi}\right)^{h_{2}-h_{1}-h_{3}} \left(\frac{3\sqrt{3}}{\pi}\right)^{h_{1}-h_{2}-h_{3}} \\ = g_{0} C_{123} K^{-h_{1}-h_{2}-h_{3}}, \qquad (4.56)$$

where $K \equiv \frac{3\sqrt{3}}{4}$ and we have suppressed boundary condition indices and g_0 is the g-function of the perturbative vacuum. Higher vertices are constructed analogously. The two vertices (4.55) and (4.56) lie at the heart of the cubic OSFT with the action (4.41), since one can reduce even vertices involving descendants to them via the so-called conservation laws, see [78, 81]. Thus when one expands Ψ into some basis given by the Verma modules of \mathcal{H} , one can at least in principle evaluate for example the action $S[\Psi]$. We consider it a bit of a miracle that OSFT, whose vertices use only CFT data, correctly encodes the dynamics of conformal boundary conditions, which satisfy nontrivial global conditions such as the Cardy conditions (3.30). On the other hand, one would expect this to be the case by the uniqueness of consistent string interactions.

We have defined the star product geometrically as gluing slivers together, but what about its non-geometrical definition? To define it non-geometrically, we consider a BPZ-orthonormal Fock space basis $\langle V_i, V_j \rangle = \delta_{i,j}$, so that we resolve the identity $1 = \sum_i |V_i\rangle \langle V_i^{\star}|$. This simply gives us

$$V_1 V_2 = \sum_i |V_i\rangle \langle V_i, V_1 V_2\rangle$$

= $\sum_i |V_i\rangle \operatorname{Tr}\{V_i V_1 V_2\},$ (4.57)

which uses only BCFT correlators. The equation (4.57) defines the star product via an expansion into Fock states. It is nontrivial that this is equivalent to the manifestly associative gluing of surfaces [107, 108] for the free boson or a general BCFT for that matter [109].

4.3 Observables

In this section we list some of the most notable observables of OSFT.

4.3.1 The action

The OSFT action (4.41) evaluated on a classical solution Ψ_* to the EOMs (4.42) was conjectured [76] and later proved [82, 89] by others to encode the informations about a shift in the *g*-function between the perturbative vacuum and the BCFT described by Ψ_* . The correspondence is as follows, consider the on-shell value of the action

$$S[\Psi_*] = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}\{\Psi_* Q \Psi_*\} - \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{Tr}\{\Psi_*^3\} = -\frac{1}{6} \operatorname{Tr}\{\Psi_* Q \Psi_*\}, \qquad (4.58)$$

then we have

$$\Delta g = -2\pi^2 S[\Psi_*] = \frac{\pi^3}{3} \langle \Psi_*, Q\Psi_* \rangle \tag{4.59}$$

The value of the OSFT action appeared famously in Sen's first conjecture [76], which says that when one constructs an effective potential V(T) for the tachyonic mode introduced in (4.1) from the action, there exists a local minimum $T = T_*$ such that $V(0) - V(T_*) = \frac{1}{2\pi^2}$. This means that at the endpoint of tachyon condensation, we end up in the *tachyon vacuum* of zero energy, which represents the nothing an unstable D-brane decays into. Note that this statement is independent of the underlying matter BCFT since T lives in the Verma modules of the identity. This can be rephrased at the level of the tachyon vacuum solution Ψ_{tv} as requiring that $S[\Psi_{tv}] = \frac{g_0}{2\pi^2}$, where g_0 is the perturbative vacuum's g-function, giving $\Delta g = -g_0$ as required for a cancellation. A representant of such a class of solutions was found by Schnabl [82] thus proving Sen's first conjecture.

4.3.2 Linearised fluctuations around a solution

Given a solution Ψ_* , one can take it to be the new perturbative vacuum and formulate an OSFT around it. The action of this OSFT (expressed in the old Hilbert space) is constructed by plugging $\Psi = \Psi_* + \psi$ into the action (4.41)

$$S[\Psi_{*} + \psi] = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}\{(\Psi_{*} + \psi)Q(\Psi_{*} + \psi)\} - \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{Tr}\{(\Psi_{*} + \psi)^{3}\}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}\{\Psi_{*}Q\Psi_{*} + \psi Q\Psi_{*} + \Psi_{*}Q\psi + \psi Q\psi\}$$

$$-\frac{1}{3} \operatorname{Tr}\{\Psi_{*}^{3} + \Psi_{*}\psi\Psi_{*} + \psi\Psi_{*}^{2} + \psi^{2}\Psi_{*} + \Psi_{*}^{2}\psi + \Psi_{*}\psi^{2} + \psi\Psi_{*}\psi + \psi^{3}\}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}\{\Psi_{*}Q\Psi_{*} + 2\psi Q\Psi_{*} + \psi Q\psi\} - \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{Tr}\{\Psi_{*}^{3} + 3\psi\Psi_{*}^{2} + 3\psi^{2}\Psi_{*} + \psi^{3}\}$$

$$= S[\Psi_{*}] - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}\{\psi Q\psi + 2\psi^{3}\Psi_{*}\} - \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{Tr}\{\psi^{3}\}$$

$$= S[\Psi_{*}] - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}\{\psi Q\Psi_{*}\psi\} - \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{Tr}\{\psi^{3}\} \qquad (4.60)$$

where we defined the shifted kinematic operator $Q_{\Psi_*} \equiv Q + [\Psi_*, \cdot]$, where the commutator is graded (an anticommutator at ghost number 1). The Q_{Ψ_*} can be understood as the BRST charge in the new background, we show the crucial part of nilpotency

$$Q_{\Psi_{*}}Q_{\Psi_{*}}\psi = Q_{\Psi_{*}}\left(Q\psi + \Psi_{*}\psi + \psi\Psi_{*}\right) \\ = Q\left(Q\psi + \Psi_{*}\psi + \psi\Psi_{*}\right) + \left(\Psi_{*}Q\psi + \Psi_{*}^{2}\psi + \Psi_{*}\psi\Psi_{*}\right) \\ - \left(Q(\psi)\Psi_{*} + \Psi_{*}\psi\Psi_{*} + \psi\Psi_{*}^{2}\right) \\ = \left(Q(\Psi_{*})\psi - \Psi_{*}Q\psi + Q(\psi)\Psi_{*} - \psi Q\Psi_{*}\right) + \left(\Psi_{*}Q\psi + \Psi_{*}^{2}\psi + \Psi_{*}\psi\Psi_{*}\right) \\ - \left(Q(\psi)\Psi_{*} + \Psi_{*}\psi\Psi_{*} + \psi\Psi_{*}^{2}\right) \\ = Q(\Psi_{*})\psi - \psi Q\Psi_{*} + \Psi_{*}^{2}\psi - \psi\Psi_{*}^{2} \\ = 0, \qquad (4.61)$$

where in the last step we used the EOMs for Ψ_* . This means that the spectrum of linearised fluctuations around Ψ_* is described as the ghost number 1 cohomology of Q_{Ψ_*} . The spectrum of such fluctuations played a key role in Sen's third conjecture, which says that the cohomology of $Q_{\Psi_{tv}}$ is empty, as required for Ψ_{tv} describing the leftover nothing after D-brane decay. Schnabl and Ellwood [84] proved this by constructing a so-called homotopy operator A such that $Q_{\Psi_{tv}}A = 1$, where 1 is the *identity string field* such that $\Psi_1 = 1\Psi = \Psi$. The idea is that then

$$\psi = 1\psi = (Q_{\Psi_{\text{tv}}}A)\psi = Q_{\Psi_{\text{tv}}}(A\psi) \tag{4.62}$$

for ψQ_{Ψ} -closed, from which one deduces that ψ closed implies ψ exact and thus the cohomology is empty.

4.3.3 Scattering amplitudes

In order to obtain the propagator, we have to fix the gauge. The standard choice is Siegel gauge $b_0 \Psi = 0$, which projects out states containing c_0 . The propagator then takes the form

$$\frac{b_0}{L_0} = b_0 \int_0^1 \frac{\mathrm{d}s}{s} s^{L_0},\tag{4.63}$$

as can be deduced from $[Q, b_0] = L_0$, which follows from (4.6) and Schwinger parametrising

$$\frac{1}{L_0} = \int_0^1 \frac{\mathrm{d}s}{s} s^{L_0} \tag{4.64}$$

The scattering amplitudes are then given by gluing propagators at the threevertex (4.56) as for example in $\operatorname{Tr}\left\{\Psi\frac{b_0}{L_0}\Psi^2\right\}$. An alternative gauge choice called \mathcal{B}_0 -gauge or *Schnabl gauge* for the definition of scattering amplitudes is given by $\mathcal{B}_0\Psi = 0$, where $\mathcal{B}_0 \equiv f_S \circ b_0$ is a sliver frame analogue of Siegel gauge. An advantage of the Schnabl gauge propagator $\frac{\mathcal{B}_0}{\mathcal{L}_0}$ with $\mathcal{L}_0 \equiv f_S \circ L_0$ is that its action on star products is simpler. One may also study scattering around a solution Ψ_* by defining the shifted Hamiltonian $H_{\Psi_*} \equiv \{Q_{\Psi_*}, b_0\}$, so that the new shifted Siegel gauge propagator is $\frac{b_0}{H_{\Psi_*}}$.

Thus far, we have only studied the boundary degrees of freedom but we know that in BCFT, bulk fields can interact with the boundary. Thus we also consider open-closed amplitudes (in string theory, open strings end on boundaries and closed strings make up the bulk). One such amplitude is the closed string tadpole, which is given by *Ellwood invariant* [97]

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\phi} \Psi \equiv \langle I | \,\tilde{\phi}(i) \, | \Psi \rangle = \langle \tilde{\phi}(i) f \circ \Psi(0) \rangle_{UHP} = \langle \tilde{\phi}(i\infty) f_S \circ \Psi(0) \rangle_{C_1} \tag{4.65}$$

where $\Psi(0)$ is an insertion at the half-disc origin and $\tilde{\phi}$ is a weight (1,1) spinless matter primary ϕ dressed with ghosts $\tilde{\phi} = c\bar{c}\phi$ such that it is *Q*-invariant. We have also made use of the identity string field $|I\rangle = U_f^{\dagger}|0\rangle$, where U_f generates the finite transformation f via

$$f \circ \Psi = U_f \Psi U_f^{\dagger} \tag{4.66}$$

and the scaled (a matter of convention, the correlator is scale-invariant) one-vertex f is given as (4.52)

$$f(\xi) \equiv \pi g_{1,0}(\xi) = \frac{2\xi}{1-\xi^2}$$
(4.67)

The Elwood invariant is gauge invariant under (4.44) and to show this, we need to show that $\operatorname{Tr}_{\phi} Q\Lambda = \operatorname{Tr}_{\phi} [\Psi, \Lambda] = 0$, which is done a follows

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\phi} Q\Lambda = \langle Q[\bar{\phi}(i)f \circ \Psi(0)] \rangle_{UHP} = 0, \qquad (4.68)$$

where we used the fact that ϕ is Q-invariant and the residual BRST-invariance of amplitudes. The second term vanishes from cyclicity of the Ellwood invariant

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\phi} \Psi \Lambda = \operatorname{Tr}_{\phi} \Lambda \Psi, \tag{4.69}$$

since one can rotate the boundary fields around the bulk insertion at cylinder infinity. Given a solution Ψ_* to the EOMs (4.42), the Ellwood invariant is conjectured to compute the shift of the on-shell closed string tadpole between the BCFT described by Ψ_* and the perturbative vacuum

$$\langle I | \tilde{\phi}(i) | \Psi_* \rangle - \langle I | \tilde{\phi}(i) | \Psi_{\rm tv} \rangle = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \langle \phi \rangle_* = -\frac{1}{4\pi i} \langle I | \tilde{\phi}(i) c_0^- \| B_{\Psi_*} \rangle \rangle, \quad (4.70)$$

where we used that

$$\langle 0 | c_{-1} \bar{c}_{-1} c_0^- || B_{gh} \rangle = -2$$
 (4.71)

for $c_0^- \equiv c_0 - \bar{c}_0$, see appendix C of [96], and $||B_{\Psi_*}\rangle\rangle$ is the boundary state described by Ψ_* and $||B_{gh}\rangle\rangle$ its trivial universal ghost part. We also used that the disc one-point function vanishes at the tachyon vacuum (no boundary to interact with) $\frac{1}{2\pi i}\langle\phi\rangle_{\rm tv} = 0$, hence the term with $\Psi_{\rm tv}$ cancelling the perturbative vacuum contribution.

4.3.4 The boundary state

Remembering that the disc one-point functions calculate boundary state coefficients, one can see from (4.70) that the Ellwood invariant probes the on-shell part of the Boundary state $||B_{\Psi_*}\rangle\rangle$ described by the solution Ψ_* . Can one generalise it to the off-shell part as well? Such a generalisation was provided by KMS [96], who generically found an auxiliary BCFT with central charge 0, which supports fields w with $\langle w \rangle_* = 1$ that can make an insertion $c\bar{c}\phi$ with ϕ of weight (h, h) physical. That is, the tensor product $c\bar{c}\phi w$ is physical. If one has the splitting $\mathcal{H}_m = \mathcal{H}_{m_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{m_2}$ and studies the dynamics of \mathcal{H}_{m_1} , one simply tensors \mathcal{H}_{m_2} with the auxiliary CFT and doesn't see a difference in the theory restricted to \mathcal{H}_{m_1} . Using the fact that w has a unit one-point function, we can write

$$B_{\Psi_{*}}^{\phi} = \langle I | \phi(i) || B_{\Psi_{*}} \rangle = \langle I | \phi w(i) || B_{\Psi_{*}} \rangle$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \langle 0 | c_{-1} \bar{c}_{-1} c_{0}^{-} || B_{gh} \rangle \langle I | \phi w(i) || B_{\Psi_{*}} \rangle = -\frac{1}{2} \langle I | \tilde{\phi} w(i) c_{0}^{-} || B_{\Psi_{*}} \rangle$$
(4.72)

and using (4.70), which is valid since we have a physical insertion, we find

$$B_{\Psi_*}^{\phi} = 2\pi i \langle I | \tilde{\phi} w(i) | \Psi_* - \Psi_{\text{tv}} \rangle = 2\pi i \langle I | \tilde{\phi}(i) | \Psi_* - \Psi_{\text{tv}} \rangle$$

$$(4.73)$$

Thus given a solution Ψ_* , we can probe it with bulk operators to get the full off-shell boundary state (of the BCFT one is restricted to). In (4.73) Ψ_{tv} can be any representant of the tachyon vacuum class of solutions and we note that when we don't write it, the perturbative vacuum factor doesn't get cancelled and we are computing the shift in the boundary state

$$\Delta B^{\phi}_{\Psi_*} = 2\pi i \left\langle I \right| \tilde{\phi}(i) \left| \Psi_* \right\rangle \tag{4.74}$$

4.4 Wedge states with insertions

A very useful family of states in the universal sector are the wedge states [83]. These wedge states are naturally represented in the sliver coordinate frame as strips with no operator insertions. The simplest wedge state Ω is just the scaled vacuum

$$\Omega = |0\rangle, \qquad (4.75)$$

whose strip representation has width 1. We can also conceive of strips with different lengths and thus we form an entire family of wedge states Ω^{α} with $\alpha \geq 0$, whose the star product is abelian

$$\Omega^{\alpha}\Omega^{\beta} = \Omega^{\alpha+\beta} = \Omega^{\beta}\Omega^{\alpha} \tag{4.76}$$

with the zero-width wedge state being that star algebra identity $\Omega^0 = 1$. Since the trace can be interpreted as computing cylinder correlators, we naturally have

$$\operatorname{Tr}\{V\Omega^{\alpha}\} = \langle f_{S} \circ V(0) \rangle_{C_{\alpha+1}} = \langle C_{\alpha+1}^{-1} \circ f_{S} \circ V(0) \rangle_{UHP} = \langle g_{\alpha+1,0} \circ V(0) \rangle_{UHP}$$
(4.77)

from which we can read off $\Omega^{\alpha} = U_{q_{\alpha+1,0}}^{\dagger} |0\rangle$, where

$$g_{\alpha+1,0}(\xi) = \frac{\alpha+1}{\pi} \tan\left(\frac{2}{\alpha+1}\arctan\xi\right)$$
(4.78)

so that indeed $\Omega^1 = \Omega$ since $g_{2,0}(\xi) = \frac{2}{\pi}\xi$ as is consistent with (4.75) since the vacuum is $Sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ invariant. One can also represent wedge states on the unit disc and finds that they correspond to wedges of angle $\frac{2\pi}{\alpha+1}$, hence justifying their name. One may anticipate the existence of a wedge state generator

since they are exponential in nature and such a generator should be seen by taking derivatives of wedge states so that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\alpha}\Omega^{\alpha} \equiv -K\Omega^{\alpha} \tag{4.79}$$

By studying the α dependence of (4.77), one can show [110, 91] that

$$K = \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi i} T(x), \qquad (4.80)$$

where the total stress-energy tensor T is vertically integrated over the imaginary direction. We need not specify the real part of the contour since K is topological because the integrand vanishes at strip infinity. Since $\Omega^0 = 1$, we can integrate (4.79) to obtain

$$\Omega^{\alpha} = e^{-\alpha K} \tag{4.81}$$

Since the string fields we are most interested in are at ghost number 1, we need to generalise the ghost number 0 wedge states to the so-called *wedge* states with insertions. In their most basic form they are defined by inserting an operator transformed to sliver frame to the middle of the real boundary of a unit strip as in $\sqrt{\Omega}V\sqrt{\Omega}$. One may of course generalise this to shift the operator insertion away from the middle $\Omega^{\alpha_1}V\Omega^{\alpha_2}$ with $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = 1$. Relaxing the unit strip constraint, one may visualise the operator insertion itself as a wedge state with insertion $V = \Omega^0 V \Omega^0$. Taking star products of such general states, we have

$$\Omega^{\alpha_1} V_1 \dots \Omega^{\alpha_i} V_i \dots \Omega^{\alpha_n} V_n \Omega^{\alpha_{n+1}}$$
(4.82)

From the point of view of the ansatz $\sqrt{\Omega}V\sqrt{\Omega}$, the product (4.82) may contain a nonlocal state. We may ask how such a nonlocal state looks like on the UHP and as a simplest example we take, see [91]

$$\Omega^{\alpha} = \sqrt{\Omega} \Omega^{\alpha - 1} \sqrt{\Omega} = \sqrt{\Omega} e^{-(\alpha - 1)K} \sqrt{\Omega}$$
(4.83)

so that by transforming K we can transform the entire nonlocal state $\Omega^{\alpha-1}$ with the result

$$\Omega^{\alpha}(0) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left(-\frac{\pi}{2} \int_{-i}^{i} \frac{\mathrm{d}\xi}{2\pi i} (1+\xi^2) T(\xi) \right)^n, \tag{4.84}$$

where we expressed K on the UHP (see next section detailing the transformation of operators)

$$K = \frac{\pi}{2} \int_{-i}^{i} \frac{\mathrm{d}\xi}{2\pi i} (1 + \xi^2) T(\xi)$$
(4.85)

As expected, (4.84) contains an infinite number of Virasoro insertions that distort the geometry of the unit disc.

4.5 Operators in sliver frame

Operators which look simple when inserted in one frame are often complicated in another. To show this, we consider the sliver frame primary \tilde{V} of weight h, such that

$$\tilde{V}(z) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\tilde{V}_n}{z^{n+h}},$$
(4.86)

with z the sliver frame coordinate. From this, we have

$$\tilde{V}_{n} = f_{S}^{-1} \circ \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} \tilde{V}(z) z^{n+h-1}
= \oint \frac{d\xi}{2\pi i} \frac{2}{\pi} \frac{1}{1+\xi^{2}} \left(\frac{\pi}{2}(1+\xi^{2})\right)^{h} V(\xi) \left(\frac{2}{\pi} \arctan \xi\right)^{n+h-1}
= \oint \frac{d\xi}{2\pi i} \left(1+\xi^{2}\right)^{h-1} V(\xi) \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right)^{n} \left(\arctan \xi\right)^{n+h-1}$$
(4.87)

where we used $dz = \frac{2}{\pi} \frac{d\xi}{1+\xi^2}$ and $f_S^{-1}(z) = \tan\left(\frac{\pi}{2}z\right)$ with the transformation properties of a primary. A concrete example would be

$$\tilde{c}_{-1} = \oint \frac{d\xi}{2\pi i} \left(1 + \xi^2\right)^{-2} c(\xi) \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right)^{-1} \left(\arctan\xi\right)^{-3} \\ = \oint \frac{d\xi}{2\pi i} c(\xi) \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right)^{-1} (\xi^{-3} - \xi^{-1} + \ldots) = \frac{\pi}{2} (c_{-1} - c_1) + \ldots \quad (4.88)$$

so that $\tilde{c}_{-1} |0\rangle = \frac{\pi}{2} (c_{-1} + c_1) |0\rangle$. To give an example where the correspondence between different coordinates is simple, consider a near marginal operator with y = 1 - h small so we can write

$$\tilde{V}_{0} = \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}\xi}{2\pi i} V(\xi) + O(y) = V_{0} + O(y)$$
(4.89)

meaning that to leading order we see no transformation of the zero-mode. From the nontrivial transformation (4.87), we deduce that if a Hilbert space basis is BPZ-orthonormal on the UHP, it ceases to be so after its transport (put a tilde on everything) to the sliver. For us this will have the important consequence that we'll have to deal with oblique projectors when working in sliver frame instead of the usual orthogonal projectors familiar from QM.

We have seen that sliver frame operators act non-transparently on the UHP, but we would expect them to act simply in sliver frame. To investigate this further, consider (see [91] for details on derivations)

$$\mathcal{L}_0 = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} z T(z) = L_0 + \frac{2}{3}L_2 - \frac{2}{15}L_4 + \dots, \qquad (4.90)$$

which has the BPZ conjugate

$$\mathcal{L}_0^{\star} = L_0 + \frac{2}{3}L_2 - \frac{2}{15}L_4 + \dots, \qquad (4.91)$$

with which we form the BPZ even and odd combinations

$$\mathcal{L}^+ = \mathcal{L}_0 + \mathcal{L}_0^* \tag{4.92}$$

$$\mathcal{L}^{-} = \mathcal{L}_0 - \mathcal{L}_0^{\star} \tag{4.93}$$

The BPZ even part is expressible by K

$$\mathcal{L}^+ V = KV + VK \tag{4.94}$$

What is more interesting is the scaled BPZ odd part

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^{-} = \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} zT(z+l) - \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} zT(z+r), \qquad (4.95)$$

which expresses $\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^-$ acting on a strip, whose left edge intersects the real axis at l and right edge at r. From this geometrical intuition, one has by inserting an intermediate pair of contours in between V_1, V_2 that \mathcal{L}^- is a derivation of the star algebra

$$\mathcal{L}^{-}(V_1 V_2) = (\mathcal{L}^{-} V_1) V_2 + V_1 (\mathcal{L}^{-} V_2)$$
(4.96)

The $\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^{-}$ acts as a generator of scale transformations on the cylinder. By deforming the two opposite vertical contours from (4.95) to a circle, we easily see that

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^{-}V = hV \tag{4.97}$$

on a weight h primary V by the OPE (2.72). One can further show that $\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^-K = K$ by the TT OPE (2.88), implying that K has scaling dimension 1 as one would expect since its an integral of a dimension 2 field. Since $\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^-$ is a derivation of the star algebra, we know how it acts on wedge states

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^{-}\Omega^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^{-}e^{-\alpha K} = -\alpha K\Omega^{\alpha}, \qquad (4.98)$$

which is integrated to

$$\lambda^{\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^{-}}\Omega^{\alpha} = \Omega^{\lambda\alpha} \tag{4.99}$$

Since we also know how it acts on local operator insertions, we know how its action on wedge states with insertions

$$\lambda^{\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^{-}}\Omega^{\alpha_{1}}V_{1}\dots\Omega^{\alpha_{i}}V_{i}\dots\Omega^{n}V_{n}\Omega^{n+1} = (4.100)$$

$$\lambda^{\sum_{k=1}^{n} h_k} \Omega^{\lambda \alpha_1} V_1 \dots \Omega^{\lambda \alpha_i} V_i \dots \Omega^{\lambda \alpha_n} V_n \Omega^{\lambda \alpha_{n+1}}$$
(4.101)

From (4.92), (4.93) and (4.94), we have

$$\mathcal{L}_0 V = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{L}^- V + \frac{1}{2} (KV + VK), \qquad (4.102)$$

which lets us express \mathcal{L}_0 on a wedge with insertions

$$\mathcal{L}_{0}(\sqrt{\Omega}V\sqrt{\Omega}) = \left(\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^{-}\sqrt{\Omega}\right)V\sqrt{\Omega} + \sqrt{\Omega}\left(\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^{-}\right)V\sqrt{\Omega} + \sqrt{\Omega}V\left(\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^{-}\sqrt{\Omega}\right) \\ + \frac{1}{2}KV\sqrt{\Omega}V\sqrt{\Omega} + \frac{1}{2}VK\sqrt{\Omega}V\sqrt{\Omega} \\ = \sqrt{\Omega}\left(\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^{-}V\right)\sqrt{\Omega}, \qquad (4.103)$$

where in the last line we used (4.98). The relation (4.103) is very useful since it reduces determining the action of \mathcal{L}_0 to pure scaling analysis

$$\mathcal{L}_0 \sqrt{\Omega} c V \sqrt{\Omega} = (h-1) \sqrt{\Omega} c V \sqrt{\Omega}, \qquad (4.104)$$

with V a primary of weight h.

Analogously to \mathcal{L}_0 , one can study the sliver frame analogue of the *b*-ghost zero mode b_0

$$\mathcal{B}_0 = \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} z b(z) = b_0 + \frac{2}{3} b_2 - \frac{2}{15} b_4 + \dots$$
(4.105)

since both b and T are of weight 2. The only difference is in the occasional fermionic sign and the different OPEs. To summarise, one has

$$\mathcal{B}_0 V = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{B}^- V + \frac{1}{2} (BV + (-1)^{|V|} V B)$$
(4.106)

$$\mathcal{B}_0 \sqrt{\Omega} V \sqrt{\Omega} = \sqrt{\Omega} \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{B}^- V \sqrt{\Omega}$$
(4.107)

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{B}^{-}K = B \tag{4.108}$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{B}^{-}B = 0 \tag{4.109}$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{B}^{-}c = 0 \tag{4.110}$$

with B being an analogue to K.

4.6 KBc subalgebra

From the real string fields K,B and c introduced earlier one can form a universal closed subalgebra of the star product algebra. Why one should have

a K of ghost number 0 is obvious since it generates wedge states, which are needed to give the solution a nonzero width as required for cylinder correlators to make sense. The c is introduced since it is the universal tachyon, see (4.14), and makes creation of ghost number 1 string fields possible. In the EOMs (4.42), we have an action of Q, which would be problematic after imposing Siegel gauge $b_0 \Psi = 0$ because $\{Q, b_0\} = L_0$ and the star products of L_0 are not transparent. One is thus lead to consider Schnabl gauge $\mathcal{B}_0 \Psi = 0$, from which we have the nicely controlled $\{Q, \mathcal{B}_0\} = \mathcal{L}_0$. Because of this we add the field B, which has ghost number -1 meaning that we can now have multiple insertions of c. We note that sometimes one adds other operators to the KBc algebra since by itself it only describes universal physics.

We have the commutation relations

$$[K, B] = 0 (4.111)$$

$$\{B,c\} = 1 \tag{4.112}$$

with the trivial $B^2 = c^2 = 0$ from anticommutation. From (4.6)-(4.8), we have

$$QK = 0 \tag{4.113}$$

$$QB = K \tag{4.114}$$

$$Qc = cKc = c\partial c, \qquad (4.115)$$

where the last line follows from $\partial c = [K, c]$ as one trivially sees from the OPE (2.72). One can now play around with finding solutions to (4.42), for example $\Psi = -cK$ is a solution

$$Q(-cK) + (-cK)^2 = -cKcK + cKcK = 0$$

or $\Psi = c(1-K)$ is

$$Q(c(1-K)) + (c(1-K))^{2} = cKc(1-K) + c(1-K)c(1-K)$$

= $cKc - cKcK - cKc + cKcK = 0$

with the second solution actually being a tachyon vacuum (it is too singular to verify Sen's first conjecture, however since it doesn't contain a surface). This is so because a homotopy operator A = B exists

$$Q_{\Psi}B = QB + \{c(1-K), B\} = K + c(1-K)B + Bc(1-K)$$

= $K + cB + Bc - cKB - BcK = 1 + K - cKB - BcK$
= $1 + K - cBK - BcK = 1 + K - K = 1$

In order to get the much needed practice, we will consider more solutions in (4.7). For those, various correlators, often involving the elements of the KBc algebra, are needed, see the appendix (A).

4.7 Examples of analytic solutions

In this section we study two analytic solutions, first we analyse the tachyon vacuum for its general importance (notice that for example (4.3.4) uses its universal properties) and the fact that it corresponds to a (nonperturbative) relevant deformation. We also study exactly marginal deformations, which serve as the simplest example of perturbative solutions, which we'll generalise in the next chapter.

4.7.1 Tachyon vacuum

We shall study the simple tachyon vacuum [87] obtained by performing a (singular) finite gauge transformation (see (4.44)) of the perturbative vacuum [110]

$$\Psi = UQU^{-1} \tag{4.116}$$

with U = 1 - FBcF with F = F(K) an appropriate function [93] of K. One can invert U with a geometric series

$$U^{-1} = 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (FBcF)^{n-1}FBcF$$

= $1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (F^2)^{n-1}FBcF$
= $1 + \frac{1}{1 - F^2}FBcF$ (4.117)

so that

$$QU^{-1} = \frac{1}{1 - F^2} (FKcF - FBcKcF) = \frac{1}{1 - F^2} FcBKcF, \qquad (4.118)$$

which gives the solution

$$\Psi = (1 - F^2 + FcBF) \frac{1}{1 - F^2} FcBKcF = FcBKcF + FcB \frac{F^2}{1 - F^2} KcF$$
$$= FcB \left(1 + \frac{F^2}{1 - F^2}\right) KcF = FcB \frac{1}{1 - F^2} KcF, \qquad (4.119)$$

which is the Okawa ansatz [110]. One may rewrite this by $F \to \sqrt{F}$ to have a form which looks more like a wedge with an insertion

$$\Psi = \sqrt{F}cB\frac{1}{1-F}Kc\sqrt{F} \tag{4.120}$$

This solution is in dressed Schnabl gauge

$$\mathcal{B}_{\sqrt{F},\sqrt{F}}\Psi = \sqrt{F}\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{B}^{-}\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{F}}\Psi\frac{1}{\sqrt{F}}\right)\sqrt{F} = 0$$
(4.121)

as can be trivially verified since when $\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{B}^-$ hits a K it annihilates with a B, see (4.108)-(4.110). For $F = \sqrt{\Omega}$ one has the usual Schnabl gauge and the solution reduces to Schnabl's solution [82]. In order for Ψ not to be in the gauge orbit of the perturbative vacuum, the gauge transformation must be singular. Looking at $\frac{K}{1-F}$ one realises that this is the case if and only if F(0) = 1 and we want $F'(0) \neq 0$ to avoid a pole [111] (observe that this is the case for Schnabl's solution).

We will now show that under these conditions Ψ has empty cohomology. We do so by proving that $A = B \frac{1-F}{K}$ is a homotopy operator

$$Q_{\Psi}A = QA + \{\Psi, A\}$$

= $K\frac{1-F}{K} + \sqrt{F}cB\frac{1}{1-F}Kc\sqrt{F}B\frac{1-F}{K} + B\frac{1-F}{K}\sqrt{F}cB\frac{1}{1-F}Kc\sqrt{F}$
= $1 - F + \sqrt{F}cB\sqrt{F} + \sqrt{F}Bc\sqrt{F} = 1 - F + F = 1$ (4.122)

When $\frac{1-F}{K} = F$, one obtains the simple tachyon vacuum with $F = \frac{1}{1+K}$

$$\Psi_s = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+K}}c(1+K)Bc\frac{1}{\sqrt{1+K}}$$
(4.123)

For the next calculations a different form of the solution is useful

$$\Psi_s = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+K}} c \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+K}} + Q\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{1+K}} B c \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+K}}\right), \quad (4.124)$$

since Q-exact terms don't contribute to neither the Ellwood invariant or the action which we're about to calculate. We start with the Ellwood invariant, see (4.3.3), and by cyclicity and Schwinger parametrisation we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\phi} c \frac{1}{1+K} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\alpha e^{-\alpha} \operatorname{Tr}_{\phi} c\Omega^{\alpha} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\alpha e^{-\alpha} \langle \tilde{\phi}(i\infty)c(0) \rangle_{C_{\alpha}}$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\alpha e^{-\alpha} \alpha \langle \tilde{\phi}(i\infty)c(0) \rangle_{C_{1}} = \langle \tilde{\phi}(i\infty)c(0) \rangle_{C_{1}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \langle c\bar{c}\phi(0)c(1) \rangle_{disc} = -\frac{1}{2\pi i} \langle \phi \rangle_{0}, \qquad (4.125)$$

where we have also mapped the cylinder to the unit disc via $f(z) = e^{2\pi i z}$. By the Ellwood conjecture, this computes the shift in the closed string tadpole but since there is no nonzero term besides the perturbative vacuum contribution in (4.125), we conclude that Ψ describes a background where the boundary has disappeared.

Now we prove Sen's first conjecture, see (4.3.1), by inserting (4.124) to the on-shell value of the action (4.58), which gives

$$S[\Psi_s] = -\frac{1}{6} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+K}} c \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+K}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+K}} cKc \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+K}} \right\}$$
$$= -\frac{1}{6} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \frac{1}{1+K} c \frac{1}{1+K} cKc \right\}$$
$$= -\frac{1}{6} \int_0^\infty d\alpha \int_0^\infty d\beta e^{-\alpha-\beta} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \Omega^\alpha c \Omega^\beta cKc \right\}, \qquad (4.126)$$

we continue by calculating the trace

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left\{\Omega^{\alpha} c \Omega^{\beta} c K c\right\} = -\lim_{\gamma \to 0} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\gamma} \operatorname{Tr}\left\{\Omega^{\alpha} c \Omega^{\beta} c \Omega^{\gamma} c\right\}$$
$$= -\lim_{\gamma \to 0} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\gamma} \langle c(\beta + \gamma) c(\gamma) c(0) \rangle_{C_{\alpha + \beta + \gamma}}$$
$$= -g_0 \frac{(\alpha + \beta)^2 \sin^2\left(\frac{\pi\beta}{\alpha + \beta}\right)}{\pi^2} \qquad (4.127)$$

where we used the correlator (A.16) and didn't forget that we also have a matter part to our CFT, which gives a g_0 . Thus the action is reduced to the integral

$$S[\Psi_s] = \frac{g_0}{6} \int_0^\infty d\alpha \int_0^\infty d\beta \, e^{-\alpha - \beta} \frac{(\alpha + \beta)^2 \sin^2\left(\frac{\pi\beta}{\alpha + \beta}\right)}{\pi^2}, \qquad (4.128)$$

which gives by elementary analysis

$$S[\Psi_s] = \frac{g_0}{2\pi^2} \tag{4.129}$$

as required by Sen's first conjecture.

4.7.2 Exactly marginal deformations

Perturbative methods of solving (4.42) originate from the observation that we are dealing with a quadratic equation in infinitely many variables and we know how to solve quadratic equations perturbatively. Suppose we are given the quadratic equation

$$qx + x^2 = qx_0 (4.130)$$

This is formally solved by $x = -q^{-1}x^2$ and the ansatz $x = x_0 + \ldots$ with the source term on the RHS of (4.130) needed for the equation to be satisfied to $O(x_0)$. To second order one has

$$x = x_0 - q^{-1}x_0^2 + \dots, (4.131)$$

where the correction is present to account for the nonlinearity of (4.130). We recursively go to higher orders

$$x = x_0 - q^{-1}x_0^2 - q^{-1} \left(x_0 \left(-q^{-1}x_0^2 \right) + \left(-q^{-1}x_0^2 \right) x_0 \right) - q^{-1} \left(-q^{-1}x_0^2 \right)^2 - q^{-1} \left(x_0 \left(-q^{-1} \right) \left(x_0 \left(-q^{-1}x_0^2 \right) + \left(-q^{-1}x_0^2 \right) x_0 \right) \right) + \left(-q^{-1} \right) \left(x_0 \left(-q^{-1}x_0^2 \right) + \left(-q^{-1}x_0^2 \right) x_0 \right) + \dots$$

$$(4.132)$$

One notices that the number of terms at each order is given by the Catalan numbers C_n : $C_1 = 1, C_2 = 1, C_3 = 2, C_4 = 1 + 4 = 5$. These have the asymptotics

$$C_n \sim \frac{4^n}{n^{\frac{3}{2}}\sqrt{\pi}},\tag{4.133}$$

so that the number of contributions grows exponentially. Since numbers commute, (4.132) simplifies to

$$x = x_0 - q^{-1}x_0^2 + 2q^{-2}x_0^3 - 5q^{-3}x_0^4 + \ldots = x_0(1 - q^{-1}x_0 + 2q^{-2}x_0^2 - 5q^{-3}x_0^3 + \ldots)$$
(4.134)

From this we see that this series converges for $\frac{4x_0}{q} \leq 1$, meaning that we either have to have an almost linear equation with q large or we have to guess the solution close to 0, which is a solution even if the quadratic part in (4.130) is relevant. This result makes sense when one considers the exact solutions

$$x_{\pm} = -\frac{q}{2} \left(1 \pm \sqrt{1 + \frac{4x_0}{q}} \right) \tag{4.135}$$

and a Taylor expansion of x_{-} gives (4.134).

We have a similar situation for exactly marginal deformations [85, 86], that is we make the sliver frame ansatz $\Psi = \lambda \sqrt{\Omega} cV \sqrt{\Omega} + \ldots$ with $Q(\sqrt{\Omega} cV \sqrt{\Omega}) =$ 0 and the VV OPE regular. Since $Q(\sqrt{\Omega} cV \sqrt{\Omega}) = 0$, we don't need to add a source term as in (4.130), which is exactly what we need since (4.42) has no source term. For relevant deformations we'll get rid of the source term by properly tuning the SFT coupling λ . To third order, we have

$$\Psi = \lambda \sqrt{\Omega} c V \sqrt{\Omega} - \lambda^2 Q^{-1} (\sqrt{\Omega} c V \sqrt{\Omega})^2 - \lambda^3 Q^{-1} \left\{ -Q^{-1} (\sqrt{\Omega} c V \sqrt{\Omega})^2, \sqrt{\Omega} c V \sqrt{\Omega} \right\} + \dots \\
\equiv \Psi_1 + \Psi_2 + \Psi_3 + \dots \\
= \Psi_1 - Q^{-1} \Psi_1^2 - Q^{-1} \{\Psi_2, \Psi_1\} + \dots \quad (4.136)$$

We'll write $Q^{-1} = \frac{\mathcal{B}_0}{\mathcal{L}_0}$ since for a Ψ in Schnabl gauge, we then have

$$Q^{-1}Q\Psi = \frac{\mathcal{B}_0}{\mathcal{L}_0}Q\Psi = \frac{1}{\mathcal{L}_0}\mathcal{B}_0Q\Psi = \frac{1}{\mathcal{L}_0}\mathcal{L}_0\Psi = \Psi, \qquad (4.137)$$

where we used $\{Q, \mathcal{B}_0\} = \mathcal{L}_0$. We were a little bit formal with the division by \mathcal{L}_0 but in our case Q^{-1} acts only on states which are included in the VVOPE and since it's regular, there are no states of levels less than or equal to 0 so the division is well defined (the less than zero levels are problematic for Schwinger parametrisation). Since Q^{-1} encounters no subtleties, the full EOMs (4.42) are satisfied and not just their projection to a gauge subspace, as will be clear in the next chapter.

Now we evaluate the second order contribution Ψ_2 to (4.136)

$$\Psi_{2} = -\lambda^{2}Q^{-1}(\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega})^{2} = -\lambda^{2}\frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}}\sqrt{\Omega}cV\Omega cV\sqrt{\Omega}$$
$$= -\lambda^{2}\int_{0}^{1}\frac{\mathrm{d}s}{s}s^{\mathcal{L}_{0}}\left(-\sqrt{\Omega}cBV\Omega cV\sqrt{\Omega}\right)$$
$$= \lambda^{2}\int_{0}^{1}\frac{\mathrm{d}s}{s}s\sqrt{\Omega}cBV\Omega^{s}cV\sqrt{\Omega}$$
$$= \lambda^{2}\sqrt{\Omega}cBV\frac{1-\Omega}{K}cV\sqrt{\Omega}, \qquad (4.138)$$

where we Schwinger parametrised the inverse of \mathcal{L}_0

$$\frac{1}{\mathcal{L}_0} = \int_0^1 \frac{\mathrm{d}s}{s} s^{\mathcal{L}_0}, \tag{4.139}$$

and used the integral

$$\int_0^1 \mathrm{d}s \, e^{-sK} = \frac{1 - e^{-sK}}{K} \tag{4.140}$$

In the computation of Ψ_2 we've seen that the width of an intermediate wedge state Ω^s ranged from 0 to 1. If we have operator collisions between the two Vs, this causes problems and one needs to regularise. When we have only two operator collisions, this is rather simple because we can introduce an analogue of normal ordering. At higher orders, where collisions of more than two Vs occur, one needs a generalisation of normal ordering to a situation where multiple operators collide at the same time. We shall develop this generalisation in the next chapter. The regularisation method will be based on expanding operator products in the collision limit, from which we identify states which contribute to singularities and subtract them.

At third order, we have (notice the anticommutation pattern in the expansion (4.136))

$$\Psi_{3} = -Q^{-1}\{\Psi_{2}, \Psi_{1}\} = -\lambda^{3} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \left\{ \int_{0}^{1} ds \sqrt{\Omega} cBV \Omega^{s} cV \sqrt{\Omega}, \sqrt{\Omega} cV \sqrt{\Omega} \right\}$$

$$= -\lambda^{3} \int_{0}^{1} ds \frac{1}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \sqrt{\Omega} cBV \left(\Omega^{s} V\Omega + \Omega V\Omega^{s}\right) cV \sqrt{\Omega}$$

$$= -\lambda^{3} \int_{0}^{1} ds \int_{0}^{1} \frac{dt}{t} t^{2} \sqrt{\Omega} cBV \left(\Omega^{st} V\Omega^{t} + \Omega^{t} V\Omega^{st}\right) cV \sqrt{\Omega}$$

$$= -\lambda^{3} \int_{0}^{1} ds \int_{0}^{1} dt t \sqrt{\Omega} cBV \left(\Omega^{st} V\Omega^{t} + \Omega^{t} V\Omega^{st}\right) cV \sqrt{\Omega}$$

$$= -\frac{\lambda^{3}}{2!} \int_{0}^{1} du \int_{0}^{1} dv \sqrt{\Omega} cBV \left(\Omega^{u} V\Omega^{v} + \Omega^{v} V\Omega^{u}\right) cV \sqrt{\Omega}$$

$$= -\lambda^{3} \sqrt{\Omega} cBV \left(\frac{1-\Omega}{K}V\right)^{2} c\sqrt{\Omega}, \qquad (4.141)$$

where we substituted u = st, v = t and used the $u \to v, v \to u$ symmetry of the integrand to produce a $\frac{1}{2!}$ instead of an integration over a triangle as would be usual in path ordering. This symmetry is present only for marginal deformations, the integrals can't be done explicitly for relevant deformations as we'll see in the next chapter. At higher orders one finds a pattern (we checked this to fifth order)

$$\Psi_{n+1} = (-\lambda)^{n+1} \sqrt{\Omega} c V B \left(\frac{1-\Omega}{K}V\right)^n c \sqrt{\Omega}, \qquad (4.142)$$

for $n \ge 1$, which sums up to

$$\Psi = \lambda \sqrt{\Omega} c V \frac{B}{1 + \frac{1 - \Omega}{K} \lambda V} c \sqrt{\Omega}$$
(4.143)

via a geometric series. We find it very interesting that all C_n terms combine to a single term at each order, something we haven't been able to do for relevant deformations (postponing regularisation to the very end) by the lack of symmetry of the integrals. We can now try to evaluate the shift in the boundary state, which is to first order, see (4.74)

$$\begin{split} \Delta B_{\Psi_1}^{\phi} &= 2\pi i \langle \tilde{\phi}(i\infty) \Psi_1 \rangle_{C_1} = 2\pi i \lambda \langle \tilde{\phi}(i\infty) \Omega cV \rangle_{C_1} \\ &= 2\pi i \lambda \langle \tilde{\phi}(i\infty) \left(\int_0^1 \mathrm{d}t \,\Omega^{1-t} cV \Omega^t \right) \rangle_{C_1} \\ &= 2\pi i \lambda \langle \tilde{\phi}(i\infty) \left(\int_0^1 \mathrm{d}t \,\Omega^{1-t} V \Omega^t c \right) \rangle_{C_1} \\ &= 2\pi i \lambda \langle \tilde{\phi}(i\infty) \left(\int_0^1 \mathrm{d}t \,V(t) \right) c(0) \rangle_{C_1} \\ &= 2\pi i \lambda \frac{1}{2\pi i} \langle c \bar{c} \phi(0) \left(\int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\theta \,V(\theta) \right) c(1) \rangle_{disc} \\ &= -\lambda \langle \phi(0) \left(\int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\theta \,V(\theta) \right) \rangle_{disc} \end{split}$$
(4.144)

where we mapped the cylinder to the unit disc via $f(z) = e^{2\pi i z}$ and used cyclicity of the Ellwood invariant. This is exactly the leading order result one would expect from conformal perturbation theory (see (3.5)), where

$$\Delta B_{\Psi}^{\phi} = \langle \phi(0) \left[e^{-\lambda \int_{0}^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\theta \, V(\theta)} - 1 \right] \rangle_{disc}$$
(4.145)

and indeed this is the result one obtains to all orders [112]. We see that the SFT coupling λ which is a sort of normalisation of the string field is here equal to all orders in perturbation theory to the CFT coupling (unambiguously defined since for exactly marginal deformations one doesn't need to regularise). Notice also the naturally emerging convention in SFT (which we adopted in CPT) that one deforms the action by $\lambda \int_0^{2\pi} d\theta V$ and not $-\lambda \int_0^{2\pi} d\theta V$ as is more usual in CFT.

An interesting example of exactly marginal deformations is the lightlike deformation of Schnabl and Hellerman [113] with $V(x) = e^{X_+(x)}$ and the OPE $e^{X_+(x)}e^{X_+(0)} = e^{2X_+(0)} + \dots$ The field is made marginal by turning on a nontrivial linear dilaton background. This solution describes lightlike propagation of an instability, which decays the unstable D-brane and leaves behind the tachyon vacuum, which is similar in spirit to the computations of (1.6) and (B.3).

Chapter 5

Relevant deformations in open string field theory

In this chapter we explore perturbative solutions of OSFT corresponding to relevant deformations. The material is divided into five sections

- 1. The general framework for perturbative solutions is summarised. We work in Siegel gauge for simplicity but the procedure can be generalised to other gauges. That the out-of-gauge equations of motion are satisfied is proved using a fixed-point argument due to Schnabl [1]. This section simply provides a slightly different perspective on [94].
- 2. We explore relevant deformations to leading order where no gauge fixing is required. In the near-marginal limit, we reproduce the result of Affleck and Ludwig (3.61) by using the correspondence between the OSFT action and Δg . We also validate our result (3.71) for ΔB_a^{ϕ} by invoking the KMS correspondence. These results, which hold for a perturbation by a single operator are then easily generalised to the case of multiple perturbing operators. After this, we investigate the spectrum of linearised fluctuations around the perturbative solution. We show that the perturbing operator is removed from the cohomology after flowing to the IR.
- 3. After fixing Siegel gauge, we use the Berkovits-Schnabl trick [114] to derive a completely new result in CPT, which is the next-to-leading correction to Δg for a generic weakly relevant perturbation by a single operator. The result is expressed by a regularised off-shell zero-momentum four-point amplitude of open string tachyons in the on-shell limit and we discuss how the entire moduli space is covered. We note that a drastic cancellation between the auxiliary OSFT factors such as $K = \frac{3\sqrt{3}}{4}$

occurs, hinting at possible simple all-order prescriptions. The result was tested on a theory of a nontrivial c = 2 free boson and we got a high precision match with [104].

- 4. In Schnabl gauge, we derive a closed form for the up to third order perturbative solution corresponding to relevant deformations. We encounter a technical obstacle in that projectors in sliver frame are not orthogonal but oblique, which leads us to developing a method of level expanding star products of an arbitrary number of singular operator insertions. By using the KMS correspondence, we check the result by reproducing (3.61). Together with the result of section (5.3), it appears that OSFT provides a consistent framework for doing CPT calculations to all orders.
- 5. This is the most experimental of the five sections. We discuss what a solution analogous to (5.4) in pseudo-Schnabl gauge [86, 115] might look like. Our guess gives the correct leading order result (3.61), but violates the equations of motion in the sense that we don't know how the coupling is to be tuned for source terms to disappear. We think this match is because of gauge invariance and cyclicity of the Ellwood invariant through which we compute Δg .

The work is based on collaboration with Martin Schnabl and the first three sections are available in preprint [1] (with the exception of (5.2.4)).

5.1 The general framework

We have seen in the solution (4.134) of the quadratic equation (4.130) that the perturbative solution is dominated by a single contribution x_0 receiving higher order corrections. To do something similar in solving (4.42), we split the string field

$$\Psi = R + X,\tag{5.1}$$

where $R = \sum_i \lambda_i c V_i |0\rangle$ is the leading order contribution corresponding to a boundary deformation by $\sum_i \lambda_i \oint V_i$ with the X being higher order corrections. To solve (4.130), we fix Siegel gauge $b_0 \Psi = 0$ and by acting with b_0 on (4.130) and using $\{Q, b_0\} = L_0$, one has

$$L_0 \Psi + b_0 \Psi^2 = 0 \tag{5.2}$$

If we introduce a projector P such that $P\Psi = R$ and a projector $\bar{P} = 1 - P$ such that $\bar{P}\Psi = X$, we can split the EOMs into two sets

$$R + \frac{b_0}{L_0} P(R+X)^2 = 0 (5.3)$$

$$X + \frac{b_0}{L_0}\bar{P}(R+X)^2 = 0, \qquad (5.4)$$

where we also required that the projectors commute with Q. The equations (5.4) can be solved perturbatively

$$X = \Delta R^2 + \Delta \left\{ \Delta R^2, R \right\} + \dots, \qquad (5.5)$$

where the propagator is

$$\Delta = -\frac{b_0}{L_0}\bar{P} \tag{5.6}$$

In Feynman-diagrammatic language (5.5) is given by a sum over binary diagrams with vertices meaning star multiplication, internal lines an action of Δ and external lines an R. At a given order n, the number of such diagrams is C_n so their number grows exponentially as 4^n . This implies that R must be small enough in some sense with an action of Δ not producing divergences. Since we Schwinger parametrise the action of $\frac{1}{L_0}$, such divergences come from states of $h \leq 1$ and these are projected out by \overline{P} (if there are operators of $h \leq 1$ in the $V_i V_j$ OPEs not contained in R, they need to be included in there since they are turned on by the other perturbing operators). Actually weakly irrelevant operators have to projected out as well despite strictly speaking not producing divergences in $\frac{1}{L_0}$ since they have h > 1. This is so because in the near-marginal limit their contributions appear as poles, same as with weakly relevant operators.

In the following, we consider relevant deformations, which don't turn on marginal or weakly irrelevant terms so we don't need to worry about the case $h \geq 1$. In this case, for the validity of the perturbative approach, we must have for all SFT couplings $\lambda_i = O(y)$ with y being the RG eigenvalue of the least relevant field since schematically $\frac{1}{L_0} \rightarrow \frac{1}{h_i-1} \sim \frac{1}{y_i}$. Once we have the solution X to (5.4), we can plug it into (5.3) to obtain a set of polynomial equations for the couplings λ_i . To leading order these polynomial equations are actually independent of X and so independent of the gauge since X is second order. This can be seen by realising that (5.3) is equivalent to

$$QR + P(R + X)^{2} = QR + PR^{2} + O(R^{3}) = 0$$
(5.7)

This equivalence follows from acting with Q on (5.3)

$$QR + Q\left(\frac{b_0}{L_0}P(R+X)^2\right) = 0 = QR + P(R+X)^2 + \frac{b_0}{L_0}Q\left(P(R+X)^2\right)$$
$$= QR + P(R+X)^2$$
(5.8)

and seeing that P when acting at ghost number 2 projects to Q-exact states $c\partial cV_i |0\rangle$. One may ask whether the full EOMs (4.42) are satisfied and not only their projection to Siegel gauge. The equivalence of (5.3) and (5.7) means that this statement needs to be verified for the \bar{P} projected equations (5.4). One then finds after using the splitting (5.1)

$$Q\Psi + \Psi^{2} = \frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}\bar{P}Q(\Psi^{2}) = \frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}\bar{P}[Q\Psi,\Psi]$$
$$= \frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}\bar{P}\left[\frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}\bar{P}Q(\Psi^{2}),\Psi\right] = \dots,$$
(5.9)

where we used that $Q\Psi + \Psi^2 = \frac{b_0}{L_0} \bar{P}Q(\Psi^2)$ and $[\Psi^2, \Psi] = 0$. Assuming that Ψ is parametrically small, this turns into a fixed-point argument showing that the full EOMs are satisfied. The fixed-point argument works only if the repeated action of Δ on exact states at ghost number 3 is not divergent. This is indeed the case since the problematic weight 0 ghost number 3 state $c\partial c\partial^2 c$ is not exact. The states $c\partial c\partial^2 cV$ are irrelevant so they pose no problem if they are not continuously connected to the identity (we should have a gap between the h = 0 identity and the next most relevant operator).

In the following, we write $\Psi = \Psi_1 + \Psi_2 + \ldots$, where $\Psi_n = O(y^n)$ with y being the RG eigenvalue of the least relevant operator (this will become clear after we prove $\lambda_i = O(y)$ in (5.2.1)). In this notation one has $R = \Psi_1$ and $X = \Psi_2 + \ldots$

5.2 No gauge fixing

In this section we first analyse the perturbation with $R = \Psi_1 = \lambda c V |0\rangle$ inserted to the unit half-disc of weight h with RG eigenvalue y = 1 - hto leading order. The operator V is assumed to have a two-point function normalised to unity. First the EOMs are solved, giving the SFT couplings and then Δg and $\Delta B_{\phi V}$ are computed in the small y limit, obtaining a correspondence with CPT (3.61), (3.71). We also provide a generalisation to multiple perturbing operators.

5.2.1 The equations of motion

The leading order equations of motion for a perturbation by $R = \lambda c V |0\rangle$ are simply given by plugging the perturbation into (5.7)

$$\lambda Q(cV) + \lambda^2 P(cV)^2 + \ldots = 0 \tag{5.10}$$

using

$$Q(cV) = -yc\partial cV \qquad (5.11)$$

$$P(cV)^{2} = \frac{1}{g_{0}} \langle cV, cV^{2} \rangle c\partial cV = \frac{1}{g_{0}} \langle cV, cV, cV \rangle c\partial cV \qquad (5.12)$$

$$= -C_{VVV} K^{-3y} c\partial cV, \qquad (5.12)$$

where we used (4.11), the three-vertex (4.56) and the ghost vertex $\langle c, c, c \rangle = -1$. The equation (5.10) then becomes

$$\lambda(y - \lambda C_{VVV} K^{-3y}) c \partial c V + \ldots = 0 = \lambda(y - \lambda C_{VVV}) + O(y^2), \qquad (5.13)$$

with the nontrivial $\lambda \neq 0$ solution

$$\lambda = \frac{y}{C_{VVV}} + O(y^2) \tag{5.14}$$

which to leading order matches the BCFT result (3.48).

The generalisation to multiple perturbations is simple, since one simply has as many equations as projectors and sums over all fields that give a nonzero OPE

$$\lambda_i y_i - \sum_{jk} \lambda_j \lambda_k C_{ijk} K^{-y_i - y_j - y_k} = \lambda_i \tilde{y}_i y - \sum_{jk} \lambda_j \lambda_k C_{ijk} K^{(-\tilde{y}_i - \tilde{y}_k - \tilde{y}_l)y}$$
$$= \lambda_i y_i - \sum_{jk} \lambda_j \lambda_k C_{ijk} + O(y^2) = 0 (5.15)$$

where we denoted $y_i = \tilde{y}_i y$ with y being the smallest RG eigenvalue serving as a common expansion parameter. This gives a coupled set of quadratic equations.

5.2.2 The *g*-function

We now plug $\Psi = \Psi_1 + \ldots$ into the *g*-function formula (4.59) to obtain

$$\Delta g = \frac{\pi^2}{3} \langle \Psi_1, Q \Psi_1 \rangle + \dots$$
 (5.16)

and using $\langle V, V \rangle = g_0$ and $\langle c, c\partial c \rangle = -1$, we have

$$\Delta g = -\frac{\pi^2}{3}g_0 y \lambda^2 + \dots \tag{5.17}$$

Using the fixed-point SFT coupling (5.14), we simply have

$$\frac{\Delta g}{g_0} = -\frac{\pi^2}{3} \frac{y^3}{C_{VVV}^2} + O(y^4), \qquad (5.18)$$

which is the result (3.61) of Affleck and Ludwig. It is astonishing how much simpler the OSFT calculation is compared to the boundary CPT one. This inspired us to extend this calculation to the next-to-leading order, see (5.3), which would be very difficult in CPT and so far nobody else calculated Δg to $O(y^4)$ as far as we know (although see [116] for some next-to-leading results). The leading order result can also be reproduced by level truncating the string field to level less than zero state Ψ_1 and evaluating the off-shell action of Ψ_1 , which gives it as a function of λ

$$S[\Psi_1](\lambda) = -\frac{1}{2}y\lambda^2 \langle cV, c\partial cV \rangle - \frac{1}{3}\lambda^3 \langle cV, cV, cV \rangle = \frac{1}{2}y\lambda^2 - \frac{1}{3}\lambda^3 C_{VVV}K^{3y}$$
(5.19)

Finding an extremum with respect to λ gives $\lambda_* = \frac{K^{-3y}y}{C_{VVV}} = \frac{y}{C_{VVV}} + O(y^2)$, which gives the extremal value

$$S[\Psi_1](\lambda_*) = \frac{2^{-1+12y}3^{-1-9y}y^3}{C_{VVV}} = \frac{y^3}{6C_{VVV}} + O(y^4)$$
(5.20)

One can also check this result by setting y = 1 as appropriate for the universal tachyon, which then gives $\frac{2^{11}}{3^{10}}$. This is the well-known first approximation to the value of the tachyon vacuum action.

The generalisation to multiple perturbing operators is very simple by the BPZ-orthogonality $\langle V_i, V_j \rangle = g_0 \delta_{i,j}$

$$\frac{\Delta g}{g_0} = -\frac{\pi^2}{3} \sum_i y_i \lambda_i^2 + \dots,$$
 (5.21)

where we just plug in the couplings obtained by solving the quadratic equations (5.15).

5.2.3 The general boundary state coefficient

For the shift in the general boundary state coefficient $\Delta B_{\phi V}$, we invoke the KMS correspondence (4.74)

$$\Delta B_{\phi V} = 2\pi i \langle I | \tilde{\phi}(i) | \Psi_1 \rangle + \dots$$

= $2\pi i \lambda 2 i 2^{\Delta - 2} 2^{h - 1} \langle \phi(i) V(0) \rangle + \dots$
= $2\pi i \lambda 2 i 2^{\Delta - 2} 2^{h - 1} \frac{g_0 B_{\phi V}}{2^{\Delta - h}} + \dots$
= $-\pi \lambda 2^{2h - 1} g_0 B_{\phi V} + \dots,$ (5.22)

where we used that $|I\rangle = U_f^{\dagger} |0\rangle$ with $f = \frac{2}{1-z^2}$ and the correlators (A.3),(A.16). Plugging in the fixed point coupling (5.14) gives

$$\frac{\Delta B_{\phi V}}{g_0} = -2\pi \frac{B_{\phi V}}{C_{VVV}} + O(y^2)$$
(5.23)

as derived by CPT (3.71). The generalisation to multiple perturbing operators is again simple

$$\frac{\Delta B_{\phi V_i}}{g_0} = -\pi \sum_j \lambda_j 2^{2h_j - 1} B_{\phi V_j} + \dots, \qquad (5.24)$$

where we plug in the solution of (5.15).

5.2.4 The spectrum of linearised fluctuations

We would now like to investigate the cohomology of the shifted kinetic operator Q_{Ψ} , see (4.3.2), for Ψ the perturbative solution described in (5.1). Such a computation should give one access to the operator mixings and perhaps may open a way to study shifts in operator dimensions via diagonalising the shifted Hamiltonian H_{Ψ} . We first want to see which states A are closed in the new background and to do this, we have to solve

$$Q_{\Psi}A = QA + \{\Psi, A\} = 0 \tag{5.25}$$

We make the ansatz $A = A_0 + \delta A$, where A_0 is a member of the ghost number 1 cohomology of the undeformed background, meaning $QA_0 = 0, A_0 \neq Q\Lambda$. We split δA by a projector P such that $P\delta A = \delta A_R$ and $\bar{P}\delta A = \delta A_X$. This projector projects on the near-marginal states, which are contained in the OPE of A_0 and Ψ_1 analogously as before when we projected on the states contained in the OPE of Ψ_1 and Ψ_1 . Thus the equation (5.25) can be split into two

$$Q\delta A_R + P\{\Psi, A\} = 0 \tag{5.26}$$

$$Q\delta A_X + P\{\Psi, A\} = 0, \qquad (5.27)$$

where we used $QA_0 = 0$. We solve (5.27) by fixing Siegel gauge (can be extended to other gauges just as in (5.1)) $b_0 \delta A_X = 0$. We can fix a gauge because we have the linearised gauge invariance $A \to A + Q_{\Psi} \Lambda$, which is completely fixed by choosing Siegel gauge. The solution to (5.27) then becomes

$$\delta A_X = -\frac{b_0}{L_0} \bar{P}\{\Psi, A\} \tag{5.28}$$

We now have to check that the full equations of motion (5.25) are satisfied. To do so, we again use a fixed point argument since

$$QA + \{\Psi, A\} = -\frac{b_0}{L_0} \bar{P}Q\{\Psi, A\}$$
(5.29)

and one has

$$Q\{\Psi, A\} = (Q\Psi)A - \Psi QA + (QA)\Psi - AQ\Psi = -\Psi^2 A + [QA, \Psi] + A\Psi^2 = -\Psi^2 A - [\{\Psi, A\}, \Psi] + A\Psi^2 - \left[\frac{b_0}{L_0}\bar{P}Q\{\Psi, A\}, \Psi\right] = -\left[\frac{b_0}{L_0}\bar{P}Q\{\Psi, A\}, \Psi\right]$$
(5.30)

Since the propagator acts on exact states at ghost number 3 as in (5.1), there are no divergences from $\frac{1}{L_0}$ and since Ψ is small, the fixed point argument is complete. Note that there was a cancellation needed for the fixed point argument to go through in contrast with (5.1). In fact we'll get an even more surprising cancellation trying to solve the equation

$$A = Q_{\Psi}B,\tag{5.31}$$

where B is at ghost number 0. If the equation (5.31) has a solution, the string field A_0 flows to a trivial member of the cohomology of Q_{Ψ} . We could again try to solve (5.31) perturbatively by writing $B = B_0 + \delta B_R + \delta B_X$, where $QB_0 = A|_{y=0}$ and $\delta B_R = PB$, $\delta B_X = \bar{P}B$, where P projects onto the near-marginal fields in the OPE of B_0 and Ψ_1 . We note that the equation for B_0 need not be the contradicting $QB_0 = A_0$ (remember, A_0 is a nontrivial member of the cohomology of Q) since δA_R may be O(1). On the other hand if one has $\delta A_R = O(y)$, we immediately know that A_0 stays in the cohomology. We again split (5.31) into two

$$PA = QPB + P[\Psi, B] \tag{5.32}$$

$$\bar{P}A = Q\bar{P}B + \bar{P}[\Psi, B] \tag{5.33}$$

Now we solve (5.33) by fixing the gauge

$$\bar{P}B = \frac{b_0}{L_0}\bar{P}\left(A - [\Psi, B]\right) \tag{5.34}$$

and we again employ a fixed point argument to show that (5.31) is solved

$$A - (QB + [\Psi, B]) = -\frac{b_0}{L_0} \bar{P}Q(A - [\Psi, B])$$
(5.35)

where we use

$$Q[\Psi, B] = (Q\Psi)B - \Psi QB - (QB)\Psi - BQ\Psi = -\Psi^2 B - \{QB, \Psi\} + B\Psi^2 = -\Psi^2 B + \{[\Psi, B], \Psi\} - \{\Psi, A\} + B\Psi^2 + \left\{\frac{b_0}{L_0}\bar{P}Q(A - [\Psi, B]), \Psi\right\} = -\{\Psi, A\} + \left\{\frac{b_0}{L_0}\bar{P}Q(A - [\Psi, B]), \Psi\right\},$$
(5.36)

so that

$$-\frac{b_0}{L_0}\bar{P}Q(A - [\Psi, B]) = -\frac{b_0}{L_0}\bar{P}\left\{-\frac{b_0}{L_0}\bar{P}Q(A - [\Psi, B]), \Psi\right\},$$
(5.37)

where we used the equation of motion (5.25) for A. The propagator acts at ghost number 2 and we may encounter contributions from the problematic Q-exact states $c\partial cV |0\rangle$ for V near-marginal but not marginal. We are saved by the fact that $QcV |0\rangle = yc\partial cV |0\rangle$ with y = 1 - h small for such states so when the problematic states arise by the action of Q they are accompanied by y. Thus these potentially problematic contributions are actually O(1) and don't spoil the fixed point argument.

We now use the formalism built above to show that the perturbing operator vanishes from the cohomology when flowing to the IR, a result that can be obtained without gauge fixing. To do this, we consider the simplest case $\Psi_1 = \lambda c V |0\rangle$, $\lambda = \frac{y}{C_{VVV}} + O(y^2)$ with $[V] \times [V] = [\mathbb{1}] + [V]$. The operator in the cohomology A_0 will be the $cV |0\rangle$ but tensored with an appropriate exponential to make it weight 1 so that its physical

$$A_0 \sim cV e^{ikX} \left| 0 \right\rangle \tag{5.38}$$

This means that $[A_0] \times [\Psi_1] = [c\partial c e^{ikX}] + [c\partial c V e^{ikX}]$, where $c\partial c e^{ikX}$ is not nearly marginal so that P at ghost number 1 projects onto $cV e^{ikX}$, that is onto A_0 . This means that

$$\delta A_R \sim A_0 \sim cV e^{ikX} \left| 0 \right\rangle \tag{5.39}$$

and the P projected equation (5.26) is

$$Q\delta A_R + P\{\Psi, A\} = 0, \qquad (5.40)$$

which becomes

$$P\{\Psi_1, A_0 + \delta A_R\} + O(y^2) = 0, \qquad (5.41)$$

where we used $Q\delta A_R = 0$ as is specific to this setup. Since the projector is nontrivial because of the OPE structure of A_0 and Ψ_1 , we must have

$$A_0 + \delta A_R = O(y), \tag{5.42}$$

which gives $\delta A_X = O(y^2)$ because of (5.28). But then one has $A_0 + \delta A_R = O(y^2)$ since δA_X contributes as $O(y^3)$ in (5.41). Repeating this argument we have $A_0 + \delta A_R = O(y^\infty) = 0$ so that also $\delta A_X = 0$. Taken together, we have A = 0 so that the perturbing tachyon is not present in the Q_{Ψ} cohomology. A similar phenomenon was observed in the unitary minimal models [65], where the boundary flow triggered by the least relevant operator leads to a stable boundary condition with no nontrivial relevant operators present. This should not be confused with Zamolodchikov's bulk flows [42], which present a chain of least relevant bulk perturbations.

5.3 Siegel gauge

We now fix Siegel gauge $b_0 \Psi = 0$ meaning that the propagator is $\Delta = -\frac{b_0}{L_0} \bar{P}$ just as in (5.1). The equation (5.7) for the coupling then becomes

$$Q\Psi_1 + P\Psi_1^2 + P\{\Psi_2, \Psi_1\} + \ldots = 0, \qquad (5.43)$$

with $\Psi_2 = -\frac{b_0}{L_0}\overline{P}$. After defining the four-point amplitude

$$\mathcal{A} \equiv \langle cV * cV, \frac{b_0}{L_0} \bar{P} cV * cV \rangle$$

= $\langle cV(-\sqrt{3}) cV(\sqrt{3}) U_3 \left(\frac{b_0}{L_0} \bar{P}\right) U_3^{\dagger} cV \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right) cV \left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right), \quad (5.44)$

where U_n implements the transformation $z \to \tan\left(\frac{2}{n}\arctan z\right)$, the equation (5.46) becomes

$$\lambda(y - \lambda C_{VVV}K^{-3y} - 2\lambda^2 \mathcal{A})c\partial cV + \ldots = 0, \qquad (5.45)$$

which is just (5.13) with \mathcal{A} added. This is solved by

$$\lambda = \frac{y}{C_{VVV}} + \frac{1}{C_{VVV}} \left(\frac{2\mathcal{A}}{C_{VVV}^2} - \ln K^3\right) y^3 + O(y^4)$$
(5.46)

The g-function to the next-to-leading order has the form

$$\Delta g = \frac{\pi^2}{3} \left(\langle \Psi_1, Q \Psi_1 \rangle + \langle \Psi_2, Q \Psi_2 \rangle \right) + \dots, \qquad (5.47)$$

and one can write

$$\langle \Psi_2, Q\Psi_2 \rangle = -\langle \Psi_2, \bar{P}\Psi_1 * \Psi_1 \rangle = -\langle \Psi_2, \Psi_1 * \Psi_1 \rangle = -\lambda^4 \mathcal{A}, \qquad (5.48)$$

so that after plugging in the coupling (5.46), we get

$$\frac{\Delta g}{g_0} = -\frac{\pi^2}{3} \left(\frac{y^3}{(C_{VVV})^2} + \left(3\frac{\mathcal{A}}{g_0 C_{VVV}^4} - \frac{6}{C_{VVV}^2} \ln K \right) y^4 \right) + O(y^5), \quad (5.49)$$

all that is left is to evaluate the four-point amplitude \mathcal{A} . We evaluate it using the Berkovits-Schnabl trick [114], that is we use the Hodge-Kodaira decomposition

$$1 = \left\{Q, \frac{b_0}{L_0}\bar{P}\right\} + P \tag{5.50}$$

behind the factor U_3^{\dagger} in (5.44). Taking note of the fact that Q(cV) = O(y), we then have

$$\mathcal{A} = \langle cV\left(-\sqrt{3}\right) cV\left(\sqrt{3}\right) U_{3}\bar{P}U_{3}^{\dagger}\left(\frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}\bar{P}\right) cV\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right) cV\left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right) \rangle + \langle cV\left(-\sqrt{3}\right) cV\left(\sqrt{3}\right) U_{3}\left(\frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}\bar{P}\right) U_{3}^{\dagger}PcV\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right) cV\left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right) \rangle + O(y)$$

$$\tag{5.51}$$

In the second term we use the Berkovits-Schnabl trick again, but this time behind the U_3

$$\langle cV\left(-\sqrt{3}\right)cV\left(\sqrt{3}\right)U_{3}\left(\frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}\bar{P}\right)U_{3}^{\dagger}PcV\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)cV\left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)\rangle = \\ \langle cV\left(-\sqrt{3}\right)cV\left(\sqrt{3}\right)PU_{3}\left(\frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}\bar{P}\right)U_{3}^{\dagger}PcV\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)cV\left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)\rangle + \\ \langle cV\left(-\sqrt{3}\right)cV\left(\sqrt{3}\right)\left(\frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}\bar{P}\right)U_{3}\bar{P}U_{3}^{\dagger}PcV\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)cV\left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)\rangle, \quad (5.52)$$

where we used that QP = 0 with P acting at ghost number 2 together with $\left\{Q, \frac{b_0}{L_0}\right\} = 1$. Using BPZ conjugation, we bring together the first term of

(5.51) and the second term of (5.52)

$$\mathcal{A} = \langle cV\left(-\sqrt{3}\right) cV\left(\sqrt{3}\right) (1+P)U_{3}\bar{P}U_{3}^{\dagger}\left(\frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}\bar{P}\right) cV\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right) cV\left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right) \rangle + \langle cV\left(-\sqrt{3}\right) cV\left(\sqrt{3}\right) PU_{3}\left(\frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}\bar{P}\right) U_{3}^{\dagger}PcV\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right) cV\left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right) \rangle + O(y)$$

$$\tag{5.53}$$

Now we use $\bar{P}U_3^{\dagger}\bar{P} = U_3^{\dagger}\bar{P}$, which follows from $PU_3^{\dagger}\bar{P} = 0$ as can be seen by BPZ conjugating $\bar{P}U_3P = 0$, which holds because primaries transform to primaries under conformal transformations. This gives

$$\mathcal{A} = \langle cV\left(-\sqrt{3}\right)cV\left(\sqrt{3}\right)(1+P)U_{3}U_{3}^{\dagger}\left(\frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}\bar{P}\right)cV\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)cV\left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)\rangle + \langle cV\left(-\sqrt{3}\right)cV\left(\sqrt{3}\right)PU_{3}\left(\frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}\bar{P}\right)U_{3}^{\dagger}PcV\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)cV\left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)\rangle + O(y)$$

$$(5.54)$$

Focusing on the second term of (5.54), we first compute

$$PcV\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)cV\left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right) = -C_{VVV}\left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}\right)^{1-h}c\partial cV\left|0\right\rangle,\qquad(5.55)$$

as follows from the OPE

$$cV(x)cV(-x) \sim -\sum_{V'} C_{VVV'} \frac{c\partial cV'(0)}{(2x)^{2h-h'-1}},$$
 (5.56)

where V' are relevant operators (not weakly relevant since we are considering perturbation by a single operator V). The second term then becomes

$$C_{VVV}^{2} \left(\frac{4}{3}\right)^{y} \left\langle c\partial cV \right| U_{3} \frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}} \bar{P} U_{3}^{\dagger} \left| c\partial cV \right\rangle$$

$$(5.57)$$

since we use the projection (5.55) twice. Now we split the projector in (5.57) as $\overline{P} = 1 - P$, after which we use

$$PU_3^{\dagger} |c\partial cV\rangle = \left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^{h-1} |c\partial cV\rangle, \qquad (5.58)$$

in which we made U_3^{\dagger} act on the left, where it acts on a primary giving the scale factor $\left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^{h-1}$. Then we use the Berkovits-Schnabl trick again

$$C_{VVV}^{2}\left(\frac{4}{3}\right)^{y}\left\langle c\partial cV\right|U_{3}\frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}U_{3}^{\dagger}\left|c\partial cV\right\rangle = C_{VVV}^{2}\left(\frac{4}{3}\right)^{y}\left\langle c\partial cV\right|U_{3}U_{3}^{\dagger}\frac{b_{0}}{L_{0}}\left|c\partial cV\right\rangle,$$
(5.59)

and commuting the U factors, see [83]

$$U_3 U_3^{\dagger} = U_{\frac{8}{3}}^{\dagger} U_{\frac{8}{3}}, \tag{5.60}$$

we have by performing the conformal transformation implemented by the Us

$$-g_0 C_{VVV}^2 \left(\frac{4}{3}\right)^y \frac{1}{y} \left(\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^{-2y} - \left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^{-2y}\right)$$

= $g_0 C_{VVV}^2 \ln \frac{81}{64} + O(y)$ (5.61)

Maccaferri conjectured [117] that there exists a geometric constant γ independent of the underlying matter CFT such that

$$\left\langle c\partial cV \right| U_3\left(\frac{b_0}{L_0}\bar{P}\right) U_3^{\dagger} \left| c\partial cV \right\rangle = \gamma \left\langle c\partial cV \right| b_0 \left| c\partial cV \right\rangle \tag{5.62}$$

and we have proved by (5.61) that $\gamma = \ln \frac{81}{64}$ which agrees with level truncation [117] to seven decimal places. This computation was made possible by the fact that our field was not marginal making intermediate expressions such as $\frac{1}{h-1}$ well-defined. That is, we do not rely on \bar{P} to make $\frac{1}{L_0}$ well-defined, it is present only for power counting purposes so that no poles in y occur.

We continue with the first term in (5.54) and to do this we first calculate

$$U_{\frac{8}{3}}\frac{b_0}{L_0}\bar{P}cV\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)cV\left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)|0\rangle = U_{\frac{8}{3}}\frac{b_0}{L_0}\bar{P}\left(cV\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)cV\left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\right)\pm\sum_{V'}C_{VVV'}\left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}\right)^{1+h'-2h}c\partial cV'(0)\right)|0\rangle,$$
(5.63)

where the plus-minus notation means that we add and subtract the same term. For this the OPE (5.56) was used so that we can Schwinger parametrise the action of L_0 as

$$\frac{1}{L_0} = \int_0^1 \frac{ds}{s} s^{L_0} \tag{5.64}$$

meaning that we use the Schwinger parametrisation on the plus branch and we explicitly divide by weight on the minus branch. Doing so we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{1} ds \left[\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\mu}{\mathrm{d}s} \right)^{2h-1} \frac{s^{2h-2}}{\sqrt{3}} \left(c\left(\mu\right) + c\left(-\mu\right) \right) V\left(\mu\right) V\left(-\mu\right) - \sum_{V' \neq V} C_{VVV'} \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \right)^{1+h'-2h} \left(\frac{4}{3} \right)^{1-h'} \left(\frac{1}{s^{2-h'}} + \frac{1}{1-h'} \right)$$
(5.65)
$$cV'(0) - C_{VVV} \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \right)^{1-h} \left(\frac{4}{3} \right)^{1-h} \frac{1}{s^{2-h}} cV(0) \right] |0\rangle$$

where $\mu(s) = \tan \frac{3}{4} \arctan \frac{s}{\sqrt{3}}$ is present since $U_{\frac{8}{3}}$ implements the conformal transformation $z \to \tan \frac{3}{4} \arctan z$. The subterm in the first term of (5.54) containing P can then be calculated as

$$-C_{VVV}\left(\frac{8}{3\sqrt{3}}\right)^{1-h} \left\{c\partial_{c}V\right\| \int_{0}^{1} ds \left[\left(\frac{d\mu}{ds}\right)^{2h-1} \frac{s^{2h-2}}{\sqrt{3}} \left(c\left(\mu\right)+c\left(-\mu\right)\right) V\left(\mu\right) V\left(-\mu\right)\right. \\ \left.-\sum_{V'\neq V} C_{VVV'}\left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}\right)^{1+h'-2h} \left(\frac{4}{3}\right)^{1-h'} \left(\frac{1}{s^{2-h'}}+\frac{1}{1-h'}\right) \left(5.66\right)\right. \\ \left.cV'(0)-C_{VVV}\left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}\right)^{1-h} \left(\frac{4}{3}\right)^{1-h} \frac{1}{s^{2-h}} cV(0)\right] \left|0\right\rangle \\ \left.=g_{0}C_{VVV}^{2} \ln \frac{4}{\sqrt{3}}a+O(y)\right\}$$

where $a \equiv \tan \frac{\pi}{8} = \sqrt{2} - 1$ and we used the orthogonality $\langle c \partial c V | c V' \rangle = 0$. The final term to calculate is then

$$\begin{aligned} \langle cV\left(\sqrt{3}\right) cV\left(-\sqrt{3}\right) U_{\frac{8}{3}}^{*} \\ &\int_{0}^{1} \mathrm{d}s \bigg[\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\mu}{\mathrm{d}s}\right)^{2h-1} \frac{s^{2h-2}}{\sqrt{3}} \left(c\left(\mu\right) + c\left(-\mu\right)\right) V\left(\mu\right) V\left(-\mu\right) \\ &- \sum_{V' \neq V} C_{VVV'} \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}\right)^{1+h'-2h} \left(\frac{4}{3}\right)^{1-h'} \left(\frac{1}{s^{2-h'}} + \frac{1}{1-h'}\right) cV'(0) \\ &- C_{VVV} \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}\right)^{1-h} \left(\frac{4}{3}\right)^{1-h} \frac{1}{s^{2-h}} cV(0) \bigg] \rangle \end{aligned}$$
(5.67)
$$&= \int_{0}^{1} ds \bigg[\frac{4}{\sqrt{3}a} \left(\frac{1}{a^{2}} - \mu^{2}\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu}{\mathrm{d}s} \langle V\left(-\frac{1}{a}\right) V\left(\frac{1}{a}\right) V\left(\mu\right) V\left(-\mu\right) \rangle \\ &- g_{0} \sum_{V' \neq V} C_{VVV'}^{2} \left(\sqrt{3}a\right)^{h'-1} \left(\frac{1}{s^{2-h'}} + \frac{1}{1-h'}\right) - C_{VVV}^{2} \frac{g_{0}}{s} \bigg] \\ &+ O(y) \end{aligned}$$

It turns out that a tremendous simplification occurs when we use the generic form of the four-point function (2.54)

$$\int_{0}^{1} ds \left[\frac{4}{\sqrt{3}a} \left(\frac{1}{a^{2}} - \mu^{2} \right) \frac{d\mu}{ds} \langle V \left(-\frac{1}{a} \right) V \left(\frac{1}{a} \right) V \left(\mu \right) V \left(-\mu \right) \rangle \right], \qquad (5.68)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} d\xi \langle V | V(1) V(\xi) | V \rangle$$
with the cross-ratio being explicitly given by

$$\xi(s) = 4a \frac{\mu(s)}{\left(1 + a\mu(s)\right)^2}$$
(5.69)

What is left to do is to perform the integral over the subtractions in (5.67). Doing the integral in the *s* variable is complicated but one can use a trick. We imagine employing an auxiliary cutoff $\tilde{\epsilon}$ on the manifestly finite contribution (5.67) to separate the integral into two, one containing the four-point function and the other the subtractions. After we calculate the integral over the subtractions, we get a function of $\tilde{\epsilon}$ and then we take $\epsilon = \xi(\tilde{\epsilon})$ to zero. We have

$$\tilde{\epsilon}(\epsilon) = \sqrt{1 + \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{3}}\epsilon + \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{3\sqrt{2}}}\epsilon^2 + O(\epsilon^3)$$
(5.70)

Integration over the subtractions in (5.67) is then straightforward and yields

$$\sum_{V' \neq V} C_{VVV'}^2 \left(\sqrt{3}a\right)^{h'-1} \frac{\tilde{\epsilon}^{h'-1}}{h'-1} + C_{VVV}^2 \ln \tilde{\epsilon}$$

= $\sum_{V' \neq V} C_{VVV'}^2 \left(\frac{\epsilon^{h'-1}}{h'-1} + \frac{1}{2}\delta_{h'=0}\right)$
+ $C_{VVV}^2 (\ln \epsilon + \ln \frac{\sqrt{2}+1}{\sqrt{3}}) + O(\epsilon)$ (5.71)

The integral over the cross-ratio ξ has the cutoff ϵ (without the tilde) and we can regulate it by the OPE structure of (5.56)

$$\int_{\epsilon}^{\frac{1}{2}} d\xi \left(\langle V | V(1) V(\xi) | V \rangle - g_0 \sum_{V'} C_{VVV'}^2 \frac{1}{\xi^{2-h'}} \right) + g_0 \sum_{V' \neq V} C_{VVV'}^2 \left(\frac{2^{1-h'}}{h'-1} - \frac{\epsilon^{h'-1}}{h'-1} \right) + g_0 C_{VVV}^2 \left(\ln 2 - \ln \epsilon \right)$$
(5.72)

We see that the divergent terms of (5.71) and (5.72) cancel each other out and we can take $\epsilon \to 0$.

Putting all the contributions together we obtain

$$\mathcal{A} = \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} d\xi \left(\langle V | V(1) V(\xi) | V \rangle - g_0 \sum_{V'} C_{VVV'}^2 \frac{1}{\xi^{2-h'}} \right) + g_0 \sum_{V' \neq V} C_{VVV'}^2 \left(\frac{2^{1-h'}}{h'-1} + \frac{1}{2} \delta_{h'=0} \right) + g_0 C_{VVV}^2 \left(\ln \frac{\sqrt{2}+1}{\sqrt{3}} + \ln \frac{81}{64} + \ln \frac{4a}{\sqrt{3}} \right) + O(y)$$
(5.73)

For convenience we add subtractions in $1-\xi$ (they are not needed when $\xi\in[0,\frac{1}{2}])$

$$\mathcal{A} = \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} d\xi \left(\langle V | V(1) V(\xi) | V \rangle - g_0 \sum_{V'} C_{VVV'}^2 \left(\frac{1}{\xi^{2-h'}} + \frac{1}{(1-\xi)^{2-h'}} \right) \right) + g_0 \sum_{V' \neq V} C_{VVV'}^2 \left(\frac{1}{h'-1} + \frac{1}{2} \delta_{h'=0} \right) + g_0 C_{VVV}^2 \left(\ln \frac{\sqrt{2}+1}{\sqrt{3}} + \ln \frac{81}{64} + \ln \frac{4a}{\sqrt{3}} \right) + O(y)$$
(5.74)

As a trivial illustration of this formula we can take the exactly marginal free boson, see (2.8.3), $V = \partial X$ for which

$$\langle \partial X | \, \partial X \, (1) \, \partial X \, (\xi) \, | \partial X \rangle = 1 + \frac{1}{\xi^2} + \frac{1}{(1-\xi)^2}$$
 (5.75)

so that the four-point amplitude vanishes

$$\frac{\mathcal{A}}{g_0} = \left(\int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathrm{d}\xi\right) - 1 + \frac{1}{2} = 0, \qquad (5.76)$$

where we used $C_{\partial X \partial X \partial X} = 0$ and that the only V' over which we sum is the identity with h' = 0. This vanishing is expected since \mathcal{A} gives a nonzero term to the equation for λ , but for exactly marginal deformation we expect λ to be unrestricted and thus the equation for λ schematically has the form $\lambda 0 = 0$. See also [118] for Sen's evaluation of this amplitude with the same result, where in that context ∂X is associated with the collective degrees of freedom of a D-instanton. Sen passes from the worldsheet to SFT by transforming from the ξ coordinate to the *s* coordinate, where we know how to handle divergences. We go the other way around since we want to make contact with CPT which is naturally formulated on the worldsheet. We see a lot of numerical factors in the result (5.78), but what is astonishing is that they all cancel in Δg , see (5.49)

$$\frac{\Delta g}{g_0} = -\frac{\pi^2}{3} \left(\frac{y^3}{C_{VVV}^2} + 3 \frac{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}}{C_{VVV}^4} y^4 \right) + O(y^5), \tag{5.77}$$

where

$$\tilde{\mathcal{A}} = \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} d\xi \left(\frac{1}{g_{0}} \left\langle V | V(1) V(\xi) | V \right\rangle - \sum_{V'} C_{VVV'}^{2} \left(\frac{1}{\xi^{2-h'}} + \frac{1}{(1-\xi)^{2-h'}} \right) \right) + \sum_{V' \neq V} C_{VVV'}^{2} \left(\frac{1}{h'-1} + \frac{1}{2} \delta_{h'=0} \right)$$
(5.78)

We note that the four-point correlator in (5.78) can be calculated in the near-marginal limit $y \to 0$, that is to this order we can take the zeroth term in its Taylor expansion in y. At first sight it is not clear that the entire moduli space of the four-point amplitude is covered since we have three main regions of ξ : $\xi \in [0, 1], \xi \in [1, \infty]$ and $\xi \in [-\infty, 0]$ and the $\xi \in [0, \frac{1}{2}]$ makes a sixth of this moduli space. However, we have a factor of three in (5.49) and we are working to second order and this gives a $\frac{1}{2!}$ from CPT. Thus together, we actually have a $\frac{1}{2!}6\tilde{A}$ in the result (5.77), thus covering the entire moduli space. It is possible to extend the result to manifestly cover the entire moduli subtractions are needed, for example we need the $1 - \xi$ subtractions to extend the integral to $\xi \in [0, 1]$. We won't present the result here since it's not particularly illuminating.

We note that K does not decouple from the expression (5.46) for the SFT coupling

$$\lambda = \frac{y}{C_{VVV}} + \frac{1}{C_{VVV}} \left(\frac{2\tilde{\mathcal{A}}}{C_{VVV}^2} + \ln K\right) y^3 + O(y^4)$$
(5.79)

This is expected since λ is just an auxilliary normalisation factor, which is heavily scheme dependent.

5.4 Schnabl gauge

We work in Schnabl gauge $\mathcal{B}_0 \Psi = 0$ and consider the deformation by a single weakly relevant operator with $\Psi_1 = \lambda \sqrt{\Omega} c V \sqrt{\Omega}$, which is expressed in sliver frame. For simplicity we assume that the only relevant operators contained in the VV OPE are 1 and V.

5.4.1 Oblique projectors

Since we work in sliver frame, we can no longer compute action of the projector P by BPZ projecting as we've done so far, see for example the nontrivial operator transformation properties (4.88), which break BPZ orthogonality. This means that P is an oblique and not orthogonal projector. To deal with this, we invent a method of identifying the level expansion (from which we read off the projection) of an arbitrary number of singular operators from correlators. To do this, we consider the elementary identity

$$\mathcal{L}_0 = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}z} z^{\mathcal{L}_0} \Big|_{z=1},\tag{5.80}$$

which means that level expansion can be read off by reading powers of z after scaling with $z^{\mathcal{L}_0}$. This becomes clear after considering an example of projecting onto the ghost number 2 state $\sqrt{\Omega}c\partial cV\sqrt{\Omega}$, where the projection of a ghost number 2 state Φ is

$$P(\Phi) = -\frac{1}{g_0} \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{2h-2} \left(\frac{1}{z^{h-1}} \operatorname{Tr}\left\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}(z^{\mathcal{L}_0}\phi)\right\}\right)\Big|_{z=0} \sqrt{\Omega}c\partial cV\sqrt{\Omega}$$
(5.81)

To see why this is the correct definition, we put $\Phi = \sqrt{\Omega} c V \Omega c V \sqrt{\Omega}$, which we know should contain a $-C_{VVV} c \partial c V$ by the VV OPE (this will be shown in more detail in (5.4.2)) and now we use scaling

$$z^{\mathcal{L}_0}\sqrt{\Omega}cV\Omega cV\sqrt{\Omega} = z^{2h-2}\sqrt{\Omega}cV\Omega^z cV\sqrt{\Omega}$$
(5.82)

Then the overlap of (5.82) with $\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}$ is

$$-z^{2h-2}\operatorname{Tr}\left\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\Omega cV\Omega^{z}cV\sqrt{\Omega}\right\} = -C_{VVV}g_{0}\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{2-2h}z^{h-1} + O(z^{h}), (5.83)$$

which which one sees that after properly normalising, we have

$$P(\sqrt{\Omega}cV\Omega cV\sqrt{\Omega}) = -C_{VVV}\sqrt{\Omega}c\partial cV\sqrt{\Omega}$$
(5.84)

as it should. From this calculation it is clear that the projector formula works only if there is only one state of weight h that has nonzero overlap with cV. If this is violated, one would try to remove this degeneracy by considering products with operators that differentiate between the degenerate states, but this won't be necessary for our purposes. After using (5.84), the equation (5.7) then becomes

$$\lambda(y - \lambda C_{VVV})\sqrt{\Omega}c\partial cV\sqrt{\Omega} + \ldots = 0, \qquad (5.85)$$

so that $\lambda = \frac{y}{C_{VVV}} + O(y^2)$. It is interesting to compare (5.13) to (5.85), which are different but at the leading order give the same λ as they should since we haven't fixed a gauge yet and (4.89) establishes leading order frame independence. It is interesting that the equation (5.85) is the same as the vanishing of the beta function (3.47). This correspondence shouldn't be taken too literally since the renormalisation procedures are different in OSFT and CFT so only the leading order matches meaning that we are not computing the usual CPT beta functions in some conventional scheme.

5.4.2 Second order string field

Since we fixed Schnabl gauge, we have

$$\Psi_2 = -\frac{\mathcal{B}_0}{\mathcal{L}_0} \bar{P} \Psi_1^2, \tag{5.86}$$

where the star product is

$$\Psi_1^2 = \lambda^2 \sqrt{\Omega} c V \Omega c V \sqrt{\Omega} \tag{5.87}$$

We now need to level expand (5.87) in order to be able to work with the oblique projector \overline{P} . We do so in two ways: first we use the VV OPE, which is viable only to second order, where we have only two V insertions and thus further motivate the projectors of (5.4.1), which work to all orders and then as a second way we use the projectors analogous to the one in (5.4.1) as a shortcut.

As for the first way, inspired by the VV OPE containing only $\mathbbm{1}$ and V, we write

$$\Psi_1^2 = \lambda^2 \left(\sqrt{\Omega} c V \Omega c V \sqrt{\Omega} \mp \sqrt{\Omega} c \Omega c \sqrt{\Omega} \mp C_{VVV} \sqrt{\Omega} c \Omega c V \sqrt{\Omega} \right)$$
(5.88)

We then Taylor expand the wedge state

$$\Omega = e^{-K} = 1 - K + \frac{1}{2!}K^2 - \dots$$
(5.89)

and collect the terms of weight less than or equal to zero with the rest reabsorbed into the previous form (5.88) obtaining

$$\Psi_1^2 = \lambda^2 \left(\sqrt{\Omega} c V \Omega c V \sqrt{\Omega} \mp \sqrt{\Omega} (-cKc + \frac{1}{2!} cK^2 c) \sqrt{\Omega} \pm C_{VVV} \sqrt{\Omega} cKcV \sqrt{\Omega} \right)$$
(5.90)

We observe that a weight zero state $\sqrt{\Omega}cK^2c\sqrt{\Omega}$ emerges. This zero weight state is in Schnabl gauge so formally one encounters an expression $\frac{0}{0}$. This

means that the solution cannot be found in Schnabl gauge [91]. A slight modification of the gauge to account for the zero mode solves this issue. To see this, we rewrite the weight zero state by a chain of identities

$$\sqrt{\Omega}cK^2c\sqrt{\Omega} = Q\sqrt{\Omega}\left(BcKc + cKcB + Q(\ldots)\right)\sqrt{\Omega}$$
 (5.91)

$$\{B, c\} = 1$$
 (5.92)

$$\sqrt{\Omega}cK^2c\sqrt{\Omega} = Q\sqrt{\Omega}\left(\{K,c\} - 2cKBc + Q(\ldots)\right)\sqrt{\Omega} \qquad (5.93)$$

$$\sqrt{\Omega}cKBc\sqrt{\Omega} = Q\sqrt{\Omega}Bc\sqrt{\Omega} \tag{5.94}$$

$$\sqrt{\Omega}cK^2c\sqrt{\Omega} = Q\sqrt{\Omega}\left(\{K,c\} + Q(\dots)\right)\sqrt{\Omega}$$
(5.95)

Fixing our gauge so that the Q-exact term $Q(\ldots)$ is absent one obtains for Ψ_2 after explicitly diving by Q on the weight zero state the expression

$$\Psi_{2} = -\lambda^{2} \bar{P} \left(\frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \left(\sqrt{\Omega} c V \Omega c V \sqrt{\Omega} + \sqrt{\Omega} \left(\mp (-cKc) - \frac{1}{2!} cK^{2}c \right) \sqrt{\Omega} \right) \\ \pm C_{VVV} \sqrt{\Omega} c K c V \sqrt{\Omega} \right) + \frac{1}{2!} \sqrt{\Omega} \{K, c\} \sqrt{\Omega} \right)$$
(5.96)

Which after the action of \mathcal{B}_0 and use of the anticommutator (5.92) takes the form

$$\Psi_{2} = -\lambda^{2} \bar{P} \left(\frac{1}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \left(\sqrt{\Omega} c B V \Omega c V \sqrt{\Omega} + \sqrt{\Omega} (\mp c + c K B c) \sqrt{\Omega} \right. \\ \left. \mp C_{VVV} \sqrt{\Omega} c V \sqrt{\Omega} \right) + \frac{1}{2!} \sqrt{\Omega} \{K, c\} \sqrt{\Omega} \right)$$

$$(5.97)$$

We now use explicit division by \mathcal{L}_0 on the plus branch of the states with \mp in front and use (4.139) on the rest (remembering that \mathcal{L}_0 is a dilatation generator) and get

$$\Psi_{2} = -\lambda^{2} \bar{P} \left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{ds}{s} \left(s^{2h-1} \sqrt{\Omega} c B V \Omega^{s} c V \sqrt{\Omega} - \sqrt{\Omega} (s^{-1}c - cKBc) \sqrt{\Omega} \right) - C_{VVV} s^{h-1} \sqrt{\Omega} c V \sqrt{\Omega} \right) - \sqrt{\Omega} c \sqrt{\Omega} + \frac{1}{h-1} C_{VVV} \sqrt{\Omega} c V \sqrt{\Omega} + \frac{1}{2!} \sqrt{\Omega} \{K, c\} \sqrt{\Omega} \right)$$
(5.98)

Applying the projector and using the identity (5.94) we get the final expression

for the second order string field

$$\Psi_{2} = -\lambda^{2} \left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{ds}{s} \left(s^{2h-1} \sqrt{\Omega} c B V \Omega^{s} c V \sqrt{\Omega} - \sqrt{\Omega} \left(s^{-1} c - Q(Bc) \right) \sqrt{\Omega} - C_{VVV} s^{h-1} \sqrt{\Omega} c V \sqrt{\Omega} \right) - \sqrt{\Omega} c \sqrt{\Omega} + \frac{1}{2!} \sqrt{\Omega} \{K, c\} \sqrt{\Omega} \right)$$

$$(5.99)$$

and this is essentially a generalisation of the KORZ result $\left[85\right]$ for the marginal case.

The level zero state is a peculiarity of Schnabl gauge. To show how this state emerges let us consider a family of gauges containing Schnabl gauge as a limit with propagators of the form

$$h = -\bar{P}\frac{\mathcal{B}_0 - \delta \mathcal{B}_0^*}{\mathcal{L}_0 + \epsilon} = -\bar{P}\frac{(1-\delta)\mathcal{B}_0 + \delta \mathcal{B}^-}{\mathcal{L}_0 + \epsilon}$$
(5.100)

where δ and ϵ are parameters. We now act with this propagator on the term $-\sqrt{\Omega}cKc\sqrt{\Omega}$ which in the previous analysis turned into a tachyon subtraction. The interest is in seeing whether the states at level 0 emerge from this term by action of the propagator in Schnabl gauge limit since this is the only subtraction relevant for other gauges (one does not subtract level zero states). We start by applying the numerator of (5.100)

$$-\left((1-\delta)\mathcal{B}_0+\delta\mathcal{B}^-\right)\sqrt{\Omega}cKc\sqrt{\Omega}=\sqrt{\Omega}c\sqrt{\Omega}+\frac{\delta}{2}\left\{B,\sqrt{\Omega}cKc\sqrt{\Omega}\right\} (5.101)$$

so that dividing by $\mathcal{L}_0 + \epsilon$ (remember, *B* commutes with *K*) and taking the limit $\delta \to 0_+$ with δ and ϵ equal (this is an ambiguity, the level zero state emerges only for $\delta = O(\epsilon)$) gives

$$\frac{1}{\epsilon - 1} \sqrt{\Omega} c \sqrt{\Omega} + \frac{\delta}{2\epsilon} \Big\{ B, \sqrt{\Omega} c K c \sqrt{\Omega} \Big\} \rightarrow -\sqrt{\Omega} c \sqrt{\Omega} + \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\Omega} \Big(\{ K, c \} - 2Q(Bc) \Big) \sqrt{\Omega}$$
(5.102)

where we have used (5.92) and (5.94). Which is precisely the subtraction outside the integral in (5.99) modulo a *Q*-exact term which we can again gauge fix.

Now we show the alternative way of finding the regular string field Ψ_2 based on (5.80). We can simply use (5.81) which means repeating (5.82) and (5.83) to see that one should subtract $-C_{VVV}\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}$ from Ψ_1^2 . For the tachyon subtraction we analogously compute

$$-z^{2h-2}\frac{1}{g_0}\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{-2} \operatorname{Tr}\left\{\sqrt{\Omega}c\Omega cV\Omega^z cV\sqrt{\Omega}\right\} = -z^{-1} - z^0 + O(z^1) \quad (5.103)$$

where the normalisation was chosen such that the projection of $\sqrt{\Omega}c\sqrt{\Omega}$ onto $c\partial c$ has coefficient one. The previous analysis immediately lets us interpret (5.103) as the apperance of states $\sqrt{\Omega}cKc\sqrt{\Omega}$ and $\sqrt{\Omega}cK^2c\sqrt{\Omega}$ that were present in Ψ_1^2 with the correct coefficients. This is so because

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left\{\sqrt{\Omega}c\Omega cK^{2}c\sqrt{\Omega}\right\} = \lim_{\alpha \to 0} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}}{\mathrm{d}\alpha^{2}} \operatorname{Tr}\left\{\sqrt{\Omega}c\Omega c\Omega^{\alpha}c\sqrt{\Omega}\right\} = 2\left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right)^{2} \qquad (5.104)$$

shows that $\sqrt{\Omega}cK^2c\sqrt{\Omega}$ is present with a $\frac{1}{2}$ in front. This motivates the definition of ghost number 2 projectors T onto the tachyon and \hat{T} onto its level zero descendant.

$$T(\Phi) = -\frac{1}{g_0} \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{-2} \left(z \operatorname{Tr}\left\{\sqrt{\Omega}c\sqrt{\Omega}(z^{\mathcal{L}_0}\Phi)\right\}\right) \Big|_{z=0} \sqrt{\Omega}c\partial c\sqrt{\Omega} \quad (5.105)$$
$$\hat{T}(\Phi) = \frac{1}{2g_0} \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{-2} \left(\operatorname{Tr}\left\{\sqrt{\Omega}c\sqrt{\Omega}(z^{\mathcal{L}_0}\bar{T}(\Phi))\right\}\right) \Big|_{z=0} \sqrt{\Omega}cK^2c\sqrt{\Omega} \quad (5.106)$$

One may check that with the explicit expressions for projectors $P(\Psi_2)$ holds as required for the consistency of our perturbative procedure (Q has to commute with P).

5.4.3 Third order string field

For the higher order calculation we need to regularize a product of at least three Vs. Since our theory is not free, one would use something like the generalised Wick theorem [27] in order to guess how to subtract singular states. We will not follow this route in the present paper since we do not yet have a satisfactory string field normal ordering and besides we have $\frac{1}{\mathcal{L}_0}$ acting on products like $\sqrt{\Omega}cV\Omega cV\Omega cV\sqrt{\Omega}$ which means that we have three insertions going together simultaneously and we are not sure whether the generalised Wick theorem and a satisfactory string field normal ordering would be enough to regularise such a product. Instead we will continue using the trick based on (5.80).

Continuing with our perturbative procedure we have for the third order string field the expression

$$\Psi_3 = -\bar{P}\frac{\mathcal{B}_0}{\mathcal{L}_0}\{\Psi_1, \Psi_2\}$$
(5.107)

We start evaluating it by writing down the anticommutator

$$\{\Psi_{1},\Psi_{2}\} = -\lambda^{3} \left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{ds}{s} \left(s^{2h-1} \left\{ \sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}, \sqrt{\Omega}cBV\Omega^{s}cV\sqrt{\Omega} \right\} - s^{-1} \left\{ \sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}, \sqrt{\Omega}c\sqrt{\Omega} \right\} - \left\{ \sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}, \sqrt{\Omega}Q(Bc)\sqrt{\Omega} \right\} - C_{VVV}s^{h-1} \left\{ \sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}, \sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega} \right\} \right) - \left\{ \sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}, \sqrt{\Omega}c\sqrt{\Omega} \right\} + \frac{1}{2!} \left\{ \sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}, \sqrt{\Omega}\{K,c\}\sqrt{\Omega} \right\} \right)$$

$$(5.108)$$

and we continue by writing down the projections needed to regularise

$$\begin{split} &P\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}cBV\Omega^{s}cV\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) \equiv -\Upsilon(s)\sqrt{\Omega}c\partial cV\sqrt{\Omega} = \\ &-\frac{2}{g_{0}}\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{2h-2}\left(\frac{1}{z^{h-1}}z^{3h-2}\operatorname{Tr}\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\Omega cV\Omega^{z}cBV\Omega^{sz}cV\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\right)\Big|_{z=0}\sqrt{\Omega}c\partial cV\sqrt{\Omega} \\ &T\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}cBV\Omega^{s}cV\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) = -2C_{VVV}\Big(s(s+1)\Big)^{-h}\sqrt{\Omega}c\partial c\sqrt{\Omega} \\ &\hat{T}\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}cBV\Omega^{s}cV\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) = -C_{VVV}\frac{1}{s}\Big(s(s+1)\Big)^{1-h}\sqrt{\Omega}cK^{2}c\sqrt{\Omega} \\ &P\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}c\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) = -2\sqrt{\Omega}c\partial cV\sqrt{\Omega} \\ &T\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}c\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) = -2\sqrt{\Omega}c\partial cV\sqrt{\Omega} \\ &T\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}c\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) = T\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}Q(Bc)\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) = 0 \\ &P\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}Q(Bc)\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) = T\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}Q(Bc)\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) = 0 \\ &P\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) = -2C_{VVV}\sqrt{\Omega}c\partial cV\sqrt{\Omega} \\ &T\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) = -2\sqrt{\Omega}c\partial c\sqrt{\Omega} \\ &T\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) = -2\sqrt{\Omega}cdc\sqrt{\Omega} \\ &\hat{T}\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) = -\sqrt{\Omega}cK^{2}c\sqrt{\Omega} \\ &P\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}\{K,c\}\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) = T\Big(\Big\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega},\sqrt{\Omega}\{K,c\}\sqrt{\Omega}\Big\}\Big) \end{split}$$

$$= \hat{T}\left(\left\{\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}, \sqrt{\Omega}\{K, c\}\sqrt{\Omega}\right\}\right) = 0$$
(5.109)

Now (5.108) can be rewritten as

$$\begin{split} \{\Psi_1,\Psi_2\} &= -\lambda^3 \bigg(\int_0^1 ds \left(s^{2h-2} \Big\{ \sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}, \sqrt{\Omega}cBV\Omega^s cV\sqrt{\Omega} \Big\} \\ &- s^{-2} \Big\{ \sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}, \sqrt{\Omega}c\sqrt{\Omega} \Big\} - s^{-1} \Big\{ \sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}, \sqrt{\Omega}Q(Bc)\sqrt{\Omega} \Big\} \\ &- C_{VVV}s^{h-2} \Big\{ \sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}, \sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega} \Big\} \pm s^{h-2} \bigg(C_{VVV}(s+1)^{1-h} - 1 \bigg) \sqrt{\Omega}cK^2 c\sqrt{\Omega} \\ &\pm \bigg(s^{2h-2}\Upsilon(s) - 2s^{-2} - 2\left(C_{VVV}\right)^2 s^{h-2} \bigg) \sqrt{\Omega}c\partial cV\sqrt{\Omega} \bigg) \\ &\pm 2C_{VVV}s^{h-2} \bigg((s+1)^{-h} - 1 \bigg) \sqrt{\Omega}c\partial c\sqrt{\Omega} \bigg) \\ &- \Big\{ \sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}, \sqrt{\Omega}c\sqrt{\Omega} \Big\} \pm 2\sqrt{\Omega}c\partial cV\sqrt{\Omega} + \frac{1}{2!} \Big\{ \sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}, \sqrt{\Omega} \{K,c\}\sqrt{\Omega} \Big\} \bigg) \end{split}$$

so that after properly applying the propagator as in the second order case one obtains

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{3} &= \lambda^{3} \int_{0}^{1} dt \int_{0}^{1} ds \left(t^{3h-2} s^{2h-2} \sqrt{\Omega} cB \left(V \Omega^{t} V \Omega^{st} V + V \Omega^{st} V \Omega^{t} V \right) c \sqrt{\Omega} \right. \\ &- t^{h-2} (s^{-2}+1) \sqrt{\Omega} cB \left\{ V, \Omega^{t} \right\} c \sqrt{\Omega} - t^{h-1} s^{-1} \sqrt{\Omega} cB \left\{ V, K \Omega^{t} \right\} c \sqrt{\Omega} \\ &- 2 C_{VVV} t^{2h-2} s^{h-2} \sqrt{\Omega} cB V \Omega^{t} V c \sqrt{\Omega} - 2 C_{VVV} (t^{-2}+1) s^{h-2} \left((s+1)^{-h} - 1 \right) \sqrt{\Omega} c \sqrt{\Omega} \\ &- t^{h-1} \left(s^{2h-2} \Upsilon(s) - 2 (s^{-2}+1) - 2 (C_{VVV})^{2} s^{h-2} \right) \sqrt{\Omega} cV \sqrt{\Omega} \right) \\ &- 2 C_{VVV} s^{h-2} \left((s+1)^{1-h} - 1 \right) \sqrt{\Omega} \left(t^{-1} Q(Bc) + \left\{ K, c \right\} \right) \sqrt{\Omega} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} t^{h-1} \sqrt{\Omega} \left(cV \Omega^{t} [c, B] - [c, B] \Omega^{t} cV + cBV \Omega^{t} \left\{ K, c \right\} + \left\{ K, c \right\} \Omega^{t} B cV \right) \sqrt{\Omega} \right) (5.110) \end{split}$$

where we brought everything under the *t*-integral since $\int_0^1 dt = 1$.

5.4.4 Ellwood invariant

We calculate the shift in the g-function using the KMS correspondence (4.74), where we use the fact that the g-function is the coefficient of 1, giving

 $\Delta g = \operatorname{Tr}_{1} \Psi$. In the calculation we use the following identities

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\phi}\sqrt{\Omega}cB\Omega^{n}c\sqrt{\Omega} = \operatorname{Tr}_{\phi}\sqrt{\Omega}c\sqrt{\Omega}$$
(5.111)

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\phi}\sqrt{\Omega}\Omega^{n}Kc\sqrt{\Omega} = -\frac{1}{n+1}\operatorname{Tr}_{\phi}\sqrt{\Omega}\Omega^{n}c\sqrt{\Omega}, \qquad (5.112)$$

which follow from the fact that the Ellwood invariant is invariant under the action of \mathcal{B}^- and \mathcal{L}^- . Taking the solution (5.99) and using *Q*-invariance (the terms with Q(Bc) give a zero contribution) and cyclicity (the term with $\frac{1}{2!}\{K,c\}$ gives the same contribution as with Kc) of the Ellwood invariant we get with the help of (5.111),(5.112) the expression

$$g(\Psi_{2}) = -2\pi i \lambda^{2} \frac{i}{2\pi} \left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{ds}{s} \left(s^{2h-1} \langle V\left(-\frac{s}{2}\right) V\left(\frac{s}{2}\right) \rangle_{C_{s+1}} - g_{0} s^{-1} - C_{VVV} s^{h-1} \langle V \rangle_{C_{1}} \right) - g_{0} - g_{0} \right),$$
(5.113)

where $g(\Psi_2)$ means the contribution of Ψ_2 to the shift of the *g*-function. Using the correlator (A.11) and the vanishing of the 1-pt function of V we get

$$g(\Psi_2) = g_0 \lambda^2 \left(\int_0^1 \frac{ds}{s} \left(s^{2h-1} \left(\csc\left(\frac{\pi s}{s+1}\right) \frac{\pi}{s+1} \right)^{2h} - s^{-1} \right) - 2 \right)$$
(5.114)

expanding in y one finds

$$g(\Psi_2) = g_0 \frac{1}{(C_{VVV})^2} \left(\int_0^1 ds \left(\left(\csc\left(\frac{\pi s}{s+1}\right) \frac{\pi}{s+1} \right)^2 - s^{-2} \right) - 2 \right) y^2 + O(y^3)$$

= $O(y^3)$ (5.115)

where a cancellation of divergences occured in the coefficient of y^2 as the integral gave zero as is needed for consistency with (3.61). Notice that the zero-mode of \mathcal{L}_0 gave a nontrivial contribution.

We begin by extracting the term in (5.115) proportional to y^3 by writing down the next term in the expansion. The result is

$$g(\Psi_2) = -2g_0 \frac{1}{(C_{VVV})^2} \left(\int_0^1 ds \left(\csc\left(\frac{\pi s}{s+1}\right) \frac{\pi}{s+1} \right)^2 \ln\left(\frac{\pi s}{s+1} \csc\left(\frac{\pi s}{s+1}\right) \right) \right) y^3 + O(y^4)$$
(5.116)

and it is finite giving further credit to the regularity of Ψ_2 .

Now we need to consider the contribution from Ψ_3 , concretely we plug in (5.110) into the *g*-function obtaining with the use of equations (A.11), (A.12),

(5.111), (5.112)

$$g\left(\Psi_{3}\right) = -2g_{0}\lambda^{3}C_{VVV}\left[\int_{0}^{1}dt \int_{0}^{1}ds \ t^{3h-2}s^{2h-2}\pi^{3h} \left(\left(\frac{1}{1+t+st}\right)^{3}\csc\left(\frac{\pi t}{1+t+st}\right)\csc\left(\frac{\pi st}{1+t+st}\right)\csc\left(\frac{\pi (1+s)t}{1+s+st}\right)\right)^{h} - \pi^{2h}t^{2h-2}s^{h-2}\left(\frac{1}{t+1}\csc\left(\frac{\pi t}{t+1}\right)\right)^{2h} - (t^{-2}+1)\left(s^{2h-2}(s(s+1))^{-h} - s^{h-2}\right) + 2s^{h-2}\left((s+1)^{1-h} - 1\right)\right]$$

$$(5.117)$$

Combining (5.116) with (5.117) and expanding in y while plugging in the fixed point SFT coupling (5.13) we find for the $O(y^3)$ contribution to the g-function the result

$$- 2g_0 \frac{1}{(C_{VVV})^2} \left[\int_0^1 dt \int_0^1 ds \right] \\ \left(\frac{\pi^3 t \csc\left(\frac{\pi t}{1+t+st}\right) \csc\left(\frac{\pi st}{1+t+st}\right) \csc\left(\frac{\pi (s+1)t}{1+t+st}\right)}{(1+t+st)^3} - \frac{\pi^2 \csc^2\left(\frac{\pi t}{t+1}\right)}{s(t+1)^2} + \frac{1}{s+1}(t^{-2}+1) \right) \\ + \int_0^1 ds \left(\csc\left(\frac{\pi s}{s+1}\right) \frac{\pi}{s+1} \right)^2 \ln\left(\frac{\pi s}{s+1} \csc\left(\frac{\pi s}{s+1}\right) \right) \right] y^3 = -g_0 \frac{\pi^2}{3} \frac{y^3}{(C_{VVV})^2} \\ (5.118)$$

reproducing (3.61).

We could have proceeded differently and used the fact that the divergence structure is very indicative of the structure of subtractions. Such an approach would effectively lead to regularisation by analytic continuation as done for example in [115]. We start by writing down the contribution without subtractions

$$g\left(\Psi_{3}^{singular}\right) = 2\pi i\lambda^{3} \frac{i}{2\pi} \left[\int_{0}^{1} dt \ t^{3h-2} \int_{0}^{1} ds \ s^{2h-2} \left(\langle V(0) \ V(st) \ V(t) \rangle_{C_{1+t+st}} + \langle V(0) \ V(t) \ V(st) \rangle_{C_{1+t+st}}\right) = -2g_{0}\lambda^{3}C_{VVV} \left(\int_{0}^{1} dt \ t^{3h-2} \int_{0}^{1} ds \ s^{2h-2} \pi^{3h} \left[\left(\frac{1}{1+t+st}\right)^{3} \csc\left(\frac{\pi t}{1+t+st}\right) \csc\left(\frac{\pi st}{1+t+st}\right) \csc\left(\frac{\pi (1+s)t}{1+s+st}\right)\right)^{h}\right]$$

Asymptotically expanding around $s \sim 0$ we see that the following subtraction

in the s-channel should be made

$$g\left(\Psi_{3}^{singular}\right) = -2g_{0}\lambda^{3}C_{VVV}\left[\left(\int_{0}^{1} dt \int_{0}^{1} ds \ t^{3h-2}s^{2h-2}\pi^{3h}\right) \left(\left(\frac{1}{1+t+st}\right)^{3}\csc\left(\frac{\pi t}{1+t+st}\right)\csc\left(\frac{\pi st}{1+t+st}\right)\csc\left(\frac{\pi (1+s)t}{1+s+st}\right)\right)^{h}\right] \\ \mp \pi^{2h}s^{h-2}t^{2h-2}\left(\frac{1}{t+1}\csc\frac{\pi t}{t+1}\right)^{2h}\right] \\ = -2g_{0}\lambda^{3}C_{VVV}\left[\int_{0}^{1} dt \int_{0}^{1} ds \ t^{3h-2}s^{2h-2}\pi^{3h}\right] \\ \left(\left(\frac{1}{1+t+st}\right)^{3}\csc\left(\frac{\pi t}{1+t+st}\right)\csc\left(\frac{\pi st}{1+t+st}\right)\csc\left(\frac{\pi (1+s)t}{1+s+st}\right)\right)^{h} \\ - \pi^{2h}t^{2h-2}s^{h-2}\left(\frac{1}{t+1}\csc\left(\frac{\pi t}{t+1}\right)\right)^{2h}\right]$$
(5.119)

where we used the fact that the plus branch of the subtraction should be set to zero. This is easily seen by realising that this subtraction comes from the $\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}$ in (5.99) which has the corresponding $\sqrt{\Omega}cV\sqrt{\Omega}$ outside the integral projected out. This result is effectively given by the following analytic continuation

$$\int_0^1 ds \, \frac{1}{s} = 0 \tag{5.120}$$

We note that in the context of [118, 119, 120], this continuation corresponds to keeping path integration over D-instanton collective coordinates last. We continue by regularising in the *t*-channel by making an asymptotic expansion around $t \sim 0$ of the s - t integrand to obtain

$$g\left(\Psi_{3}^{singular}\right) = -2g_{0}\lambda^{3}C_{VVV}\left[\int_{0}^{1} dt \int_{0}^{1} ds \ t^{3h-2}s^{2h-2}\pi^{3h} \left(\left(\frac{1}{1+t+st}\right)^{3}\csc\left(\frac{\pi t}{1+t+st}\right)\csc\left(\frac{\pi st}{1+t+st}\right)\csc\left(\frac{\pi (1+s)t}{1+s+st}\right)\right)^{h} - \pi^{2h}t^{2h-2}s^{h-2}\left(\frac{1}{t+1}\csc\left(\frac{\pi t}{t+1}\right)\right)^{2h} \mp \frac{1}{t^{2}}\left(s^{2h-2}(s(s+1))^{-h} - s^{h-2}\right)\right]$$
(5.121)

Using the in SFT well-known analytic continuation

$$\int_0^1 dt \ \frac{1}{t^2} = -1 \tag{5.122}$$

which can be motivated by realising that it is the Schwinger parametrisation of $\frac{1}{L_0}$ on level -1 states, we obtain the regularised result

$$g\left(\Psi_{3}^{singular}\right) = -2g_{0}\lambda^{3}C_{VVV}\left[\int_{0}^{1}dt \int_{0}^{1}ds \ t^{3h-2}s^{2h-2}\pi^{3h}\right] \\ \left(\left(\frac{1}{1+t+st}\right)^{3}\csc\left(\frac{\pi t}{1+t+st}\right)\csc\left(\frac{\pi st}{1+t+st}\right)\csc\left(\frac{\pi(1+s)t}{1+s+st}\right)\right)^{h} \\ -\pi^{2h}t^{2h-2}s^{h-2}\left(\frac{1}{t+1}\csc\left(\frac{\pi t}{t+1}\right)\right)^{2h} - (t^{-2}+1)\left(s^{2h-2}(s(s+1))^{-h} - s^{h-2}\right) \\ (5.123)$$

Which is (5.117) up to an $O(y^4)$ contribution from zero modes. It is not clear to us how to obtain the zero mode contribution by asymptotically expanding since there is a mixing between the contributions of descendants which makes the procedure less transparent for non-leading singularities. We continue with pseudo-Schnabl gauge where the zero modes are absent so the regularisation by analytic continuation does not encounter such subtleties.

5.5 Pseudo-Schnabl gauge

In (5.3), we have seen the usefulness of the Berkovits-Schnabl trick to evaluate the amplitude \mathcal{A} . The idea behind the Berkovits-Schnabl trick is to have a propagator acting on a string of local operator insertions. Writing the general ansatz (see [115]) $\Psi = \sum_{n=1} \hat{U}_{n+1} \hat{\Psi}_n |0\rangle$, the equations of motion (4.42) become

$$\left(Q\hat{U}_{2}\hat{\Psi}_{1} + Q\hat{U}_{3}\hat{\Psi}_{2} + \hat{U}_{3}\hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2} + \dots\right)|0\rangle = 0, \qquad (5.124)$$

where the $\hat{U}_3 \hat{\Psi}_1^2 |0\rangle$ is a shorthand for $\hat{U}_2 \hat{\Psi}_1 |0\rangle * \hat{U}_2 \hat{\Psi}_1 |0\rangle$. Having the propagator act behind the *U* factors amounts to the gauge fixing $\mathcal{B}_0 \hat{\Psi}_n = 0$, which is *pseudo-Schnabl gauge*. For the propagator acting in a well-defined way, we should split the equation (5.124) using projectors

$$\left(Q\hat{U}_{2}P\hat{\Psi}_{1} + Q\hat{U}_{3}P\hat{\Psi}_{2} + \hat{U}_{3}P\hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2} + \dots\right)|0\rangle = 0 \qquad (5.125)$$

$$\left(Q\hat{U}_{2}\bar{P}\hat{\Psi}_{1} + Q\hat{U}_{3}\bar{P}\hat{\Psi}_{2} + \hat{U}_{3}\bar{P}\hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2} + \dots\right)|0\rangle = 0 \qquad (5.126)$$

Using $\bar{P}\hat{\Psi}_1 = 0$ and $P\hat{\Psi}_2 = 0$, we have

$$\left(Q\hat{U}_{2}\hat{\Psi}_{1} + \hat{U}_{3}P\hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2} + \dots\right)|0\rangle = 0 \qquad (5.127)$$

$$\left(Q\hat{U}_{3}\hat{\Psi}_{2} + \hat{U}_{3}\bar{P}\hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2} + \dots\right)|0\rangle = 0 \qquad (5.128)$$

We can solve (5.128) thanks to the pseudo-Schnabl gauge condition and the commuting of Q and wedges

$$\hat{\Psi}_2 = -\frac{\mathcal{B}_0}{\mathcal{L}_0} \bar{P} \hat{\Psi}_1^2, \qquad (5.129)$$

but this leaves (5.127) unsolved, which is now not a single equations but an infinity of equations thanks to the different wedge lengths present. This means that we can't simply determine the coupling λ by solving a single equations. We thus see that simply moving propagators behind wedge states doesn't give a solution to (5.124). We note that for exactly marginal deformations, where we don't need projectors and $Q\hat{\Psi}_1 = 0$, pseudo-Schnabl gauge gives a perfectly fine solution [86, 115]. We are not sure to what extend the pseudo-Schnabl gauge string field can be modified to give a proper solution, but we now demonstrate that despite being anomalous, it gave us the correct g-function (3.61). To show why this might happen, we consider the shift in the g function $\mathrm{Tr}_1 \Psi$, where Ψ is the Schnabl gauge solution and we start applying the Berkovits-Schnabl trick to it order by order. We start with the contribution $g(\Psi_2)$

$$g(\Psi_{2}) = \operatorname{Tr}_{1} \Psi_{2} = -\operatorname{Tr}_{1} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} \hat{U}_{3} \hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2} = -\operatorname{Tr}_{1} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} \hat{U}_{3} P \hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2} - \operatorname{Tr}_{1} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} \hat{U}_{3} \Big\{ \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P}, Q \Big\} \hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2} = -\operatorname{Tr}_{1} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} \hat{U}_{3} \Big\{ \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P}, Q \Big\} \hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2} = -\operatorname{Tr}_{1} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} \hat{U}_{3} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} Q \hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2} - \operatorname{Tr}_{1} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} \hat{U}_{3} Q \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} \hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2} = -\operatorname{Tr}_{1} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} \hat{U}_{3} Q \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} \hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2} = -\operatorname{Tr}_{1} \hat{U}_{3} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} \hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2},$$

where we used

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{1} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} \hat{U}_{3} P \hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2} = 0, \qquad (5.130)$$

since $\langle V \rangle = 0$ and

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathbb{1}} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} \hat{U}_{3} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} Q \hat{\Psi}_{1}^{2} = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathbb{1}} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} \hat{U}_{3} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \bar{P} \Big[Q \hat{\Psi}_{1}, \hat{\Psi}_{1} \Big] = 0, \qquad (5.131)$$

as follows from the cyclicity of the Ellwood invariant. Also in

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathbb{1}} \frac{\mathcal{B}_0}{\mathcal{L}_0} \bar{P} \hat{U}_3 Q \frac{\mathcal{B}_0}{\mathcal{L}_0} \bar{P} \hat{\Psi}_1^2 = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathbb{1}} \hat{U}_3 \frac{\mathcal{B}_0}{\mathcal{L}_0} \bar{P} \hat{\Psi}_1^2,$$

one acts with Q to the left and uses the fact that the bulk insertion is physical due to dressing. Thus we have proved that given the same coupling λ , the Schnabl gauge and the pseudo-Schnabl gauge string field give the same gfunction at second order. We continue by constructing the pseudo gauge string fields and then compute the shift in the g-function.

5.5.1 Second order string field

By the general formula for star products of wedges with insertions (can be seen geometrically)

$$\hat{U}_{r}\Psi(x)|0\rangle * \hat{U}_{s}\phi(y)|0\rangle = \hat{U}_{r+s-1}\Psi\left(x + \frac{s-1}{2}\right)\phi\left(y - \frac{r-1}{2}\right)|0\rangle \quad (5.132)$$

and by our perturbative construction (5.5) we have

$$\Psi_2 = -\lambda^2 \hat{U}_3 \left(\bar{P} \frac{\mathcal{B}_0}{\mathcal{L}_0} cV\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) cV\left(-\frac{1}{2}\right) \right) |0\rangle \equiv \hat{U}_3 \hat{\Psi}_2 |0\rangle \tag{5.133}$$

We use the OPE (5.56), twist symmetry and taylor expansion around zero to regularise as

$$cV(x)cV(-x) = cV(x)cV(-x) \pm \frac{c\partial c(0)}{(2x)^{2h-1}} \pm C_{VVV}\frac{c\partial cV(0)}{(2x)^{h-1}}$$
(5.134)

Using the identities derived by contour methods in sliver frame $(b(z)c(w) \sim \frac{1}{z-w})$

$$[\mathcal{B}_0, c(w)] = \oint_w \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} zb(z)c(w) = w \qquad (5.135)$$

$$[\mathcal{B}_0, \partial c(w)] = \oint_w \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} zb(z)\partial c(w) = 1$$
(5.136)

one has

$$\Psi_{2} = -\lambda^{2} \hat{U}_{3} \left(\bar{P} \frac{1}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(c \left(\frac{1}{2} \right) + c \left(-\frac{1}{2} \right) \right) V \left(\frac{1}{2} \right) V \left(-\frac{1}{2} \right) \right)$$

$$\mp c(0) \mp C_{VVV} cV(0) \right) |0\rangle$$

and using explicit division by \mathcal{L}_0 on the plus branch and (4.139) on the rest while projecting out the contribution to a *y*-pole we get the final expression for the second order string field in pseudo-Schnabl gauge

$$\Psi_{2} = -\lambda^{2} \hat{U}_{3} \left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{ds}{s} \left(s^{2h-1} \frac{1}{2} \left(c \left(\frac{s}{2} \right) + c \left(-\frac{s}{2} \right) \right) V \left(\frac{s}{2} \right) V \left(-\frac{s}{2} \right) \right) \\ - s^{-1} c(0) - C_{VVV} s^{h-1} cV(0) - c(0) \right) |0\rangle$$
(5.137)

The same result can be obtained by using previously defined projectors P and T. In contrast to Schnabl gauge, these projectors now act on unit wedges

with insertions so that on these states the general expressions (5.81) and (5.105) simplify to

$$P(\Phi|0\rangle) = -\frac{1}{g_0} \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{2h-2} \left(\frac{1}{z^{h-1}} \langle cV(1)z^{\mathcal{L}^-}\Phi\rangle_{C_2}\right) \Big|_{z=0} c\partial cV |0\rangle (5.138)$$

$$T(\Phi|0\rangle) = -\frac{1}{z^{h-1}} \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{-2} \left(z/c(1)z^{\mathcal{L}^-}\Phi\rangle_{C_2}\right) \Big|_{z=0} c\partial cV |0\rangle (5.138)$$

$$T(\Phi|0\rangle) = -\frac{1}{g_0} \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{-2} \left(z\langle c(1)z^{\mathcal{L}^-}\Phi\rangle_{C_2}\right) \Big|_{z=0} c\partial c |0\rangle$$
(5.139)

where Φ is a ghost number two string of insertions of local operators. For this order the relevant subtractions are given in (5.134) which is consistent with the expressions (5.138) and (5.139) giving

$$P\left(cV\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)cV\left(-\frac{1}{2}\right)|0\rangle\right) = -C_{VVV}c\partial cV|0\rangle \qquad (5.140)$$

$$T\left(cV\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)cV\left(-\frac{1}{2}\right)|0\rangle\right) = -c\partial c|0\rangle$$
(5.141)

5.5.2 Third order string field

We now continue with the third order calculation beginning with the expression generated by our perturbative procedure

$$\Psi_{3} = \hat{U}_{4}\hat{\Psi}_{3} |0\rangle = -\hat{U}_{4}\bar{P}\frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \left[\left[\lambda cV(0), \hat{\Psi}_{2} \right] \right]_{(2,3)} |0\rangle$$
(5.142)

where we have defined a graded commutator-like symbol following [115]

$$\begin{bmatrix} \left[\Psi(x), \phi(y) \right] \end{bmatrix}_{(r,s)} \equiv \Psi\left(x + \frac{s-1}{2}\right) \phi\left(y - \frac{r-1}{2}\right)$$
$$-(-1)^{|\Psi||\phi|} \phi\left(y + \frac{r-1}{2}\right) \Psi\left(x - \frac{s-1}{2}\right) (5.143)$$

which is motivated by (5.132). We begin by calculating the graded commutator of $\lambda cV |0\rangle$ and $\hat{\Psi}_2$

$$\begin{split} & \left[\left[\lambda cV(0), \hat{\Psi}_2 \right] \right]_{(2,3)} = -\lambda^3 \int_0^1 ds \left[\frac{s^{2h-2}}{2} \right] \\ & \left(cV\left(1\right) \left(c\left(\frac{s-1}{2}\right) + c\left(-\frac{s+1}{2}\right) \right) V\left(\frac{s-1}{2}\right) V\left(-\frac{s+1}{2}\right) \right) \\ & + \left(c\left(\frac{s+1}{2}\right) + c\left(\frac{1-s}{2}\right) \right) V\left(\frac{s+1}{2}\right) V\left(\frac{1-s}{2}\right) cV\left(-1\right) \right) \\ & - \left(s^{-2} + 1 \right) \left(c(1)cV\left(-\frac{1}{2}\right) + cV\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)c(-1) \right) \right) \\ & - C_{VVV}s^{h-2} \left(cV\left(1\right)cV\left(-\frac{1}{2}\right) + cV\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)cV\left(-1\right) \right) \end{split}$$
(5.144)

so that after applying the projectors (5.138) and (5.139) we get

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{3} &= \lambda^{3} \hat{U}_{4} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}}{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \int_{0}^{1} ds \left[\frac{s^{2h-2}}{2} \right] \\ &\left(cV\left(1\right) \left(c\left(\frac{s-1}{2}\right) + c\left(-\frac{s+1}{2}\right) \right) V\left(\frac{s-1}{2}\right) V\left(-\frac{s+1}{2}\right) \right) \\ &+ \left(c\left(\frac{s+1}{2}\right) + c\left(\frac{1-s}{2}\right) \right) V\left(\frac{s+1}{2}\right) V\left(\frac{1-s}{2}\right) cV\left(-1\right) \right) \\ &- \left(s^{-2} + 1 \right) \left(c(1)cV\left(-\frac{1}{2}\right) + cV\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) c(-1) \right) \right) \\ &- C_{VVV} s^{h-2} \left(cV\left(1\right) cV\left(-\frac{1}{2}\right) + cV\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) cV\left(-1\right) \right) \\ &\pm \left(s^{2h-2} v(s) - 3(s^{-2} + 1) - (C_{VVV})^{2} 2^{h} 3^{1-h} s^{h-2} \right) c\partial cV(0) \\ &\pm 3C_{VVV} 4^{h} s^{h-2} \left(\left(9 - s^{2}\right)^{-h} - 9^{-h} \right) c\partial c(0) \bigg] |0\rangle \end{split}$$

5.5.3 Ellwood invariant

Plugging (5.137) into the Ellwood invariant, we immediately find

$$g(\Psi_2) = -2\pi i \lambda^2 \frac{i}{2\pi} 2 \left(\int_0^1 \frac{ds}{s} \left(s^{2h-1} \langle V\left(-\frac{s}{2}\right) V\left(\frac{s}{2}\right) \rangle_{C_2} \right) - g_0 s^{-1} \right) - g_0 \right)$$
(5.146)

With the use of (A.11) this becomes

$$g(\Psi_2) = 2g_0\lambda^2 \left(\int_0^1 \frac{ds}{s} \left(s^{2h-1} \left(\csc\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) \frac{\pi}{2} \right)^{2h} - s^{-1} \right) - 1 \right)$$
(5.147)

and expanding in powers of y we get

$$g(\Psi_2) = 2g_0 \frac{1}{(C_{VVV})^2} \left(\int_0^1 ds \left(\left(\csc\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) \frac{\pi}{2} \right)^2 - s^{-2} \right) - 1 \right) y^2 + O(y^3)$$

= $O(y^3)$ (5.148)

in accordance with (3.61).

Expanding (5.147) to third order one gets the finite contribution

$$g(\Psi_2) = -g_0 \frac{1}{(C_{VVV})^2} \pi^2 \left(\int_0^1 ds \csc^2\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) \ln\left(\frac{\pi s}{2} \csc\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right)\right) \right) y^3 + O(y^4)$$
(5.149)

The finiteness gives credit to the regularity of (5.137) and one may observe that numerically this is the same as the analogous Schnabl gauge contribution (5.116) which agrees with our discussion at the beginning of the section.

We continue by calculating the contribution from the third order string field (5.145)

$$g\left(\Psi_{3}\right) = -9g_{0}\lambda^{3}C_{VVV}\int_{0}^{1} dt \int_{0}^{1} ds \\ \left(t^{3h-2}s^{2h-2}\pi^{3h}3^{-3h}\csc^{h}\left(\frac{1}{6}\pi(3-s)t\right)\csc^{h}\left(\frac{\pi st}{3}\right)\csc^{h}\left(\frac{1}{6}\pi(s+3)t\right) - t^{2h-2}s^{h-2}\pi^{2h}3^{-2h}\csc^{2h}\left(\frac{\pi t}{2}\right) - 4^{h}s^{h-2}\left(s^{h}\left(-s\left(s^{2}-9\right)\right)^{-h} - 9^{-h}\right)\left(t^{-2}+1\right)\right)$$

$$(5.150)$$

where we used the cyclicity of the Ellwood invariant and correlators (A.11), (A.12) on a cylinder of circumference 3. Combining (5.149) with (5.150) while expanding in y gives the result for the third-order contribution to the g-function

$$\frac{-\frac{g_0}{(C_{VVV})^2} \left[\int_0^1 dt \int_0^1 ds \left(\frac{1}{3} \pi^3 t \csc\left(\frac{1}{6} \pi (3-s)t \right) \csc\left(\frac{\pi st}{3} \right) \csc\left(\frac{1}{6} \pi (s+3)t \right) - \frac{\pi^2 \csc^2\left(\frac{\pi t}{2}\right)}{s} + \frac{4s}{(s^2-9)} (t^{-2}+1) \right) + \int_0^1 ds \, \pi^2 \csc^2\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) \ln\left(\frac{\pi s}{2} \csc\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right)\right) \right] y^3 \\
= -g_0 \frac{\pi^2}{3} \frac{y^3}{(C_{VVV})^2} \tag{5.151}$$

as was to be reproduced by (3.61). The integrals are somewhat simpler than in Schnabl gauge since we work with cylinders of fixed length.

We can also proceed by an analytic continuation regularisation similarly to the Schnabl gauge case and we obtain for the contribution without subtractions

$$g\left(\Psi_{3}^{singular}\right) = -g_{0}\lambda^{3}C_{VVV}\left(\int_{0}^{1} dt \ t^{3h-2}\int_{0}^{1} ds \ s^{2h-2}\right)$$

$$\pi^{3h}3^{2-3h}\operatorname{csc}^{h}\left(\frac{1}{6}\pi(3-s)t\right)\operatorname{csc}^{h}\left(\frac{\pi st}{3}\right)\operatorname{csc}^{h}\left(\frac{1}{6}\pi(s+3)t\right)$$
(5.152)

Asymptotically expanding around $s\sim 0$ we must make the following subtraction

$$g\left(\Psi_{3}^{singular}\right) = -9g_{0}\lambda^{3}C_{VVV}\left[\int_{0}^{1}dt \int_{0}^{1}ds \left(t^{3h-2}s^{2h-2}\pi^{3h}3^{-3h}\csc^{h}\left(\frac{1}{6}\pi(3-s)t\right)\csc^{h}\left(\frac{\pi st}{3}\right)\csc^{h}\left(\frac{1}{6}\pi(s+3)t\right) - t^{2h-2}s^{h-2}\pi^{2h}3^{-2h}\csc^{2h}\left(\frac{\pi t}{2}\right)\right)\right]$$
(5.153)

Where as for Schnabl gauge there is no plus branch of the subtraction since the subtraction comes from $cV |0\rangle$ in (5.137) and thus it is projected out by \overline{P} . Again this argument corresponds to the analytic continuation (5.120).

Asymptotically expanding around $t \sim 0$ we subtract and add a tachyonic singularity while using analytic continuation (5.122) in the same way as for Schnabl gauge with the result

$$g\left(\Psi_{3}^{singular}\right) = -9g_{0}\lambda^{3}C_{VVV}\left[\int_{0}^{1} dt \int_{0}^{1} ds \left(t^{3h-2}s^{2h-2}\pi^{3h}3^{-3h}\csc^{h}\left(\frac{1}{6}\pi(3-s)t\right)\csc^{h}\left(\frac{\pi st}{3}\right)\csc^{h}\left(\frac{1}{6}\pi(s+3)t\right)\right) - t^{2h-2}s^{h-2}\pi^{2h}3^{-2h}\csc^{2h}\left(\frac{\pi t}{2}\right) - \frac{4^{h}s^{h-2}\left(s^{h}\left(-s\left(s^{2}-9\right)\right)^{-h}-9^{-h}\right)}{t^{2}}\right) - \int_{0}^{1} ds \ 4^{h}s^{h-2}\left(s^{h}\left(-s\left(s^{2}-9\right)\right)^{-h}-9^{-h}\right)\right]$$

$$(5.154)$$

and since the zero modes are not present, this is precisely the contribution (5.151) which was obtained from a regular string field.

Conclusion

After providing exposure to field theoretic ideas in (1), we reviewed aspects of (mostly two-dimensional) conformal field theory in (2). In this chapter we also introduced conformal perturbation theory in the bulk, which serves as a basis for the study of boundary conformal perturbation theory in (3). In our context we used boundary conformal perturbation theory to compute shifts in boundary state coefficients. Boundary states characterise a given conformal boundary condition, which can be seen as having dynamics of its own thanks to the presence of boundary fields.

We introduced Witten's open string field theory as a very particular framework for the study of conformal boundary conditions in (4). The solutions of its classical equations of motion correspond to such boundary conditions, which can be seen from the KMS correspondence [96] giving a map between solutions to the classical equations of motion and boundary states. We reviewed the basic analytic tools used to find solutions to the classical equations of motion.

In the last chapter (5) we presented the research based on the collaboration with Martin Schnabl of the perturbative classical solutions corresponding to relevant deformations. In particular, we were interested in the limit where the operators triggering such deformations are weakly relevant. In this limit, we reproduced the leading order results of boundary conformal perturbation theory. In particular, we reproduced the boundary degeneracy g result of Affleck and Ludwig through a very simple computation of the action and the shift of the general boundary state coefficient through the Ellwood invariant. These results together with a remarkably simple formula for the next-to-leading correction to the shift of q obtained in Siegel gauge are to be submitted to PRL [1]. We also laid the groundwork for the study of the spectrum of linearised fluctuations around these perturbative solutions. The presented framework is illustrated on an example where we observe the perturbing operator disappearing from the cohomology. Then we constructed the perturbative solution in Schnabl gauge to third order. In doing so, we had to tackle the very important issue that in the perturbative solutions we often

used projectors were oblique and we also had to modify Schnabl gauge to account for a zero mode. The correct definition of the oblique projectors and the appropriate handling of the zero mode was verified by reproducing the leading order correction to g through the Ellwood invariant. We concluded by presenting an argument why a naive attempt at a pseudo-Schnabl gauge solution violates the equations of motion, but thanks to the properties of observables may accidentally give the correct result. This was explicitly shown by constructing the third order pseudo-Schnabl gauge string field and again reproducing the leading order correction to g with the use of the Ellwood invariant.

A natural future direction would be to extend the computation of observables to higher orders. In particular, we might compute the next-to-leading order shift to the general boundary state coefficient or even extend the computation of q. One would hope to see a pattern in such high order results and perhaps even make contact with on-shell string theory since we work in the near-marginal limit. It seems difficult to carry out the calculation beyond the next-to-leading order in Siegel gauge and that's where the solution in Schnabl gauge may come useful. Another direction would be to compute other observables relevant for conformal perturbation theory such as shifts in structure constants, conformal weights and the operator mixings. We think that diagonalising the shifted Hamiltonian and computing the spectrum of linearised fluctuations will be useful for this purpose. One might also try to investigate solutions corresponding to weakly irrelevant deformations, which go against the RG flow, something that was already observed in level truncation [100]. Perhaps the perturbative framework can prove itself useful in the study of the tachyon vacuum of the noncubic closed string field theory, a first step might be to rephrase the result of [121].

Bibliography

- Jaroslav Scheinpflug and Martin Schnabl. "Conformal perturbation theory from open string field theory". In: (Jan. 2023). arXiv: 2301. 05216 [hep-th].
- Steven Weinberg. The Quantum theory of fields. Vol. 1: Foundations. Cambridge University Press, June 2005. ISBN: 978-0-521-67053-1, 978-0-511-25204-4. DOI: 10.1017/CB09781139644167.
- [3] Steven Weinberg. The quantum theory of fields. Vol. 2: Modern applications. Cambridge University Press, Aug. 2013. ISBN: 978-1-139-63247-8, 978-0-521-67054-8, 978-0-521-55002-4. DOI: 10.1017/ CB09781139644174.
- [4] Steven Weinberg. The quantum theory of fields. Vol. 3: Supersymmetry. Cambridge University Press, June 2013. ISBN: 978-0-521-67055-5, 978-1-139-63263-8, 978-0-521-67055-5.
- Jean Zinn-Justin. "Quantum field theory and critical phenomena". In: Int. Ser. Monogr. Phys. 92 (1996), pp. 1–1008.
- [6] Tom Banks. Modern Quantum Field Theory: A Concise Introduction. Cambridge University Press, Dec. 2014. ISBN: 978-0-521-85082-7, 978-0-511-42671-1, 978-7-301-24550-7.
- Sidney Coleman. Lectures of Sidney Coleman on Quantum Field Theory. Ed. by Bryan Gin-ge Chen et al. Hackensack: WSP, Dec. 2018. ISBN: 978-981-4632-53-9, 978-981-4635-50-9. DOI: 10.1142/9371.
- [8] A. Zee. Quantum field theory in a nutshell. 2003. ISBN: 978-0-691-14034-6.
- [9] Michael E. Peskin and Daniel V. Schroeder. An Introduction to quantum field theory. Reading, USA: Addison-Wesley, 1995. ISBN: 978-0-201-50397-5.
- [10] Matthew D. Schwartz. Quantum Field Theory and the Standard Model. Cambridge University Press, Mar. 2014. ISBN: 978-1-107-03473-0, 978-1-107-03473-0.

- [11] M. Srednicki. *Quantum field theory*. Cambridge University Press, Jan. 2007. ISBN: 978-0-521-86449-7, 978-0-511-26720-8.
- [12] James D. Bjorken and Sidney D. Drell. *Relativistic quantum fields*. 1965.
- J. Polchinski. String theory. Vol. 1: An introduction to the bosonic string. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, Dec. 2007. ISBN: 978-0-511-25227-3, 978-0-521-67227-6, 978-0-521-63303-1. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511816079.
- [14] Giuseppe Mussardo. Statistical field theory: an introduction to exactly solved models in statistical physics. New York, NY: Oxford Univ. Press, 2010.
- [15] Alexander M. Polyakov. *Gauge Fields and Strings*. Vol. 3. 1987.
- [16] Marcos Mariño. Instantons and Large N: An Introduction to Non-Perturbative Methods in Quantum Field Theory. Cambridge University Press, Sept. 2015. ISBN: 978-1-107-06852-0, 978-1-316-37154-1.
- [17] K. G. Wilson and John B. Kogut. "The Renormalization group and the epsilon expansion". In: *Phys. Rept.* 12 (1974), pp. 75–199. DOI: 10.1016/0370-1573(74)90023-4.
- [18] Leo P. Kadanoff. "Relating Theories via Renormalization". In: *Stud. Hist. Phil. Sci. B* 44 (2013), pp. 22–39. DOI: 10.1016/j.shpsb.2012.
 05.002. arXiv: 1102.3705 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [19] John L. Cardy. Scaling and renormalization in statistical physics. 1996.
- F. J. Dyson. "Divergence of perturbation theory in quantum electrodynamics". In: *Phys. Rev.* 85 (1952), pp. 631–632. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRev.85.631.
- Joseph Polchinski. "Combinatorics of boundaries in string theory". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 50 (1994), R6041-R6045. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.50. R6041. arXiv: hep-th/9407031.
- Inês Aniceto, Gokce Basar, and Ricardo Schiappa. "A Primer on Resurgent Transseries and Their Asymptotics". In: *Phys. Rept.* 809 (2019), pp. 1–135. DOI: 10.1016/j.physrep.2019.02.003. arXiv: 1802.10441 [hep-th].
- [23] Daniele Dorigoni. "An Introduction to Resurgence, Trans-Series and Alien Calculus". In: Annals Phys. 409 (2019), p. 167914. DOI: 10.1016/ j.aop.2019.167914. arXiv: 1411.3585 [hep-th].

- [24] Marcos Mariño. "Lectures on non-perturbative effects in large N gauge theories, matrix models and strings". In: Fortsch. Phys. 62 (2014), pp. 455–540. DOI: 10.1002/prop.201400005. arXiv: 1206.6272 [hep-th].
- [25] Edward Witten. "Instability of the Kaluza-Klein Vacuum". In: Nucl. Phys. B 195 (1982), pp. 481–492. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(82)90007-4.
- [26] Ashoke Sen. "Riding Gravity Away from Doomsday". In: Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 24.12 (2015), p. 1544004. DOI: 10.1142/S0218271815440046. arXiv: 1503.08130 [hep-th].
- [27] P. Di Francesco, P. Mathieu, and D. Senechal. *Conformal Field Theory*. Graduate Texts in Contemporary Physics. New York: Springer-Verlag, 1997. ISBN: 978-0-387-94785-3, 978-1-4612-7475-9. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4612-2256-9.
- [28] Ralph Blumenhagen and Erik Plauschinn. Introduction to conformal field theory: with applications to String theory. Vol. 779. 2009. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-00450-6.
- [29] Alexander B. Zamolodchikov. PHYSICS REVIEWS. VOL. 10, PT. 4: CONFORMAL FIELD THEORY AND CRITICAL PHENOMENA IN TWO-DIMENSIONAL SYSTEMS. Ed. by Alexei B. Zamolodchikov and I. M. Khalatnikov. 1989.
- J. Polchinski. String theory. Vol. 2: Superstring theory and beyond. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, Dec. 2007. ISBN: 978-0-511-25228-0, 978-0-521-63304-8, 978-0-521-67228-3. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511618123.
- [31] Elias Kiritsis. String theory in a nutshell. USA: Princeton University Press, 2019. ISBN: 978-0-691-15579-1, 978-0-691-18896-6.
- [32] K. Becker, M. Becker, and J. H. Schwarz. String theory and M-theory: A modern introduction. Cambridge University Press, Dec. 2006. ISBN: 978-0-511-25486-4, 978-0-521-86069-7, 978-0-511-81608-6. DOI: 10.1017/ CB09780511816086.
- [33] Harold Erbin. String Field Theory: A Modern Introduction. Vol. 980.
 Lecture Notes in Physics. Mar. 2021. ISBN: 978-3-030-65320-0, 978-3-030-65321-7. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-65321-7. arXiv: 2301.01686
 [hep-th].

- [34] David Simmons-Duffin. "The Conformal Bootstrap". In: Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: New Frontiers in Fields and Strings. 2017, pp. 1–74. DOI: 10.1142/ 9789813149441_0001. arXiv: 1602.07982 [hep-th].
- [35] Slava Rychkov. EPFL Lectures on Conformal Field Theory in D>= 3 Dimensions. SpringerBriefs in Physics. Jan. 2016. ISBN: 978-3-319-43625-8, 978-3-319-43626-5. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-43626-5. arXiv: 1601.05000 [hep-th].
- [36] David Poland, Slava Rychkov, and Alessandro Vichi. "The Conformal Bootstrap: Theory, Numerical Techniques, and Applications". In: *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 91 (2019), p. 015002. DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.91.
 015002. arXiv: 1805.04405 [hep-th].
- [37] Paul H. Ginsparg. "APPLIED CONFORMAL FIELD THEORY". In: Les Houches Summer School in Theoretical Physics: Fields, Strings, Critical Phenomena. Sept. 1988. arXiv: hep-th/9108028.
- [38] Matthias R Gaberdiel. "An introduction to conformal field theory". In: *Reports on Progress in Physics* 63.4 (2000), pp. 607–667. DOI: 10.1088/0034-4885/63/4/203. URL: https://doi.org/10.1088% 2F0034-4885%2F63%2F4%2F203.
- [39] John L. Cardy. "CONFORMAL INVARIANCE AND STATISTICAL MECHANICS". In: Les Houches Summer School in Theoretical Physics: Fields, Strings, Critical Phenomena. Jan. 1989.
- [40] Alexander M. Polyakov. "Conformal symmetry of critical fluctuations". In: JETP Lett. 12 (1970), pp. 381–383.
- [41] A. A. Belavin, Alexander M. Polyakov, and A. B. Zamolodchikov.
 "Infinite Conformal Symmetry in Two-Dimensional Quantum Field Theory". In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 241 (1984). Ed. by I. M. Khalatnikov and V. P. Mineev, pp. 333–380. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(84)90052-X.
- [42] A. B. Zamolodchikov. "Renormalization Group and Perturbation Theory Near Fixed Points in Two-Dimensional Field Theory". In: Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 46 (1987), p. 1090.
- [43] J. Fuchs and C. Schweigert. Symmetries, Lie algebras and representations: A graduate course for physicists. Cambridge University Press, Oct. 2003. ISBN: 978-0-521-54119-0.
- [44] Valentin Ovsienko and Serge Tabachnikov. "What is.. the Schwarzian derivative?" In: Notices of the American Mathematical Society 56 (Jan. 2009).

- [45] Noah Miller. The Schwarzian derivative in 2D CFT. https://scholar. harvard.edu/files/noahmiller/files/schwarzian_derivative_ and_2d_cft_-_noah_miller.pdf. Accessed: 2023-03-01.
- [46] V. G. Kac. "Contravariant Form for Infinite Dimensional Lie Algebras and Superalgebras". In: 7th International Group Theory Colloquium: The Integrative Conference on Group Theory and Mathematical Physics. 1978, pp. 441–445.
- [47] A. W. W. Ludwig and John L. Cardy. "Perturbative Evaluation of the Conformal Anomaly at New Critical Points with Applications to Random Systems". In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 285 (1987), pp. 687–718. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(87)90362-2.
- [48] Daniel Friedan, Zong-an Qiu, and Stephen H. Shenker. "Conformal Invariance, Unitarity and Two-Dimensional Critical Exponents". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 52 (1984), pp. 1575–1578. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett. 52.1575.
- [49] V. S. Dotsenko and V. A. Fateev. "Conformal Algebra and Multipoint Correlation Functions in Two-Dimensional Statistical Models". In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 240 (1984). Ed. by I. M. Khalatnikov and V. P. Mineev, p. 312. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(84)90269-4.
- [50] Rubik Poghossian. "Two Dimensional Renormalization Group Flows in Next to Leading Order". In: JHEP 01 (2014), p. 167. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP01(2014)167. arXiv: 1303.3015 [hep-th].
- [51] Davide Gaiotto. "Domain Walls for Two-Dimensional Renormalization Group Flows". In: JHEP 12 (2012), p. 103. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP12(2012)103. arXiv: 1201.0767 [hep-th].
- [52] Anatoly Konechny. "Properties of RG interfaces for 2D boundary flows". In: JHEP 05 (2021), p. 178. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP05(2021)178. arXiv: 2012.12361 [hep-th].
- [53] Armen Poghosyan and Hayk Poghosyan. "Mixing with descendant fields in perturbed minimal CFT models". In: *JHEP* 10 (2013), p. 131. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP10(2013)131. arXiv: 1305.6066 [hep-th].
- [54] John L. Cardy. "Boundary conformal field theory". In: (Nov. 2004). arXiv: hep-th/0411189.
- [55] Matthias Gaberdiel. "Boundary conformal field theory and D-branes". In: (Aug. 2003).

- [56] Andreas Recknagel and Volker Schomerus. Boundary Conformal Field Theory and the Worldsheet Approach to D-Branes. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, Nov. 2013. ISBN: 978-0-521-83223-6, 978-0-521-83223-6, 978-1-107-49612-5. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511806476.
- [57] John L. Cardy. "Conformal Invariance and Surface Critical Behavior". In: Nucl. Phys. B 240 (1984), pp. 514–532. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(84)90241-4.
- John L. Cardy. "Operator Content of Two-Dimensional Conformally Invariant Theories". In: Nucl. Phys. B 270 (1986), pp. 186–204. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(86)90552-3.
- [59] John L. Cardy. "Effect of Boundary Conditions on the Operator Content of Two-Dimensional Conformally Invariant Theories". In: Nucl. Phys. B 275 (1986), pp. 200–218. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(86)90596-1.
- [60] John L. Cardy. "Boundary Conditions, Fusion Rules and the Verlinde Formula". In: Nucl. Phys. B 324 (1989), pp. 581–596. DOI: 10.1016/ 0550-3213(89)90521-X.
- [61] Cornelius Schmidt-Colinet. "Perturbed conformal field theories with boundary". PhD thesis. Zurich, ETH, 2009. DOI: 10.3929/ethz-a-006002034.
- [62] Ian Affleck. "Universal Term in the Free Energy at a Critical Point and the Conformal Anomaly". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 56 (1986), pp. 746–748.
 DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.56.746.
- [63] Ian Affleck and Andreas W. W. Ludwig. "Universal noninteger 'ground state degeneracy' in critical quantum systems". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 67 (1991), pp. 161–164. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.67.161.
- [64] Daniel Friedan and Anatoly Konechny. "On the boundary entropy of one-dimensional quantum systems at low temperature". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 93 (2004), p. 030402. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.030402. arXiv: hep-th/0312197.
- [65] A. Recknagel, D. Roggenkamp, and V. Schomerus. "On relevant boundary perturbations of unitary minimal models". In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 588 (2000), pp. 552–564. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(00)00519-8. arXiv: hep-th/0003110.
- [66] Ingo Runkel. Boundary Problems in Conformal Field Theory. https:// www.math.uni-hamburg.de/home/runkel/PDF/phd.pdf. Accessed: 2023-03-15.

- [67] K. Graham, I. Runkel, and G. M. T. Watts. "Renormalization group flows of boundary theories". In: *PoS* tmr2000 (2000). Ed. by Denis Bernard et al., p. 040. DOI: 10.22323/1.006.0040. arXiv: hepth/0010082.
- [68] Nobuyuki Ishibashi. "The Boundary and Crosscap States in Conformal Field Theories". In: Mod. Phys. Lett. A 4 (1989), p. 251. DOI: 10.1142/ S0217732389000320.
- [69] David C. Lewellen. "Sewing constraints for conformal field theories on surfaces with boundaries". In: Nucl. Phys. B 372 (1992), pp. 654–682.
 DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(92)90370-Q.
- [70] John L. Cardy and David C. Lewellen. "Bulk and boundary operators in conformal field theory". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 259 (1991), pp. 274–278. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(91)90828-E.
- [71] Erik P. Verlinde. "Fusion Rules and Modular Transformations in 2D Conformal Field Theory". In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 300 (1988), pp. 360–376.
 DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(88)90603-7.
- [72] Horacio Casini, Ignacio Salazar Landea, and Gonzalo Torroba. "The g-theorem and quantum information theory". In: JHEP 10 (2016), p. 140.
 DOI: 10.1007/JHEP10(2016)140. arXiv: 1607.00390 [hep-th].
- [73] K. Graham. "On perturbations of unitary minimal models by boundary condition changing operators". In: *JHEP* 03 (2002), p. 028. DOI: 10. 1088/1126-6708/2002/03/028. arXiv: hep-th/0111205.
- [74] Edward Witten. "Noncommutative Geometry and String Field Theory".
 In: Nucl. Phys. B 268 (1986), pp. 253–294. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(86)90155-0.
- [75] Ashoke Sen. "Descent relations among bosonic D-branes". In: Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 14 (1999), pp. 4061–4078. arXiv: hep-th/9902105.
- [76] Ashoke Sen. "Universality of the tachyon potential". In: JHEP 12 (1999), p. 027. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/1999/12/027. arXiv: hep-th/9911116.
- [77] V. Alan Kostelecky and Stuart Samuel. "On a Nonperturbative Vacuum for the Open Bosonic String". In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 336 (1990), pp. 263– 296. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(90)90111-P.
- [78] Leonardo Rastelli and Barton Zwiebach. "Tachyon potentials, star products and universality". In: JHEP 09 (2001), p. 038. DOI: 10.1088/ 1126-6708/2001/09/038. arXiv: hep-th/0006240.

- [79] Nicolas Moeller, Ashoke Sen, and Barton Zwiebach. "D-branes as tachyon lumps in string field theory". In: JHEP 08 (2000), p. 039. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2000/08/039. arXiv: hep-th/0005036.
- [80] Davide Gaiotto and Leonardo Rastelli. "Experimental string field theory". In: JHEP 08 (2003), p. 048. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2003/ 08/048. arXiv: hep-th/0211012.
- [81] Matěj Kudrna. "Level Truncation Approach to Open String Field Theory". PhD thesis. Charles U., Prague (main), 2019. arXiv: 2101. 07678 [hep-th].
- [82] Martin Schnabl. "Analytic solution for tachyon condensation in open string field theory". In: Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 10.4 (2006), pp. 433– 501. DOI: 10.4310/ATMP.2006.v10.n4.a1. arXiv: hep-th/0511286.
- [83] Martin Schnabl. "Wedge states in string field theory". In: JHEP 01 (2003), p. 004. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2003/01/004. arXiv: hep-th/0201095.
- [84] Ian Ellwood and Martin Schnabl. "Proof of vanishing cohomology at the tachyon vacuum". In: *JHEP* 02 (2007), p. 096. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2007/02/096. arXiv: hep-th/0606142.
- [85] Michael Kiermaier et al. "Analytic solutions for marginal deformations in open string field theory". In: JHEP 01 (2008), p. 028. DOI: 10. 1088/1126-6708/2008/01/028. arXiv: hep-th/0701249.
- [86] Martin Schnabl. "Comments on marginal deformations in open string field theory". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 654 (2007), pp. 194–199. DOI: 10.1016/ j.physletb.2007.08.023. arXiv: hep-th/0701248.
- [87] Theodore Erler and Martin Schnabl. "A Simple Analytic Solution for Tachyon Condensation". In: JHEP 10 (2009), p. 066. DOI: 10.1088/ 1126-6708/2009/10/066. arXiv: 0906.0979 [hep-th].
- [88] L. Bonora, C. Maccaferri, and D. D. Tolla. "Relevant Deformations in Open String Field Theory: a Simple Solution for Lumps". In: JHEP 11 (2011), p. 107. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2011)107. arXiv: 1009.4158 [hep-th].
- [89] Theodore Erler and Carlo Maccaferri. "String Field Theory Solution for Any Open String Background". In: JHEP 10 (2014), p. 029. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP10(2014)029. arXiv: 1406.3021 [hep-th].
- [90] Theodore Erler and Carlo Maccaferri. "String field theory solution for any open string background. Part II". In: *JHEP* 01 (2020), p. 021.
 DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2020)021. arXiv: 1909.11675 [hep-th].

- [91] Theodore Erler. "Four lectures on analytic solutions in open string field theory". In: *Phys. Rept.* 980 (2022), pp. 1–95. DOI: 10.1016/j. physrep.2022.06.004. arXiv: 1912.00521 [hep-th].
- [92] Yuji Okawa. "Analytic methods in open string field theory". In: Prog. Theor. Phys. 128 (2012), pp. 1001–1060. DOI: 10.1143/PTP.128.1001.
- [93] M. Schnabl. "Algebraic Solutions in Open String Field Theory a Lightning Review". In: Acta Polytech. 50.3 (2010). Ed. by Cestmir Burdík, pp. 102–108. DOI: 10.14311/1213. arXiv: 1004.4858 [hep-th].
- [94] Harold Erbin et al. "Classical algebraic structures in string theory effective actions". In: JHEP 11 (2020), p. 123. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2020)
 123. arXiv: 2006.16270 [hep-th].
- [95] Jakub Vošmera. "Selected topics in string field theory and physics of D-branes". PhD thesis. Charles U., Prague (main), 2020.
- [96] Matej Kudrna, Carlo Maccaferri, and Martin Schnabl. "Boundary State from Ellwood Invariants". In: JHEP 07 (2013), p. 033. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP07(2013)033. arXiv: 1207.4785 [hep-th].
- [97] Ian Ellwood. "The Closed string tadpole in open string field theory".
 In: JHEP 08 (2008), p. 063. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2008/08/063. arXiv: 0804.1131 [hep-th].
- [98] Michael Kiermaier, Yuji Okawa, and Barton Zwiebach. "The boundary state from open string fields". In: (Oct. 2008). arXiv: 0810.1737 [hep-th].
- [99] Teruhiko Kawano, Isao Kishimoto, and Tomohiko Takahashi. "Gauge Invariant Overlaps for Classical Solutions in Open String Field Theory". In: Nucl. Phys. B 803 (2008), pp. 135–165. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb. 2008.05.025. arXiv: 0804.1541 [hep-th].
- [100] Matej Kudrna, Miroslav Rapcak, and Martin Schnabl. "Ising model conformal boundary conditions from open string field theory". In: (Jan. 2014). arXiv: 1401.7980 [hep-th].
- [101] Kasia Budzik, Miroslav Rapcak, and Jairo M. Rojas. "Conformal Defects from String Field Theory". In: JHEP 01 (2021), p. 120. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2021)120. arXiv: 2009.06567 [hep-th].
- [102] Matěj Kudrna. "Boundary states in the $SU(2)_k$ WZW model from open string field theory". In: (Dec. 2021). arXiv: 2112.12213 [hep-th].
- [103] Martin Schnabl and Jakub Vošmera. "Gepner-like boundary states on T^4 ". In: (Mar. 2019). arXiv: 1903.00487 [hep-th].

- [104] Matej Kudrna, Martin Schnabl, and Jakub Vošmera. "Unpublished". In: (the future).
- [105] Steven B. Giddings and Emil J. Martinec. "Conformal Geometry and String Field Theory". In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 278 (1986), pp. 91–120. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(86)90108-2.
- [106] Steven B. Giddings, Emil J. Martinec, and Edward Witten. "Modular Invariance in String Field Theory". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 176 (1986), pp. 362–368. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(86)90179-6.
- [107] Andre LeClair, Michael E. Peskin, and C. R. Preitschopf. "String Field Theory on the Conformal Plane. 1. Kinematical Principles". In: Nucl. Phys. B 317 (1989), pp. 411–463. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(89)90075-8.
- [108] Andre LeClair, Michael E. Peskin, and C. R. Preitschopf. "String Field Theory on the Conformal Plane. 2. Generalized Gluing". In: Nucl. Phys. B 317 (1989), pp. 464–508. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(89)90076-X.
- [109] Albert S. Schwarz and Ashoke Sen. "Gluing Theorem, Star Product and Integration in Open String Field Theory in Arbitrary Background Fields". In: Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 6 (1991), pp. 5387–5408. DOI: 10. 1142/S0217751X91002537.
- [110] Yuji Okawa. "Comments on Schnabl's analytic solution for tachyon condensation in Witten's open string field theory". In: JHEP 04 (2006), p. 055. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2006/04/055. arXiv: hep-th/0603159.
- [111] Theodore Erler. "Split String Formalism and the Closed String Vacuum, II". In: JHEP 05 (2007), p. 084. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2007/05/ 084. arXiv: hep-th/0612050.
- [112] Isao Kishimoto. "Comments on gauge invariant overlaps for marginal solutions in open string field theory". In: *Prog. Theor. Phys.* 120 (2008), pp. 875–886. DOI: 10.1143/PTP.120.875. arXiv: 0808.0355 [hep-th].
- [113] Simeon Hellerman and Martin Schnabl. "Light-like tachyon condensation in Open String Field Theory". In: JHEP 04 (2013), p. 005. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP04(2013)005. arXiv: 0803.1184 [hep-th].
- [114] Nathan Berkovits and Martin Schnabl. "Yang-Mills action from open superstring field theory". In: JHEP 09 (2003), p. 022. DOI: 10.1088/ 1126-6708/2003/09/022. arXiv: hep-th/0307019.

- [115] Pier Vittorio Larocca and Carlo Maccaferri. "BCFT and OSFT moduli: an exact perturbative comparison". In: *Eur. Phys. J. C* 77.11 (2017), p. 806. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-017-5379-3. arXiv: 1702.06489 [hep-th].
- [116] Matthias R. Gaberdiel, Anatoly Konechny, and Cornelius Schmidt-Colinet. "Conformal perturbation theory beyond the leading order". In: J. Phys. A 42 (2009), p. 105402. DOI: 10.1088/1751-8113/42/10/105402. arXiv: 0811.3149 [hep-th].
- [117] Kudrna Matej and Carlo Maccaferri. "Unpublished". In: (the future).
- [118] Ashoke Sen. "D-instanton Perturbation Theory". In: JHEP 08 (2020), p. 075. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP08(2020)075. arXiv: 2002.04043 [hep-th].
- [119] Ashoke Sen. "Fixing an Ambiguity in Two Dimensional String Theory Using String Field Theory". In: JHEP 03 (2020), p. 005. DOI: 10. 1007/JHEP03(2020)005. arXiv: 1908.02782 [hep-th].
- [120] Ashoke Sen. "D-instantons, string field theory and two dimensional string theory". In: JHEP 11 (2021), p. 061. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP11(2021)061. arXiv: 2012.11624 [hep-th].
- [121] Sudipta Mukherji and Ashoke Sen. "Some all order classical solutions in nonpolynomial closed string field theory". In: Nucl. Phys. B 363 (1991), pp. 639–664. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(91)80037-M.

Appendix A

A list of useful correlators in OSFT

Below we list some correlators that one finds useful in the study of OSFT. See [61, 91] and (3) for more details.

A.1 Upper half-plane

On the UHP we have the following correlators of primary boundary fields as fixed by conformal invariance

$$\langle V_i(x_1)V_j(x_2)\rangle_{UHP} = \frac{g_0\delta_{ij}}{x_{12}^{2h}}$$
 (A.1)

$$\langle V_i(x_1)V_j(x_2)V_k(x_3)\rangle_{UHP} = \frac{g_0 C_{ijk}}{x_{12}^{h_k - h_i - h_j} x_{13}^{h_j - h_i - h_k} x_{23}^{h_i - h_j - h_k}}$$
(A.2)

with g_0 being the *g*-function of the perturbative vacuum, h_i being conformal weights and we suppress boundary condition indices on the boundary structure constant C_{ijk} . For an insertion of a single bulk field ϕ , we have

$$\langle \phi(x+iy, x-iy) \rangle_{UHP} = g_0 B_{\phi \mathbb{1}}(2y)^{-\Delta}, \qquad (A.3)$$

with Δ being the weight of ϕ , and the bulk-boundary correlator

$$\langle \phi_i(x+iy,x-iy)V_j(r)\rangle_{UHP} = \frac{g_0 B_{ij}}{(2y)^{\Delta_i - h_j}((x-r)^2 + y^2)^{h_j}},$$
 (A.4)

where B_{ij} is a bulk-boundary structure constant. A special case is the three-ghost correlator

$$\langle c(x_1)c(x_2)c(x_3)\rangle_{UHP} = x_{12}x_{13}x_{23}$$
 (A.5)

A.2 Disc frame

To get correlators in disc frame, we simply transform those on the UHP by the map $f(z) = i \frac{1-z}{1+z}$, to obtain the boundary correlators

$$\langle V_i(\theta_1) V_j(\theta_2) \rangle_{disc} = \frac{g_0 \delta_{ij}}{\left| 2 \sin\left(\frac{\theta_{12}}{2}\right) \right|^{2h}}$$
(A.6)
$$\langle V_i(\theta_1) V_i(\theta_2) V_i(\theta_2) \rangle_{U_i} =$$

$$\frac{g_0 C_{ijk}}{\left|2\sin\left(\frac{\theta_{12}}{2}\right)\right|^{h_k - h_i - h_j} \left|2\sin\left(\frac{\theta_{13}}{2}\right)\right|^{h_j - h_i - h_k} \left|2\sin\left(\frac{\theta_{23}}{2}\right)\right|^{h_i - h_j - h_k}}$$
(A.7)

and the bulk one-point function

$$\langle \phi(r,\theta) \rangle_{disc} = \frac{g_0 B_{\phi \mathbb{1}}}{(1-r^2)^{\Delta}},$$
 (A.8)

with the bulk-boundary correlator

$$\langle \phi(r,\theta_1)V(\theta_2) \rangle_{disc} = g_0 B_{\phi V} (1-r^2)^{-\Delta} \left(\frac{1-r^2}{1-2r\cos\theta_{12}+r^2}\right)^h$$
 (A.9)

The three-ghost correlator becomes

$$\langle c(\theta_1)c(\theta_2)c(\theta_3)\rangle_{disc} = 8\sin\frac{\theta_{12}}{2}\sin\frac{\theta_{13}}{2}\sin\frac{\theta_{23}}{2}$$
(A.10)

A.3 Cylinder frame

To get correlators on the cylinder of length L, we simply transform those on the UHP by the map $C_L^{-1}(z) = \frac{L}{\pi} \tan \frac{\pi z}{L}$, to obtain the boundary correlators

$$\langle V_i(z_1)V_j(z_2)\rangle_{C_L} = \left(\frac{\pi}{L}\right)^{2h} \frac{g_0 \delta_{ij}}{\sin\left(\frac{\pi z_{12}}{L}\right)^{2h}}$$

$$\langle V_i(z_1)V_j(z_2)V_k(z_3)\rangle_{C_L} =$$
(A.11)

$$\left(\frac{\pi}{L}\right)^{h_i+h_j+h_k} \frac{g_0 C_{ijk}}{\sin\left(\frac{\pi z_{12}}{L}\right)^{h_k-h_i-h_j} \sin\left(\frac{\pi z_{13}}{L}\right)^{h_j-h_i-h_k} \sin\left(\frac{\pi z_{23}}{L}\right)^{h_i-h_j-h_k}} (A.12)$$

The bulk one-point function becomes

$$\langle \phi(z,\bar{z}) \rangle_{C_L} = \left(\frac{\pi}{L}\right)^{\Delta} g_0 B_{\phi \mathbb{1}} \sin^{-\Delta} \left(\frac{\pi}{L} |z-\bar{z}|\right)$$
 (A.13)
and the bulk-boundary correlator is

$$\langle \phi_i(z_1, \bar{z_1}) V_j(z_2) \rangle_{C_L} = \left(\frac{\pi}{L}\right)^{\Delta} g_0 B_{ij} \sin^{-h_j} \left(\frac{\pi}{L} z_{12}\right) \sin^{-\Delta_i + h_j} \left(\frac{\pi}{L} (z_1 - \bar{z}_1)\right)$$
(A.14)

The three-ghost correlator can be written in two ways

~

$$\langle c(z_1)c(z_2)c(z_3) \rangle_{C_L} = \left(\frac{L}{\pi}\right)^3 \sin\left(\frac{\pi}{L}z_{12}\right) \sin\left(\frac{\pi}{L}z_{13}\right) \sin\left(\frac{\pi}{L}z_{23}\right)$$
(A.15)
$$= \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{L}{\pi}\right)^3 \left(\sin\left(\frac{2\pi z_{12}}{L}\right) - \sin\left(\frac{2\pi z_{13}}{L}\right) + \sin\left(\frac{2\pi z_{23}}{L}\right)\right)$$

We will also need correlators with the B ghost

$$\langle c(z_1)c(z_2)c(z_3)B(z_4)\rangle_{C_L} = \frac{L^2}{4\pi^2} \left(z_{14} \sin\left(\frac{2\pi z_{23}}{L}\right) + z_{23} \sin\left(\frac{2\pi z_{14}}{L}\right) - z_{13} \sin\left(\frac{2\pi z_{24}}{L}\right) - z_{24} \sin\left(\frac{2\pi z_{13}}{L}\right) + z_{12} \sin\left(\frac{2\pi z_{34}}{L}\right) + z_{34} \sin\left(\frac{2\pi z_{12}}{L}\right) \right)$$
(A.16)

Sometimes one encounters correlators involving K, for those it is useful to imagine inserting a wedge state $\Omega^{\alpha} = e^{-\alpha K}$, differentiating the correlator without a K but with the wedge inserted with respect to α and setting $\alpha \to 0$. An example would be

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left\{\sqrt{\Omega}c\Omega cK^{2}c\sqrt{\Omega}\right\} = \lim_{\alpha \to 0} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}}{\mathrm{d}\alpha^{2}} \operatorname{Tr}\left\{\sqrt{\Omega}c\Omega c\Omega^{\alpha}c\sqrt{\Omega}\right\}$$
$$= \lim_{\alpha \to 0} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}}{\mathrm{d}\alpha^{2}} \langle c(1+\alpha)c(\alpha)c(0)\rangle_{C_{2+\alpha}} = \frac{8}{\pi^{2}} (A.17)$$

Appendix B

Kaluza-Klein reduction on S^{\perp}

In this appendix we study the Kaluza-Klein theory with compactification on a circle S^1 . This means that we consider a product spacetime $\mathcal{M} \times S^1$ and observe the U(1) symmetry of S^1 turning into a U(1) gauge symmetry of an effective theory. The metric of this spacetime is generally parametrisable as

$$G = g_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + \chi^2 (dx^d + A_{\mu} dx^{\mu})^2, \qquad (B.1)$$

with $g_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu}, x^{d}), \chi = \chi(x^{\mu}, x^{d})$ and $A_{\mu} = A_{\mu}(x^{\mu}, x^{d})$. In addition one has $x^{d} \sim x^{d} + 2\pi R$, R being the radius of S^{1} .

B.1 The spectrum

We consider a massless scalar field Φ and for simplicity we have $\chi = 1$. By the compactness of the *d*-direction we have the usual quantisation of the momentum in this direction

$$p_d = \frac{n}{R},\tag{B.2}$$

where n is an integer. From the periodicity we can expand

$$\Phi(x^{\mu}, x^{d}) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \Phi_{n}(x^{\mu}) \exp\left\{-ix^{d}\frac{n}{R}\right\}$$
(B.3)

and the Klein-Gordon equation (1.26) gives

$$\partial^2 \Phi_n = \frac{n^2}{R^2} \Phi_n, \tag{B.4}$$

where ∂ is in the x^{μ} coordinates. This means that the mass of the scalar in the *d* dimensions becomes parametrised by *n*

$$m_d^2 = \frac{n^2}{R^2} \tag{B.5}$$

giving rise to an infinite tower of massive states. For small enough R, these are so heavy that we observe only the massless n = 0 mode so that $\Phi(x^{\mu}, x^{d}) = \Phi_{0}(x^{\mu})$.

In general, the massless modes of Kaluza-Klein theory are characterised by the effective D = d + 1 dimensional metric

$$G_{eff} = g_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + \chi^2 (dx^d + A_{\mu} dx^{\mu})^2, \qquad (B.6)$$

with $g_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu}), \chi = \chi(x^{\mu})$ and $A_{\mu} = A_{\mu}(x^{\mu})$. This ansatz is the most general one with translation invariance in the *d*-direction, reflecting that n = 0. Reparametrisation invariance enforces that A_{μ} is a gauge potential since $x^{d} \sim x^{d} + \Lambda(x^{\mu})$ enforces $A_{\mu} \sim A_{\mu} - \partial_{\mu}\Lambda(x^{\mu})$. We remark that A_{μ} has nontrivial dynamics even in the case when it is constant since a compact direction is present. Seeing this gauge invariance, we think that the Maxwell theory should appear in the action describing the spacetime dynamics of G_{eff} . This is indeed the case as we show in the next section.

B.2 The Ricci scalar

We begin by calculating the Ricci scalar \mathcal{R} of the Levi-Civita curvature associated to the metric (B.6). The computation serves as a nice exercise in Cartan's formalism. We rewrite the metric (B.6) in an orthonormal frame

$$G_{eff} = \eta_{mn} e^m e^n + e^d e^d, \tag{B.7}$$

where η_{mn} is the Minkowski metric whose indices go from 0 to d-1 and

$$e^d = \chi(\mathrm{d}x^d + A) \tag{B.8}$$

Using the definition of the curvature form F = dA we have

$$de^{d} = \partial_{k} \ln \chi e^{k} \wedge e^{d} + \frac{\chi}{2} F_{kl} e^{k} \wedge e^{l}$$
(B.9)

By the first Cartan's equation of structure $de^K + \omega_L^K \wedge e^L = 0$, where we use the convention that the uppercase letter goes over the lowercase ones and d, we find

$$\omega_k^d = \partial_k \ln \chi \, e^d + \frac{\chi}{2} F_{kl} \, e^l \tag{B.10}$$

We continue by writing out the structure equation for de^k

$$de^{k} = -\omega_{L}^{k} \wedge e^{L} = -\omega_{l}^{k} \wedge e^{l} - \omega_{d}^{k} \wedge e^{d}$$
(B.11)

By $\omega_{KL} = \omega_{[KL]}$ and (B.10) we have $\omega_d^k \wedge e^d = \frac{\chi}{2} F_l^k e^l \wedge e^d$. Using this together with (B.11) and the fact that we could have computed de^k for the metric without the *d*-direction (quantities referring to this metric we denote with a tilde) we get

$$\omega_l^k = \tilde{\omega}_l^k - \frac{\chi}{2} F_l^k e^d \tag{B.12}$$

Now we write out the second Cartan's equation of structure $\Omega_L^K = d\omega_L^K + \omega_M^K \wedge \omega_L^M$ for the lowercase directions

$$\Omega_l^k = \mathrm{d}\omega_l^k + \omega_m^k \wedge \omega_l^m + \omega_d^k \wedge \omega_l^d \tag{B.13}$$

With some foresight we now neglect terms containing $e^k \wedge e^d$ since these do not contribute to \mathcal{R} (this is denoted by \simeq) and we then find

$$\Omega_l^k \simeq \tilde{\Omega}_l^k - \frac{\chi^2}{4} \left(F_l^k F_{mn} + \frac{1}{2} (F_m^k F_{ln} - F_n^k F_{lm}) \right) e^m \wedge e^n \tag{B.14}$$

Another curvature two-form that we need to compute is Ω^d_m

$$\Omega_m^d = d\omega_m^d + \omega_n^d \wedge \omega_m^n \tag{B.15}$$

$$\simeq \left(\partial_{mo}\ln\chi + (\partial_m\ln\chi)(\partial_o\ln\chi) - \frac{\chi^2}{4}F_m^nF_{no}\right)e^o\wedge e^d \quad (B.16)$$

where we neglected a term $\partial_n \ln \chi e^d \wedge \tilde{\omega}^n_a$ since it gets traced out in \mathcal{R} . This is forced by the symmetry properties of ω .

From the curvature two-forms we find the necessary components of the Riemann tensor R by comparison with $\Omega_N^M = \frac{1}{2} R_{KL}^M {}_N e^K \wedge e^L$ so that

$$R_{kl}{}^{m}{}_{n} \simeq \tilde{R}_{kl}{}^{m}{}_{n} - \frac{\chi^{2}}{2} \left(F_{n}^{m}F_{kl} + \frac{1}{2} (F_{k}^{m}F_{nl} - F_{l}^{m}F_{nk}) \right)$$
(B.17)

$$R_{dk}{}^{d}{}_{l} \simeq -\left(\partial_{lk}\ln\chi + (\partial_{k}\ln\chi)(\partial_{l}\ln\chi) - \frac{\chi^{2}}{4}F_{l}^{n}F_{nk}\right)$$
(B.18)

Now using the definition of the Ricci tensor $\operatorname{Ric}_{KL} = R_{MK}{}^{M}{}_{L}$ we have

$$\operatorname{Ric}_{kl} = \widetilde{\operatorname{Ric}}_{kl} - \frac{\chi^2}{4} \left(F_l^n F_{nk} + F_k^n F_{nl} \right) - \partial_{lk} \ln \chi - (\partial_k \ln \chi) (\partial_l \ln \chi) \quad (B.19)$$

What is left is the computation of Ric_{dd} but this is straightforward with the

use of cyclicity of R

$$\operatorname{Ric}_{dd} = R_{nd}^{n} d \tag{B.20}$$

$$= \eta^{mn} R_{ndmd} \tag{B.21}$$

$$= \eta^{mn} R_{dndm} \tag{B.22}$$

$$= \eta^{mn} R_{dn}{}^{d}_{m} \tag{B.23}$$

$$\simeq -\eta^{mn} \left(\partial_{mn} \ln \chi + (\partial_m \ln \chi) (\partial_n \ln \chi) - \frac{\chi^2}{4} F_m^o F_{on} \right) \quad (B.24)$$

$$\simeq -\left(\partial_n \partial^n \ln \chi + (\partial_n \ln \chi)^2 - \frac{\chi^2}{4} F^{mn} F_{mn}\right)$$
(B.25)

Using the definition of the Ricci scalar $\mathcal{R} = \eta^{AB} \operatorname{Ric}_{AB}$ and writing invariants in the original coordinates x^{μ} we have the result

$$\mathcal{R} = \tilde{\mathcal{R}} - 2\frac{\nabla^2 \chi}{\chi} - \frac{\chi^2}{4}F^{\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu}$$
(B.26)

where ∇^2 is the Beltrami Laplacian. We confirm our suspicion, the Maxwell Lagrangian indeed appears.

B.3 The instanton

We specialise to the Kaluza-Klein theory with d = 4 and the spacetime manifold $\mathcal{M}_4 \times S^1$, \mathcal{M}_4 being the four-dimensional Minkowski space, with the metric

$$G = -dt^{2} + dx^{2} + dy^{2} + dz^{2} + d\phi^{2}$$
(B.27)

where we renamed $x^5 \equiv \phi$. It is trivial to see that G is a solution to Einstein's equations just as \mathcal{M}_5 is. We show that the spacetime corresponding to G is unstable due to the presence of an instanton, see the section (1.6) for the necessary background and references. Analogously to the procedure outlined in the section on instantons, we begin with the Euclidean theory with $t = i\tau$ and the metric

$$\mathcal{G} = d\tau^2 + dx^2 + dy^2 + dz^2 + d\phi^2 = dr^2 + r^2 d\Theta_3^2 + d\phi^2$$
(B.28)

where the latter form is obtained by switching to spherical coordinates and there $d\Theta_3^2$ is a line element of S^3 . We continue by considering a solution to the vacuum Euclidean Einstein's equations (a rotated five-dimensional Schwarzschild solution)

$$g = \frac{\mathrm{d}r^2}{1 - \frac{\alpha}{r^2}} + r^2 \mathrm{d}\Theta^2 + \left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{r^2}\right) \mathrm{d}\phi^2 \tag{B.29}$$

which asymptotically approaches (B.28) so we see a potential for interpretation as an instantonic solution connecting the original $\mathcal{M}_4 \times S^1$ to some other vacuum. The solution (B.29) seems to be singular at the point $r = \sqrt{\alpha}$, but this is not the case because it is just a coordinate singularity analogous to $\rho = 0$ in $d\rho^2 + \rho^2 d\phi^2$. We would like to rewrite (B.29) so that near $r = \sqrt{\alpha}$ it looks similar to the metric in polar coordinates near $\rho = 0$. To do this, we consider an ansatz

$$\rho = c \left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{r^2} \right)^{\beta} \tag{B.30}$$

so that with some algebra

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}r^2}{1-\frac{\alpha}{r^2}} = \frac{\alpha}{4c^2\beta^2} \left(\frac{\rho}{c}\right)^{\frac{1-2\beta}{\beta}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\rho^2}{\left(1-\left(\frac{\rho}{c}\right)^{\frac{1}{\beta}}\right)^3} \tag{B.31}$$

To avoid the singularity we need this to look like $d\rho^2$ near $\rho = 0$, which forces us to take $\beta = \frac{1}{2}$ and $c = \sqrt{\alpha}$. The periodic part of (B.29) can then be rewritten

$$\left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{r^2}\right) \mathrm{d}\phi^2 = \frac{\rho^2}{\alpha} \mathrm{d}\phi^2 \tag{B.32}$$

showing that ϕ should be periodic with the period of $2\pi\sqrt{\alpha}$ so that $\alpha = R^2$. With this the instanton (B.29) becomes

$$g = \frac{\mathrm{d}r^2}{1 - (\frac{R}{r})^2} + r^2 \mathrm{d}\Theta_3^2 + \left[1 - \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^2\right] \mathrm{d}\phi^2$$
(B.33)

Since ρ starts at 0, then by (B.30) we have $r \ge R$. We wish to rotate the instanton to Minkowski space to find its spacetime interpretation, in particular we want to rotate $dr^2 + r^2 d\Theta_3^2 \rightarrow dx^2 + x^2 d\Theta_2^2 - dt^2$. To do so, we write

$$\mathrm{d}\Theta_3^2 = \mathrm{d}\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta \,\mathrm{d}\Theta_2^2 \tag{B.34}$$

Introducing the coordinates

$$x = r \cosh \psi \tag{B.35}$$

$$t = r \sinh \psi \tag{B.36}$$

with $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2} + i\psi$, we indeed have $dr^2 + r^2 d\Theta_3^2 = dx^2 + x^2 d\Theta_2^2 - dt^2$ by virtue of

$$\mathrm{d}\Theta_3^2 = -\mathrm{d}\psi^2 + \cosh^2\psi\,\mathrm{d}\Theta_2^2 \tag{B.37}$$

Finally using (B.37), the rotated instanton becomes

$$g_{rot} = \frac{\mathrm{d}r^2}{1 - (\frac{R}{r})^2} + r^2 (-\mathrm{d}\psi^2 + \cosh^2\psi \,\mathrm{d}\Theta_2^2) + \left[1 - \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^2\right] \mathrm{d}\phi^2 \qquad (B.38)$$

We may finally interpret the result and to do so, we observe that by the definitions (B.35) and (B.36) we have $r^2 = x^2 - t^2$ and since $r \ge R$ the metric g_{rot} is defined only outside the hyperboloid

$$x^2 - t^2 \le R^2 \tag{B.39}$$

From the perspective of an observer in \mathcal{M}_4 a hole of radius R forms at t = 0and then its boundary expands according to

$$x^2 = t^2 + R^2 \tag{B.40}$$

The boundary is accelerated uniformly and soon it expands at the speed of light. So the region of space in which g_{rot} is defined shrinks and the Kaluza-Klein vacuum $\mathcal{M}_4 \times S^1$ decays into nothing. In the light of section (1.6), this is quite shocking since we would expect a false vacuum to decay into some other true ground state.